
AGENDA for the Joint Meeting of the 

Sierra County Board of Education 

and the 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board 

May 09, 2023 

5:00pm CLOSED Session 

6:00pm Regular Session 

Meeting Location: 

Loyalton: Sierra County Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 

Zoom for the public: 

Link: http ://us02web.zoom.us/j/842 5133035 

Phone dial-in: 669-900-9128 (Press *6 to unmute) 

Webinar ID: 842 3513 3035 

Board Members: 

Area I: Patty Hall - phall@spjusd.org 

Area 2: Annie Tipton (Vice President) - atipton@spjusd.org 

Area 3: Christina Potter - cpotter@spjusd.org 

Area 4: Kelly Champion (President) - kchampion@spjusd.org 

Area 5: Dorie Gayner (Clerk) - dgayner@spjusd.org 

Any individual who requires disability-related accommodations or modifications including auxiliary aids and services in order 

to participate in the Board meeting should contact the Superintendent or designee in writing. 

Public inspection of agenda documents that are distributed to the Board less than 72 hours before the meeting, will be made 

available at Sierra County Office of Education, Room 3, 109 Beckwith Road, Loyalton, CA, 96118, and posted with the on line 

agenda at http://www.sierracountyojficeofeducation.org (Government Code 54957.5). 

A. CALL TO ORDER

Please be advised that this meeting will be recorded.

B. ROLL CALL

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION

At this time, the meeting opens for any public comments regarding the Closed Session item(s).

E. CLOSED SESSION

The Board of Trustees, Superintendent, James Berardi, and Director of Business Services, Nona

Griesert, will move into Closed Session to discuss the following item(s):

1. Government Code 54957.6

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS

Agency Negotiator for the Board: James Berardi, Superintendent 

Employee Organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees: Superintendent 

Sierra-Plumas Teachers' Association 

Classified Employees 

Confidential Employees 

Administrative Employees 

Page 1 of 4 
SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Agenda - May 09, 2023 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84235133035


F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION and ADJOURN FOR BREAK

G. 6:00PM - RECONVENE

H. FLAG SALUTE

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION

J. INFORMATION ITEMS

1. Superintendent's Report

a. Downieville K-12 six-year WASC accreditation**

b. Inspections in Downieville to assess storm damage

c. Title IX update

d. LHS Facilities

e. Plant Maintenance/Bus Driver positions

f. Busing update

g. Technology update

2. Discussion of Prop 28 Grant to hire a Music Teacher

3. Superintendent Search update from Dan Zeisler

4. Business Report

a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2022 to 04/30/2023

1. SCOE**

2. SPJUSD**

b. Eighth Month SPJUSD Enrollments for the 2022-2023 School Year**

5. Staff Reports

a. SCOE

b. SPJUSD

6. SPTA Report

7. Committee/Board Member Reports

8. Public Comment - This is an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the governing
board on any item of interest that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the governing board. Three (3)
minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

K. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Joint Meeting held April 04, 2023**

2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 04/01/2023 through 04/30/2023**

a. SCOE**

b. SPJUSD**

L. ACTION ITEMS

1. New Business

BOTH - COUNTY & DISTRICT

a. Presentation of the SCOE/SPJUSD 2023-2024 Proposed Local Control and
Accountability Plan (LCAP)**

1. Community meetings to be held at 5 :30pm on May 11th in both Loyalton
and Downieville

PUBLIC HEARING - SCOEISP JUSD Local Control and Accountability Plan 
b. Public Hearing to receive public comment on the 2023-2024 Proposed LCAP

~Scheduled to be presented for approval June 21, 2023~ 

Page 2 of4 
SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Agenda - May 09, 2023 



PUBLIC HEARING-SCOE and SPJUSD Budget 
c. Public Hearing to receive public comment on the 2023-2024 SCOE and

SPJUSD Budget
~Scheduled to be presented for approval June 21, 2023~ 

PUBLIC HEARING- SCOE and SPJUSD Proposition 30, Education Protection 
Account 
d. Public Hearing to receive public comment on the use of Proposition 30

Funding for 2023-2024

e. Approval of the updated Job Description changing Response to Intervention

Coordinator to Student Study Team (SST) Site Facilitator**

f. Approval of the REVISED 2023-2024 Extra Duty stipend positions to be filled,

Non-Athletic**

g. Approval of assignments for the 2023-2024 Extra Duty stipend positions, Non

Athletic**

h. Approval of the Tentative Agreement for Classified Employees, 2023-24

Negotiations**

COUNTY 

1. Adoption of Resolution No. 24-001 C, Set Salary for the County Superintendent

of Schools**

ROLL CALL VOTE

DISTRICT 

J. Board discussion regarding possible purchase of real property at 105 Beckwith
Road, Loyalton CA 96118, and designation of negotiator

k. Approval of Professional Services Agreement with Cara Bowling under the
Mental Health Student Services Act grant and MOU with Sierra County
Behavioral Health, Contract No. 2023-01 l D**

I. Approval of Professional Services Agreement with James Morante from
Engage Strategies for project plan implementation under the Student
Behavioral Health Incentive Program (SBHIP) Agreement, Contract No. 2023-
013D**

m. Proposed Contract with Sierra Transportation for Downieville Bus Routes*

n. Approval of the quote for Step Up to Writing K-12 Curriculum**

o. Approval of quotes from Ultra Link Cabling Systems for Downieville School:

1. New network cabling for speakers and wireless access points**

2. New network cabling to gym building**

p. Approval of quote from TeamOne for phones, speakers and bell systems*

q. SPJUSD Personnel Items:

1. Acceptance of Resignation for Joani Taylor-Fillman, Bus Driver,

Loyalton Schools, .66 FTE, effective June 30, 2023

2. Acceptance of Resignation for Joani Taylor-Fillman, Transportation

Clerk, Loyalton Schools, .13 FTE, effective June 30, 2023

3. Authorization to fill Bus Driver, Loyalton Schools, .66 FTE

4. Authorization to fill Transportation Clerk, Loyalton Schools, .13 FTE

BOARD POLICIES, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS, EXHIBITS, BOARD BYLAWS 

Board Bylaw 9310: "The Superintendent or designee shall develop and present a first 

reading at a public Board meeting and action may be taken on the proposed policy. 

The Board may require additional readings if necessary." 

Page 3 of 4 
SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Agenda- May 09, 2023 



r. 0420.4-Charter School Authorization

1. Board Policy, revisions**

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

s. 5113-Absences and Excuses

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

t. 513 1 .41-U se of Seel us ion and Restraint

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

u. 5144-Discipline

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

v. 5144.1-Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

w. 5144.2-Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

x. 6146.1-High School Graduation Requirements

1. Board Policy, revisions**

y. 6173-Education for Homeless Children

1. Board Policy, revisions**

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

z. 6173. I-Education for Foster Youth

1. Board Policy, revisions**

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

aa. 6184-Continuation Education 

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

M. ADV AN CED PLANNING

1. The next Regular Joint Board Meeting will be held on June 21, 2023, at Downieville

School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 at 6:00pm. If needed, Closed Session may

be held before the Regular session beginning at 5:00pm. Zoom videoconferencing will be

available for the public.

2. Suggested Agenda Items

N. ADJOURN

** enclosed 

* handout

1\/\ prior meeting handout

James Berardi, Superintendent 

James Berardi, Superintendent - jberardi@spjusd.org 

Kristie Jacobsen, Administrative Assistant to the Superintendent - kjacobsen@spjusd.org 

Nona Griesert, Director of Business Services/CBO - ngriesert@spjusd.org 

Office: 530-993-1660 x0 

Email schoolinfo@spjusd.org to be added to the agenda email list. 

t 

Page 4 of4 

SCOE & SP JUSD Joint Meeting Agenda - May 09, 2023 



 

cc: Visiting Committee Chairperson
Superintendent

   

COMMISSION MEMBERS

R. DAVID GAUDI JR., Ed.D.
Chairperson
Hawaii Association of Independent
Schools

ODIE J. DOUGLAS
Vice Chairperson
Association of California School
Administrators

MICHAEL ALVAREZ
Western Catholic Educational Association

CUAHTEMOC AVILA, Ed.D.
Association of California School
Administrators

KEVIN BAKER, Ph.D.
East Asia Regional Council of Schools

GRANT BENNETT
Association of California School
Administrators

JANICE BLABER
Hawaii State Department of Education

DANNY BLAS
California Teachers Association

KEVIN COLLINS, Ed.D.
Association of California School
Administrators

MICHAEL COLLINS
California Association of Private School
Organizations

GREGORY DHUYVETTER
Western Catholic Educational Association

LEE DUNCAN, Ed.D.
Association of Christian Schools
International

TOBY ELMORE
California Association of Private School
Organizations

JUAN A. FLECHA
Association of California School
Administrators

KRISTIE FLOHRA
National Lutheran School Accreditation

ANDREA FUKUMOTO
Hawaii State Department of Education

CAROL GREEN
California Congress of Parents and
Teachers, Inc. (PTA)

ESTHER KANEHAILUA
Hawaii State Department of Education

CINDY KAZANIS
California Department of Education

KAWENA MARTINEZ
Hawaii State Teachers Association

MONIQUE MCWAYNE
California Department of Education

LINDA NORMAN, Ed.D.
Western Catholic Educational Association

CHRISTOPHER OASE, D.A.
California School Boards Association

DOREEN OLESON, Ed.D.
California Association of Independent
Schools

ANDREW RODRIGUEZ
California Federation of Teachers

MATTHEW RUSSO, Ed.D.
Postsecondary Education

JASON SAMPLE
Charter Schools

JONATHAN SCHILD, Ed.D.
Western Catholic Educational Association

DAVID SCIARRETTA, Ed.D.
Charter Schools

LAURA STEFANSKI
Public Member, California

KATHERINE THOROSSIAN, Ed.D.
Association of California School
Administrators

BERIT VON POHLE, Ed.D.
Pacific Union Conference of Seventh-day
Adventists

DIANA WALSH-REUSS, Ed.D.
Association of California School
Administrators

LIVINGSTON (JACK) WONG
Public Member, Hawaii

April 28, 2023
.
James Berardi, Principal & Superintendent
Downieville Schools
P.O. Drawer B
Downieville, California 96126
.
Dear James Berardi:
.
The Accrediting Commission for Schools, Western Association of Schools and Colleges (ACS
WASC) announces the action taken at the Spring 2023 Commission Meeting. The ACS WASC
Commissioners have determined Downieville Schools  (K-12) meets the ACS WASC criteria
for accreditation. This accreditation status is based on all of the information provided by the
school, including the school's report, and the satisfactory completion of the accreditation visit.
.
It is the decision of the Commission to grant six-year accreditation status through June 30, 2029

.with a mid-cycle visit during the 2025-2026 school year
.
Downieville Schools is required to prepare an in-depth progress report for the mid-cycle visit.
The report and visit should demonstrate that the school has: 1) addressed the growth areas for
continuous improvement through the schoolwide action plan; 2) made appropriate progress on
the implementation of the schoolwide action plan; and 3) improved student achievement relative
to the schoolwide learner outcomes and the academic standards.
.
Accreditation status is conditioned upon Downieville Schools's continued adherence with the
ACS WASC policies, procedures, and criteria for accreditation. This includes a requirement that
an accredited school annually contribute members to participate on visiting committees. Failure
to maintain compliance with said policies, procedures, and standards is grounds for modification
and/or withdrawal of the accreditation.
.
The Commission looks forward to Downieville Schools's anticipated success and continuing
improvement in keeping with ACS WASC's pursuit of excellence in elementary, secondary, and
adult education.
.
Sincerely,

R. David Gaudi Jr., Ed.D.
Commission Chairperson
.



Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund   

1100 374,473.00 397,085.00 60,809.38 227,433.91 108,841.71 Teachers Salaries

1115 1,000.00 1,000.00 2,314.49 1,314.49-Certificated Extra Duty

1120 10,416.00 10,416.00 3,320.00 7,096.00 Certificated Substitutes

1200 37,716.00 40,716.00 5,702.68 30,162.97 4,850.35 Certificated Pupil Support Ser

1300 216,098.00 220,098.00 35,432.92 177,164.60 7,500.48 Certificated Supervisor Admini

1310 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 Teacher in Charge

Total for Object 1000 649,703.00 679,315.00 101,944.98 440,395.97 136,974.05 

2100 168,282.00 185,258.00 34,744.52 114,315.80 36,197.68 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2115 1,000.00 1,000.00 264.47 735.53 Classified Extra Duty

2120 7,500.00 7,500.00 2,699.58 4,800.42 Classified Substitutes

2200 86,325.00 97,725.00 9,034.19 41,258.29 47,432.52 Classified Support Salaries

2215 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Classified Support Extra Duty

2220 4,000.00 4,000.00 4,000.00 Classified Substitute Salaries

2300 170,982.00 178,482.00 24,368.90 121,530.00 32,583.10 Classified Supervisors' Admini

2400 218,422.00 232,422.00 29,677.40 185,549.63 17,194.97 Clerical Technical Office Staf

2900 20,520.00 20,520.00 2,327.25 18,192.75 Other Classified Salaries

Total for Object 2000 678,031.00 727,907.00 97,825.01 467,945.02 162,136.97 

3101 189,095.00 194,751.00 19,471.50 80,646.68 94,632.82 STRS Certificated Positions

3102 1,719.00 1,719.00 191.00 1,528.00 STRS Classified Positions

3201 35.52 35.52-PERS Certificated Positions

3202 163,936.00 176,591.00 22,608.76 116,850.66 37,131.58 PERS Classified Positions

3301 4,081.00 4,081.00 60.76 4,020.24 OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 41,647.00 44,740.00 5,980.81 28,836.41 9,922.78 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 9,371.00 9,802.00 1,425.14 6,388.52 1,988.34 Medicare Certificated Position

3312 9,742.00 10,468.00 1,398.75 6,758.48 2,310.77 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 103,992.00 103,992.00 20,499.30 77,189.67 6,303.03 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3402 111,030.00 162,662.00 26,540.94 121,890.42 14,230.64 Health & Welfare Benefits Clas

3501 3,327.00 3,476.00 509.72 2,319.65 646.63 SUI Certificated

3502 3,392.00 3,641.00 489.16 2,363.22 788.62 SUI Classified

3601 23,090.00 24,332.00 3,967.50 17,787.29 2,577.21 Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 24,012.00 26,026.00 3,893.87 18,814.69 3,317.44 Workers' Compensation Classifi

3901 15,689.00 15,689.00 15,688.50 .50 Golden Handshake

Total for Object 3000 704,123.00 781,970.00 106,785.45 495,821.47 179,363.08 

4100 1,300.00 6,081.00 6,081.00 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

4300 44,714.00 66,786.00 4,606.22 38,719.81 23,459.97 Materials and Supplies

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 1 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:21AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2215
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2220
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3102
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3201
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3901
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4300


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund    (continued)

4320 1,250.00 1,478.00 27.84 1,450.16 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 1,750.00 1,750.00 69.99 696.14 983.87 Office Supplies

4350 3,500.00 3,500.00 734.84 253.35 2,511.81 Vehicle Upkeep

4399 8,433.00 4,208.00 4,208.00 Mat & Sup Undesignated Bal

4400 9,714.00 10,714.00 1,752.42 8,961.58 Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 70,661.00 94,517.00 5,411.05 41,449.56 47,656.39 

5100 40,000.00 40,000.00 40,000.00 Subagreements for Services

5200 15,948.00 43,087.00 3,273.56 19,806.91 20,006.53 Travel and Conference

5300 19,847.00 32,847.00 321.22 27,397.37 5,128.41 Dues and Membership

5400 15,000.00 25,000.00 24,457.60 542.40 Insurance

5500 14,500.00 14,500.00 1,629.15 16,384.57 3,513.72-Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 3,000.00 3,000.00 119.93 1,014.78 1,865.29 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 18,500.00 25,415.00 2,492.50 2,507.50 20,415.00 Legal Services

5805 1,000.00 1,000.00 100.00 130.00 770.00 Personnel Expense

5808 1,500.00 1,500.00 828.28 671.72 .00 Other Services & Fees

5810 462,653.00 695,097.00 159,803.48 331,125.00 204,168.52 Contracted Services

5899 16,930.68 4,499.86 21,430.54-SPJUSD to Reimburse

5900 12,500.00 17,602.00 1,905.40 10,852.99 4,843.61 Communications

Total for Object 5000 604,448.00 899,048.00 187,404.20 438,848.30 272,795.50 

6200 77,935.00 77,935.00 Building and Improvement of Bu

6400 20,000.00 20,000.00 20,000.00 Equipment

6500 25,855.00 25,855.00 25,855.00 Equipment Replacement

Total for Object 6000 45,855.00 123,790.00 .00 .00 123,790.00 

7110 25,000.00 25,000.00 25,000.00 County Tuition Inter Dist Agre

7141 24,428.00 24,428.00 24,428.00 Tuition, excess cost etc betwe

7310 .00 Direct Support/Indirect Costs

Total for Object 7000 49,428.00 49,428.00 .00 .00 49,428.00 

972,143.99 2,802,249.00 3,355,975.00 499,370.69 1,884,460.32 Total for Fund 01 and Expense accounts

Fund 11 - ADULT ED   

1100 4,500.00 40,952.00 25,654.68 15,297.32 Teachers Salaries

1300 110,566.00 138,208.00 18,427.68 92,138.40 27,641.92 Certificated Supervisor Admini

Total for Object 1000 115,066.00 179,160.00 18,427.68 117,793.08 42,939.24 

2100 2,000.00 4,500.00 4,500.00 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2200 3,415.00 .00 Classified Support Salaries

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 2 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:21AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4399
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5899
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7110
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7141
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2200


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 11 - ADULT ED    (continued)

2400 27,394.00 32,947.00 6,876.07 25,504.72 566.21 Clerical Technical Office Staf

Total for Object 2000 32,809.00 37,447.00 6,876.07 25,504.72 5,066.21 

3101 27,178.00 39,420.00 3,519.68 18,245.58 17,654.74 STRS Certificated Positions

3202 8,173.00 9,402.00 1,239.78 6,470.59 1,691.63 PERS Classified Positions

3301 1,380.52 1,380.52-OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 2,035.00 2,322.00 395.74 1,452.80 473.46 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 1,668.00 2,597.00 264.30 1,693.50 639.20 Medicare Certificated Position

3312 475.00 543.00 92.55 339.75 110.70 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 13,019.00 14,918.00 2,169.80 10,849.00 1,899.20 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3402 17,536.00 29,313.00 2,922.76 11,691.04 14,699.20 Health & Welfare Benefits Clas

3501 576.00 896.00 92.14 588.98 214.88 SUI Certificated

3502 164.00 188.00 34.38 127.53 26.09 SUI Classified

3601 4,111.00 6,721.00 735.78 4,714.52 1,270.70 Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 1,172.00 1,459.00 257.66 945.89 255.45 Workers' Compensation Classifi

Total for Object 3000 76,107.00 107,779.00 11,724.57 58,499.70 37,554.73 

4100 3,000.00 10,000.00 8,416.41 1,583.59 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

4300 12,967.00 48,349.00 3,878.11 1,431.15 43,039.74 Materials and Supplies

4320 1,000.00 2,500.00 1,222.18 1,277.82 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 2,500.00 2,050.00 251.49 118.68 1,679.83 Office Supplies

4350 2,000.00 3,000.00 1,222.33 1,777.67 Vehicle Upkeep

4400 5,000.00 59,223.00 10,386.33 5,542.22- 54,378.89 Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 26,467.00 125,122.00 14,515.93 6,868.53 103,737.54 

5200 6,500.00 6,500.00 523.07 322.10- 6,299.03 Travel and Conference

5203 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 MILEAGE

5300 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,130.00 370.00 Dues and Membership

5500 4,200.00 10,000.00 1,676.15 5,253.58 3,070.27 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 2,600.00 3,679.00 827.00 38.78 2,813.22 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Legal Services

5805 100.00 100.00 51.00 2.00- 51.00 Personnel Expense

5808 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Other Services & Fees

5810 21,500.00 22,000.00 21,321.93 678.07 Contracted Services

5900 1,600.00 3,500.00 1,936.91 1,563.09 Communications

Total for Object 5000 41,000.00 50,279.00 3,077.22 29,357.10 17,844.68 

6200 34,054.00 212,087.00 103,207.59 19,272.67- 128,152.08 Building and Improvement of Bu

6400 5,000.00 10,709.00 10,709.00 Equipment

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 3 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:21AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5203
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=6400


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 11 - ADULT ED    (continued)

Total for Object 6000 39,054.00 222,796.00 103,207.59 19,272.67- 138,861.08 

7619 6,722.00 18,604.00 18,604.00 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

364,607.48 337,225.00 741,187.00 157,829.06 218,750.46 Total for Fund 11 and Expense accounts

Fund 16 - FOREST RES   

7211 262,000.00 262,000.00 262,000.00 Transfers of Pass-through Rev

7619 46,000.00 46,000.00 46,000.00 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

308,000.00 308,000.00 308,000.00 .00 .00 Total for Fund 16, Expense accounts and Object 7000

1,644,751.47 3,447,474.00 4,405,162.00 657,199.75 2,103,210.78 Total for Org 001 - Sierra County Office of Education

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 4 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:21AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=7619
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7211
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138550&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7619


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - General FD   

1100 2,121,520.00 2,478,498.00 399,345.62 1,659,344.59 419,807.79 Teachers Salaries

1115 2,000.00 75,217.00 8,656.53 66,560.47 Extra Duty Hourly

1120 37,000.00 40,277.00 46,720.00 6,443.00-Certificated Substitutes

1300 246,305.00 273,805.00 41,050.70 205,253.50 27,500.80 Certificated Superv/Admin Sala

1310 14,000.00 14,000.00 2,000.00 8,000.00 4,000.00 Teacher In Charge/Head Teacher

Total for Object 1000 2,420,825.00 2,881,797.00 442,396.32 1,927,974.62 511,426.06 

2100 260,790.00 262,216.00 58,793.68 182,018.36 21,403.96 Instructional Aides Salaries

2115 1,000.00 28,000.00 1,975.71 26,024.29 Inst. Aide Extra Duty

2120 3,500.00 3,500.00 1,345.72 2,154.28 Instructional Aides Substitute

2200 409,531.00 393,563.00 58,678.78 299,581.52 35,302.70 Classified Support Salaries

2201 62,442.00 62,755.00 10,712.26 38,770.71 13,272.03 Bus Driver

2215 7,500.00 7,500.00 2,307.77 5,192.23 Classified Extra Duty

2220 25,000.00 25,000.00 21,261.05 3,738.95 Classified Support Substitute

2300 2,700.00 77,700.00 552.50 1,845.00 75,302.50 Classified Sup/Admin Salaries

2400 166,820.00 207,585.00 46,416.92 153,731.19 7,436.89 Clerical & Office Salaries

2420 5,000.00 5,000.00 3,201.01 1,798.99 Clerical & Office Sub Salaries

2900 4,513.00 4,513.00 1,906.50 2,606.50 Other Classified Salaries

Total for Object 2000 948,796.00 1,077,332.00 175,154.14 707,944.54 194,233.32 

3101 658,067.00 732,637.00 81,938.49 340,621.48 310,077.03 State Teachers Retirement Syst

3102 9,567.00 9,567.00 9,567.00 State Teachers Retirement Syst

3201 1,000.00 1,000.00 380.55 619.45 Public Employees Retirement Sy

3202 239,492.00 266,295.00 30,810.29 146,018.80 89,465.91 Public Employees Retirement Sy

3311 1,878.00 2,748.00 1,579.92 1,168.08 OASDI-Certificated Positions

3312 57,766.00 65,159.00 10,589.38 43,228.51 11,341.11 OASDI-Classified Positions

3321 33,649.00 39,955.00 5,988.46 26,423.91 7,542.63 Medicare-Certificated Position

3322 13,523.00 15,241.00 2,476.54 10,109.90 2,654.56 Medicare-Classified Positions

3401 453,215.00 601,261.00 90,808.00 379,710.31 130,742.69 Health & Welfare -Certificated

3402 159,027.00 231,427.00 38,711.42 170,634.92 22,080.66 Health & Welfare-Classified Po

3501 12,371.00 14,497.00 2,211.96 10,149.88 2,135.16 State Unemployment Insurance-C

3502 4,743.00 5,380.00 875.81 3,582.12 922.07 State Unemployement Insurance-

3601 74,912.00 98,652.00 15,033.02 65,971.71 17,647.27 Workers' Compensation Insuranc

3602 29,260.00 37,369.00 6,073.45 24,793.67 6,501.88 Workers' Compensation Insuranc

3901 52,610.00 52,610.00 5,845.52 46,764.10 .38 Other Benefits, Certificated P

Total for Object 3000 1,801,080.00 2,173,798.00 291,362.34 1,269,969.78 612,465.88 

4100 26,605.00 267,506.00 235,679.40 31,826.60 Textbooks

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 6, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 1 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:24AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2201
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2215
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2220
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2420
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3102
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3201
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3321
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3322
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3901
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4100


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - General FD    (continued)

4300 54,724.00 97,258.00 13,135.46 43,740.75 40,381.79 Class Mat'l and Supplies

4301 6,000.00 6,000.00 637.50 4,637.65 724.85 Class Consumablel Mat'l

4302 9,000.00 9,000.00 686.29 10,260.46 1,946.75-Class Paper/Toner

4305 28,500.00 29,500.00 13,342.17 11,069.81 5,088.02 Other Student M&S

4320 30,000.00 115,582.00 4,430.10 35,778.01 75,373.89 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 19,500.00 34,500.00 949.36 10,774.24 22,776.40 Office Supplies

4350 18,000.00 20,000.00 4,241.83 5,945.03 9,813.14 Vehicle Maint. M&S

4351 20,500.00 40,000.00 5,375.97 22,586.71 12,037.32 Vehicle FUEL

4399 469.00 23,703.00 23,703.00 M&S Misc -undesignated

4400 65,933.00 172,300.00 4,328.24 112,201.17 55,770.59 Non-Capital Equipment (Up to $

Total for Object 4000 279,231.00 815,349.00 47,126.92 492,673.23 275,548.85 

5100 185,000.00 185,000.00 174,000.00 11,000.00 Subagreement for Services

5200 22,577.00 175,983.00 15,150.34 22,140.07 138,692.59 Travel & Conferences

5300 10,000.00 10,128.00 366.00 8,695.00 1,067.00 Dues & Membership

5400 160,000.00 210,000.00 207,851.59 2,148.41 Insurance-Fire, liability, etc

5510 153,000.00 153,902.00 42,635.90 110,326.79 939.31 Power

5520 7,000.00 7,000.00 1,399.14 5,468.18 132.68 Garbage

5530 60,000.00 60,000.00 17,339.15 42,660.85 .00 Water

5540 132,000.00 161,500.00 13,030.24 150,197.22 1,727.46-Propane

5590 15,000.00 15,000.00 16,376.51 1,376.51-Miscellaneous Utilities

5600 83,500.00 83,500.00 48,631.46 22,407.68 12,460.86 Rentals, Leases & Repairs

5800 37,500.00 3,119.67 8,860.60 25,519.73 Services & Operating Expense

5810 20,000.00 113,698.00 2,337.50 8,139.20 103,221.30 Legal Expenses

5812 2,000.00 2,000.00 2,464.99 464.99-Board Election Expense

5840 14,523.00 14,523.00 8,875.17 7,261.50 1,613.67-Audit Expense

5860 10,000.00 12,500.00 11,820.20 679.80 Solid Waste Tax

5890 613,910.00 1,446,666.00 229,042.77 556,305.59 661,317.64 Contracts/Servic

5899 5,258.08 9,216.62 14,474.70-SCOE Interagency Reimburse

5900 3,500.00 28,500.00 3,566.79 22,838.57 2,094.64 Communications

5910 12,275.00 22,075.00 5,922.22 11,190.76 4,962.02 Telephone-Monthly Service

Total for Object 5000 1,504,285.00 2,739,475.00 570,674.43 1,224,221.92 944,578.65 

6200 172,972.00 136,745.68 3,300.00 32,926.32 Building & Improvements

6400 25,000.00 108,000.00 9,021.87 27,111.09 71,867.04 Equipment

6500 55,000.00 80,000.00 25,964.44 15,352.16 38,683.40 Equipment Replacement

Total for Object 6000 80,000.00 360,972.00 171,731.99 45,763.25 143,476.76 

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 6, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 2 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:24AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4305
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4351
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4399
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5510
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5520
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5530
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5540
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5590
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5800
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5812
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5840
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5860
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5890
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5899
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5910
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6500


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - General FD    (continued)

7110 104,450.00 104,450.00 104,450.00 .00 Out-of-State Tuition

7310 .00 Direct Support/Indirect Costs

7616 100,654.00 115,713.00 115,713.00 Trans fr Gen Fund to Cafeteria

Total for Object 7000 205,104.00 220,163.00 104,450.00 .00 115,713.00 

2,797,442.52 7,239,321.00 10,268,886.00 1,802,896.14 5,668,547.34 Total for Fund 01 and Expense accounts

Fund 13 - Cafeteria   

2200 92,270.00 103,918.00 21,429.97 75,244.76 7,243.27 Classified Support Salaries

2215 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,172.61 327.39 Classified Extra Duty

2220 1,500.00 1,500.00 908.49 591.51 Classified Support Substitute

Total for Object 2000 95,270.00 106,918.00 21,429.97 77,325.86 8,162.17 

3202 22,055.00 23,954.00 3,731.48 17,400.98 2,821.54 Public Employees Retirement Sy

3312 5,716.00 6,312.00 1,290.49 4,641.57 379.94 OASDI-Classified Positions

3322 1,337.00 1,476.00 301.80 1,085.48 88.72 Medicare-Classified Positions

3402 17,537.00 17,537.00 3,507.32 14,029.28 .40 Health & Welfare-Classified Po

3502 476.00 525.00 107.16 386.62 31.22 State Unemployement Insurance-

3602 2,893.00 3,621.00 740.16 2,662.17 218.67 Workers' Compensation Insuranc

Total for Object 3000 50,014.00 53,425.00 9,678.41 40,206.10 3,540.49 

4340 7,500.00 7,500.00 4,014.60 3,742.88 257.48-Food Service

4400 4,900.00 4,900.00 4,900.00 Non-Capital Equipment (Up to $

4700 55,000.00 69,341.00 7,166.54 61,347.31 827.15 Food

Total for Object 4000 67,400.00 81,741.00 11,181.14 65,090.19 5,469.67 

5200 500.00 500.00 500.00 Travel & Conferences

5600 8,070.00 8,070.00 2,287.63 5,782.37 Rentals, Leases & Repairs

5800 400.00 400.00 300.00 100.00 Services & Operating Expense

5890 500.00 500.00 406.00 94.00 Contracts/Servic

Total for Object 5000 9,470.00 9,470.00 300.00 2,693.63 6,476.37 

23,648.70 222,154.00 251,554.00 42,589.52 185,315.78 Total for Fund 13 and Expense accounts

Fund 40 - Dist Build   

6200 113,093.00 2,981.00 72,483.84 37,628.16 Building & Improvements

37,628.16 .00 113,093.00 2,981.00 72,483.84 Total for Fund 40, Expense accounts and Object 6000

Fund 73 - Bechen   

5800 15,000.00 15,000.00 13,000.00 2,000.00 Services & Operating Expense

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 6, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 3 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:24AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7110
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7616
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=2215
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=2220
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=3322
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=4340
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=4700
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=5800
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=13&p8=Fund&p7=5890
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=40&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=73&p8=Fund&p7=5800


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2022/23Balances through April

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

2,000.00 15,000.00 15,000.00 .00 13,000.00 Total for Fund 73, Expense accounts and Object 5000

Fund 78 - Gottardi Fund   

5800 7,516.00 7,516.00 Services & Operating Expense

7,516.00 .00 7,516.00 .00 .00 Total for Fund 78, Expense accounts and Object 5000

2,868,235.38 7,476,475.00 10,656,049.00 1,848,466.66 5,939,346.96 Total for Org 006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 6, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2023, Period = 10, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 4 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:24AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=138552&p2=6&p3=78&p8=Fund&p7=5800


ENROLLMENT BY SCHOOL MONTH - 2022-2023

**As of 04/11/2023 Downieville Loyalton Downieville Loyalton Downieville Loyalton Sierra Pass Long-Term
Elementary Elementary Jr High Jr High Sr High Sr High Continuation ISP/SDC TOTAL

Ending 2021-2022 27 184 8 63 14 93 7 included in site # 396
1st Day 2022-2023 25 192 8 60 12 101 5 included in site # 403

Month
September 1 25 191 8 62 12 100 6 included in site # 404
08/24/22-09/16/22
October 2 25 191 8 63 12 100 6 included in site # 405
09/19/22-10/14/22
November 3 25 191 8 62 11 100 6 included in site # 403
10/17/22-11/10/22
December 4 25 191 8 62 11 99 7 included in site # 403
11/14/22-12/09/22
January 5 23 191 8 61 11 98 8 included in site # 400
12/12/22-01/20/23
February 6 23 193 9 61 11 96 9 included in site # 402
01/23/23-02/17/23
March 7 23 191 9 61 11 95 11 included in site # 401
02/21/22-03/17/23
April 8 23 191 9 61 11 95 11 included in site # 401
03/20/23-04/14/23
May 9 included in site # 0
04/17/23-05/12/23
June 10 included in site # 0
05/15/23-06/09/23

2021-2022 SPJUSD SCOE Washoe Long-Term ISP
P1 ADA 348.74 0.42 15.10 DES 0
P2 ADA 347.95 0.42 14.54 LES 1

Annual 349.64 0.42 14.59 DHS 2
LHS 5

2019-2020 SPJUSD SCOE Washoe
P1 ADA 410.52 5.54 18.74
P2 ADA 409.30 5.07 15.36

Annual 409.30 5.07 15.36



 

Page 1 of 7 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 04, 2023 

MINUTES for the Joint Meeting of the 

Sierra County Board of Education 

and the 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board 

April 04, 2023 

5:00pm CLOSED Session 

6:00pm Regular Session 

Downieville: Downieville School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 

Zoom videoconferencing was also available for the public. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

President KELLY CHAMPION called the meeting to order at 5:08pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Area 1: Patty Hall, Area 1 

Area 2: Annie Tipton (Vice President) 

Area 3: Christina Potter 

Area 4: Kelly Champion (President) 

Area 5: Dorie Gayner (Clerk) 

ABSENT: None 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

TIPTON/CHAMPION 

5/0 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR CLOSED SESSION 

None 

E. CLOSED SESSION 

The Board of Trustees, Superintendent James Berardi and Director of Business Services Nona 

Griesert moved into Closed Session at 5:09pm to discuss the following item(s): 

1. Government Code 54957.6 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency Negotiator for the Board: James Berardi, Superintendent 

Employee Organizations: 

Unrepresented Employees:  Superintendent 

Sierra-Plumas Teachers’ Association 

Classified Employees 

Confidential Employees 

Administrative Employees 

F. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION at 6:08pm and ADJOURN FOR BREAK 

G. 6:15PM – RECONVENE 

H. FLAG SALUTE 

I. REPORT OUT FROM CLOSED SESSION 

TIPTON: We had labor negotiations with our teachers, so we were evaluating the counter-

proposal. We also discussed the Superintendent Contract. 



 

Page 2 of 7 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 04, 2023 

J. MHSSA GRANT PRESENTATION – SIERRA COUNTY BEHAVIORAL HEALTH 

(Mental Health Student Services Act) 

LAURIE MARSH from Sierra County Behavioral Health gave a summary of what the MHSSA 

Grant can and cannot be used for along with updates on progress of work under the grant. The 

main use of this grant is to build a Wellness Center on the Loyalton Campus to provide more 

Mental Health Services to students. Though there are other needs in the District, the grant cannot 

be used on any other types of infrastructure, hiring of teachers, etc. 

K. INFORMATION ITEMS 

1. Superintendent’s Report 

a. Bus update 

BERARDI: Mechanics for the electric buses were onsite today. Working with 

Megan Dahle’s office. They are introducing a bill to address the issues with 

these electric buses and get assistance from the State. Hoping to get the “new” 

bus we bought from Truckee running in Loyalton by next Monday and have all 

routes up and running again soon. Now a Downieville bus is broken down. 

b. Technology update 

BERARDI: It is Michael Muyanja’s last day today. Thank you for everything 

you’ve done for the District! We have two applicants, so interviews taking 

place in the next week or so. Gary Habeeb is online to go over 

phones/paging/bell systems later on the agenda. 

c. Food update 

BERARDI: Have a meeting set up this week to discuss food guidelines and 

logistics for Loyalton – what can we do within those guidelines to get food over 

from LES to LHS? 

d. Substitute pay 

BERARDI: Substitute pay will be re-looked at after negotiations are wrapped 

up with SPTA and Classified Employees. 

e. Safety Plan 

BERARDI: Safety Plan approved at the February 14th meeting. This is 

reviewed annually. 

f. County Personnel Items: 

1. Resignation for Michael Muyanja, Technology Specialist, 1.0 FTE, 

effective April 04, 2023 

2. Business Report 

a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2022 to 03/31/2023 

1. SCOE 

2. SPJUSD 

b. Seventh Month SPJUSD Enrollments for the 2022-2023 School Year 

3. Staff Reports 

a. SCOE 

SELPA—BETHKE: A huge thank you to Special Education staff – aides and 

teachers – always going above and beyond! Special shout out to Miranda 

Prakash who continues to do two people’s jobs! 

ADULT ED—JACKSON: We are half way through our WASC review and 

visitations. We are partnering with UC Davis Burn Unit and Schriners 



 

Page 3 of 7 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 04, 2023 

Hospitals for an advanced Burn Life Support class taking place April 28th. 

Looking for five volunteers to be burn victim patients for this class. With 

regard to the need for substitutes, we can offer a training for anyone that needs 

help passing the CBEST test. 

b. SPJUSD 

LES—CERESOLA: This week we’re celebrating all of our Trimester award 

winners recognized for the First and Second Trimesters. Pizza parties 

tomorrow and Thursday for those students. On Thursday at 5pm we have our 

annual Science Fair, Art Show and Nacho Dinner! The Nacho Dinner is a 

fundraiser put on by GCPC. All students have a piece of art displayed. The 

Science Fair is run by Sierra Nevada Journeys with hands-on STEM 

experiments. Counseling services were started online with Tiny Eye with really 

positive feedback so far after just two weeks. 

LHS—MESCHERY: Finished up Quarter 3 successfully, and heading into our 

last Quarter feeling strong. Music students in Grades 7-12 attended the 

Nevada Day of Percussion last month. Tonight is the Senior Variety Show 

which the Seniors put on to fundraise for their Senior Trip – this year going to 

Disneyland. Seniors also had Mock Job Interviews on March 22nd. Very 

grateful to the many business and community members who came out to 

interview the students. Ski/Snowboard season finished up really strong with 

one skier, Ava Solberg, taking 9th place in the Northern Region. We’re now 

getting into spring sports, but it’s been a slow start due to the snow and rain. 

In FFA news, 8 students earned the California State Degree this Month. The 

FFA Spring Banquet is scheduled for May 17th and all are invited. Also, Senior 

Project Presentations coming up in May. Will reach out to Board Members to 

help with judging. 

DES & DHS—BERARDI: WASC visit went very well. Report shows we are 

doing well overall, but always room for improvement. FEMA and CAL OES 

inspected the school and may be able to provide a new roof. Shout out to Mia 

Martinelli who won the Speech Contest and moving onto Regionals for 

Northern CA. AP exams starting in May. Open House May 10th. Senior Boards 

May 23rd-24th. Spring Play May 26th-27th. Conducted interviews last week for 

open teaching positions. May not have any successful candidates, but working 

through that process. 

4. SPTA Report 

PRESIDENT—PETTERSON: SPTA and the Board had their first round of 

negotiations. It was a good start! Next negotiations will take place on April 20th. 

5. Committee/Board Member Reports 

Transportation: TIPTON—No meetings recently. CHAMPION—Had an idea to 

maybe reach out to the Senior Center to try borrowing a bus. The parking lot at 

LES is very full, kind of dangerous at pickup time. 

Technology: GAYNER—Working with Gary Habeeb to find a solution for each 

school site as far as phones, paging and bell systems go. Each site has slightly 

different needs. We’ll be going over that more later on the agenda. 

Facilities: CHAMPION—I’ve talked with three different people in Kevin Kiley’s 

office to try and find funding for facilities improvements. 



 

Page 4 of 7 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 04, 2023 

 

Budget Committee: CHAMPION—Would like to establish a committee tonight 

and maybe start meeting once a month. Appointed CHAMPION and GAYNER. 

All Committees: CHAMPION—In talking with legal counsel our standing 

committees are subject to the Brown Act. We need to be meeting regularly, at 

least quarterly, and posting so that other people can attend. 

TIPTON: Thank you to the Downieville staff and community for being so 

welcoming! Thank you for the baked potato! 

CHAMPION: Heard the report out from WASC. My main takeaway was the need 

for being more inclusive of students that might not fit the standard in the 

community. 

HALL: Thank you Lynn and all of the community support for tonight! Thank you 

Kristie, Laraine and Adrienne for your contributions to the Audit Reports and 

process along with Nona! Thank you to all on the WASC committee! The one 

thing that stood out to me on the WASC report was how much the community 

supports the school. 

6. Public Comment 

BJ Jordan—Sierra County Arts Council: Spoke about handout from Lindsay 

McIntosh regarding Prop 28 and the proposal for hiring a music teacher for 

SPJUSD partnering with different organizations. April 18th heading to 

Sacramento to advocate for the arts. Also, in support of a dedicated principal 

here at Downieville School. 

Lindsay McIntosh—Musica Sierra: Spoke about Prop 28 and utilizing funds for a 

full-time credentialed TK-12 Music Teacher. Hoping to get something on the 

May agenda to have a full discussion. Sierra Schools Foundation, Sierra County 

Arts Council, and Musica Sierra willing to put forth the fundraising efforts to 

close the gap between Prop 28 funds and additional funds needed for a teacher. 

Kathy Fischer—Downieville resident: Encourage Downieville to develop 

concrete agreements with CAL OES for as much as we can get to take care of 

this school, wherever there are opportunities for grants. It is essential to our 

community’s safety in the event of a power outage, forest fire, flood, etc. 

L. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Special Joint Meeting held March 09, 2023 

2. Approval of minutes for the Regular Joint Meeting held March 14, 2023 

3. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 03/01/2023 through 03/31/2023 

a. SCOE 

b. SPJUSD 

4. Approval of Quarterly Report on Williams Uniform Complaints for the quarter ending 

03/31/2023 

a. SCOE 

b. SPJUSD 

TIPTON/POTTER 

5/0 

 

 



 

Page 5 of 7 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 04, 2023 

M. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Old Business 

a. Approval of the Superintendent Contract for July 01, 2023-June 30, 2025, 

Contract 2023-010D 

No action. 

2. New Business 

a. SPJUSD Personnel Items: 

1. Appointment of James Berardi, Teaching Principal, Downieville Schools, 

1.0 FTE, effective July 1, 2023-June 30, 2024 (1 year) 

TIPTON/HALL 

5/0 

2. Acceptance of Resignation for James Berardi, District Superintendent, .85 

FTE, effective June 30, 2023 

CHAMPION/GAYNER 

5/0 

3. Authorization to fill District Superintendent, 1.0 FTE 

CHAMPION/GAYNER 

5/0 

4. Approval to open Superintendent search and authorization to hire a 

search firm 

TIPTON/HALL 

5/0 

 Ad hoc committee to find search firm: CHAMPION & POTTER 

5. Acceptance of Retirement for Richard Jaquez contingent on receiving the 

Golden Hand Shake, Plant Maintenance Worker, Loyalton Elementary 

School and District Office, 1.0 FTE, effective July 5, 2023 

TIPTON/HALL 

5/0 

6. Authorization to fill Plant Maintenance Worker/Bus Driver, Loyalton 

Elementary School and District Office, 1.0 FTE 

GAYNER/POTTER 

5/0 

10-Minute break at 7:55pm 

b. Approval of the 2023-2024 Extra Duty Assignments and Stipends to be filled 

TIPTON/POTTER 

5/0 

c. Approval of the California Department of Education Form J-13A for the 2022-

2023 Request for Allowance of Attendance Due to Emergency Conditions 

1. SCOE 

2. SPJUSD 

POTTER/TIPTON 

5/0 

d. Approval of the 2023-2024 School Calendars 

POTTER/HALL 

5/0 



 

Page 6 of 7 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 04, 2023 

e. Approval to purchase oven and dishwasher for Loyalton Elementary School, 

not to exceed $35,000 

HALL/GAYNER 

5/0 

f. Approval of bid for Phone, Paging and Bell Systems for Loyalton Elementary 

School and Downieville School 

Postponed. 

BOARD POLICIES, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS, EXHIBITS, BOARD BYLAWS 

Board Bylaw 9310: “The Superintendent or designee shall develop and present a first 

reading at a public Board meeting and action may be taken on the proposed policy. 

The Board may require additional readings if necessary.” 

GAYNER/TIPTON 

5/0 

a. 0450—Comprehensive Safety Plan 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

g. 3555—Nutrition Program Compliance 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Exhibit, revisions 

h. 4030—Nondiscrimination in Employment 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

i. 4218—Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

j. 5131.7—Weapons and Dangerous Instruments 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

k. 5142—Safety 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

2. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

l. 6115—Ceremonies and Observances 

1. Administrative Regulation, revisions 

m. 6177—Summer Learning Programs 

1. Board Policy, revisions 

n. 9270—Conflict of Interest 

1. Board Bylaw, revisions 

o. 9320—Meetings and Notices 

1. Board Bylaw, revisions 

N. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. The next Regular Joint Board Meeting will be held on May 09, 2023, at Sierra County 

Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 at 6:00pm. If 

needed, Closed Session may be held before the Regular session beginning at 5:00pm. 

Zoom videoconferencing will be available for the public. 

 

 



 

Page 7 of 7 

SCOE & SPJUSD Joint Meeting Minutes – April 04, 2023 

2. Suggested Agenda Items 

-Prop 28 for Music Teacher 

-Superintendent Search 

-Phones/Paging/Bell System 

-Closed Session for Negotiations 

O. ADJOURN 

CHAMPION adjourned the meeting at 8:49pm. 

 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

Dorie Gayner, Clerk    James Berardi, Superintendent 





Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2023 through 04/30/2023

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00016579 04/11/2023 ALHAMBRA 11-4330 WATER SERVICE 11.98 

00016580 04/11/2023 MEGAN ANDALUZ 01-5810 TRANSPORTATION REIMBURSE 578.40 

00016581 04/11/2023 AT&T 11-5900 PHONE 157.83 

00016582 04/11/2023 FIRST-CITIZENS BANK & TRUST 01-5900 PHONE SYSTEM/MAINTENANCE 640.92 

00016583 04/11/2023 DONALD BERGSTROM 01-5810 SPED BUILDING CLEANING 1,050.00 

00016584 04/11/2023 BRADY INDUSTRIES 11-4320 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES 53.71 

00016585 04/11/2023 KELLY CHAMPION 01-5899 PER DIEM 63.99 

00016586 04/11/2023 MICAH COHEN, MOT, OTR/L 01-5810 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY SERVICES 2,452.50 

00016587 04/11/2023 KELLI GROCK 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 3,093.20 

00016588 04/11/2023 HARBOR FREIGHT TOOLS 01-4300 SHOP SUPPLIES 465.17 

00016589 04/11/2023 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 11-5500 GARBAGE SERVICE 32.04 

00016590 04/11/2023 DONITA KING 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 1,003.20 

00016591 04/11/2023 LYNNE KOELLER 01-5810 CONTRACTED SERVICES 1,669.43 

00016592 04/11/2023 LAUREN JONES BEHAVIORAL CONSULTANT 01-5810 BEHAVIORAL CONSULTANT 9,618.07 

00016593 04/11/2023 LIBERTY UTILITIES CPEC 01-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 1,473.96 

11-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 355.21 1,829.17 

00016594 04/11/2023 PITNEY BOWES, INC. 01-5600 POSTAGE MACHINE LEASE 48.25 

01-5899 POSTAGE MACHINE LEASE 144.80 193.05 

00016595 04/11/2023 PLUMAS RURAL SERVICES 01-5810 TRANSITIONAL SERVICES 715.00 

00016596 04/11/2023 PLUMAS-SIERRA TELECOMMUNICATIONS 11-5600 BROADBAND SERVICE 109.00 

00016597 04/11/2023 PRESENCELEARNING, INC. 01-5810 PRESENCE LEARNING 5,894.53 

00016598 04/11/2023 RAY MORGAN COMPANY 11-5600 COPIER/MAINTENANCE 57.88 

00016599 04/11/2023 RENO PRINT STORE 01-4300 TRACK TEAM BACKPACK 1,602.12 

Unpaid Sales Tax 103.64- 1,498.48 

00016600 04/11/2023 RESOLVE TECHNOLOGY GROUP, INC. 01-5810 TECHNOLOGY ASSISTANCE 1,468.75 

00016601 04/11/2023 SATELLITE PHONE STORE 01-5900 SATELLITE PHONE SERVICE 1,678.20 

00016602 04/11/2023 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 87.00 

00016603 04/11/2023 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4300 SHOP SUPPLIES 966.41 

01-4320 MAINT SUPPLIES 27.84 994.25 

00016604 04/11/2023 STUNTMASTERS INC. 01-5810 TUPE ASSEMBLY 2,295.00 

00016605 04/11/2023 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INSURANCE GROUP 01-9535 HEALTH INSURANCE 1,661.00 

76-9576 HEALTH INSURANCE 25,692.00 27,353.00 

00016606 04/11/2023 TYLER MARTIN DBA MARTIN SNOW REMOVAL 11-5500 SNOW REMOVAL 600.00 

00016607 04/11/2023 U.S. BANK 01-4300 EPOXY 258.26 

01-5200 HOTEL ACCOMODATIONS 291.33 

01-5899 DMV FEES 23.53 

HOTEL ACCOMODATIONS 1,199.30 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:26AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2023 through 04/30/2023

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00016607 04/11/2023 U.S. BANK 01-5899 REGISTRATION 910.00 

11-4300 ZOOM SUBSCRIPTION 129.98 2,812.40 

00016608 04/11/2023 U.S. BANK VOYAGER 01-4300 FUEL EXPENSE 228.21 

11-5200 FUEL EXPENSE 217.39 445.60 

Total Number of Checks 30 68,921.75 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

County School Service Fund 23 41,608.37 01

ADULT EDUCATION 10 1,725.02 11

Payroll Clearing 1 25,692.00 76

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 30 69,025.39 

103.64 

68,921.75 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:26AM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2023 through 04/30/2023

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00085993 04/11/2023 ACCO ENGINEERED SYSTEMS 01-5890 BOILER REPAIR 10,950.96 

00085994 04/11/2023 AIRGAS, USA, LLC 01-5600 TANK RENTAL LHS/DVL 284.24 

00085995 04/11/2023 ALPINE FIRE SERVICE, INC. 01-5600 FIRE EXTINGUISHER MAINT - ALL SITES 223.40 

00085996 04/11/2023 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 01-4300 BOOKS 276.00 

classroom supplies 23.58 

GARDEN SUPPLIES 116.99 

HOMELESS STUDENT SUPPLIES 177.92 

01-4301 Student Body Supplies 277.11 

01-4302 office supplies 619.36 

01-4320 JANITORIAL 31.84 

Maintance 194.11 

Replacement Filters 284.76 

01-4330 nurse supplies 17.64 

office supplies 384.94 

01-5900 POSTAGE 34.98 2,439.23 

00085997 04/11/2023 AMERIGAS 01-5540 PROPANE 20,311.15 

01-5899 PROPANE 3,811.05 24,122.20 

00085998 04/11/2023 AT&T 01-5890 PHONE SERVICES 51.65 

01-5899 PHONE SERVICES 24.64 

01-5910 PHONE SERVICES 557.05 633.34 

00085999 04/11/2023 ALICIA BERARDI 13-4700 FOOD PURCHASE 59.88 

00086000 04/11/2023 BRADY INDUSTRIES 01-4320 cleaning supplies 958.72 

Supplies 289.84 1,248.56 

00086001 04/11/2023 PAMELA BRANDON 01-5600 TECH COTTAGE RENTAL 100.00 

00086002 04/11/2023 CALIFORNIA ASSOC. FFA ANGIE MILES, FINANCIAL 

SERVICE

01-5200 Tickets 240.00 

00086003 04/11/2023 CITY OF LOYALTON 01-5530 WATER AND SEWER - LOYALTON SITES 4,422.72 

01-5899 WATER AND SEWER - LOYALTON SITES 250.86 4,673.58 

00086004 04/11/2023 CURRENT ELECTRIC & ALARM, INC. 01-5600 ALARM MONITORING 573.75 

FIRE ALARM PANEL PARTS 150.00 

01-5899 ALARM MONITORING 26.25 750.00 

00086005 04/11/2023 DECKER EQUIPMENT 40-6200 BATHROOM STALLS 10,570.31 

00086006 04/11/2023 DOWNIEVILLE PUBLIC UTILITY DIS 01-5530 Water 804.56 

00086007 04/11/2023 DOWNIEVILLE GROCERY 13-4700 FOOD 69.36 

00086008 04/11/2023 EDWARDS, STEVENS AND TUCKER, LLP 01-5810 LEGAL FEES 472.00 

00086009 04/11/2023 HAYLEY EVANS 01-5200 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 127.85 

00086010 04/11/2023 ASHLEE FRADES 01-5200 WASC COMMITTEE REIMBURSEMENT 243.25 

00086011 04/11/2023 GANNON ELECTRIC INC 01-5890 GENERATOR INSTALL 2,770.00 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:29AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2023 through 04/30/2023

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00086012 04/11/2023 GLOWFORGE, INC 01-4400 Supplies for Mechtronics 239.00 

00086013 04/11/2023 GRAINGER, INC. 01-4320 BATHROOM FAN REPLACE 50.86 

Door Latch 142.51 193.37 

00086014 04/11/2023 CAROLINE GRIFFIN 01-5200 CONFERENCE REIMBURSEMENT 123.00 

00086015 04/11/2023 JANET HAMILTON 01-5600 TECH COTTAGE RENTAL 100.00 

00086016 04/11/2023 HUNT & SONS, INC. 01-5590 HEATING OIL 6,023.14 

00086017 04/11/2023 K 12 MANAGEMENT DBA FUELED 01-5890 ONLINE/ISP COURSES 875.00 

00086018 04/11/2023 LES SCHWAB TIRE CENTER 01-4350 Vehicle maintenance 839.14 

00086019 04/11/2023 LIBERTY UTILITIES 01-5510 ELECTRIC - LOYALTON SITES 10,986.11 

01-5899 ELECTRIC - LOYALTON SITES 643.95 11,630.06 

00086020 04/11/2023 SHARON LOUCKS 01-5200 WASC COMMITTEE REIMBURSEMENT 119.75 

00086021 04/11/2023 LOYALTON BOOSTER CLUB 01-4305 FUEL REIMBURSEMENT 566.76 

00086022 04/11/2023 MCPHERSON & JACOBSON, LLC 01-5890 SUPT. SEARCH 3,875.00 

00086023 04/11/2023 MOBY MAX 01-5890 K-8 CURRICULM RENEWAL 3,795.00 

00086024 04/11/2023 MODEL DAIRY, LLC 13-4700 DAIRY PRODUCTS 1,017.14 

00086025 04/11/2023 NCOAS % SHIRLEY LOOMIS Reissued 1,995.50 *

Reissued on 04/18/2023

00086026 04/11/2023 NEVADA POWER PRODUCTS, INC 01-4320 TRACTOR PARTS 190.48 

TRACTOR STARTER 562.75 753.23 

00086027 04/11/2023 BCM ONE 01-5899 PHONE SERVICES 27.42 

01-5910 PHONE SERVICES 411.29 438.71 

00086028 04/11/2023 NORTHAM DISTRIBUTING, INC. 13-4340 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 279.33 

13-4700 CAFE FOOD/SUPPLIES 4,878.61 5,157.94 

00086029 04/11/2023 ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS LLC 01-4301 Supplies 56.94 

01-4302 COPY PAPER 201.59 

TONER 479.49 

01-4330 Office Supplies 135.22 873.24 

00086030 04/11/2023 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 01-5510 Electricity 3,628.41 

00086031 04/11/2023 AIMEE PAUL-PHEBUS 01-5200 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 233.83 

00086032 04/11/2023 POWERSCHOOL GROUP LLC 01-5890 POWERSCHOOL HOSTING 2,965.07 

00086033 04/11/2023 RAY MORGAN COMPANY 01-5600 COPIER MAINT. 675.81 

01-5899 COPIER MAINT. 67.37 743.18 

00086034 04/11/2023 REALITYWORKS 01-4300 Electrical Breakout Boxes 233.59 

00086035 04/11/2023 SIERRA BOOSTER 01-5890 ADVERTISEMENTS/LEGAL/PUBLIC 

NOTICES

169.13 

00086036 04/11/2023 SIERRA COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT 01-5510 ELECTRICAL SERVICES FOR TECH 

COTTAGE

289.50 

00086037 04/11/2023 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 01-5520 GARBAGE SERVICE 589.61 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:29AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2023 through 04/30/2023

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00086037 04/11/2023 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 01-5899 GARBAGE SERVICE 11.76 601.37 

00086038 04/11/2023 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4300 MISC. AG SUPPLIES 203.17 

01-4320 MAINT. SUPPLIES 295.15 

MAINT/CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES 152.16 650.48 

00086039 04/11/2023 SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED 01-4400 BUS PURCHASE 500.00 

01-5890 BANK SERVICE FEES 34.16 

13-4340 BANK SERVICE FEES 1.76- 532.40 

00086040 04/11/2023 SLAKEY BROTHERS 01-4320 Supplies 67.44 

00086041 04/11/2023 MARNIE SMITH 01-5200 WASC COMMITTEE REIMBURSEMENT 89.66 

00086042 04/11/2023 STAPLES ADVANTAGE 01-4300 CLASSROOM SUPPLIES 63.43 

00086043 04/11/2023 SYSCO SACRAMENTO 13-4340 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 191.93 

13-4700 CAFETERIA - FOOD AND SUPPLIES 3,943.36 4,135.29 

00086044 04/11/2023 JOAN TAYLOR-FILLMAN 01-4350 REIMBURSEMENT 65.39 

00086045 04/11/2023 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INS. GR. 01-9535 HEALTH INSURANCE 7,620.24 

76-9576 HEALTH INSURANCE 73,486.12 81,106.36 

00086046 04/11/2023 U.S. BANK 01-4300 CABLES 30.36 

CLASSROOM SUPPLIES 59.46 

King Lear 189.59 

01-4320 Motor 364.48 

TRACTOR MAINT SUPPLIES 431.44 

01-4330 ADOBE PRO SUBSCRIPTION 48.73 

AED SUPPLIES 486.92 

01-4350 FUEL FOR MAINT. 89.15 

01-5890 ZOOM SUBSCRIPTION 66.26 

01-5899 ADOBE PRO SUBSCRIPTION 16.25 

SHOP SUPPLIES 446.90 

Unpaid Sales Tax 45.06- 2,184.48 

00086047 04/11/2023 VERIZON WIRELESS 01-5899 CELL PHONE SERVICE 152.68 

01-5900 CELL PHONE SERVICE 228.06 

01-5910 CELL PHONE SERVICE 355.88 736.62 

00086048 04/11/2023 U.S. BANK VOYAGER 01-4305 FUEL FOR ATHLETIC TRIPS 353.31 

01-4351 BUS FUEL 1,680.39 

FUEL FOR MAINTENANCE 122.61 

01-5200 FUEL FOR FFA 431.42 2,587.73 

00086049 04/18/2023 NCOAS % SHIRLEY LOOMIS 01-5800 Softball Officials 1,995.50 

00086050 04/24/2023 APPLE COMPUTER, INC. 01-4400 MACBOOKS 7,294.64 

00086051 04/24/2023 ARK DESIGN CONSTRUCTION AND ROOFING INC. 40-6200 ROOF REPAIR 5,734.00 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 3 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:29AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 04/01/2023 through 04/30/2023

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00086052 04/24/2023 CARA BOWLING 01-5890 MHSSA GRANT SERVICES 1,425.90 

00086053 04/24/2023 PACIFIC GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 01-5510 Electricity 4,417.93 

00086054 04/24/2023 SCOTT BURR CONSTRUCTION 40-6200 BATHROOM PARTITION INSTALL 1,960.00 

00086055 04/24/2023 SIERRA HARDWARE 01-4320 Misc Maintenance supplies 219.10 

00086056 04/24/2023 DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE ACCOUNTING OFFICE 01-5890 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 209.00 

Total Number of Checks 64 223,737.13 

Net Issue

Reissue

AmountCount

 1 1,995.50 

221,741.63 

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

General Fund 55 119,598.41 01

Cafeteria Fund 6 10,437.85 13

Special Reserve for Capital Ou 3 18,264.31 40

Warrant/Pass Though (payroll) 1 73,486.12 76

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 63 221,786.69 

45.06 

221,741.63 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 4 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), May  1 2023  7:29AM006 - Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 1 of 67 
 

 
 

LCFF Budget Overview for Parents 
 

Local Educational Agency (LEA) Name: Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of 
Education 
CDS Code: 46-70177/46-10462 
School Year: 2023-24 
LEA contact information: 
James Berardi 
Superintendent 
jberardi@spjusd.org 
530-993-1660 ext. 110 
School districts receive funding from different sources: state funds under the Local Control Funding Formula 
(LCFF), other state funds, local funds, and federal funds. LCFF funds include a base level of funding for all LEAs 
and extra funding - called "supplemental and concentration" grants - to LEAs based on the enrollment of high 
needs students (foster youth, English learners, and low-income students). 

Budget Overview for the 2023-24 School Year 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 2 of 67 
 

 
This chart shows the total general purpose revenue Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County 

Office of Education expects to receive in the coming year from all sources. 
 
The text description for the above chart is as follows: The total revenue projected for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified 
School District/Sierra County Office of Education is $, of which $ is Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF), $ is 
other state funds, $ is local funds, and $ is federal funds.  Of the $ in LCFF Funds, $ is generated based on the 
enrollment of high needs students (foster youth, English learner, and low-income students). 
  



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 3 of 67 
 

LCFF Budget Overview for Parents 
 
The LCFF gives school districts more flexibility in deciding how to use state funds. In exchange, school districts 
must work with parents, educators, students, and the community to develop a Local Control and Accountability 
Plan (LCAP) that shows how they will use these funds to serve students. 
 

 
This chart provides a quick summary of how much Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County 
Office of Education plans to spend for 2023-24. It shows how much of the total is tied to planned actions and 

services in the LCAP. 
 
The text description of the above chart is as follows: Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County 
Office of Education plans to spend $ for the 2023-24 school year. Of that amount, $ is tied to actions/services in 
the LCAP and $ is not included in the LCAP. The budgeted expenditures that are not included in the LCAP will 
be used for the following: 
 
 
 

Increased or Improved Services for High Needs Students in the 
LCAP for the 2023-24 School Year 

 
In 2023-24, Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education is projecting it will 
receive $ based on the enrollment of foster youth, English learner, and low-income students. Sierra –Plumas 
Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education must describe how it intends to increase or 
improve services for high needs students in the LCAP.  Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra 
County Office of Education plans to spend $ towards meeting this requirement, as described in the LCAP. 
 
 
 
  



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 4 of 67 
 

LCFF Budget Overview for Parents 
 

Update on Increased or Improved Services for High Needs 
Students in 2022-23 

 
This chart compares what Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education 

budgeted last year in the LCAP for actions and services that contribute to increasing or improving services for 
high needs students with what  Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education 

estimates it has spent on actions and services that contribute to increasing or improving services for high needs 
students in the current year. 

 
The text description of the above chart is as follows: In 2022-23, Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School 
District/Sierra County Office of Education's LCAP budgeted $ for planned actions to increase or improve services 
for high needs students. Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education actually 
spent $ for actions to increase or improve services for high needs students in 2022-23. 
 
  



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 5 of 67 

 
 

Local Control Accountability Plan 
 
The instructions for completing the Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP) follow the template. 
 
Local Educational Agency (LEA) Name Contact Name and Title Email and Phone 
Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra 
County Office of Education            

James Berardi           
Superintendent 

jberardi@spjusd.org           
530-993-1660 ext. 110 

 

Plan Summary [2023-24] 
 
General Information 
 

A description of the LEA, its schools, and its students in grades transitional kindergarten–12, as applicable to the LEA. 
 

The Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District and Sierra County Office of Education serves all of Sierra County and the eastern quarter of 
Plumas County. A five person Governing Board, each member of which represents a defined geographical area of the District, governs the 
District. The District Governing Board also serves as the Sierra County Board of Education. 
Sierra County lies northeast of Sacramento and borders the State of Nevada on the east. Located in the heart of the Northern Sierra Nevada 
Mountains, it contains one-half million acres of forestland, forty-five mountain lakes, and an estimated seven hundred miles of trout streams. 
The eastern quarter of Plumas County lies within the boundaries of the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District, and children from the 
towns of Vinton, Chilcoot, and Beckwourth attend school in Loyalton.  Elevations within the District range from 2000 to nearly 9000 feet. 
Heavy snowfall and extreme temperatures are the general rule during the winter at the higher elevations.  Eastern Sierra and Plumas county 
include the great Sierra Valley, once an ancient lakebed but is now the largest alpine valley in the Sierra Nevada range, a natural area for 
agriculture, timber production and mineral extraction operations. The western portion of Sierra County is heavily forested, has timber 
management areas, and contains both lode and placer gold mining operations. Gold was discovered here in 1849, and the area is rich in 
early California history.  Recreational activities abound including fishing, mountain biking, hunting, skiing, hiking, camping, boating, and visits 
to points of historical interest. 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#PlanSummary
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#generalinformation


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 6 of 67 

We envision schools where all children succeed, where all children feel safe, and where their curiosity is cultivated. We provide an 
educational environment that encourages productive, responsible citizens. It is our goal to equip students with the tools to live and to 
contribute successfully in a rapidly changing world. Our schools offer a challenging, meaningful, and relevant curriculum that values 
creativity, critical thinking, and effective communication. Our students apply knowledge to new contexts and do so with honesty and integrity. 
Our students learn to appreciate beauty and care for the environment as well as each other and ultimately understand that their actions make 
a difference. 
In order to streamline the District’s efforts in promoting a quality teaching delivery system utilizing the latest in standards-based curriculum, 
educational technology tools, and a robust professional development plan, we are not specifically addressing certain state priorities with 
goals, actions, or services. For example, the District’s metrics in state priority 5, Pupil Engagement, are so strong to the positive in the areas 
of attendance rates, chronic absenteeism rates, dropout rates in both middle and high school, and high school graduation rates that we are 
not specifically designing improvement efforts to address these areas. 
As we maneuver our LCAP to a streamlined document that truly reflects our District’s improvement efforts, we are opting to keep our goals, 
actions, and services to a minimum to ensure quality focus, versus quantity. 
 
Administrators – 4 
Bargaining Unit Representatives – 3 
Community – 3,240 
Principals – 2.25 
School Personnel – 72 
Students – 396 
English Learners - 14 
Foster Youth - 3 
Homeless Youth - 43 
Pupils with Disabilities – 65 
Socio-economically disadvantaged – 46.6% 
 
 
 
         

 
 
Reflections: Successes 
 

A description of successes and/or progress based on a review of the California School Dashboard (Dashboard) and local data. 
 

The district hired a full time intervention teacher to help fill in the performance gaps from COVID and to coordinate and help implement Fall, 
Winter, and Spring Benchmark Assessments at LES, LHS, DVL, organize, analyze, and track Benchmark data from Loyalton Elementary, 
Loyalton High School, and Downieville, and collaborate with admin and teachers to determine Tier 2 and Tier 1 Watch groups, oversee 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#ReflectionsSuccesses


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 7 of 67 

district wide intervention program that uses effective, scientifically-based research curriculum and instructional strategies to fit the needs of all 
struggling students.  The intervention teacher also provides professional development once a month for each site focusing on MTSS. 
 
Grades TK-12 have one to one chrome books and/or IPADS within the classroom to be used at school for classroom assignments and 
projects. 
Our school district’s dashboard shows that we are doing great in chronic absenteeism and suspension rates. In several areas such as parent 
engagement, implementation of academic standards, and access to a broad course of study we have met standards. 
 
The district does not have any student subgroups that are two or more performance levels below the “all student” performance. The steps 
that we have taken to improve our student performance levels are: 
a) New math and language arts curriculum 
b) After school tutoring 
c) Full time ELL aide 
d) Title 1 intervention teachers 
e) RTI/SST meetings for at-risk students 
f) Hired a Behavior Consultant 
g) Added accelerated workshops for grades 7th-8th to lessen learning gaps due to COVID. 
h) Adopted new Science Curriculum 
 
The district continues to provide counseling using three counselors. On the west side,  the therapist is there for one day a week and on the 
east side there are two therapist.  One works one day a week, and the other works 2 days a week. 
 
The district hired a behavior consultant that works at all sites in the district providing services to staff, students, and parents.  The behavior 
consultant also works and attends SST meetings to provides support for students. 
 
Additional to our counselors we have brought on a parent liaison to work closely with students and parents to provide support. 
 
Our school district will continue to move forward and keep doing what we are doing to continue our success as shown on the dashboard with 
our community forums, professional development for staff and our PBIS for each school site. 
         

 

Reflections: Identified Need 
 

A description of any areas that need significant improvement based on a review of Dashboard and local data, including any areas of low 
performance and significant performance gaps among student groups on Dashboard indicators, and any steps taken to address those areas. 
 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District has room for growth in both Language Arts and Math CAASPP scores for all grades tested. For 
2019 our dashboard indicates that we are in the orange in Language Arts and in in the orange for Math grade 3-8. For Language Arts and 
math improvements we are working on intervention time with Title 1 teachers five days a week. The district is also working on remediation 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#ReflectionsIdentifiedNeed


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 8 of 67 

classes for 7th-8th in math to help in that area. Tutoring is offered at all school sites after school. The district hired a full time intervention 
teacher  to address the intervention needs of the students grades 4th-12th district wide.  Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, state law has 
suspended the reporting of state indicators on the 2021 Dashboard. Our district is still referring back to the 2019 Dashboard as our most 
updated because of irregularities and COVID our 2021 and 2022 Dashboard are not accurate.  our District has been utilizing intervention 
assessments for our local data to help drive improvements in learning gaps.  Our intervention teacher also holds monthly MTSS PDs at each 
school site to go over assessments, and guide staff on tier supports for students.         

 
LCAP Highlights 
 

A brief overview of the LCAP, including any key features that should be emphasized. 
 

This year’s LCAP will continue to focus on Academics, Culture & Climate, and Parent and Stakeholder engagement.  We hope to increase 
our stakeholder engagement through more meaningful methods, such as, more contact with parents, students, community members, and 
district wide meetings with the lifting of COVID restrictions. By obtaining more feedback from all stakeholders in the community we can 
improve more areas in the education of our Sierra/Plumas County students.  To enhance  this process the school board will continue to go 
through several meetings of strategic planning over the next several months to commit to a strong educational environment for all staff, 
students, and stakeholders.         

 

Comprehensive Support and Improvement 
 

An LEA with a school or schools eligible for comprehensive support and improvement must respond to the following prompts. 
 

Schools Identified 
 

A list of the schools in the LEA that are eligible for comprehensive support and improvement. 
 

No schools were identified.         
 

Support for Identified Schools 
 

A description of how the LEA has or will support its eligible schools in developing comprehensive support and improvement plans. 
 

No schools were identified.         
 

Monitoring and Evaluating Effectiveness 
 

A description of how the LEA will monitor and evaluate the plan to support student and school improvement. 
 

No schools were identified.         
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#LCAPHighlights
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#SchoolsIdentified
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#SupportforIdentifiedSchools
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#MonitoringandEvaluatingEffectiveness


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 9 of 67 

Engaging Educational Partners 
 

A summary of the process used to engage educational partners and how this engagement was considered before finalizing the LCAP. 
 

Work on our new LCAP began in the Fall of 2019.  The superintendent, and two site administrators for the district met and worked on 
narrowing our previous five goals down to three.  After the three goals were created, the next process was to meet and find what we wanted 
under those three goals and what state priorities were covered with each section. 
 
Because our school district is so small, as well as our community with minimal stakeholder involvement with public meetings, our district feels 
it is important when working with our smaller committees such as our site councils, it also serves as a Parent Advisory Committee, that we 
take advantage of those opportunities to share the district's goals as well as have the stakeholders at those meetings share their concerns, 
ideas, and items they feel are important for our school district to include in goals.  Our site councils include staff members, parents, and any 
community members that would like to be a part of it.  The following are the dates that were held for each site in our school district: 
 
Downieville Elementary/High School 
 
Downieville's main goal was to 
 
Loyalton Elementary School 
October 18, 2022 
November 15, 2022 
March 20, 2023 
April 17, 2023 
 
LES Site Council Goals: 
 
LCAP Goal #1 All students receive instructional and services to support their intellectual, social, emotional, and physical development and 
will be engaged in school. 
Goal 1: Loyalton Elementary will provide  intervetion services for students in grades 1st-6th. 
 
LCAP Goal #2: Culture & Climate-All students, staff, parents, and stakeholders will have a positive culture & climate in our school district to 
move forward in a positive direction for all. 
Goal 2: Loyalton Elementary will need to update current safety plan/drills in collaboration with local agencies, provide training for staff.  Need 
to update current safety plan/drills in collaboration with local agencies, provide training for staff.  LES site also needs to be updated for safety 
including windows, locks, PA system, phone system. 
 
LCAP Goal #4- All schools and facilities are accessible, safe, and healthy places for students, staff, and community; and all classrooms are 
designed and furnished for optimal learning. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 10 of 67 

Goal 3: Facilities are getting older, needs are painting, new windows, black top. 
 
LCAP Goal #3- Parent and Stakeholder involvement with SPJUSD/SCOE. 
Goal 4: To have more ways of communicating with stakeholders/using all possible ways to communicate, including all calls, menus, 
newsletters, coffee with the principal, surveys, and website. 
 
Dates: 
October 19, 2022 
December 14, 2022 
February 22, 2023 
April 19, 2023 
 
Goals: 
Goal 1: College & Career Readiness: Loyalton High School will increase the percentage of students who meet or exceed the college and 
career readiness standards. 
Goal 2: Middle School Social Connectivity: Increase the 7th and 8th grade students' social and emotional connectivity to LHS. 
Goal 3: Math/ELA/CAST Assessments: The three-year average of students who meet or exceed the state standards will be at or above the 
three-year state average. 
Goal 4: AP Scores: LHS will increase AP passing rates to meet or exceed state average for all those who take AP exams. 
Goal 5: Middle & High School Nutrition: LHS Middle and High School students will have increased access to nutritious and fulfilling 
breakfasts and lunches during their school day so they have the nutrition to 
focus on learning. 
 
School site administrators were able to meet with their site councils throughout the year.  Each site had three to four site council meetings 
throughout the year.  From the site council meetings the focus was on academics, school building needs, and district needs. 
 
On-going communications occurred with all district parents via all-calls, the district social media pages, monthly and quarterly newsletters, 
Facebook pages, and district school websites. The all calls were done weekly, social media page was updated daily, and information was 
posted on the web site when needed.  Information for all calls, weekly menus sent home, monthly newsletters, and social media pages kept 
stakeholders updated of upcoming events in the school district, including meeting dates for school board meetings, site based meetings, and 
public meetings regarding school openings, and stakeholder meetings. 
 
Our ELL Aide/ELPAC coordinator sent a survey out to ELL parents in May to do a yearly check in, in regards to how they feel about services 
that their children and family receive from our school district. 
From our ELL parents survey,  five of the seven surveys were returned.  On a scale of 1 to 5 with 5 being the highest 5's were the overall 
feeling from parents that they feel welcome, they know the services their child is receiving, school staff provides extra help when their child 
needs it, school staff values their family's culture, there is good communication with the families about their children's progress in language 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 11 of 67 

development and academic subjects, they feel supported and safe to ask any questions when they have doubts, and there is good 
communication between the school, staff and families. 
 
Our school district and area are very small, so when we have these meetings whether it be for site council, school board, site based, or 
community meetings, it needs to be understood that many of our staff members, parents, and community members wear many different hats, 
so many of our stakeholder areas are covered even with just a few people that attend our meeting. 
 
As we have moved into the end of our year and things have opened up we will have an in person meeting with stakeholders to go over the 
district's plan for the LCAP and receive feedback for the direction the district is going in with our new LCAP. 
On May 9th a presentation of our LCAP was given to our school board and attending parents and community members. 
There were * people in attendance, including our School Board during this meeting. 
On May 11th administration held a LCAP stakeholders meeting for the East  and West Side of the county at Loyalton Elementary School and 
Downieville School. The meeting dates and time was shared with stakeholders through all calls, school site menu, and on Facebook.  There 
was one in attendance. 
 
On June 21st the LCAP will go before the board for approval.  Once the  LCAP is approved a final copy  will be given to SPTA, our teachers 
association. 
         

 
A summary of the feedback provided by specific educational partners. 
 

From our ELL parents survey UPDATE ONCE DONE 
 
At  the LCAP was approved by the School Board on June 21st.   A final copy was given to SPTA (teacher's association), it was also posted 
on our website, as well as a final copy available to site administrators to share with staff, and parents. 
 
The LCAP is also on the school district website for any community member, parents, or teachers to view. 
 
The teacher’s bargaining unit also has a copy available to refer to with any questions. 
         

 
A description of the aspects of the LCAP that were influenced by specific input from educational partners. 
 

Beginning the new 3-year LCAP cycle, goals in Academics, Culture & Climate, and Stakeholder involvement were selected. Since our last 
LCAP, and taking into consideration student achievement data and feedback from stakeholders resulting from our COVID school year, these 
goals stood out as important areas SPJUSD/SCOE would like to focus on for the betterment of our students, parents, staff, and other 
stakeholders.         

 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 12 of 67 

Goals and Actions 
 
Goal 
 

Goal # Description 
1 Academics: All students receive instruction that supports their intellectual, social, emotional, and physical development 

and will be engaged in school.         
 

An explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal. 
 

SPJUSD/SCOE want to provide the best curriculum instruction possible to its students, while providing support for their intellectual, social, 
emotional, and physical development.  To do this the district has set the LCAP state priorities in this goal to cover: 
Priority 1: Basic Services- Compliance with Williams requirements: appropriate teacher assignment, sufficient instructional materials, and 
faciciliteis in good repair. 
Priority 2: Implementation of State Standards- Implementation of the academic content and performance standards  adopted by the State 
Board of Education, including how the programs and services will enable English learners to access the common core academic content 
standards and the English Language Development standards. 
Priority 3: Parent Involvement-Parental involvement, including efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in making decisions for 
the school district and each individual school site, and including how the school district will promote parental participation in programs for 
economically disadvantaged pupils, English learners, foster youth, and individuals with exceptional needs. 
Priority 4: Pupil Achievement-Pupil achievement as measured by multiple indicators including, but not limited to, assessment data, college 
readiness, and language proficiency. 
Priority 5: Pupil Engagement-Pupil engagement as measured by multiple indicators including, but not limited to, rates associated with 
attendance, chronic absenteeism, dropout (middle and high school), and high school graduation. 
Priority 7: Course Access-The extent to which pupils have access to, and are enrolled in, a broad course of study that includes core subject 
areas (i.e., English, mathematics, social science, science, visual and performing arts, health, physical education, career and technical 
education, etc.), including the programs and services developed and provided to economically disadvantaged pupils, English learners, foster 
youth, and individuals with exceptional needs. 
Priority 8: Other Pupil Outcomes-Pupil outcomes, if available, in the subject areas comprising a broad course of study. 
Priority 10: Foster Youth (County Offices of Education Only)-Coordination of services with other agencies regarding foster youth. 
 
 
         

 

Measuring and Reporting Results 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalsandActions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#goalDescription
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#MeasuringandReportingResults


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 13 of 67 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

Science CCSS 
aligned curriculum are 
reviewed for adoption        

Outdated Science 
curriculum 

No Curriculum was 
Adopted-still in review.  
The curriculum team 
set meetings to 
narrow down 
selection. 

Science Curriculum 
Adopted K-12 

 Adoption of Science 
CCSS aligned 
curriculum. 

Teacher log of 
students in after 
school tutoring        

LHS offered tutoring 2 
times a week-
averaged 10 students 
a week 
LES offered tutoring 2 
times a week 
averaged 15 students 
a week 
DVL will offer tutoring 
in the 2021-2022 
school year 
 

LHS offered tutoring 3 
times a week- 
averaged 13 students 
a week 
LES offered tutoring 4 
times a week 
averaged 20 students 
DVL 
 

LHS offered tutoring 3 
times a week- 
averaged 7 students a 
week 
LES offered tutoring 5 
times a week 
averaged 20 students 
DVL offered tutoring 2 
times a week and had 
0 students 
 

 Increase student 
attendance in Tutoring 
by 2 percent each 
year. 

English Learner 
Progress - ELPAC        

ELPAC 2018-2019 = 
0% Level 4 
61.6% Level 3 
30.8% Level 2 
7.7% Level 1 
 

ELPAC 2021-2022= 
21% Level 4 
29% Level 3 
43% Level 2 
7% Level 1 
 
 

Level 1: Beginning to 
develop: 10% 
Level 2: Somewhat 
developed: 50% 
Level 3: Moderately 
developed: 20% 
Level 4: Well 
Developed: 20% 
 
 

 Increase Level 4 by 
2% from baseline. 
 
Increase Level 3 by 
5% from baseline. 
 

EL Reclassification 
Rate        

Baseline 0% 7.5% 10%  Maintain 20% 
reclassification rate 

% of students meeting 
A-G        

75% of high school 
students have met A-
G requirements 

76.4% of high school 
students have met A-
G requirements 

78% of high students 
have met A-G 
requirements 

 Increase rate by 1% 
annually. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 14 of 67 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

Chronic Absenteeism 
Rate        

9.3% 5 %- 2019 9%  Decrease rate by 2% 
annually. 

Attendance Rate        16-17 94% 95%-2019 88% for 21-22  Increase attendance 
rate by 1% based on 
prior year 

Middle School Drop 
Out Rate        

0% 0% 0%  Maintain 0% 

High School Drop Out 
Rate        

0% 0% 0%  Maintain 0% 

Graduation Rate        100% 100% 100%  Maintain 100% 

Suspension Rate        .7% 0% .02%  Maintain <1% 

Expulsion Rate        0% 0% 0%  Maintain 0% 

Foster Youth 
Coordinator-Hire part 
time coordinator to 
provide proper 
services to foster 
youth        

.5 FTE added to 
postions 

Hired Maintained Position  Hire qualified person. 

% of students who are 
agriculture completers        

15% are Ag 
Completers 

38% of 2020-2021 
graduates were 
agriculture completers 

35% of 2021-2022 
graduates were 
agriculture completers 

 Increase rate by 1% 
annually. 

CAASPP Math 
CAASPP Math 
18-19 
52% of students will 
meet or exceed 
standards 
        

35% of students met 
or exceeded 
standards 

Only Loyalton High 
School Students took 
the CAASPP Math 
Assessment in 2021. 
Of those students: 
27% of 7th grade met 
or exceeded standard 

 
Loyalton High School 
2022 
40%  of 7th grade 
meet or exceeded 
standards 
20.9% of 8th grade 
meet or exceeded 
standards 

 Increase by 5% 
annually. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 15 of 67 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

22% of 8th grade met 
or exceeded 
standards 
35% of 11th grade 
met or exceeded 
standard 
 

36.4% of 11th grade 
meet or exceeded 
standards 
Loyalton Elementary 
School 2022 
31.3 %  met or 
exceeded standards 
for math 
 
 

CAASPP ELA 
18-19 
55% of students will 
meet or exceed 
standards 
        

42% of students met 
or exceeded 
standards 

Only Loyalton High 
School Students took 
the CAASPP ELA 
Assessment in 2021. 
Of those students: 
49% of 7th grade met 
or exceeded standard 
36% of 8th grade met 
or exceeded standard 
46% of 11th grade 
met or exceeded 
standard. 
 

Loyalton High School 
2022 
42.9% of 7th grade 
meet or exceeded 
standards 
26.1% of 8th grade 
meet or exceeded 
standards 
36.4% of 11th grade 
meet or exceeded 
standards 
63.6% Loyalton 
Elementary School 
2022 
 

 Increase by 5% 
annually. 

AP Passage Rate        7% 2016-2017 and 
2017-2018 

8% 2020-2021 
graduates with 3 or 
better 

29% 2022 AP 
Passage Rate 

 Increase passage rate 
by 2% from prior year 

% of students who 
have access to 
standards aligned        

100% of students 
have access to 
standards aligned 
curriculum 

100% of students 
have access to 
standards aligned 
curriculum 

100% of students 
have access to 
standards aligned 
curriculum 

 Maintain at 100% 

 

Actions 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#actions


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 16 of 67 

 
Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 

1.1 Google Classroom 
Platform Training.        

Train all new  teachers district-wide on the use of Google Classroom 
and Google Apps for Education in order to improve students 
engagement and access to curriculum and lessons. Provide retraining 
for veteran teachers district wide. 
 
 

 No      
X 
 

1.2 MTSS/Star 
Benchmark 
Assessments/Interve
ntion Teacher        

Continue the Multi-tiered System of Supports (MTSS) that is data 
driven throughout the district to address the needs of all students by 
aligning district initiatives, supports, programs,  and resources to 
improve student outcomes, using intervention teacher and STAR 
benchmark  reports district wide. 
 
 

$7,500.00 No      
X 
 

1.3 Foster Youth/SCOE        Hire a part time Foster Youth Coordinator to attend meetings and work 
with other agencies to coordinate services for foster youth in the 
district. 
 
This action/goal was met starting the 2021 school year. 
 
 
 

$60,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

1.4 Academic 
Curriculum/Support        

Purchase and implement K-12/FUELED online learning platform to 
enhance curricular options including credit recovery, AP, elective 
options and interventions. 
 
This action/goal was met and enhanced 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 
school years. 
 
 
 

$250,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

1.5 Purchase technology 
to support ELA/Math        

Purchase Moby Max technology to support ELA and Math instruction. 
Purchase additional chromebooks to be used in classrooms for ELA 
and math instruction. 
 
 

$50,000.00 Yes     
X 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 17 of 67 

Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 
 
 

1.6 Provide after school 
tutoring for students 
district wide.        

Fund credentialed teachers for after school tutoring for all students in 
grades 1-12 in all core courses at all school sites in the district school. 
Provide a wellness center for students to access tutors, counselors, 
etc. 
 
 

$202,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

1.7 ELD standards and 
Support for EL 
students        

Implements ELD standards within content instruction to support EL 
students with access to standards aligned curriculum. 
 
 

$120,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

1.8 STAR support 
through full time 
intervention 
teacher/staff        

STAR program used to assess student outcomes and performance to 
support class placement decisions. 
 
 

$115,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

1.9 Professional 
Development        

The District continues to fund professional development. We 
implemented the Marzano Research Group's The New Art and 
Science of Teaching Framework to guide in-house professional 
development and funded teachers to attend outside professional 
development workshops as needed based on our goals. 
 
 

$35,000.00 No      
X 
 

1.10 Science adoption 
committee will work 
towards adoption.        

Science adoption committee will take more time to explore curriculum 
with staff, and stakeholders. 
 
 

 No      
X 
 

 

Goal Analysis [2022-23] 
An analysis of how this goal was carried out in the previous year. 
A description of any substantive differences in planned actions and actual implementation of these actions. 
 

We systematized our MTSS where our intervention teacher conducts PDs once a month at each site in the district to review data to help 
drive instruction. 
 
Our Foster Youth position will be maintained as our foster youth/homeless services have increased in numbers and services needed. 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalAnalysis


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 18 of 67 

        
 
An explanation of material differences between Budgeted Expenditures and Estimated Actual Expenditures and/or Planned Percentages of 
Improved Services and Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services. 
 

None at this time.        
 
An explanation of how effective the specific actions were in making progress toward the goal. 
 

Our full time intervention teacher by using our bench mark assessments, CBM and STAR,  has been able to work with staff at each school 
site to provide one on one and small group intervention services to students.  Through PDs held monthly staff is also able to look at data, 
drive instruction, and know which students should also be receiving Tier 1 and 2 intervention services in the classroom. 
 
Our Foster Youth Coordinator haas become well established and has coordinated with appropriate agencies to provide many services to our 
Foster Youth and Homeless population in our school district. 
        

 
A description of any changes made to the planned goal, metrics, desired outcomes, or actions for the coming year that resulted from 
reflections on prior practice. 
 

For Goal 1 our district is removing Action 1.1 as we have not had any new staff that has needed Google training.  Since COVID our staff has 
become knowledgeable and proficient with using Google in our district. 
For Goal 1 our district is removing Action 1.10 Our district adopted science curriculum K-12 for the 2022-2023 school year.  Staff received 
training on the curriculum in the summer & fall of 2022 and have been using in the classrooms since the start of 2022-2023 school year. 
        

 
A report of the Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for last year’s actions may be found in the Annual Update Table. A report of the 
Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services for last year’s actions may be found in the Contributing Actions Annual Update 
Table. 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 19 of 67 

Goals and Actions 
 
Goal 
 

Goal # Description 
2 Culture & Climate-All students, staff, parents, and stakeholders will have a positive culture & climate in our school district 

to move forward in a positive direction for all.         
 

An explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal. 
 

SPJUSD/SCOE feel that the culture and climate of our district is important to maintain and improve as we maneuver through each school 
year.  By covering the following priorities the district feels that it can provide a strong culture and climate for students and staff: 
Priority 2: Implementation of State Standards- Implementation of the academic content and performance standards  adopted by the State 
Board of Education, including how the programs and services will enable English learners to access the common core academic content 
standards and the English Language Development standards. 
Priority 3: Parent Involvement-Parental involvement, including efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in making decisions for 
the school district and each individual school site, and including how the school district will promote parental participation in programs for 
economically disadvantaged pupils, English learners, foster youth, and individuals with exceptional needs. 
Priority 5: Pupil Engagement-Pupil engagement as measured by multiple indicators including, but not limited to, rates associated with 
attendance, chronic absenteeism, dropout (middle and high school), and high school graduation. 
Priority 6: School Climate-School climate as measured by multiple indicators including, but not limited to, pupil suspension and expulsion 
rates as well as other local measures assessing safety and school connectedness. 
Priority 9: Expelled Youth (County Offices of Education Only)-Coordination of instruction with other agencies regarding expelled youth. 
 
 
         

 

Measuring and Reporting Results 
 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

Number of counseling 
hours        

East Side 12 hours 
West Side 6 hours 
 

East Side 16 hours a 
week 
West Side 6 hours a 
week 
 

West Side 5 hours a 
week 
East Side 15 hours a 
week 
 

 Continue Counseling 
Hours as per student 
needs 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalsandActions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#goalDescription
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#MeasuringandReportingResults


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 20 of 67 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

Records indicating 
how many staff attend 
professional 
development        

75% of staff will 
engage in PD 

80% of staff engaged 
in PD 

82% of staff engaged 
in PD 

 Increase by 1% 
annually 

Facility Inspection 
Tool        

All sites will received a 
rating of fair or better 

All sites received a 
rating of fair or better 

All sites received a 
rating of fair or better 

 All sites will receive a 
rating of fair or better 

Superintendent/site 
administrators review 
of classroom needs        

Continue deferred 
maintenance schedule 
as planned 

Site Admin met with 
maintenance personal 
and created priority 
lists for each site 

Site admin met with 
maintenance personal 
and updated priority 
lists for each site and 
met with facilities  
committee to go over 
needs. 
 
 

 Continue deferred 
maintenance schedule 
as planned 

Enrollment Records- 
District will continue to 
review expelled 
students and services 
offered 
        

We have no expelled 
students 

We have no expelled 
students 

We have no expelled 
students 

 Maintain at 0% 

Enrollment Records        Only 1 foster youth 
enrolled at this time 

Only 2 foster youth 
enrolled at this time 

3 foster youth enrolled 
at this time 

 District will continue to 
review that 
appropriate services 
are being offered to 
foster youth 

Suspension Rate        .7% 2% .02%  Maintain <1% 
 

Actions 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#actions


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 21 of 67 

Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 
2.1 Counseling for 

Students District 
Wide        

District will maintain or increase as needed the hours of our Sierra 
County Mental Health services to better meet the needs of our 
identified students. Additional wellness center to be provided for 
counseling. 
 
 

$440,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

2.2 FIT Report for each 
school site        

District will continue to perform an annual inspection of facilities 
through the Facilities Inspection Tool. All schools will receive a rating 
of fair or better in all areas 
 
 

$500.00 No      
X 
 

2.3 Superintendent/site 
administrators review 
of school site needs        

The site principals, superintendent and maintenance personnel meet 
in the fall and the spring to review classroom, school,  and technology 
needs to plan deferred maintenance. 
 
 

$10,000.00 No      
X 
 

2.4 Foster youth Liaison        Foster youth and expelled students receive instruction and services to 
support their intellectual, social emotional, and physical development. 
(SCOE) 
 
 
 
 

$45,000.00 No      
Foster Youth; expelled students 

Yes     

X 
 

2.5 Professional 
Development        

1.5 hrs/week for teachers.Teachers collaborate to create priority 
standards for their grades and subjects taught. A product of this 
collaboration is district wide priority standards that are sequenced 
throughout a broad course of study for all grade levels. 
 
Get Focused, Stay Focused program provides unduplicated students 
and students with exceptional needs additional support in accessing 
and enrolling in a broad course of study. 
 
STAR program used to assess minimum of 3X per year student 
outcomes and performance to support class placement decisions. 
 
 

$90,000.00 No      
X 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 22 of 67 

Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 
 

 

Goal Analysis [2022-23] 
An analysis of how this goal was carried out in the previous year. 
A description of any substantive differences in planned actions and actual implementation of these actions. 
 

N/A No changes- No Substantive Differences        
 
An explanation of material differences between Budgeted Expenditures and Estimated Actual Expenditures and/or Planned Percentages of 
Improved Services and Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services. 
 

N/A No changes- No Substantive Differences        
 
An explanation of how effective the specific actions were in making progress toward the goal. 
 

Actions have continued to be carried out and followed which made successful progress on this goal.  Adding the facilities committee that 
added involvement with our stake holders helped to keep everyone informed on specific and priority needs at each site in the district.        

 
A description of any changes made to the planned goal, metrics, desired outcomes, or actions for the coming year that resulted from 
reflections on prior practice. 
 

The only change was 2.3 where a facilities committee was added.        
 
A report of the Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for last year’s actions may be found in the Annual Update Table. A report of the 
Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services for last year’s actions may be found in the Contributing Actions Annual Update 
Table. 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalAnalysis


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 23 of 67 

Goals and Actions 
 
Goal 
 

Goal # Description 
3 Parent and Stakeholder involvement with SPJUSD/SCOE. 

 
         

 

An explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal. 
 

SPJUSD/SCOOE want to increase parent and stakeholder involvedment in the district.  The district feels it is important to improve in these 
areas to continue to create a health district for students, staff, parents, and all stakeholders involved.  By covering the following priorities we 
feel we can achieve this: 
Priorities: 
Priority 3: Parent Involvement-Parental involvement, including efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in making decisions for 
the school district and each individual school site, and including how the school district will promote parental participation in programs for 
economically disadvantaged pupils, English learners, foster youth, and individuals with exceptional needs. 
Priority 5: Pupil Engagement-Pupil engagement as measured by multiple indicators including, but not limited to, rates associated with 
attendance, chronic absenteeism, dropout (middle and high school), and high school graduation. 
Priority 6: School Climate-School climate as measured by multiple indicators including, but not limited to, pupil suspension and expulsion 
rates as well as other local measures assessing safety and school connectedness. 
Priority 10: Foster Youth (County Offices of Education Only)-Coordination of services with other agencies regarding foster youth. 
         

 

Measuring and Reporting Results 
 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

Number of SARB 
Referrals        

6 Referrals -2019-
2020 

11 Referrals- 2020-
2021 

5 Referrals- 2021-
2022 

 Decrease referrals by 
1% annually. 

Meeting Needs in 
Strategic Plan        

Creating district-wide 
strategic plan. 

Strategic planning will 
continue in the 2022-
2023 school year with 
the new board 

Strategic Planning 
with continue with 
newly elected school 
board and Admin 

 Creating district-wide 
strategic plan. 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalsandActions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#goalDescription
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#MeasuringandReportingResults


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 24 of 67 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

Parent Involvement in 
Surveys        

Create and distribute 
parent engagement 
surveys. 

EL Survey in June 
District Wide Parent 
Surveys: 
Independent Study 
Needs 
Technology Needs 
Transportation Needs 
 
 

EL Survey- May 
LES Climate Survey- 
February 
LHS Climate Survey- 
January 
Ca Healthy Kids 
Survey- 6th, 8th, 9th, 
and 11th grades 
 

 80% return rate of 
survey. 

Number of 
Students/Parents 
Participating in Four-
year Planning        

85% of families 
participate. 

88% of families 
participated. 

92% of families 
participated. 

 Increase rate by 2% 
annually. 

SCOE- Foster Youth 
Liaison        

Hire Foster Youth 
Liaison 

Part Time Foster 
Youth Liaison was 
hired 

Continue to have part 
time Foster Youth 
Liaison 

 Staff position with a 
qualified person. 

 

Actions 
 
Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 

3.1 SARB Referrals        To work with other local agencies to increase pupil attendance, mental 
wellness, and parent involvement and help.  Agencies include, Sierra 
County Sheriff's Department, Probation, District Attorney, Behavioral 
Health, Counselors, Child Protective Services, Superintendent, and 
Site Administrators. 
 
 

$500.00 No      
X 
 

3.2 Strategic Planning        The school district has hired an individual to provide support and 
direction to provide strategic planning for the school district to help 
with direction on priorities set by stakeholders to improve the district as 
a whole. 
 
 

$30,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#actions


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 25 of 67 

Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 
3.3 Parent Surveys        The district will have surveys sent out to help with strategic planning, 

as well as stakeholder meetings.  Surveys are also sent out by ELL 
coordinator to ELL families. 
 
 

$1,000.00 No      
X 
 

3.4 Four Year Planning        Four year planning will be provided by both high school sites in the 
district for students and parents. 
 
 

$1,000.00 No      
X 
 

3.5 Foster Youth Liaison        The district is hiring a part time liaison to provide proper services for 
foster youth in our district. 
 
 

$80,000.00 Yes     
X 
 

 

Goal Analysis [2022-23] 
An analysis of how this goal was carried out in the previous year. 
A description of any substantive differences in planned actions and actual implementation of these actions. 
 

None at this time.        
 
An explanation of material differences between Budgeted Expenditures and Estimated Actual Expenditures and/or Planned Percentages of 
Improved Services and Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services. 
 

None at this time.        
 
An explanation of how effective the specific actions were in making progress toward the goal. 
 

Our Foster Youth & Homeless students are receiving 100% services because our district has maintained our Foster Youth 
Liaison/Coordinator.        

 
A description of any changes made to the planned goal, metrics, desired outcomes, or actions for the coming year that resulted from 
reflections on prior practice. 
 

None at this time.        
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalAnalysis


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 26 of 67 

A report of the Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for last year’s actions may be found in the Annual Update Table. A report of the 
Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services for last year’s actions may be found in the Contributing Actions Annual Update 
Table. 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 27 of 67 

Goals and Actions 
 
Goal 
 

Goal # Description 
4          

 

An explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal. 
 

         
 

Measuring and Reporting Results 
 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

startcollapse      
 

Actions 
 
Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 
startcollap

se 
    

 

Goal Analysis [2022-23] 
An analysis of how this goal was carried out in the previous year. 
A description of any substantive differences in planned actions and actual implementation of these actions. 
 

        
 
An explanation of material differences between Budgeted Expenditures and Estimated Actual Expenditures and/or Planned Percentages of 
Improved Services and Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services. 
 

        
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalsandActions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#goalDescription
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#MeasuringandReportingResults
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#actions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalAnalysis


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 28 of 67 

An explanation of how effective the specific actions were in making progress toward the goal. 
 

        
 
A description of any changes made to the planned goal, metrics, desired outcomes, or actions for the coming year that resulted from 
reflections on prior practice. 
 

        
 
A report of the Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for last year’s actions may be found in the Annual Update Table. A report of the 
Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services for last year’s actions may be found in the Contributing Actions Annual Update 
Table. 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 29 of 67 

Goals and Actions 
 
Goal 
 

Goal # Description 
5          

 

An explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal. 
 

         
 

Measuring and Reporting Results 
 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome Desired Outcome for 
2023–24 

        expelled students     
 

Actions 
 
Action # Title Description Total Funds Contributing 
startcollap

se 
    

 

Goal Analysis [2022-23] 
An analysis of how this goal was carried out in the previous year. 
A description of any substantive differences in planned actions and actual implementation of these actions. 
 

        
 
An explanation of material differences between Budgeted Expenditures and Estimated Actual Expenditures and/or Planned Percentages of 
Improved Services and Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services. 
 

        
 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalsandActions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#goalDescription
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#MeasuringandReportingResults
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#actions
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#GoalAnalysis


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 30 of 67 

An explanation of how effective the specific actions were in making progress toward the goal. 
 

        
 
A description of any changes made to the planned goal, metrics, desired outcomes, or actions for the coming year that resulted from 
reflections on prior practice. 
 

        
 
A report of the Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for last year’s actions may be found in the Annual Update Table. A report of the 
Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services for last year’s actions may be found in the Contributing Actions Annual Update 
Table. 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 31 of 67 

Increased or Improved Services for Foster Youth, English Learners, and Low-
Income Students [2023-24] 
 
Projected LCFF Supplemental and/or Concentration Grants Projected Additional LCFF Concentration Grant (15 percent) 
379,642 0 
 
Required Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the LCAP Year 
Projected Percentage to Increase 
or Improve Services for the 
Coming School Year 

LCFF Carryover — Percentage LCFF Carryover — Dollar 
Total Percentage to Increase or 
Improve Services for the Coming 
School Year 

7.42% 0.00% $0.00 7.42% 
 
The Budgeted Expenditures for Actions identified as Contributing may be found in the Contributing Actions Table. 
 
Required Descriptions 
 

For each action being provided to an entire school, or across the entire school district or county office of education (COE), an explanation of 
(1) how the needs of foster youth, English learners, and low-income students were considered first, and (2) how these actions are effective in 
meeting the goals for these students. 
 

1.4- Academic Curriculum Support: 
 
As identified our students are scoring below the state average on both the CAASPP ELA and Math assessments.  Feedback indicated the 
desire for the three-year average of students who meet or exceed the sate standards in ELA and Math will be at or above the three-year sate 
average. 
 
To address these needs, we will purchase and implement K-12/Fueled online learning platform to enhance curricular options including credit 
recovery, AP, elective options and interventions. 
 
We expect this action to lead to significant increase in CAASPP ELA and Math scores for low-income students as these actions are focused 
on addressing their identified needs.  To maximize the impact of these actions in improving CAASPP ELA and Math scores throughout the 
LEA, these actions area being provided on an LEA-wide basis. 

http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#IncreasedImprovedServices
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#IncreasedImprovedServices
http://www.doc-tracking.com/screenshots/23LCAP/Instructions/23LCAPInstructions.htm#RequiredDescriptions


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 32 of 67 

 
1.6-Provide After School  Tutoring for Students District Wide: 
 
Using local data, the district has identified that there is a need to provide after school tutoring. Our students need more support for their core 
courses at all school sites to help ensure that any learning loss from the pandemic is minimized. 
 
To address this need, we funded credentialed teachers for after school tutoring for all students in grades 1-12 in all core courses at all school 
sites in the district school.  This is open to all students in the district to receive extra support with their core courses. 
 
We expect this action to lead to significant increase in student achievement with their core courses. 
 
1.8-STAR Support Through Full Time Intervention Teacher/Staff: 
 
Due to our small size and lack of personnel, the district has not always suported intervention. Administration and certificated staff have 
identified that there is a need to support students with their core courses, and scores on the CAASPP ELA and Math assessments.  
Feedback indicated having support for students through intervention will address these needs. 
 
To address these needs, our school district uses STAR reading and math bench mark assessments to monitor students' needs and growth.  
From the assessments the intervention teacher identifies students into Tiers to provide the appropriate support for them to be successful and 
improve their academics. 
 
We expect this acton to help increase meeting students' needs as well as improving their academic achievement. 
 
2.1 Counseling for Students District Wide: 
 
Coming out of the pandemic, the District realized the need to increase counseling services. Our students, like many others across the 
country have been struggling with many issues related to social isolation and changed societal norms. There is a great need to maintain or 
increase the hours of our Sierra County Mental Health services to better meet the needs of our identified students. 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 33 of 67 

To address the needs of our students and continue to provide the best support for them, we will continue to maintain and if possible increase 
hours or counseling services for our students district wide. 
 
We expect this action to continue to support our students' needs when it comes to social, and emotional support that they need. 
 
3.2 Strategic Planning: 
 
Both the board of trustees for the district and the county office of education have dramatically changed in the past four years. This turnover 
as well as the long overdue self-reflection has created a need to address a new identity and direction. 
 
The school district has hired a firm to assist us in providing support and logistics in strategic planning for the school district to help with 
direction and priorities to be set by all stakeholders. 
 
We expect this action to have a clear and concise path in moving the district forward to meet the challenges of the 21st century. 
 
         
 

 
A description of how services for foster youth, English learners, and low-income students are being increased or improved by the percentage 
required. 
 

1.3-Foster Youth/SCOE: 
 
As identified our district wanted to hire a part time Foster Youth Coordinator to attend meetings and work with other agencies to coordinate 
services for foster youth in the district. Because we are so rural, and have a extremely small amount of foster youth students, it was a 
concern that our foster youth students were not receiving all of the services that they should be receiving. 
 
To address this need, we hired a part time Foster Youth Liaison to support our Foster Youth students in our school district. Our Foster Youth 
Liaison will ensure that the following are done to address this need: 

• Represent Sierra County as the Foster Youth Services Program Coordinator 
• Work with the Superintendent and Business Manager on written plans, budgets and reporting 
• Attend mandatory Regional and Statewide Coordinator Meetings 
• Attend related trainings and workshops as needed 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 34 of 67 

• Chair and prepare agendas and minutes for the Foster Youth Services Executive Advisory Council for Sierra County 
• Increase the scope and coordination of services for foster youth in Sierra County, and/or Sierra County youth placed in out-of-

county group homes 
• Develop a case-management system, including a database to include: school of attendance, grade, living arrangements, health 

records, specialized pupil support services, and extra-curricular activities 
• Coordinate trainings for group-home providers, with Sierra County Social Services, for new and existing providers 

 
We anticipate with the work of our Foster Youth Liaison our Foster Youth Students will receive the proper services that they need to receive 
to be successful. 
 
 
1.5-Purchase technology to support ELA/Math: 
 
Being a small and rural school district we often do not have the staff or capacity to provide all the courses and opportunities for our students. 
It was identified through the purchase of technology that we would be able to enhance and grow our ELA and Math opportunities. 
 
Purchase Moby Max technology to support ELA and Math instruction. Purchase additional chromebooks to be used in classrooms for ELA 
and math instruction. 
 
We anticipate that using this technology will help bridge these gaps. 
 
 
1.7-ELD standards and Support for EL students: 
 
As identified in the Engaging Education Partners and Metrics sections, ELPAC scores, and input from the English Learner (EL) parents, our 
EL students are struggling with access to the curriculum.  
 
To address this need, we will implement ELD standards within content instruction to support ELE students with access to standards aligned 
curriculum. Our EL aide will be able to help provide support to our EL students in the following areas:  
*Assist instructional personnel in the implementation of individual educational plans for pupils experiencing language development needs 
*Weekly grade reports-Communication with teachers and students 

• Establish rapport and positive relationship with students, their families and staff members 
• Assist in the parent conference process when requested by the classroom teacher; provide oral and written translation with limited or 

non-English speaking parents; translate notes, letters and other materials as needed 
• Assist in maintaining the assigned classroom/school area in an orderly condition 
• Assist the teacher in preparing and maintaining a variety of records as they pertain to ELL students, files and reports related to their 

progress. 
*Use a second language in assisting with bilingual needs both verbal and written communication 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 35 of 67 

• Support certificated personnel in the creation of appropriate educational instruction to individuals or small groups of ELL students 
• Collaborate with teachers to create instructional materials for the purpose of providing access to course content for ELL students 
• Assist certificated personnel in the development and maintenance of a learning environment appropriate to the special needs and 

language requirements of pupils 
• Assist students in the development of appropriate social behaviors 
• Work individually or in small groups with ELL students for purposes of English language acquisition and/or accessing class material 

 
We anticipate our EL students' ELPAC scores will increase with this additional intervention and they will have better access to the curriculum. 
 
2.4-Foster Youth Liaison: 
 
Foster youth and expelled students receive instruction and services to support their intellectual, social emotional, and physical development. 
(SCOE)  
 
To address these needs we have hired a part time Foster Youth Liaison to help monitor instruction and services to support their intellectual, 
social emotional, and physical development. The Foster Youth Liaison will do the following to ensure Foster Youth and Expelled students 
receive the proper services. 
Foster Youth Liaison will monitor the following: 
Monitor and assist foster youth enrolled in Sierra County schools 

• Represent educational interests of eligible foster care youth during juvenile court proceedings 
• Develop written procedures for inter-agency collaboration for eligible foster youth subject to out-of-home placement decisions by the 

court 
• Increase the scope and coordination of services for foster youth in Sierra County, and/or Sierra County youth placed in out-of-county 

group homes 
• Provide mentoring services to participants based on social and emotional needs including referral for counseling or other services as 

appropriate 
• Organize and schedule experiential learning and team-building activities to eligible foster youth 
• Coordinate enrollment of participants in after-school programs as appropriate 
• Develop a case-management system, including a database to include: school of attendance, grade, living arrangements, health 

records, specialized pupil support services, and extra-curricular activities 
 
We anticipate our Foster Youth and Expelled students will receive and have increased services with the use of our Foster Youth Liaison. 
 
 
3.5-Foster Youth Liaison: 
 
The district is hiring a part time liaison to provide proper services for foster youth in our district. As identified because we are so rural, and 
have a extremely small amount of foster youth students, it was a concern that our foster youth students were not receiving all of the services 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 36 of 67 

that they should be receiving. 
 
 
As identified we want to ensure that our district provides proper services to our Foster Youth students in our district.  
 
To address this need, we have hired a part time Foster Youth Liaison for our school district. The Foster Youth Liaison for our district will do 
the following to ensure that this happens: 

• Represent Sierra County as the Foster Youth Services Program Coordinator 
• Work with the Superintendent and Business Manager on written plans, budgets and reporting 
• Attend mandatory Regional and Statewide Coordinator Meetings 
• Attend related trainings and workshops as needed 
• Chair and prepare agendas and minutes for the Foster Youth Services Executive Advisory Council for Sierra County 
• Monitor and assist foster youth enrolled in Sierra County schools 
• Represent educational interests of eligible foster care youth during juvenile court proceedings 
• Develop written procedures for inter-agency collaboration for eligible foster youth subject to out-of-home placement decisions by the 

court 
• Increase the scope and coordination of services for foster youth in Sierra County, and/or Sierra County youth placed in out-of-county 

group homes 
• Develop a case-management system, including a database to include: school of attendance, grade, living arrangements, health 

records, specialized pupil support services, and extra-curricular activities 
• Coordinate trainings for group-home providers, with Sierra County Social Services, for new and existing providers 

 
We anticipate with the role of our Foster Youth Liaison this will help to ensure that our Foster Youth students are receiving proper services in 
our school district. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A description of the plan for how the additional concentration grant add-on funding identified above will be used to increase the number of staff 
providing direct services to students at schools that have a high concentration (above 55 percent) of foster youth, English learners, and low-
income students, as applicable. 
 

         
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 37 of 67 

Staff-to-student ratios by 
type of school and 
concentration of 
unduplicated students 

Schools with a student concentration of 55 percent or 
less 

Schools with a student concentration of greater than 55 
percent 

Staff-to-student ratio of 
classified staff providing 
direct services to students 

6.1%         0         

Staff-to-student ratio of 
certificated staff providing 
direct services to students 

7.5%         0         

 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 38 of 67 

 
2023-24 Total Expenditures Table 
 

Totals LCFF Funds Other State 
Funds Local Funds Federal Funds Total Funds Total Personnel Total Non-

personnel 
Totals          $1,124,500.00         $260,000.00  $153,000.00 $1,537,500.00 $800,000.00 $737,500.00 

 
Goal Action # Action Title Student Group(s) LCFF Funds Other State Funds Local Funds Federal Funds Total Funds 

1 1.1 Google Classroom 
Platform Training.        

XAll        
 

     

1 1.2 MTSS/Star 
Benchmark 
Assessments/Interve
ntion Teacher        

XAll        
 

$7,500.00 
   

$7,500.00 

1 1.3 Foster Youth/SCOE        XFoster Youth        
 

 
$60,000.00 

  
$60,000.00 

1 1.4 Academic 
Curriculum/Support        

XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income        
 

$250,000.00 
   

$250,000.00 

1 1.5 Purchase technology 
to support ELA/Math        

XEnglish Learners        
 

$50,000.00 
   

$50,000.00 

1 1.6 Provide after school 
tutoring for students 
district wide.        

XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income        
 

$175,000.00 $12,000.00 
 

$15,000.00 $202,000.00 

1 1.7 ELD standards and 
Support for EL 
students        

XEnglish Learners        
 

$70,000.00 
  

$50,000.00 $120,000.00 

1 1.8 STAR support 
through full time 
intervention 
teacher/staff        

XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income        
 

$65,000.00 
  

$50,000.00 $115,000.00 

1 1.9 Professional 
Development        

XAll        
 

$2,000.00 $18,000.00 
 

$15,000.00 $35,000.00 

1 1.10 Science adoption 
committee will work 
towards adoption.        

XAll        
 

     



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 39 of 67 

Goal Action # Action Title Student Group(s) LCFF Funds Other State Funds Local Funds Federal Funds Total Funds 
2 2.1 Counseling for 

Students District 
Wide        

XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income         

$325,000.00 $100,000.00 
 

$15,000.00 $440,000.00 

2 2.2 FIT Report for each 
school site        

XAll         $500.00 
   

$500.00 

2 2.3 Superintendent/site 
administrators review 
of school site needs        

XAll         $10,000.00 
   

$10,000.00 

2 2.4 Foster youth Liaison        Foster Youth; 
expelled 
studentsXFoster 
Youth         

 
$45,000.00 

  
$45,000.00 

2 2.5 Professional 
Development        

XAll         $82,000.00 
  

$8,000.00 $90,000.00 

3 3.1 SARB Referrals        XAll         $500.00 
   

$500.00 
3 3.2 Strategic Planning        XEnglish Learners        

XFoster Youth        
XLow Income         

$30,000.00 
   

$30,000.00 

3 3.3 Parent Surveys        XAll         $1,000.00 
   

$1,000.00 
3 3.4 Four Year Planning        XAll         $1,000.00 

   
$1,000.00 

3 3.5 Foster Youth Liaison        XFoster Youth         $55,000.00 $25,000.00 
  

$80,000.00 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 40 of 67 

 
2023-24 Contributing Actions Table 
 

1. Projected 
LCFF Base 

Grant 

2. Projected 
LCFF 

Supplemental 
and/or 

Concentration 
Grants 

3. Projected 
Percentage to 

Increase or 
Improve 

Services for 
the Coming 
School Year 
(2 divided by 

1) 

LCFF 
Carryover —  
Percentage 
(Percentage 
from Prior 

Year) 

Total 
Percentage to 

Increase or 
Improve 

Services for 
the Coming 
School Year 

(3 + Carryover 
%) 

4. Total 
Planned 

Contributing 
Expenditures  
(LCFF Funds) 

5. Total 
Planned 

Percentage of 
Improved 
Services  

(%) 

Planned 
Percentage to 

Increase or 
Improve 

Services for 
the Coming 
School Year 
(4 divided by 

1, plus 5) 

Totals by 
Type 

Total LCFF 
Funds 

5,116,515 379,642 7.42% 0.00% 7.42% $1,020,000.00 0.00% 19.94 % Total:         $1,020,000.00 
        LEA-wide 

Total:         $845,000.00 

        Limited Total:         $175,000.00 
        Schoolwide 

Total:         $0.00 
 

Goal Action # Action Title 
Contributing to 

Increased or 
Improved 
Services? 

Scope Unduplicated 
Student Group(s) Location 

Planned 
Expenditures for 

Contributing 
Actions (LCFF 

Funds) 

Planned 
Percentage of 

Improved 
Services (%) 

1 1.3 Foster Youth/SCOE XYes     
 

XLimited to 
Unduplicated 
Student Group(s)         

XFoster Youth         XAll Schools         
 

0% 

1 1.4 Academic 
Curriculum/Support 

XYes     
 

XLEA-wide         XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income         

XAll Schools         $250,000.00 
 

1 1.5 Purchase technology to 
support ELA/Math 

XYes     
 

XLimited to 
Unduplicated 
Student Group(s)         

XEnglish Learners         XAll Schools         $50,000.00 0% 

1 1.6 Provide after school tutoring 
for students district wide. 

XYes     
 

XLEA-wide         XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income         

XAll Schools         $175,000.00 
 

1 1.7 ELD standards and Support 
for EL students 

XYes     
 

XLimited to 
Unduplicated 
Student Group(s)         

XEnglish Learners         XAll Schools         $70,000.00 0% 

1 1.8 STAR support through full 
time intervention 
teacher/staff 

XYes     
 

XLEA-wide         XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income         

XAll Schools         $65,000.00 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 41 of 67 

Goal Action # Action Title 
Contributing to 

Increased or 
Improved 
Services? 

Scope Unduplicated 
Student Group(s) Location 

Planned 
Expenditures for 

Contributing 
Actions (LCFF 

Funds) 

Planned 
Percentage of 

Improved 
Services (%) 

2 2.1 Counseling for Students 
District Wide 

XYes     
 

XLEA-wide         XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income         

XAll Schools         $325,000.00 
 

2 2.4 Foster youth Liaison XYes     
 

XLimited to 
Unduplicated 
Student Group(s)         

XFoster Youth         XAll Schools         
 

0% 

3 3.2 Strategic Planning XYes     
 

XLEA-wide         XEnglish Learners        
XFoster Youth        
XLow Income         

XAll Schools         $30,000.00 
 

3 3.5 Foster Youth Liaison XYes     
 

XLimited to 
Unduplicated 
Student Group(s)         

XFoster Youth         XAll Schools         $55,000.00 0% 

 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 42 of 67 

 
2022-23 Annual Update Table 
 

Totals 
Last Year's 

Total Planned 
Expenditures 
(Total Funds) 

Total Estimated  
Expenditures 
(Total Funds) 

Totals          $1,627,500.00 $0.00 

 
Last Year's 

Goal # 
Last Year's Action 

# 
Prior Action/Service Title Contributed to Increased 

or Improved Services? 
Last Year's Planned 

Expenditures 
(Total Funds) 

Estimated Actual 
Expenditures 

(Input Total Funds) 
1 1.1 Google Classroom Platform 

Training.        
No      
X 
 

$25,000.00 
 

1 1.2 MTSS/Star Benchmark 
Assessments/Intervention Teacher        

No      
X 
 

$7,500.00 
 

1 1.3 Foster Youth/SCOE        Yes     
X 
 

$60,000.00 
 

1 1.4 Academic Curriculum/Support        Yes     
X 
 

$250,000.00 
 

1 1.5 Purchase technology to support 
ELA/Math        

Yes     
X 
 

$50,000.00 
 

1 1.6 Provide after school tutoring for 
students district wide.        

Yes     
X 
 

$202,000.00 
 

1 1.7 ELD standards and Support for EL 
students        

Yes     
X 
 

$120,000.00 
 

1 1.8 STAR support through full time 
intervention teacher/staff        

Yes     
X 
 

$115,000.00 
 

1 1.9 Professional Development        No      
X 
 

$35,000.00 
 

1 1.10 Science adoption committee will 
work towards adoption.        

No      $65,000.00 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 43 of 67 

Last Year's 
Goal # 

Last Year's Action 
# 

Prior Action/Service Title Contributed to Increased 
or Improved Services? 

Last Year's Planned 
Expenditures 
(Total Funds) 

Estimated Actual 
Expenditures 

(Input Total Funds) 
X 
 

2 2.1 Counseling for Students District 
Wide        

Yes     
X 
 

$440,000.00 
 

2 2.2 FIT Report for each school site        No      
X 
 

$500.00 
 

2 2.3 Superintendent/site administrators 
review of school site needs        

No      
X 
 

$10,000.00 
 

2 2.4 Foster youth Liaison        No      
Foster Youth; expelled 

students 
Yes     
X 
 

$45,000.00 
 

2 2.5 Professional Development        No      
X 
 

$90,000.00 
 

3 3.1 SARB Referrals        No      
X 
 

$500.00 
 

3 3.2 Strategic Planning        Yes     
X 
 

$30,000.00 
 

3 3.3 Parent Surveys        No      
X 
 

$1,000.00 
 

3 3.4 Four Year Planning        No      
X 
 

$1,000.00 
 

3 3.5 Foster Youth Liaison        Yes     
X 
 

$80,000.00 
 

 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 44 of 67 

 
2022-23 Contributing Actions Annual Update Table 
 

6. Estimated  
LCFF 

Supplemental 
and/or 

Concentration 
Grants 

(Input Dollar 
Amount) 

4. Total Planned 
Contributing 
Expenditures  
(LCFF Funds) 

7. Total Estimated  
Expenditures for 

Contributing 
Actions  

(LCFF Funds) 

Difference 
Between Planned 

and Estimated  
Expenditures for 

Contributing 
Actions 

(Subtract 7 from 
4) 

5. Total Planned 
Percentage of 

Improved 
Services (%) 

8. Total Estimated  
Percentage of 

Improved 
Services  

(%) 

Difference 
Between Planned 

and Estimated  
Percentage of 

Improved 
Services 

(Subtract 5 from 
8) 

         $1,020,000.00         $0.00         $0.00         0.00%         0.00%         0.00%         
 

Last 
Year's 
Goal # 

Last 
Year's 

Action # 
Prior Action/Service Title 

Contributing to 
Increased or 

Improved Services? 

Last Year's Planned 
Expenditures for 

Contributing 
Actions (LCFF 

Funds) 

Estimated Actual 
Expenditures for 

Contributing 
Actions  

(Input LCFF Funds) 

Planned Percentage 
of Improved 

Services 

Estimated Actual 
Percentage of 

Improved Services 
(Input Percentage) 

1 1.3 Foster Youth/SCOE XYes     
 

  0% 
 

1 1.4 Academic Curriculum/Support XYes     
 

$250,000.00   
 

1 1.5 Purchase technology to 
support ELA/Math 

XYes     
 

$50,000.00  0% 
 

1 1.6 Provide after school tutoring 
for students district wide. 

XYes     
 

$175,000.00   
 

1 1.7 ELD standards and Support for 
EL students 

XYes     
 

$70,000.00  0% 
 

1 1.8 STAR support through full time 
intervention teacher/staff 

XYes     
 

$65,000.00   
 

2 2.1 Counseling for Students 
District Wide 

XYes     
 

$325,000.00   
 

2 2.4 Foster youth Liaison XYes     
 

  0% 
 

3 3.2 Strategic Planning XYes     
 

$30,000.00   
 

3 3.5 Foster Youth Liaison XYes     
 

$55,000.00  0% 
 

 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 45 of 67 

 
2022-23 LCFF Carryover Table 
 

9. Estimated 
Actual LCFF 
Base Grant 
(Input Dollar 

Amount) 

6. Estimated 
Actual LCFF 

Supplemental 
and/or 

Concentration 
Grants 

LCFF 
Carryover —  
Percentage 
(Percentage 
from Prior 

Year) 

10. Total 
Percentage to 

Increase or 
Improve 

Services for 
the Current 
School Year 

(6 divided by 9 
+ Carryover 

%) 

7. Total 
Estimated 

Actual 
Expenditures 

for 
Contributing 

Actions  
(LCFF Funds) 

8. Total 
Estimated 

Actual 
Percentage of 

Improved 
Services  

(%) 

11. Estimated 
Actual 

Percentage of 
Increased or 

Improved 
Services 

(7 divided by 
9, plus 8) 

12. LCFF 
Carryover — 

Dollar Amount 
(Subtract 11 
from 10 and 

multiply by 9) 

13. LCFF 
Carryover —  
Percentage 

(12 divided by 
9) 

$2,633,371  0% 0.00% $0.00 0.00% 0.00% $0.00 0.00% 
 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 46 of 67 

Instructions 
Plan Summary 

Engaging Educational Partners 

Goals and Actions 

Increased or Improved Services for Foster Youth, English Learners, and Low-Income Students  

For additional questions or technical assistance related to the completion of the Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP) template, 
please contact the local county office of education (COE), or the California Department of Education’s (CDE’s) Local Agency Systems Support 
Office, by phone at 916-319-0809 or by email at lcff@cde.ca.gov. 

Introduction and Instructions 
The Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) requires local educational agencies (LEAs) to engage their local educational partners in an annual 
planning process to evaluate their progress within eight state priority areas encompassing all statutory metrics (COEs have 10 state priorities). 
LEAs document the results of this planning process in the LCAP using the template adopted by the State Board of Education.  

The LCAP development process serves three distinct, but related functions:  

• Comprehensive Strategic Planning: The process of developing and annually updating the LCAP supports comprehensive strategic planning 
(California Education Code [EC] Section 52064[e][1]). Strategic planning that is comprehensive connects budgetary decisions to teaching and 
learning performance data. LEAs should continually evaluate the hard choices they make about the use of limited resources to meet student and 
community needs to ensure opportunities and outcomes are improved for all students. 

• Meaningful Engagement of Educational Partners: The LCAP development process should result in an LCAP that reflects decisions made 
through meaningful engagement (EC Section 52064[e][1]). Local educational partners possess valuable perspectives and insights about an LEA's 
programs and services. Effective strategic planning will incorporate these perspectives and insights in order to identify potential goals and actions to 
be included in the LCAP. 

• Accountability and Compliance: The LCAP serves an important accountability function because aspects of the LCAP template require LEAs to 
show that they have complied with various requirements specified in the LCFF statutes and regulations, most notably: 

o Demonstrating that LEAs are increasing or improving services for foster youth, English learners, and low-income students in proportion to 
the amount of additional funding those students generate under LCFF (EC Section 52064[b][4-6]). 

o Establishing goals, supported by actions and related expenditures, that address the statutory priority areas and statutory metrics (EC 
sections 52064[b][1] and [2]).  

o Annually reviewing and updating the LCAP to reflect progress toward the goals (EC Section 52064[b][7]). 

mailto:lcff@cde.ca.gov


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 47 of 67 

The LCAP template, like each LEA’s final adopted LCAP, is a document, not a process. LEAs must use the template to memorialize the 
outcome of their LCAP development process, which should: (a) reflect comprehensive strategic planning (b) through meaningful engagement 
with educational partners that (c) meets legal requirements, as reflected in the final adopted LCAP. The sections included within the LCAP 
template do not and cannot reflect the full development process, just as the LCAP template itself is not intended as a tool for engaging 
educational partners.  

If a county superintendent of schools has jurisdiction over a single school district, the county board of education and the governing board of 
the school district may adopt and file for review and approval a single LCAP consistent with the requirements in EC sections 52060, 52062, 
52066, 52068, and 52070. The LCAP must clearly articulate to which entity’s budget (school district or county superintendent of schools) all 
budgeted and actual expenditures are aligned. 

The revised LCAP template for the 2021–22, 2022–23, and 2023–24 school years reflects statutory changes made through Assembly Bill 
1840 (Committee on Budget), Chapter 243, Statutes of 2018. These statutory changes enhance transparency regarding expenditures on 
actions included in the LCAP, including actions that contribute to meeting the requirement to increase or improve services for foster youth, 
English learners, and low-income students, and to streamline the information presented within the LCAP to make adopted LCAPs more 
accessible for educational partners and the public. 

At its most basic, the adopted LCAP should attempt to distill not just what the LEA is doing for students in transitional kindergarten through 
grade twelve (TK–12), but also allow educational partners to understand why, and whether those strategies are leading to improved 
opportunities and outcomes for students. LEAs are strongly encouraged to use language and a level of detail in their adopted LCAPs intended 
to be meaningful and accessible for the LEA’s diverse educational partners and the broader public. 

In developing and finalizing the LCAP for adoption, LEAs are encouraged to keep the following overarching frame at the forefront of the 
strategic planning and educational partner engagement functions:  

Given present performance across the state priorities and on indicators in the California School Dashboard (Dashboard), how is the 
LEA using its budgetary resources to respond to TK–12 student and community needs, and address any performance gaps, including 
by meeting its obligation to increase or improve services for foster youth, English learners, and low-income students? 

LEAs are encouraged to focus on a set of metrics and actions that the LEA believes, based on input gathered from educational partners, 
research, and experience, will have the biggest impact on behalf of its TK–12 students.  

These instructions address the requirements for each section of the LCAP, but may include information about effective practices when 
developing the LCAP and completing the LCAP itself. Additionally, information is included at the beginning of each section emphasizing the 
purpose that each section serves. 

Plan Summary 
Purpose 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 48 of 67 

A well-developed Plan Summary section provides a meaningful context for the LCAP. This section provides information about an LEA’s 
community as well as relevant information about student needs and performance. In order to provide a meaningful context for the rest of the 
LCAP, the content of this section should be clearly and meaningfully related to the content included in the subsequent sections of the LCAP. 

Requirements and Instructions 
General Information – Briefly describe the LEA, its schools, and its students in grades TK–12, as applicable to the LEA. For example, 
information about an LEA in terms of geography, enrollment, or employment, the number and size of specific schools, recent community 
challenges, and other such information as an LEA wishes to include can enable a reader to more fully understand an LEA’s LCAP. 

Reflections: Successes – Based on a review of performance on the state indicators and local performance indicators included in the 
Dashboard, progress toward LCAP goals, local self-assessment tools, input from educational partners, and any other information, what 
progress is the LEA most proud of and how does the LEA plan to maintain or build upon that success? This may include identifying specific 
examples of how past increases or improvements in services for foster youth, English learners, and low-income students have led to improved 
performance for these students. 

Reflections: Identified Need – Referring to the Dashboard, identify: (a) any state indicator for which overall performance was in the “Red” or 
“Orange” performance category or any local indicator where the LEA received a “Not Met” or “Not Met for Two or More Years” rating AND (b) 
any state indicator for which performance for any student group was two or more performance levels below the “all student” performance. 
What steps is the LEA planning to take to address these areas of low performance and performance gaps? An LEA that is required to include 
a goal to address one or more consistently low-performing student groups or low-performing schools must identify that it is required to include 
this goal and must also identify the applicable student group(s) and/or school(s). Other needs may be identified using locally collected data 
including data collected to inform the self-reflection tools and reporting local indicators on the Dashboard. 

LCAP Highlights – Identify and briefly summarize the key features of this year’s LCAP. 

Comprehensive Support and Improvement – An LEA with a school or schools identified for comprehensive support and improvement (CSI) 
under the Every Student Succeeds Act must respond to the following prompts: 

● Schools Identified: Identify the schools within the LEA that have been identified for CSI.  

● Support for Identified Schools: Describe how the LEA has or will support the identified schools in developing CSI plans that included 
a school-level needs assessment, evidence-based interventions, and the identification of any resource inequities to be addressed 
through the implementation of the CSI plan. 

● Monitoring and Evaluating Effectiveness: Describe how the LEA will monitor and evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of 
the CSI plan to support student and school improvement. 

Engaging Educational Partners 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 49 of 67 

Purpose 
Significant and purposeful engagement of parents, students, educators, and other educational partners, including those representing the 
student groups identified by LCFF, is critical to the development of the LCAP and the budget process. Consistent with statute, such 
engagement should support comprehensive strategic planning, accountability, and improvement across the state priorities and locally 
identified priorities (EC Section 52064[e][1]). Engagement of educational partners is an ongoing, annual process.  

This section is designed to reflect how the engagement of educational partners influenced the decisions reflected in the adopted LCAP. The 
goal is to allow educational partners that participated in the LCAP development process and the broader public understand how the LEA 
engaged educational partners and the impact of that engagement. LEAs are encouraged to keep this goal in the forefront when completing 
this section.  

Statute and regulations specify the educational partners that school districts and COEs must consult when developing the LCAP: teachers, 
principals, administrators, other school personnel, local bargaining units of the LEA, parents, and students. Before adopting the LCAP, school 
districts and COEs must share it with the Parent Advisory Committee and, if applicable, to its English Learner Parent Advisory Committee. The 
superintendent is required by statute to respond in writing to the comments received from these committees. School districts and COEs must 
also consult with the special education local plan area administrator(s) when developing the LCAP.  

Statute requires charter schools to consult with teachers, principals, administrators, other school personnel, parents, and students in 
developing the LCAP. The LCAP should also be shared with, and LEAs should request input from, schoolsite-level advisory groups, as 
applicable (e.g., schoolsite councils, English Learner Advisory Councils, student advisory groups, etc.), to facilitate alignment between 
schoolsite and district-level goals and actions.  

Information and resources that support effective engagement, define student consultation, and provide the requirements for advisory group 
composition, can be found under Resources on the following web page of the CDE’s website: https://www.cde.ca.gov/re/lc/. 

Requirements and Instructions 
Below is an excerpt from the 2018–19 Guide for Annual Audits of K–12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting, which is 
provided to highlight the legal requirements for engagement of educational partners in the LCAP development process: 

Local Control and Accountability Plan: 
For county offices of education and school districts only, verify the LEA: 

a) Presented the local control and accountability plan to the parent advisory committee in accordance with Education Code section 
52062(a)(1) or 52068(a)(1), as appropriate. 

b) If applicable, presented the local control and accountability plan to the English learner parent advisory committee, in accordance 
with Education Code section 52062(a)(2) or 52068(a)(2), as appropriate. 

https://www.cde.ca.gov/re/lc/


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 50 of 67 

c) Notified members of the public of the opportunity to submit comments regarding specific actions and expenditures proposed to 
be included in the local control and accountability plan in accordance with Education Code section 52062(a)(3) or 52068(a)(3), 
as appropriate. 

d) Held at least one public hearing in accordance with Education Code section 52062(b)(1) or 52068(b)(1), as appropriate. 

e) Adopted the local control and accountability plan in a public meeting in accordance with Education Code section 52062(b)(2) or 
52068(b)(2), as appropriate. 

Prompt 1: “A summary of the process used to engage educational partners and how this engagement was considered before finalizing the 
LCAP.” 

Describe the engagement process used by the LEA to involve educational partners in the development of the LCAP, including, at a minimum, 
describing how the LEA met its obligation to consult with all statutorily required educational partners as applicable to the type of LEA. A 
sufficient response to this prompt must include general information about the timeline of the process and meetings or other engagement 
strategies with educational partners. A response may also include information about an LEA’s philosophical approach to engaging its 
educational partners.  

Prompt 2: “A summary of the feedback provided by specific educational partners.” 

Describe and summarize the feedback provided by specific educational partners. A sufficient response to this prompt will indicate ideas, 
trends, or inputs that emerged from an analysis of the feedback received from educational partners. 

Prompt 3: “A description of the aspects of the LCAP that were influenced by specific input from educational partners.” 

A sufficient response to this prompt will provide educational partners and the public with clear, specific information about how the engagement 
process influenced the development of the LCAP. The response must describe aspects of the LCAP that were influenced by or developed in 
response to the educational partner feedback described in response to Prompt 2. This may include a description of how the LEA prioritized 
requests of educational partners within the context of the budgetary resources available or otherwise prioritized areas of focus within the 
LCAP. For the purposes of this prompt, “aspects” of an LCAP that may have been influenced by educational partner input can include, but are 
not necessarily limited to: 

• Inclusion of a goal or decision to pursue a Focus Goal (as described below) 
• Inclusion of metrics other than the statutorily required metrics 
• Determination of the desired outcome on one or more metrics 
• Inclusion of performance by one or more student groups in the Measuring and Reporting Results subsection 
• Inclusion of action(s) or a group of actions 
• Elimination of action(s) or group of actions  
• Changes to the level of proposed expenditures for one or more actions 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 51 of 67 

• Inclusion of action(s) as contributing to increased or improved services for unduplicated services 
• Determination of effectiveness of the specific actions to achieve the goal 
• Determination of material differences in expenditures 
• Determination of changes made to a goal for the ensuing LCAP year based on the annual update process 
• Determination of challenges or successes in the implementation of actions 

Goals and Actions 
Purpose 
Well-developed goals will clearly communicate to educational partners what the LEA plans to accomplish, what the LEA plans to do in order to 
accomplish the goal, and how the LEA will know when it has accomplished the goal. A goal statement, associated metrics and expected 
outcomes, and the actions included in the goal should be in alignment. The explanation for why the LEA included a goal is an opportunity for 
LEAs to clearly communicate to educational partners and the public why, among the various strengths and areas for improvement highlighted 
by performance data and strategies and actions that could be pursued, the LEA decided to pursue this goal, and the related metrics, expected 
outcomes, actions, and expenditures. 

A well-developed goal can be focused on the performance relative to a metric or metrics for all students, a specific student group(s), narrowing 
performance gaps, or implementing programs or strategies expected to impact outcomes. LEAs should assess the performance of their 
student groups when developing goals and the related actions to achieve such goals. 

Requirements and Instructions 
LEAs should prioritize the goals, specific actions, and related expenditures included within the LCAP within one or more state priorities. LEAs 
should consider performance on the state and local indicators, including their locally collected and reported data for the local indicators that 
are included in the Dashboard in determining whether and how to prioritize its goals within the LCAP. 

In order to support prioritization of goals, the LCAP template provides LEAs with the option of developing three different kinds of goals: 

• Focus Goal: A Focus Goal is relatively more concentrated in scope and may focus on a fewer number of metrics to measure improvement. A Focus 
Goal statement will be time bound and make clear how the goal is to be measured. 

• Broad Goal: A Broad Goal is relatively less concentrated in its scope and may focus on improving performance across a wide range of metrics. 

• Maintenance of Progress Goal: A Maintenance of Progress Goal includes actions that may be ongoing without significant changes and allows an 
LEA to track performance on any metrics not addressed in the other goals of the LCAP. 

At a minimum, the LCAP must address all LCFF priorities and associated metrics. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 52 of 67 

Focus Goal(s) 
Goal Description: The description provided for a Focus Goal must be specific, measurable, and time bound. An LEA develops a Focus Goal 
to address areas of need that may require or benefit from a more specific and data intensive approach. The Focus Goal can explicitly 
reference the metric(s) by which achievement of the goal will be measured and the time frame according to which the LEA expects to achieve 
the goal. 

Explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal: Explain why the LEA has chosen to prioritize this goal. An explanation must be 
based on Dashboard data or other locally collected data. LEAs must describe how the LEA identified this goal for focused attention, including 
relevant consultation with educational partners. LEAs are encouraged to promote transparency and understanding around the decision to 
pursue a focus goal. 

Broad Goal 
Goal Description: Describe what the LEA plans to achieve through the actions included in the goal. The description of a broad goal will be 
clearly aligned with the expected measurable outcomes included for the goal. The goal description organizes the actions and expected 
outcomes in a cohesive and consistent manner. A goal description is specific enough to be measurable in either quantitative or qualitative 
terms. A broad goal is not as specific as a focus goal. While it is specific enough to be measurable, there are many different metrics for 
measuring progress toward the goal. 

Explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal: Explain why the LEA developed this goal and how the actions and metrics grouped 
together will help achieve the goal. 

Maintenance of Progress Goal 
Goal Description: Describe how the LEA intends to maintain the progress made in the LCFF State Priorities not addressed by the other goals 
in the LCAP. Use this type of goal to address the state priorities and applicable metrics not addressed within the other goals in the LCAP. The 
state priorities and metrics to be addressed in this section are those for which the LEA, in consultation with educational partners, has 
determined to maintain actions and monitor progress while focusing implementation efforts on the actions covered by other goals in the LCAP. 

Explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal: Explain how the actions will sustain the progress exemplified by the related metrics. 

Required Goals 
In general, LEAs have flexibility in determining what goals to include in the LCAP and what those goals will address; however, beginning with 
the development of the 2022–23 LCAP, LEAs that meet certain criteria are required to include a specific goal in their LCAP. 

Consistently low-performing student group(s) criteria: An LEA is eligible for Differentiated Assistance for three or more consecutive years 
based on the performance of the same student group or groups in the Dashboard. A list of the LEAs required to include a goal in the LCAP 
based on student group performance, and the student group(s) that lead to identification, may be found on the CDE’s Local Control Funding 
Formula web page at https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/.  

• Consistently low-performing student group(s) goal requirement: An LEA meeting the consistently low-performing student group(s) criteria must 
include a goal in its LCAP focused on improving the performance of the student group or groups that led to the LEA’s eligibility for Differentiated 

https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 53 of 67 

Assistance. This goal must include metrics, outcomes, actions, and expenditures specific to addressing the needs of, and improving outcomes for, 
this student group or groups. An LEA required to address multiple student groups is not required to have a goal to address each student group; 
however, each student group must be specifically addressed in the goal. This requirement may not be met by combining this required goal with 
another goal. 

• Goal Description: Describe the outcomes the LEA plans to achieve to address the needs of, and improve outcomes for, the student group or 
groups that led to the LEA’s eligibility for Differentiated Assistance. 

• Explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal: Explain why the LEA is required to develop this goal, including identifying the student 
group(s) that lead to the LEA being required to develop this goal, how the actions and associated metrics included in this goal differ from previous 
efforts to improve outcomes for the student group(s), and why the LEA believes the actions, metrics, and expenditures included in this goal will help 
achieve the outcomes identified in the goal description. 

Low-performing school(s) criteria: The following criteria only applies to a school district or COE with two or more schools; it does not apply 
to a single-school district. A school district or COE has one or more schools that, for two consecutive years, received the two lowest 
performance levels on all but one of the state indicators for which the school(s) receive performance levels in the Dashboard and the 
performance of the “All Students” student group for the LEA is at least one performance level higher in all of those indicators. A list of the LEAs 
required to include a goal in the LCAP based on school performance, and the school(s) that lead to identification, may be found on the CDE’s 
Local Control Funding Formula web page at https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/. 

• Low-performing school(s) goal requirement: A school district or COE meeting the low-performing school(s) criteria must include a goal in its 
LCAP focusing on addressing the disparities in performance between the school(s) and the LEA as a whole. This goal must include metrics, 
outcomes, actions, and expenditures specific to addressing the needs of, and improving outcomes for, the students enrolled at the low-performing 
school or schools. An LEA required to address multiple schools is not required to have a goal to address each school; however, each school must 
be specifically addressed in the goal. This requirement may not be met by combining this goal with another goal. 

• Goal Description: Describe what outcomes the LEA plans to achieve to address the disparities in performance between the students enrolled at 
the low-performing school(s) and the students enrolled at the LEA as a whole.  

• Explanation of why the LEA has developed this goal: Explain why the LEA is required to develop this goal, including identifying the schools(s) 
that lead to the LEA being required to develop this goal; how the actions and associated metrics included in this goal differ from previous efforts to 
improve outcomes for the school(s); and why the LEA believes the actions, metrics, and expenditures included in this goal will help achieve the 
outcomes for students enrolled at the low-performing school or schools identified in the goal description. 

Measuring and Reporting Results: 
For each LCAP year, identify the metric(s) that the LEA will use to track progress toward the expected outcomes. LEAs are encouraged to 
identify metrics for specific student groups, as appropriate, including expected outcomes that would reflect narrowing of any existing 
performance gaps.  

https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/


 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 54 of 67 

Include in the baseline column the most recent data associated with this metric available at the time of adoption of the LCAP for the first year 
of the three-year plan. LEAs may use data as reported on the 2019 Dashboard for the baseline of a metric only if that data represents the 
most recent available (e.g., high school graduation rate). 

Using the most recent data available may involve reviewing data the LEA is preparing for submission to the California Longitudinal Pupil 
Achievement Data System (CALPADS) or data that the LEA has recently submitted to CALPADS. Because final 2020–21 outcomes on some 
metrics may not be computable at the time the 2021–24 LCAP is adopted (e.g., graduation rate, suspension rate), the most recent data 
available may include a point in time calculation taken each year on the same date for comparability purposes. 

The baseline data shall remain unchanged throughout the three-year LCAP. 

Complete the table as follows: 

● Metric: Indicate how progress is being measured using a metric. 

● Baseline: Enter the baseline when completing the LCAP for 2021–22. As described above, the baseline is the most recent data 
associated with a metric. Indicate the school year to which the data applies, consistent with the instructions above. 

● Year 1 Outcome: When completing the LCAP for 2022–23, enter the most recent data available. Indicate the school year to which the 
data applies, consistent with the instructions above. 

● Year 2 Outcome: When completing the LCAP for 2023–24, enter the most recent data available. Indicate the school year to which the 
data applies, consistent with the instructions above. 

● Year 3 Outcome: When completing the LCAP for 2024–25, enter the most recent data available. Indicate the school year to which the 
data applies, consistent with the instructions above. The 2024–25 LCAP will be the first year in the next three-year cycle. Completing 
this column will be part of the Annual Update for that year. 

● Desired Outcome for 2023–24: When completing the first year of the LCAP, enter the desired outcome for the relevant metric the LEA 
expects to achieve by the end of the 2023–24 LCAP year. 

Timeline for completing the “Measuring and Reporting Results” part of the Goal. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 55 of 67 

Metric Baseline Year 1 Outcome Year 2 Outcome Year 3 Outcome 
Desired Outcome 

for Year 3 
(2023–24) 

Enter information 
in this box when 
completing the 
LCAP for 2021–
22. 

Enter information 
in this box when 
completing the 
LCAP for 2021–
22. 

Enter information 
in this box when 
completing the 
LCAP for 2022–
23. Leave blank 
until then. 

Enter information 
in this box when 
completing the 
LCAP for 2023–
24. Leave blank 
until then. 

Enter information 
in this box when 
completing the 
LCAP for 2024–
25. Leave blank 
until then. 

Enter information 
in this box when 
completing the 
LCAP for 2021–
22 or when 
adding a new 
metric. 

The metrics may be quantitative or qualitative; but at minimum, an LEA’s LCAP must include goals that are measured using all of the 
applicable metrics for the related state priorities, in each LCAP year as applicable to the type of LEA. To the extent a state priority does not 
specify one or more metrics (e.g., implementation of state academic content and performance standards), the LEA must identify a metric to 
use within the LCAP. For these state priorities, LEAs are encouraged to use metrics based on or reported through the relevant self-reflection 
tool for local indicators within the Dashboard. 

Actions: Enter the action number. Provide a short title for the action. This title will also appear in the action tables. Provide a description of the 
action. Enter the total amount of expenditures associated with this action. Budgeted expenditures from specific fund sources will be provided 
in the summary tables. Indicate whether the action contributes to meeting the increase or improved services requirement as described in the 
Increased or Improved Services section using a “Y” for Yes or an “N” for No. (Note: for each such action offered on an LEA-wide or 
schoolwide basis, the LEA will need to provide additional information in the Increased or Improved Summary Section to address the 
requirements in California Code of Regulations, Title 5 [5 CCR] Section 15496(b) in the Increased or Improved Services Section of the LCAP). 

Actions for English Learners: School districts, COEs, and charter schools that have a numerically significant English learner student 
subgroup must include specific actions in the LCAP related to, at a minimum, the language acquisition programs, as defined in EC 
Section 306, provided to students and professional development activities specific to English learners. 

Actions for Foster Youth: School districts, COEs, and charter schools that have a numerically significant Foster Youth student 
subgroup are encouraged to include specific actions in the LCAP designed to meet needs specific to Foster Youth students. 

Goal Analysis: 

Enter the LCAP Year. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 56 of 67 

Using actual annual measurable outcome data, including data from the Dashboard, analyze whether the planned actions were effective in 
achieving the goal. Respond to the prompts as instructed. 

● Describe the overall implementation of the actions to achieve the articulated goal. Include a discussion of relevant challenges and 
successes experienced with the implementation process. This must include any instance where the LEA did not implement a planned 
action or implemented a planned action in a manner that differs substantively from how it was described in the adopted LCAP.  

● Explain material differences between Budgeted Expenditures and Estimated Actual Expenditures and between the Planned 
Percentages of Improved Services and Estimated Actual Percentages of Improved Services, as applicable. Minor variances in 
expenditures or percentages do not need to be addressed, and a dollar-for-dollar accounting is not required. 

● Describe the effectiveness of the specific actions to achieve the articulated goal as measured by the LEA. In some cases, not all 
actions in a goal will be intended to improve performance on all of the metrics associated with the goal. When responding to this 
prompt, LEAs may assess the effectiveness of a single action or group of actions within the goal in the context of performance on a 
single metric or group of specific metrics within the goal that are applicable to the action(s). Grouping actions with metrics will allow for 
more robust analysis of whether the strategy the LEA is using to impact a specified set of metrics is working and increase transparency 
for educational partners. LEAs are encouraged to use such an approach when goals include multiple actions and metrics that are not 
closely associated. 

● Describe any changes made to this goal, expected outcomes, metrics, or actions to achieve this goal as a result of this analysis and 
analysis of the data provided in the Dashboard or other local data, as applicable. 

Increased or Improved Services for Foster Youth, English Learners, and Low-
Income Students  
Purpose 
A well-written Increased or Improved Services section provides educational partners with a comprehensive description, within a single 
dedicated section, of how an LEA plans to increase or improve services for its unduplicated students in grades TK–12 as compared to all 
students in grades TK–12, as applicable, and how LEA-wide or schoolwide actions identified for this purpose meet regulatory requirements. 
Descriptions provided should include sufficient detail yet be sufficiently succinct to promote a broader understanding of educational partners to 
facilitate their ability to provide input. An LEA’s description in this section must align with the actions included in the Goals and Actions section 
as contributing.  

Requirements and Instructions 
Projected LCFF Supplemental and/or Concentration Grants: Specify the amount of LCFF supplemental and concentration grant funds the 
LEA estimates it will receive in the coming year based on the number and concentration of low income, foster youth, and English learner 
students. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 57 of 67 

Projected Additional LCFF Concentration Grant (15 percent): Specify the amount of additional LCFF concentration grant add-on funding, 
as described in EC Section 42238.02, that the LEA estimates it will receive in the coming year. 

Projected Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the Coming School Year: Specify the estimated percentage by which services 
for unduplicated pupils must be increased or improved as compared to the services provided to all students in the LCAP year as calculated 
pursuant to 5 CCR Section 15496(a)(7). 

LCFF Carryover — Percentage: Specify the LCFF Carryover — Percentage identified in the LCFF Carryover Table. If a carryover 
percentage is not identified in the LCFF Carryover Table, specify a percentage of zero (0.00%). 

LCFF Carryover — Dollar: Specify the LCFF Carryover — Dollar amount identified in the LCFF Carryover Table. If a carryover amount is not 
identified in the LCFF Carryover Table, specify an amount of zero ($0). 

Total Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the Coming School Year: Add the Projected Percentage to Increase or Improve 
Services for the Coming School Year and the Proportional LCFF Required Carryover Percentage and specify the percentage. This is the LEAs 
percentage by which services for unduplicated pupils must be increased or improved as compared to the services provided to all students in 
the LCAP year, as calculated pursuant to 5 CCR Section 15496(a)(7). 

Required Descriptions: 

For each action being provided to an entire school, or across the entire school district or COE, an explanation of (1) how the needs 
of foster youth, English learners, and low-income students were considered first, and (2) how these actions are effective in meeting 
the goals for these students. 

For each action included in the Goals and Actions section as contributing to the increased or improved services requirement for unduplicated 
pupils and provided on an LEA-wide or schoolwide basis, the LEA must include an explanation consistent with 5 CCR Section 15496(b). For 
any such actions continued into the 2021–24 LCAP from the 2017–2020 LCAP, the LEA must determine whether or not the action was 
effective as expected, and this determination must reflect evidence of outcome data or actual implementation to date. 

Principally Directed and Effective: An LEA demonstrates how an action is principally directed towards and effective in meeting the LEA’s 
goals for unduplicated students when the LEA explains how: 

● It considers the needs, conditions, or circumstances of its unduplicated pupils; 

● The action, or aspect(s) of the action (including, for example, its design, content, methods, or location), is based on these 
considerations; and 

● The action is intended to help achieve an expected measurable outcome of the associated goal. 

As such, the response provided in this section may rely on a needs assessment of unduplicated students. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 58 of 67 

Conclusory statements that a service will help achieve an expected outcome for the goal, without an explicit connection or further explanation 
as to how, are not sufficient. Further, simply stating that an LEA has a high enrollment percentage of a specific student group or groups does 
not meet the increase or improve services standard because enrolling students is not the same as serving students. 

For example, if an LEA determines that low-income students have a significantly lower attendance rate than the attendance rate for all 
students, it might justify LEA-wide or schoolwide actions to address this area of need in the following way: 

After assessing the needs, conditions, and circumstances of our low-income students, we learned that the attendance rate of our low-
income students is 7 percent lower than the attendance rate for all students. (Needs, Conditions, Circumstances [Principally Directed]) 

In order to address this condition of our low-income students, we will develop and implement a new attendance program that is 
designed to address some of the major causes of absenteeism, including lack of reliable transportation and food, as well as a school 
climate that does not emphasize the importance of attendance. Goal N, Actions X, Y, and Z provide additional transportation and 
nutritional resources as well as a districtwide educational campaign on the benefits of high attendance rates. (Contributing Action[s]) 

These actions are being provided on an LEA-wide basis and we expect/hope that all students with less than a 100 percent attendance 
rate will benefit. However, because of the significantly lower attendance rate of low-income students, and because the actions meet 
needs most associated with the chronic stresses and experiences of a socio-economically disadvantaged status, we expect that the 
attendance rate for our low-income students will increase significantly more than the average attendance rate of all other students. 
(Measurable Outcomes [Effective In]) 

COEs and Charter Schools: Describe how actions included as contributing to meeting the increased or improved services requirement on an 
LEA-wide basis are principally directed to and effective in meeting its goals for unduplicated pupils in the state and any local priorities as 
described above. In the case of COEs and charter schools, schoolwide and LEA-wide are considered to be synonymous. 

For School Districts Only: 

Actions Provided on an LEA-Wide Basis: 

Unduplicated Percentage > 55 percent: For school districts with an unduplicated pupil percentage of 55 percent or more, describe how 
these actions are principally directed to and effective in meeting its goals for unduplicated pupils in the state and any local priorities as 
described above. 

Unduplicated Percentage < 55 percent: For school districts with an unduplicated pupil percentage of less than 55 percent, describe how 
these actions are principally directed to and effective in meeting its goals for unduplicated pupils in the state and any local priorities. Also 
describe how the actions are the most effective use of the funds to meet these goals for its unduplicated pupils. Provide the basis for this 
determination, including any alternatives considered, supporting research, experience, or educational theory. 

Actions Provided on a Schoolwide Basis: 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 59 of 67 

School Districts must identify in the description those actions being funded and provided on a schoolwide basis, and include the required 
description supporting the use of the funds on a schoolwide basis. 

For schools with 40 percent or more enrollment of unduplicated pupils: Describe how these actions are principally directed to and 
effective in meeting its goals for its unduplicated pupils in the state and any local priorities. 

For school districts expending funds on a schoolwide basis at a school with less than 40 percent enrollment of unduplicated pupils: 
Describe how these actions are principally directed to and how the actions are the most effective use of the funds to meet its goals for foster 
youth, English learners, and low-income students in the state and any local priorities. 

A description of how services for foster youth, English learners, and low-income students are being increased or improved by the 
percentage required. 

Consistent with the requirements of 5 CCR Section 15496, describe how services provided for unduplicated pupils are increased or improved 
by at least the percentage calculated as compared to the services provided for all students in the LCAP year. To improve services means to 
grow services in quality and to increase services means to grow services in quantity. Services are increased or improved by those actions in 
the LCAP that are included in the Goals and Actions section as contributing to the increased or improved services requirement, whether they 
are provided on an LEA-wide or schoolwide basis or provided on a limited basis to unduplicated students. A limited action is an action that 
only serves foster youth, English learners, and/or low-income students. This description must address how these action(s) are expected to 
result in the required proportional increase or improvement in services for unduplicated pupils as compared to the services the LEA provides 
to all students for the relevant LCAP year. 

For any action contributing to meeting the increased or improved services requirement that is associated with a Planned Percentage of 
Improved Services in the Contributing Summary Table rather than an expenditure of LCFF funds, describe the methodology that was used to 
determine the contribution of the action towards the proportional percentage. See the instructions for determining the Planned Percentage of 
Improved Services for information on calculating the Percentage of Improved Services. 

A description of the plan for how the additional concentration grant add-on funding identified above will be used to increase the 
number of staff providing direct services to students at schools that have a high concentration (above 55 percent) of foster youth, 
English learners, and low-income students, as applicable. 
An LEA that receives the additional concentration grant add-on described in EC Section 42238.02 is required to demonstrate how it is using 
these funds to increase the number of staff who provide direct services to students at schools with an enrollment of unduplicated students that 
is greater than 55 percent as compared to the number of staff who provide direct services to students at schools with an enrollment of 
unduplicated students that is equal to or less than 55 percent. The staff who provide direct services to students must be certificated staff 
and/or classified staff employed by the LEA; classified staff includes custodial staff.  

Provide the following descriptions, as applicable to the LEA: 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 60 of 67 

An LEA that does not receive a concentration grant or the concentration grant add-on must indicate that a response to this prompt is not 
applicable. 

Identify the goal and action numbers of the actions in the LCAP that the LEA is implementing to meet the requirement to increase the number 
of staff who provide direct services to students at schools with an enrollment of unduplicated students that is greater than 55 percent.  

An LEA that does not have comparison schools from which to describe how it is using the concentration grant add-on funds, such as an LEA 
that only has schools with an enrollment of unduplicated students that is greater than 55 percent, must describe how it is using the funds to 
increase the number of credentialed staff, classified staff, or both, including custodial staff, who provide direct services to students at selected 
schools and the criteria used to determine which schools require additional staffing support. 

In the event that an additional concentration grant add-on is not sufficient to increase staff providing direct services to students at a school with 
an enrollment of unduplicated students that is greater than 55 percent, the LEA must describe how it is using the funds to retain staff providing 
direct services to students at a school with an enrollment of unduplicated students that is greater than 55 percent. 

Complete the table as follows:  

• Provide the staff-to-student ratio of classified staff providing direct services to students with a concentration of unduplicated students that is 55 
percent or less and the staff-to-student ratio of classified staff providing direct services to students at schools with a concentration of unduplicated 
students that is greater than 55 percent, as applicable to the LEA. The LEA may group its schools by grade span (Elementary, Middle/Junior High, 
and High Schools), as applicable to the LEA. The staff-to-student ratio must be based on the number of full time equivalent (FTE) staff and the 
number of enrolled students as counted on the first Wednesday in October of each year.  

• Provide the staff-to-student ratio of certificated staff providing direct services to students at schools with a concentration of unduplicated students 
that is 55 percent or less and the staff-to-student ratio of certificated staff providing direct services to students at schools with a concentration of 
unduplicated students that is greater than 55 percent, as applicable to the LEA. The LEA may group its schools by grade span (Elementary, 
Middle/Junior High, and High Schools), as applicable to the LEA. The staff-to-student ratio must be based on the number of FTE staff and the 
number of enrolled students as counted on the first Wednesday in October of each year. 

Action Tables 
Complete the Data Entry Table for each action in the LCAP. The information entered into this table will automatically populate the other Action 
Tables. Information is only entered into the Data Entry Table, the Annual Update Table, the Contributing Actions Annual Update Table, and 
the LCFF Carryover Table. With the exception of the Data Entry Table, the word “input” has been added to column headers to aid in identifying 
the column(s) where information will be entered. Information is not entered on the remaining Action tables.  

The following tables are required to be included as part of the LCAP adopted by the local governing board or governing body: 

• Table 1: Total Planned Expenditures Table (for the coming LCAP Year) 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 61 of 67 

• Table 2: Contributing Actions Table (for the coming LCAP Year) 

• Table 3: Annual Update Table (for the current LCAP Year) 

• Table 4: Contributing Actions Annual Update Table (for the current LCAP Year) 

• Table 5: LCFF Carryover Table (for the current LCAP Year) 

Note: The coming LCAP Year is the year that is being planned for, while the current LCAP year is the current year of implementation. For 
example, when developing the 2022–23 LCAP, 2022–23 will be the coming LCAP Year and 2021–22 will be the current LCAP Year. 

Data Entry Table 
The Data Entry Table may be included in the LCAP as adopted by the local governing board or governing body, but is not required to be 
included. In the Data Entry Table, input the following information for each action in the LCAP for that applicable LCAP year: 

• LCAP Year: Identify the applicable LCAP Year. 

• 1. Projected LCFF Base Grant: Provide the total amount of LCFF funding the LEA estimates it will receive for the coming school year, 
excluding the supplemental and concentration grants and the add-ons for the Targeted Instructional Improvement Grant Program and 
the Home to School Transportation Program, pursuant to 5 CCR Section 15496(a)(8).  

See EC sections 2574 (for COEs) and 42238.02 (for school districts and charter schools), as applicable, for LCFF apportionment 
calculations.  

• 2. Projected LCFF Supplemental and/or Concentration Grants: Provide the total amount of LCFF supplemental and concentration 
grants the LEA estimates it will receive on the basis of the number and concentration of unduplicated students for the coming school 
year. 

• 3. Projected Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the Coming School Year: This percentage will not be entered; it is 
calculated based on the Projected LCFF Base Grant and the Projected LCFF Supplemental and/or Concentration Grants, pursuant to 5 
CCR Section 15496(a)(8). This is the percentage by which services for unduplicated pupils must be increased or improved as 
compared to the services provided to all students in the coming LCAP year. 

• LCFF Carryover — Percentage: Specify the LCFF Carryover — Percentage identified in the LCFF Carryover Table from the prior 
LCAP year. If a carryover percentage is not identified in the LCFF Carryover Table, specify a percentage of zero (0.00%). 

• Total Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the Coming School Year: This percentage will not be entered; it is calculated 
based on the Projected Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the Coming School Year and the LCFF Carryover — 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 62 of 67 

Percentage. This is the percentage by which the LEA must increase or improve services for unduplicated pupils as compared to the 
services provided to all students in the coming LCAP year. 

• Goal #: Enter the LCAP Goal number for the action. 

• Action #: Enter the action’s number as indicated in the LCAP Goal. 

• Action Title: Provide a title of the action.  

• Student Group(s): Indicate the student group or groups who will be the primary beneficiary of the action by entering “All,” or by 
entering a specific student group or groups. 

• Contributing to Increased or Improved Services?: Type “Yes” if the action is included as contributing to meeting the increased or 
improved services; OR, type “No” if the action is not included as contributing to meeting the increased or improved services. 

• If “Yes” is entered into the Contributing column, then complete the following columns: 

o Scope: The scope of an action may be LEA-wide (i.e., districtwide, countywide, or charterwide), schoolwide, or limited. An action 
that is LEA-wide in scope upgrades the entire educational program of the LEA. An action that is schoolwide in scope upgrades 
the entire educational program of a single school. An action that is limited in its scope is an action that serves only one or more 
unduplicated student groups.  

o Unduplicated Student Group(s): Regardless of scope, contributing actions serve one or more unduplicated student groups. 
Indicate one or more unduplicated student groups for whom services are being increased or improved as compared to what all 
students receive. 

o Location: Identify the location where the action will be provided. If the action is provided to all schools within the LEA, the LEA 
must indicate “All Schools.” If the action is provided to specific schools within the LEA or specific grade spans only, the LEA must 
enter “Specific Schools” or “Specific Grade Spans.” Identify the individual school or a subset of schools or grade spans (e.g., all 
high schools or grades transitional kindergarten through grade five), as appropriate. 

• Time Span: Enter “ongoing” if the action will be implemented for an indeterminate period of time. Otherwise, indicate the span of time 
for which the action will be implemented. For example, an LEA might enter “1 Year,” or “2 Years,” or “6 Months.” 

• Total Personnel: Enter the total amount of personnel expenditures utilized to implement this action.  

• Total Non-Personnel: This amount will be automatically calculated based on information provided in the Total Personnel column and 
the Total Funds column. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 63 of 67 

• LCFF Funds: Enter the total amount of LCFF funds utilized to implement this action, if any. LCFF funds include all funds that make up 
an LEA’s total LCFF target (i.e., base grant, grade span adjustment, supplemental grant, concentration grant, Targeted Instructional 
Improvement Block Grant, and Home-To-School Transportation). 

o Note: For an action to contribute towards meeting the increased or improved services requirement it must include some 
measure of LCFF funding. The action may also include funding from other sources, however the extent to which an action 
contributes to meeting the increased or improved services requirement is based on the LCFF funding being used to implement 
the action. 

• Other State Funds: Enter the total amount of Other State Funds utilized to implement this action, if any. 

• Local Funds: Enter the total amount of Local Funds utilized to implement this action, if any. 

• Federal Funds: Enter the total amount of Federal Funds utilized to implement this action, if any. 

• Total Funds: This amount is automatically calculated based on amounts entered in the previous four columns. 

• Planned Percentage of Improved Services: For any action identified as contributing, being provided on a Limited basis to 
unduplicated students, and that does not have funding associated with the action, enter the planned quality improvement anticipated for 
the action as a percentage rounded to the nearest hundredth (0.00%). A limited action is an action that only serves foster youth, English 
learners, and/or low-income students. 

o As noted in the instructions for the Increased or Improved Services section, when identifying a Planned Percentage of Improved 
Services, the LEA must describe the methodology that it used to determine the contribution of the action towards the proportional 
percentage. The percentage of improved services for an action corresponds to the amount of LCFF funding that the LEA 
estimates it would expend to implement the action if it were funded. 

For example, an LEA determines that there is a need to analyze data to ensure that instructional aides and expanded learning 
providers know what targeted supports to provide to students who are foster youth. The LEA could implement this action by 
hiring additional staff to collect and analyze data and to coordinate supports for students, which the LEA estimates would cost 
$165,000. Instead, the LEA chooses to utilize a portion of existing staff time to analyze data relating to students who are foster 
youth. This analysis will then be shared with site principals who will use the data to coordinate services provided by instructional 
assistants and expanded learning providers to target support to students. In this example, the LEA would divide the estimated 
cost of $165,000 by the amount of LCFF Funding identified in the Data Entry Table and then convert the quotient to a 
percentage. This percentage is the Planned Percentage of Improved Service for the action. 

Contributing Actions Table 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 64 of 67 

As noted above, information will not be entered in the Contributing Actions Table; however, the ‘Contributing to Increased or Improved 
Services?’ column will need to be checked to ensure that only actions with a “Yes” are displaying. If actions with a “No” are displayed or if 
actions that are contributing are not displaying in the column, use the drop-down menu in the column header to filter only the “Yes” responses.   

Annual Update Table 
In the Annual Update Table, provide the following information for each action in the LCAP for the relevant LCAP year: 

• Estimated Actual Expenditures: Enter the total estimated actual expenditures to implement this action, if any. 

Contributing Actions Annual Update Table 
In the Contributing Actions Annual Update Table, check the ‘Contributing to Increased or Improved Services?’ column to ensure that only 
actions with a “Yes” are displaying. If actions with a “No” are displayed or if actions that are contributing are not displaying in the column, use 
the drop-down menu in the column header to filter only the “Yes” responses. Provide the following information for each contributing action in 
the LCAP for the relevant LCAP year: 

• 6. Estimated Actual LCFF Supplemental and/or Concentration Grants: Provide the total amount of LCFF supplemental and concentration 
grants the LEA estimates it will actually receive based on of the number and concentration of unduplicated students in the current school year. 

• Estimated Actual Expenditures for Contributing Actions: Enter the total estimated actual expenditure of LCFF funds used to implement this 
action, if any. 

• Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved Services: For any action identified as contributing, being provided on a Limited basis only to 
unduplicated students, and that does not have funding associated with the action, enter the total estimated actual quality improvement anticipated 
for the action as a percentage rounded to the nearest hundredth (0.00%). 

o Building on the example provided above for calculating the Planned Percentage of Improved Services, the LEA in the example implements 
the action. As part of the annual update process, the LEA reviews implementation and student outcome data and determines that the action 
was implemented with fidelity and that outcomes for foster youth students improved. The LEA reviews the original estimated cost for the 
action and determines that had it hired additional staff to collect and analyze data and to coordinate supports for students that estimated 
actual cost would have been $169,500 due to a cost of living adjustment. The LEA would divide the estimated actual cost of $169,500 by the 
amount of LCFF Funding identified in the Data Entry Table and then convert the quotient to a percentage. This percentage is the Estimated 
Actual Percentage of Improved Services for the action. 

LCFF Carryover Table 
• 9. Estimated Actual LCFF Base Grant: Provide the total amount of LCFF funding the LEA estimates it will receive for the current 

school year, excluding the supplemental and concentration grants and the add-ons for the Targeted Instructional Improvement Grant 
Program and the Home to School Transportation Program, pursuant to 5 CCR Section 15496(a)(8).  



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 65 of 67 

• 10. Total Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the Current School Year: This percentage will not be entered. The 
percentage is calculated based on the amounts of the Estimated Actual LCFF Base Grant (9) and the Estimated Actual LCFF 
Supplemental and/or Concentration Grants (6), pursuant to 5 CCR Section 15496(a)(8), plus the LCFF Carryover – Percentage from 
the prior year. This is the percentage by which services for unduplicated pupils must be increased or improved as compared to the 
services provided to all students in the current LCAP year. 

Calculations in the Action Tables 
To reduce the duplication of effort of LEAs, the Action Tables include functionality such as pre-population of fields and cells based on the 
information provided in the Data Entry Table, the Annual Update Summary Table, and the Contributing Actions Table. For transparency, the 
functionality and calculations used are provided below. 

Contributing Actions Table 
• 4. Total Planned Contributing Expenditures (LCFF Funds) 

o This amount is the total of the Planned Expenditures for Contributing Actions (LCFF Funds) column 

• 5. Total Planned Percentage of Improved Services 

o This percentage is the total of the Planned Percentage of Improved Services column 

• Planned Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the coming school year (4 divided by 1, plus 5) 

o This percentage is calculated by dividing the Total Planned Contributing Expenditures (4) by the Projected LCFF Base Grant (1), converting 
the quotient to a percentage, and adding it to the Total Planned Percentage of Improved Services (5). 

Contributing Actions Annual Update Table 
Pursuant to EC Section 42238.07(c)(2), if the Total Planned Contributing Expenditures (4) is less than the Estimated Actual LCFF 
Supplemental and Concentration Grants (6), the LEA is required to calculate the difference between the Total Planned Percentage of 
Improved Services (5) and the Total Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved Services (7). If the Total Planned Contributing Expenditures (4) 
is equal to or greater than the Estimated Actual LCFF Supplemental and Concentration Grants (6), the Difference Between Planned and 
Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved Services will display “Not Required.” 

• 6. Estimated Actual LCFF Supplemental and Concentration Grants 

o This is the total amount of LCFF supplemental and concentration grants the LEA estimates it will actually receive based on of the number 
and concentration of unduplicated students in the current school year. 

• 4. Total Planned Contributing Expenditures (LCFF Funds) 

o This amount is the total of the Last Year's Planned Expenditures for Contributing Actions (LCFF Funds) 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 66 of 67 

• 7. Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for Contributing Actions 

o This amount is the total of the Estimated Actual Expenditures for Contributing Actions (LCFF Funds) 

• Difference Between Planned and Estimated Actual Expenditures for Contributing Actions (Subtract 7 from 4) 

o This amount is the Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for Contributing Actions (7) subtracted from the Total Planned Contributing 
Expenditures (4) 

• 5. Total Planned Percentage of Improved Services (%) 

o This amount is the total of the Planned Percentage of Improved Services column 

• 8. Total Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved Services (%) 

o This amount is the total of the Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved Services column 

• Difference Between Planned and Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved Services (Subtract 5 from 8) 

o This amount is the Total Planned Percentage of Improved Services (5) subtracted from the Total Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved 
Services (8) 

LCFF Carryover Table 
• 10. Total Percentage to Increase or Improve Services for the Current School Year (6 divided by 9 + Carryover %) 

o This percentage is the Estimated Actual LCFF Supplemental and/or Concentration Grants (6) divided by the Estimated Actual LCFF Base 
Grant (9) plus the LCFF Carryover – Percentage from the prior year.  

• 11. Estimated Actual Percentage of Increased or Improved Services (7 divided by 9, plus 8) 

o This percentage is the Total Estimated Actual Expenditures for Contributing Actions (7) divided by the LCFF Funding (9), then converting the 
quotient to a percentage and adding the Total Estimated Actual Percentage of Improved Services (8). 

• 12. LCFF Carryover — Dollar Amount LCFF Carryover (Subtract 11 from 10 and multiply by 9) 

o If the Estimated Actual Percentage of Increased or Improved Services (11) is less than the Estimated Actual Percentage to Increase or 
Improve Services (10), the LEA is required to carry over LCFF funds.  

The amount of LCFF funds is calculated by subtracting the Estimated Actual Percentage to Increase or Improve Services (11) from the 
Estimated Actual Percentage of Increased or Improved Services (10) and then multiplying by the Estimated Actual LCFF Base Grant (9). 
This amount is the amount of LCFF funds that is required to be carried over to the coming year. 



 
 

2023-24 Local Control Accountability Plan for Sierra –Plumas Joint Unified School District/Sierra County Office of Education Page 67 of 67 

• 13. LCFF Carryover — Percentage (12 divided by 9) 

o This percentage is the unmet portion of the Percentage to Increase or Improve Services that the LEA must carry over into the coming LCAP 
year. The percentage is calculated by dividing the LCFF Carryover (12) by the LCFF Funding (9). 

California Department of Education 
January 2022 
 



ORGANIZATION, JOB DESCRIPTION                                   NO. 216.2
 .1 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT                                 
 PROGRAMS 
  
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

RESPONSE TO INTERVENTION SITE COORDINATOR 

SST Site Facilitator 

Certificated Employee: Extra Duty Assignment 

DEFINITION:   

Under the supervision of the District Superintendent, a credentialed teacher at each 

school site will coordinate the District-wide Response to Intervention (RTI) 

programsite’s Student Study Team (SST) meetings by assisting teachers in 

implementing academic, behavioral and instructional strategies that ensure student 

success.  The person in this position will serve as a group leader to collaborate with 

teachers andupholding the site administrator to make decisions regarding curriculum, 

instruction and school-wide approach to meet the needs of the individual learner. The 

RTI Site Coordinator will assist teachers in implementing the delivery of high quality 

education that will increase the learning potential of studentsfollowing duties. 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS: 

Hold a current California teaching credential and be currently employed as a full time 

certificated teacher in the District/County. 

EXAMPLES OF DUTIES: 

• Hold regularly scheduled SST meetings with certificated staff to review 
students’ progress 

• Provide• Facilitate SST meetings with parents, teachers and any 
other staff  

 Collect documentation from team on current academic achievement, 
current and proposed intervention strategies., and keep students’ files that 
hold documentation 

• Facilitate meetings with parents, teachers and any other staff  

• Facilitate any paperwork needed for student interventions such as 
screening, testing, assessments, data analysis, and progress monitoring; 
and forward appropriately 

• CompileCollect accurate student records from the team on attendance, 
achievement, and health related concerns.   



ORGANIZATION, JOB DESCRIPTION                                   NO. 216.2
 .1 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT                                 
 PROGRAMS 
  
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

• Regularly update students’ files that reflect an evaluation on the success 
of the intervention plan. 

• Regularly update student files that chronicle the modifications made to the 
initial intervention plan. 

• Document comments from the staff on the effectiveness of the instruction 
for each identified student. 

• Document parent concerns. 

First Reading and Adoption: January 12, 2010 

Revised: May 9, 2023 



SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

 

 

CERTIFICATED PERSONNEL 

2023-2024 Extra Duty Assignments - Positions To Be Filled 

The following Extra Duty Assignment temporary positions and stipends are subject to the Sierra-
Plumas Joint Unified Governing Board approval on May 9, 2023. 
 

        Stipend 
WASC Lead 
 Loyalton Mid-term visitation yearSelf Study Visitation Year 

$1,$2,500 
 Downieville Mid-term visitation yearMaintenance Year  

$1,500000 

Site Technology Coordinator   $1,500 

• Loyalton Elementary   

• Loyalton Junior/Senior High 7-12  

• Downieville K-12  

Teacher-In-Charge (per semester)  $1,000 

• Loyalton Junior/Senior High 7-12   

• Loyalton Elementary  

• Downieville TK-12 

Lead Teacher Downieville (per month)  $1,000 

Response to Intervention Coordinator  
SST Site Facilitator 

• Loyalton High 7-12     $1,500  

• Downieville K-12    $1,000 

• LES K-6     $1,500  
  
                     Advisor Friday Night Live Kids 

• Loyalton Grades K-6  $2,000 

• Downieville Grades K-6  $1,000 
  Advisor Friday Night Live 

• Loyalton Grades  9-12  $2,000 

• Downieville Grades 9-12  $1,000 
  Advisor Club Live 

• Loyalton Grades 7-8  $2,000 

• Downieville Grades 7-8  $1,000 
 

 
 
 
 

Presented to the Governing Board: 5/9/2023 (revised) 
 

Doc:Personnel/Posting/Extra Duty Posting 2023-2024 



SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

 

CERTIFICATED PERSONNEL 

2023-2024 Extra Duty Assignments  

The following Extra Duty Assignment temporary positions and stipends are subject to the Sierra-
Plumas Joint Unified Governing Board approval. 
 

        Stipend 
WASC Lead 
 Loyalton Self Study Visitation Year $2,500   Rebecca Perez 
 Downieville Maintenance year  $1,000   TBD 
   
Site Technology Coordinator   $1,500 

• Loyalton Elementary         Joanna Haug 

• Loyalton Junior/Senior High 7-12        TBD 

• Downieville K-12          Katrina B. 

Teacher-In-Charge (per semester)  $1,000 

• Loyalton Junior/Senior High 7-12         Cali Griffin 

• Loyalton Elementary          Miranda Prakash 

• Downieville K-12          Katrina B. 
 
SST Site Facilitator 

• Loyalton High 7-12     $1,500      Jason Prakash 

• Downieville K-12    $1,000       Faith Edwards 

• LES K-6     $1,500       Sonia Joy 
  
                     Advisor Friday Night Live Kids 

• Loyalton Grades K-6  $2,000         Erin Folchi 

• Downieville Grades K-6  $1,000         Faith Edwards 
  Advisor Friday Night Live       

• Loyalton Grades  9-12  $2,000       Emma Shaffer 

• Downieville Grades 9-12  $1,000       Katrina B. 
  Advisor Club Live 

• Loyalton Grades 7-8  $2,000     Emma Shaffer  

• Downieville Grades 7-8  $1,000     Katrina B.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Presented to the Governing Board: May 09, 2023 
Doc:Personnel/Posting/Extra Duty assignment non athletics 2023-2024 





 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 24-00lC 

SET SUPERINTENDENT SALARY 

 

WHEREAS, the County Superintendent of Schools shall be elected in a 

general election or appointed, if necessary, by the Sierra County Board of 

Education; and 

 

WHEREAS, the California Constitution, Article 9, Section 3. l(b) authorizes the 

County Board to set the County Superintendent's salary; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Education Code §35034 and §35035 the County 

Superintendent may serve as District Superintendent, 

Chief Executive Officer and Secretary of the District Governing Board; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County Superintendent of Schools may serve as both County and 

District Superintendent; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County Superintendent salary will be set at $25,000, per annum. 

Said salary shall be payable in twelve (12) equal monthly payments payable on the 

last working day of each calendar month with the first payment on July 31, 2023; 

and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that effective July 1, 2023, the 

Sierra County Superintendent of Schools, James Berardi, shall be paid 

$25,000 per annum for services July 1, 2023, through December 11, 2026. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Sierra County Board of Education on this 9th day 

of May, 2023, by the following votes:
 
 
 

AYES:  ______________________ 

NOES:  ______________________ 

ABSTAIN: ______________________ 

ABSENT: ______________________ 

VACANT: ______________________ 

 

 

 __________________________ 

         Dorie Gayner, Clerk 
 



























  2023-013D 

 

- 1 - 

AGREEMENT FOR 

PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT for Professional Services ("Agreement") is made as of the Agreement Date set 

forth below by and between Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District, ("the DISTRICT"), and James 

Morante, Engage Strategies, the ("CONTRACTOR"). 

In consideration of the services to be rendered, the sums to be paid, and each and every covenant 

and condition contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS 

1. SERVICES. 

The CONTRACTOR warrants that CONTRACTOR has the special skills, expertise and experience in 

order to effectively provide comprehensive strategic development and support of Sierra-Plumas Unified 

School District’s (SPJUSD) Student Behavioral Health Incentive Program (SBHIP) project plan 

implementation. CONTRACTOR shall provide the services described in Attachment "A", and in the 

manner specified in Attachment "A", Provisions A-2 through A-3. 

2. TERM. 

Commencement Date: May 1, 2023 

Termination Date: December 31 2023 

3.  PAYMENT. 

DISTRICT shall pay CONTRACTOR for services rendered pursuant to this Agreement on a flat fee rate 

of $6,000 per month for a total project fee of $48,000 as set forth in Attachment “B”.  The payment specified in 

Attachment "B" shall be the only payment made to CONTRACTOR for services rendered pursuant to this 

Agreement. CONTRACTOR shall submit all billings for said services to DISTRICT in the manner specified in 

Attachment "B". 

4. FACILITIES, EQUIPMENT AND OTHER MATERIALS AND OBLIGATIONS OF DISTRICT. 

 

CONTRACTOR shall, at its sole cost and expense, furnish all facilities, equipment, and other 

materials which may be required for furnishing services pursuant to this Agreement, except as provided in 

this paragraph. DISTRICT shall furnish CONTRACTOR only those facilities, equipment, and other materials 

and shall perform those obligations listed in Attachment "A". 

5. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS. 

Those additional provisions unique to this Agreement are set forth in Attachment "C". 

6. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

The general provisions set forth in Attachment "D" are part of this Agreement. Any inconsistency 

between said general provisions and any other terms or conditions of this Agreement shall be controlled by the 

other terms or conditions insofar as the latter are inconsistent with the general provisions. 

 

7. DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVES. 

The Superintendent is the designated representative of the DISTRICT, and will administer this 

Agreement for the DISTRICT. James Morante is the authorized representative for CONTRACTOR. Changes in 

designated representatives shall occur only by advance written notice to the other party.  



  2023-013D 

 

- 2 - 

 

8. ATTACHMENTS. 

All attachments referred to herein are attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein. 

Attachments include: 

Attachment A - Services 

Attachment B - Payment 

Attachment C - Additional Provisions 

Attachment D - General Provisions  

Attachment E - Form of Invoice 

 

9. AGREEMENT DATE. The Agreement Date is May 1, 2023. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day here below. 

 

 

 

 

"DISTRICT"      “CONTRACTOR” 

 

 

 

By: _______________________________________________By:      _____ 

 James Berardi, Superintendent                         James Morante/Engage Strategies                       

 

 

 

_________________________________          ______________________________________ 

Date              Date 

 

 

CONTRACTOR TAXPAYER I.D. NUMBER  

 

 

____________________________________                

(Taxpayer I.D. or Social Security No.) 

 

  



  2023-013D 

 

- 3 - 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

A.1.  SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DUTIES. 

 Engage! Will work directly with SPJUSD to provide support beyond what will be offered through the Managed 

Care Plan (MCP basic maintenance activities, such as: 

 Provide insight and support in identifying supplemental resources and behavioral health services for students 

and staff 

 Offer informed best practices and potential SEL content, lessons and programming 

 Assist in identifying potential consultant or facilitator to conduct staff training 

 Facilitate support in development of communication, content, scheduling and agendas for meetings, SEL 

trainings, and messaging to increase faculty, student and community program support 

 Provide support in drafting and completion of bi-quarterly SBHIP progress reports 

 Identify, recommend and coordinate opportunities to connect the future campus Wellness Center with other 

faculty training, student wellness initiatives and community engagement to maximize utilization and heighten 

support 

 Provide consultative support in development of SPJUSD’s long-term student wellness sustainability strategy. 

A.2. TIME SERVICES RENDERED. 

Work will begin May 1, 2023, and upon execution of this Agreement by the DISTRICT. Thereafter, 

CONTRACTOR shall perform services in a diligent and timely manner. 

A.3. MANNER SERVICES ARE TO BE PERFORMED. 

As an independent contractor, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for providing services and fulfilling   

obligations hereunder in a professional manner. DISTRICT shall not control the manner of performance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  2023-013D 

 

- 4 - 

ATTACHMENT B 

PAYMENT 

DISTRICT shall pay CONTRACTOR as follows: 

B.1 BASE CONTRACT FEE, DISTRICT shall pay CONTRACTOR for work performed, at the flate fee rate of 

$6,000.00 per month, through December 31, 2023. CONTRACTOR shall submit requests for payment 

("Invoice") on a monthly basis, invoicing for all work completed and delivered to the Superintendent prior to the 

issuance of such Invoice. Invoice shall be substantially in the form of the invoice attached hereto as Attachment 

E. Payment shall be made within fifteen (15) days after the Invoice is approved and accepted by the 

Superintendent.  In no event shall total compensation paid for services to CONTRACTOR under this 

Agreement exceed $48,000.00 (including travel) without a written amendment to this Agreement approved by 

the DISTRICT Superintendent. 

B.2 MILEAGE.   None 

B.3 TRAVEL COSTS. None 

B.4 AUTHORIZATION REQUIRED.  Services performed by CONTRACTOR and not authorized in this 

Agreement shall not be paid for by DISTRICT. Payment for additional services shall be made to 

CONTRACTOR by DISTRICT if, and only if, this Agreement is amended in writing by both parties in advance 

of performing additional services. 

B.5 SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES. None 

B.6  MAXIMUM CONTRACT AMOUNT. The maximum amount payable to CONTRACTOR under this 

 Agreement shall not exceed the following: 

B. 1 Base Contract Fee  $6,000.00 per month  

B.2 Mileage   0 

B.3 Travel Costs  $0   

B.4 Authorization Required 0 

B.5 Special Circumstances 0 

 

MAXIMUM CONTRACT AMOUNT:  $48,000.00 (including travel) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  2023-013D 

 

- 5 - 

 

ATTACHMENT C 

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

[NONE]  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  2023-013D 

 

- 6 - 

 

ATTACHMENT D 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

D.1 INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  

 For all purposes arising out of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall be an independent contractor and 

CONTRACTOR and each and every employee, agent, servant, partner, and shareholder of CONTRACTOR 

(collectively referred to as "The Contractor") shall not be, for any purpose of this Agreement, an employee of 

DISTRICT. Furthermore, this Agreement shall not under any circumstance be construed or considered to be 

a joint powers agreement as described in Government Code Section 6000, et seq., or otherwise. As an 

independent contractor, the following shall apply: 

 

D.1.1 CONTRACTOR shall determine the method, details and means of performing the services to be 

provided by CONTRACTOR as described in this Agreement. 

D.1.2 CONTRACTOR shall be responsible to DISTRICT only for the requirements and results specified by this 

Agreement and, except as specifically provided in this Agreement, shall not be subject to DISTRICT’S control 

with respect to the physical actions or activities of CONTRACTOR in fulfillment of the requirements of this 

Agreement. 

D.1.3 CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for its own operating costs and expenses, property and income taxes, 

workers' compensation insurance and any other costs and expenses in connection with performance of services 

under this Agreement. 

D.1.4 CONTRACTOR is not, and shall not be, entitled to receive from or through DISTRICT, and DISTRICT 

shall not provide or be obligated to provide the CONTRACTOR with workers' compensation coverage, 

unemployment insurance coverage or any other type of employee or worker insurance or benefit coverage 

required or provided by any federal, state or local law or regulation for, or normally afforded to, any employee 

of DISTRICT. 

D.1.5 The CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to have DISTRICT withhold or pay, and DISTRICT shall not 

withhold or pay, on behalf of the CONTRACTOR any tax or money relating to the Social Security Old Age 

Pension Program, Social Security Disability Program or any other type of pension, annuity or disability 

program required or provided by any federal, state or local law or regulation for, or normally afforded to, an 

employee of DISTRICT. 

D.1.6 The CONTRACTOR shall not be entitled to participate in, or receive any benefit from, or make any 

claim against any DISTRICT fringe benefit program including, but not limited to, DISTRICT's pension plan, 

medical and health care plan, dental plan, life insurance plan, or other type of benefit program, plan or 

coverage designated for, provided to, or offered to DISTRICT's employees. 

D.1.7 DISTRICT shall not withhold or pay on behalf of CONTRACTOR any federal, state or local tax 

including, but not limited to, any personal income tax owed by CONTRACTOR. 

D.1.8 The CONTRACTOR is, and at all times during the term of this Agreement shall represent 

and conduct itself as, an independent contractor and not as an employee of DISTRICT. 

D.1.9 CONTRACTOR shall not have the authority, express or implied, to act on behalf of, bind 

or obligate the DISTRICT in any way without the written consent of the DISTRICT. 

D.1.10 CONTRACTOR shall provide the following before this Agreement is complete: 

_ proof of current liability insurance coverage 

  



  2023-013D 

 

- 7 - 

 

D.2 LICENSES, PERMITS, ETC.  

 CONTRACTOR represents and warrants to DISTRICT that it has all licenses, permits, 

qualifications, and approvals of whatsoever nature which are legally required for CONTRACTOR to 

practice its profession. CONTRACTOR represents and warrants to DISTRICT that CONTRACTOR 

shall, at its sole cost and expense, keep in effect or obtain at all times during the term of this 

Agreement any licenses, permits, and approvals which are legally required for CONTRACTOR to 

practice its profession at the time the services are performed.  

 

D.3 CHANGE IN STATUTES OR REGULATIONS.  

 If there is a change of statutes or regulations applicable to the subject matter of this Agreement, both 

parties agree to be governed by the new provisions, unless either party gives notice to terminate 

pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

 

D.4 TIME.   

 CONTRACTOR shall devote such time to the performance of services pursuant to this Agreement as 

may be reasonably necessary for the satisfactory performance of CONTRACTOR's obligations pursuant 

to this Agreement. Neither party shall be considered in default of this Agreement to the extent 

performance is prevented or delayed by any cause, present or future, which is beyond the reasonable 

control of the party. 

 

D.5 INSURANCE. 

 D.5.1  Prior to rendering services provided by the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 

CONTRACTOR shall acquire and maintain during the term of this Agreement insurance coverage 

through and with an insurer acceptable to DISTRICT, naming the DISTRICT and DISTRICT's officers, 

employees, as additional insured (hereinafter referred to as "the insurance"). The insurance 'shall 

contain the coverage indicated by the checked items below. 

 D.5.1.1 During the term of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall maintain in full force and 

effect a policy of professional errors and omissions insurance with policy limits of not less than Two 

thousand dollars ($2,000) per incident and Four thousand dollars ($4,000) annual aggregate, with 

deductible or self-insured portion not to exceed Five Hundred Dollars ($500). 

 D.5.1.2 Comprehensive automobile liability insurance with minimum coverage of One 

Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000) per occurrence and with not less than Three Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($300,000) on reserve in the aggregate, with combined single limit including owned, non-

owned and hired vehicles. 

 D.5.1.3 Workers' Compensation Insurance coverage for all CONTRACTOR employees and 

other persons for whom CONTRACTOR is responsible to provide such insurance coverage, as provided 

by Division 4 and 4.5 of the Labor Code. 

 D.5.2    The limits of insurance herein shall not limit the liability of the CONTRACTOR hereunder. 

 D.5.3  In respect to any insurance herein, if the aggregate limit available becomes less than that 

required above, other excess insurance shall be acquired and maintained immediately. For the purpose 

of any insurance term of this Agreement, "aggregate limit available" is defined as the total policy 

limits available for all claims made during the policy period. 

 D.5.4  The insurance shall include an endorsement that no cancellation or material change 

adversely affecting any coverage provided by the insurance may be made until twenty (20) days 

after written notice is delivered to DISTRICT. 

 D.5.5  The insurance policy forms, endorsements and insurer(s) issuing the insurance shall be 

satisfactory to DISTRICT at its sole and absolute discretion. The amount of any deductible payable by 

the insured shall be subject to the prior approval of the DISTRICT and the DISTRICT, as a condition of 

its approval, may require such proof of the adequacy of CONTRACTOR's financial resources as it may 

see fit. 



  2023-013D 

 

- 8 - 

D.5.6 Prior to CONTRACTOR rendering services provided by this Agreement, and immediately upon 

acquiring additional insurance, CONTRACTOR shall deliver a certificate of insurance describing the 

insurance coverages and endorsements to: 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

P.O. Box 955 

Loyalton CA 96118 

D.5.7 CONTRACTOR shall not render services under the terms and conditions of this Agreement unless 

each type of insurance coverage and endorsement is in effect and CONTRACTOR has delivered the 

certificate(s) of insurance to DISTRICT as previously described. If CONTRACTOR shall fail to procure 

and maintain said insurance, DISTRICT may, but shall not be required to, procure and maintain the same, 

and the premiums of such insurance shall be paid by CONTRACTOR to DISTRICT upon demand. The 

policies of insurance provided herein which are to be provided by CONTRACTOR shall be for a period of 

not less than one year, it being understood and agreed that twenty (20) days prior to the expiration of any 

policy of insurance, CONTRACTOR will deliver to DISTRICT a renewal or new policy to take the place 

of the policy expiring. 

D.5.8 DISTRICT shall have the right to request such further coverage’s and/or endorsements on the 

insurance as DISTRICT deems necessary, at CONTRACTOR’S expense. The amounts, insurance policy 

forms, endorsements and insurer(s) issuing the insurance shall be satisfactory to DISTRICT in its sole 

and absolute discretion. 

D.5.9 Any subcontractor(s), independent contractor(s) or any type of agent(s) performing or hired to 

perform any term or condition of this Agreement on behalf of CONTRACTOR, as may be allowed by this 

Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the "SECONDARY PARTIES"), shall comply with each term and 

condition of this Section D.5 entitled "INSURANCE". Furthermore, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible 

for the SECONDARY PARTIES' acts and satisfactory performance of the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement. 

D.6 INDEMNITY. CONTRACTOR shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless DISTRICT, its elected and 

appointed councils, boards, commissions, officers, agents, and employees from any liability for damage 

or claims for damage for any economic loss or personal injury, including death, as well as for property 

damage, which may arise from the intentional or negligent acts or omissions of CONTRACTOR in the 

performance of services rendered under this Agreement by CONTRACTOR, or any of CONTRACTOR'S 

officers, agents, employees, contractors, or subcontractors. 

D.7 CONTRACTOR NOT AGENT. Except as DISTRICT may specify in writing, CONTRACTOR shall have 

no authority, express or implied, to act on behalf of DISTRICT in any capacity whatsoever as an agent. 

CONTRACTOR shall have no authority, express or implied, pursuant to this Agreement to bind DISTRICT 

to any obligation whatsoever. 

D.8 ASSIGNMENT PROHIBITED. CONTRACTOR may not assign any right or obligation pursuant to this 

Agreement. Any attempted or purported assignment of any right or obligation pursuant to this Agreement 

shall be void and of no legal effect. 

D.9 PERSONNEL. CONTRACTOR shall assign only competent personnel to perform services pursuant to 

this Agreement. In the event that DISTRICT, in its sole discretion at any time during the term of this 

Agreement, desires the removal of any person or persons assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform services 

pursuant to this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall remove any such person immediately upon receiving 

written notice from DISTRICT of its desire for removal of such person or persons. 

D.10  STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE. CONTRACTOR shall perform all services required pursuant to this 

Agreement in the manner and according to the standards observed by a competent practitioner of the 

profession in which CONTRACTOR is engaged. All products of whatsoever nature which CONTRACTOR 

delivers to DISTRICT pursuant to this Agreement shall be prepared in a first class and workmanlike manner 

and shall conform to the standards of quality normally observed by a person practicing in CONTRACTOR'S 



  2023-013D 

 

- 9 - 

profession. 

D.11  POSSESSORY INTEREST. The parties to this Agreement recognize that certain rights to property may create 

a "possessory interest", as those words are used in the California Revenue and Taxation Code (107). For all 

purposes of compliance by DISTRICT with Section 107.6 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code, this 

recital shall be deemed full compliance by the DISTRICT. All questions of initial determination of possessory 

interest and valuation of such interest, if any, shall be the responsibility of the DISTRICT and the contracting 

parties hereto. A taxable possessory interest may be created by this, if created, and the party in whom such an 

interest is vested will be subject to the payment of property taxes levied on such an interest. 

 

D.12  TAXES. CONTRACTOR hereby grants to the DISTRICT the authority to deduct from any payments to 

CONTRACTOR any DISTRICT imposed taxes, fines, penalties and related charges which are delinquent at 

the time such payments under this Agreement are due to CONTRACTOR, 

D.13  TERMINATION. DISTRICT shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time by giving 

notice in writing of such termination to CONTRACTOR. In the event DISTRICT gives notice of 

termination, CONTRACTOR shall immediately cease rendering service upon receipt of such written 

notice and the following shall apply; 

D.13.1.1 CONTRACTOR shall deliver to DISTRICT copies of all writings prepared by it pursuant to this 

Agreement. The term "writings" shall be construed to mean and include: handwriting, typewriting, printing, 

photostating, photographing, computer storage medium (tapes, disks, diskettes, etc.) and every other means of 

recording upon any tangible thing, and form of communication or representation, including letters, words, 

pictures, sounds, or symbols, or combinations thereof. 

D.13.1.2 DISTRICT shall pay CONTRACTOR the reasonable value of services rendered by CONTRACTOR 

to the date of termination pursuant to this Agreement not to exceed the amount documented by 

CONTRACTOR and approved by DISTRICT as work accomplished to date; provided, however, that in no 

event shall any payment hereunder exceed One Thousand Dollars ($1,000). Further provided, however, 

DISTRICT shall not in any manner be liable for lost profits which might have been made by CONTRACTOR 

had CONTRACTOR completed the services required by this Agreement. In this regard, CONTRACTOR shall 

furnish to DISTRICT such financial information as in the judgment of the DISTRICT is necessary to determine 

the reasonable value of the services rendered by CONTRACTOR. In the event of a dispute as to the reasonable 

value of the services rendered by CONTRACTOR, the decision of the DISTRICT shall be final. The foregoing 

is cumulative and does not affect any right or remedy which DISTRICT may have in law or equity. 

D.13.2 CONTRACTOR may terminate its services under this Agreement upon thirty (30) working days written 

notice to the  DISTRICT, without liability for damages, if CONTRACTOR is not compensated according to 

the provisions of the Agreement or upon any other material breach of the Agreement by DISTRICT, provided 

that CONTRACTOR has first provided DISTRICT with a written notice of any alleged breach, specifying the 

nature of the alleged breach and providing not less than ten (10) working days within which the DISTRICT 

may cure the alleged breach. 

D.14 OWNERSHIP OF INFORMATION. All professional and technical information developed under this 

Agreement and all work sheets, reports, and related data shall become and/or remain the property of 

DISTRICT, and CONTRACTOR agrees to deliver reproducible copies of such documents to DISTRICT on 

completion of the services hereunder. The DISTRICT agrees to indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR harmless 

from any claim arising out of reuse of the information for other than this project. 

D.15 WAIVER. A waiver by any party of any breach of any term, covenant or condition herein contained 

or a waiver of any right or remedy of such party available hereunder at law or in equity shall not be 

deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant or condition 

herein contained or of any continued or subsequent right to the same right or remedy.  No party shall 

be deemed to have made any such waiver unless it is in writing and signed by the party so waiving. 

D.16  COMPLETENESS OF INSTRUMENT. This Agreement, together with its specific references and attachments, 



  2023-013D 

 

- 10 - 

constitutes all of the agreements, understandings, representations, conditions, warranties and covenants made 

by and between the parties hereto. Unless set forth herein, neither party shall be liable for any representations 

made, express or implied. 

 

D.17  SUPERSEDES PRIOR AGREEMENTS. It is the intention of the parties hereto that this Agreement shall 

supersede any prior agreements, discussions, commitments, representations, or agreements, written or oral, 

between the parties hereto. 

D.18      MINOR AUDITOR REVISION. In the event the DISTRICT finds a mathematical discrepancy between the 

terms of the Agreement and actual invoices or payments, provided that such discrepancy does not exceed 1% 

of the Agreement amount, the Superintendent may make the adjustment in any payment or payments without 

requiring an amendment to the Agreement to provide for such adjustment. Should the DISTRICT or the 

CONTRACTOR disagree with such adjustment, they reserve the right to contest such adjustment and/or to 

request corrective amendment. 

D.19 CAPTIONS. The captions of this Agreement are for convenience in reference only and the words contained 

therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the interpretation, construction or meaning 

of the provisions of this Agreement. 

D.20 DEFINITIONS. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, or unless the context otherwise 

requires, the following definitions and rules of construction shall apply herein. 

D.20.1 NUMBER AND GENDER. In this Agreement, the neuter gender includes the feminine 

and masculine, the singular includes the plural, and the word "person" includes corporations, 

partnerships, firms or associations, wherever the context so requires. 

D.20.2 MANDATORY AND PERMISSIVE. "Shall" and "will" and "agrees" are mandatory. 

"May" is permissive. 

D.21 TERM INCLUDES EXTENSIONS. All references to the term of this Agreement or the 

Agreement Term shall include any extensions of such term. 

D.22 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. All representations, covenants and warranties specifically set 

forth in this Agreement, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of any or all of the parties hereto, shall 

be binding upon and inure to the benefit of such party, its successors and assigns. 

D.23  MODIFICATION. No modification or waiver of any provisions of this Agreement or its 

attachments shall be effective unless such waiver or modification shall be in writing, signed by 

all parties, and then shall be effective only for the period and on the condition, and for the 

specific instance for which given. 

D.24 COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously and in several counterparts, 

each of which shall be deemed an original, but which together shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

D.25 OTHER DOCUMENTS. The parties agree that they shall cooperate in good faith to 

accomplish the object of this Agreement and, to that end, agree to execute and deliver such 

other and further instruments and documents as may be necessary and convenient to the 

fulfillment of these purposes. 

D.26 PARTIAL INVALIDITY. If any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Agreement is held 

by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the 

provision and/or provisions shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, 

impaired or invalidated. 



  2023-013D 

 

- 11 - 

D.27 VENUE. It is agreed by the parties hereto that unless otherwise expressly waived by them, any 

action brought to enforce any of the provisions hereof or for declaratory relief hereunder shall 

be filed and remain in a court of competent jurisdiction in the County of Sierra, State of 

California. 

 

D.28  CONTROLLING LAW. The validity, interpretation and performance of this Agreement shall be 

controlled by and construed under the laws of the State of California. 

  

D.29 CALIFORNIA TORT CLAIMS ACT. Notwithstanding any term or condition of the Agreement, the provisions, 

and related provisions, of the California Tort Claims Act, Division 3.6 of the Government Code, are not waived by 

DISTRICT and shall apply to any claim against DISTRICT arising out of any acts or conduct under the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement. 

  

D.30  TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE. Time is of the essence of this Agreement and each covenant and 

term herein. 

D.31 AUTHORITY. All parties to this Agreement warrant and represent that they have the power and authority to 

enter into this Agreement in the names, titles and capacities herein stated and on behalf of any entities, persons, 

estates or firms represented or purported to be represented by such entity(s), person(s), estate(s) or firm(s) and 

that all formal requirements necessary or required by any state and/or federal law in order to enter into this 

Agreement are in full compliance. Further, by entering into this Agreement, neither party hereto shall have 

breached the terms or conditions of any other contract or agreement to which such party is obligated, which 

such breach would have a material effect hereon. 

D.32  CORPORATE AUTHORITY. If CONTRACTOR is a corporation or public agency, each individual 

executing this Agreement on behalf of said corporation or public agency represents and warrants that 

he or she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement on behalf of said corporation, in 

accordance with a duly adopted resolution of the Board of Directors of said corporation or in 

accordance with the bylaws of said corporation or Board or Commission of said public agency, and 

that this Agreement is binding upon said corporation or public entity in accordance with its terms. If 

CONTRACTOR is a corporation, CONTRACTOR shall, within thirty (30) days after execution of 

this Agreement, deliver to DISTRICT a certified copy of a resolution of the Board of Directors of said 

corporation authorizing or ratifying the execution of this Agreement. 

D.33 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

D.33.1 LEGAL COMPLIANCE. CONTRACTOR agrees at all times in performance of this Agreement to 

comply with the law of the State of California regarding conflicts of interest, including, but not limited to, 

Article 4 of Chapter 1, Division 4, Title 1 of the California Government Code, commencing with Section 1090, 

and Chapter 7 of Title 9 of said Code, commencing with Section 87100, including regulations promulgated by 

the California Fair Political Practices Commission. 

D.33.2 ADVISEMENT. CONTRACTOR agrees that if any facts come to its attention which raise any 

questions as to the applicability of this law, it will immediately inform the DISTRICT designated 

representative and provide all information needed for resolution of the question. 

D.33.3 ADMONITION. Without limitation of the covenants in subparagraphs D.34.1 and D.34.2, 

CONTRACTOR is admonished hereby as follows: 

The statutes, regulations and laws referenced in this provision D.34 include, but are not limited to, a 

prohibition against any public officer, including CONTRACTOR for this purpose, from making any 

decision on behalf of DISTRICT in which such officer has a direct or indirect financial interest. A 

violation occurs if the public officer influences or participates in any DISTRICT decision which has the 

potential to confer any pecuniary benefit on CONTRACTOR or any business firm in which 



  2023-013D 

 

- 12 - 

CONTRACTOR has an interest of any type, with certain narrow exceptions. 

D.34  NONDISCRIMINATION. During the performance of this Agreement, CONTRACTOR shall not 

unlawfully discriminate against any employee of the CONTRACTOR or of the DISTRICT or 

applicant for employment or for services or any member of the public because of race, religion, 

color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, age or sex. 

CONTRACTOR shall ensure that in the provision of services under this Agreement, its employees 

and applicants for employment and any member of the public are free from such discrimination. 

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(Government Code Section 12900 et seq.). The applicable regulations of the Fair Employment 

Housing Commission implementing Government Code Section 12900, set forth in Chapter 5, 

Division 4 of Title 2 of the California Administrative Code are incorporated into this Agreement by 

reference and made a part hereof as if set forth in full. CONTRACTOR shall also abide by the 

Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and 

regulation issued pursuant to said Act.  CONTRACTOR shall give written notice of its obligations 

under this clause to any labor agreement. CONTRACTOR shall include the nondiscrimination and 

compliance provision of this paragraph in all subcontracts to perform work under this Agreement. 

D.35  JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY. If any party consists of more than one person or entity, the 

liability of each person or entity signing this Agreement shall be joint and several. 

D.36 TAXPAYER I.D. NUMBER. The DISTRICT shall not disburse any payments to CONTRACTOR 

pursuant to this Agreement until CONTRACTOR supplies the latter's Taxpayer I.D. Number or Social 

Security Number (as required on the line under CONTRACTOR’S signature on page 2 of this Agreement). 

D.37 NOTICES. All notices and demands of any kind which either party may require or desire to serve on the 

other in connection with this Agreement must be served in writing either by personal service or by registered 

or certified mail, return receipt requested, and shall be deposited in the United States Mail, with postage 

thereon fully prepaid, and addressed to the party so to be served as follows: 

If  to "DISTRICT": 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Post Office Box 955 

Loyalton CA 96118 

530 993-1660 * Fax 530 993-0828 

 
If  to "CONTRACTOR":  

James Morante 

Engage! Strategies 

5232 El Cemonte Avenue 

Davis, CA 95618 

 

Telephone: 530-400-5671 

Email: morante@engagestrategies.net 

  



  2023-013D 

 

- 13 - 

Attachment E - Form of Invoice 

 

 

 

 

James Morante 

Engage! Strategies 

5232 El Cemonte Avenue 

Davis, CA 95618 

(530) 400-5671 

 

 

Email:_________________________ 

 

Telephone:  _____________________ 

 

 

 

(Taxpayers I.D, or Social Security No.):__________________________ 

Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Our File No. _______ 

Post Office Box 955 

Loyalton CA 96118 

 

 

Re: ________________________________________ 

 

 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNT FOR ________________________________________________________ 

BALANCE FORWARD 

TOTAL CURRENT CHARGES: 

Date Description of Services Rate:   Total_______ 

 

 

      Total $_______________________________ 







875 Nevada Street 

Auburn, CA 95603 

(530) 887-2370  ∙  (530) 887-2374 fax 

Lic. 644630 

www.ultralinkinc.com 

 

        April 20, 2023 

 

Downieville School 

130 School St, Downieville, 

 CA 95936 
 

Project: New network cabling for speakers and wireless access points. 

The following quote represents all labor and materials from Ultra Link 

Cabling Systems, Inc. to provide and install the following. 

 

A) Install (14) Category 6 Plenum cables into (14) locations for IP 
speakers.  

B) Reuse (14) category 6 Plenum cables for wireless access points. Pull 
back in classroom to the ceiling or extend to the ceiling as 

necessary. 

C) Mount wireless access points and speakers. (all speakers and 
wireless units provided by others) 

D) All cables will terminate into modular category 6 patch panels in 
the MDF.  

E) Test label and certify installed cable with a fluke DTX cable 

analyzer.  

     

2,600’ Category 6 Plenum Cable White  

42 Category 6 data jacks Panduit  

14 Multi-port face plates Panduit  

1 24 port patch panel frames Panduit  

42 5’ Patch Cords Cat 6  

1 Lot  Velcro, ties and misc. consumables  

1 lot  Ceiling support hardware  

   

   

              Total Materials $ 2,080.00 

              Tax 7.25% $   150.80 

               Total Labor $ 5,500.00 

              Total Cost $ 7,730.80 

 

 

Dan Martinez 

http://www.ultralinkinc.com/


875 Nevada Street 

Auburn, CA 95603 

(530) 887-2370  ∙  (530) 887-2374 fax 

Lic. 644630 

www.ultralinkinc.com 

 

        April 20, 2023 

 

Downieville School 

130 School St, Downieville, 

 CA 95936 
 

Project: New network cabling to Gym building. 

The following quote represents all labor and materials from Ultra Link 

Cabling Systems, Inc. to provide and install the following. 

 

A) Install (4) Category 6 Plenum cables into (4) locations for network 
connectivity. (One speaker, one wireless access point and two point 

of sale)  

B) Install (3) Category 6 Plenum cables into (2) locations for the gym 
area. 

C) Install (1) new 6 strand OS2 fiber from the MDF at the school to a 
new location at the gym to create a new IDF. 

D) Install a new wall rack for the new IDF closet. 

E) Mount speaker and wireless access point. (All speakers and wireless 
access points supplied by others) 

F) All cables will terminate into modular category 6 patch panels in 
the MDF.  

G) Test label and certify installed cable with a fluke DTX cable 

analyzer.  

     

800’ Category 6 Plenum Cable White  

14 Category 6 data jacks Panduit  

6 Multi-port face plates Panduit  

1 24 port patch panel frames Panduit  

8 5’ Patch Cords Cat 6  

1 Lot  Velcro, ties and misc. consumables  

650’ 6 strand OS2 fiber Corning  

12 LC OS2 Fiber connectors  

2 SPh-01U Fiber enclosures  

2 6 fiber LC Panels  

2 Fan out kits  

2 Fiber media converters  

1lot  Ceiling support hardware  

1lot Surface Raceway w/fittings  

   

              Total Materials $ 2,496.00 

              Tax 7.25% $   180.96 

               Total Labor $ 5,100.00 

              Total Cost $ 7,776.96 

 

 

Dan Martinez 

http://www.ultralinkinc.com/


Page 1 of 3 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET – May 09, 2023 
 

 

Board Policy 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization 
Policy updated to reference that, until January 1, 2025, the Governing Board is prohibited from approving 
a petition for the establishment of a new charter school offering nonclassroom-based instruction, and 
provide that a district under state receivership is not in a position to absorb the fiscal impact of a proposed 
charter school. Policy also updated to reference pending litigation brought by each of CSBA's Education 
Legal Alliance and Napa Valley Unified School District against the State Board of Education (SBE) 
regarding SBE's authority to reverse the denial of a charter school petition by making a determination that 
a board abused its discretion in denying the petition. 

 
Administrative Regulation 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 740, 2022) which extends to a foster youth's attorney and 
county social worker and an Indian child's tribal social worker, and if applicable, county social worker, 
required notifications regarding involuntary removal of a student, and provides that these individuals, with 
the addition of a foster youth's educational rights holder, have the same rights as a parent/guardian to receive 
a suspension notice, expulsion notice, manifestation determination notice, involuntary transfer notice, and 
other documents and related information. Regulation also updated to expand the material regarding (1) 
procedures for suspension or expulsion, including the requirement for written notice of the intent to remove 
the student and the right to initiate a hearing, and material related to processes for notification to the district 
when a student is expelled or leaves the charter school without graduating or completing the school year, 
and 
(2) the final audit when a charter school closes. 

 
 

Administrative Regulation 5113 - Absences and Excuses 
Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 955, 2022) which includes, as another type of required 
excused absence, the absence of a middle school or high school student for the purpose of participating in 
a civic or political event, as defined, provided that the student notifies the school ahead of the absence, 
and NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which no longer requires the State Board of Education to update its 
illness verification regulations as necessary to account for including, as a personal illness excused absence, 
a student's absence for the benefit of the student's mental or behavioral health. Regulation also updated to 
clarify that absences for participation in religious exercise or to receive moral and religious instruction are 
excused, but that in order for districts to receive average daily attendance funding for such absences, the 
Governing Board is required to first adopt a resolution permitting an excused absence for such purposes. 

 
 

Administrative Regulation 5131.41 - Use of Seclusion and Restraint 
Regulation updated to clarify the limited exception when seclusion and/or behavioral constraint may be 
used, and to reflect that it cannot be applied for longer than necessary to contain the dangerous behavior. 
Regulation also updated to include, as appropriate, concepts from the December 2022 Davis Joint Unified 
School District Resolution Agreement with the U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights, 
regarding the use of seclusion and restraint as it relates to a free appropriate public education for students 
with disabilities. Regulation also updated to add a new section "Documentation of Seclusion and 
Restraint." 

 
 

Administrative Regulation 5144 - Discipline 
Regulation updated to incorporate NEW GUIDANCE from the U.S. Department of Education, Office for 
Civil Rights, issued to help districts support students with disabilities and avoid discriminatory discipline 
practices. 

 
 

Note: Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 
board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 
should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 



Page 2 of 3 

Administrative Regulation 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process 
Regulation updated to provide that "suspension" does not include removal from class, as specified, so long 
as removal from a particular class does not occur more than once every five school days, add definitions 
related to electronic acts as a mode of bullying, include that a teacher may, in addition to suspending a student 
from class, refer a student for specified acts to the Principal or designee for consideration of a suspension 
from school, and clarify that immediate suspension is required for any student found at school or a school 
activity away from school who committed any of the enumerated acts for which a recommendation of 
expulsion is required. Regulation also updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 740, 2022) which provides for 
additional due process procedures for suspension of foster youth and Indian children. 

 
 

Administrative Regulation 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities) 
Regulation updated to reflect NEW GUIDANCE from the U.S. Department of Education's Office of 
Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, which recommends that districts identify ways to 
significantly reduce the use of exclusionary discipline and its disproportionate effect on student with 
disabilities, and the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights, which provides that, for a 
student with a disability under Section 504, schools are required to conduct a manifestation 
determination before implementing a disciplinary removal that will significantly change the 
placement of the student due to discipline for (1) removal from class or school for more than 10 
consecutive school days, or (2) a series of removals from class or school that together total more than 10 
school days in a school year and constitute a pattern of removal. Regulation also updated to emphasize 
that suspension or expulsion of a student with disabilities be in accordance with Board Policy 5144.1 - 
Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process, and that when a student with disabilities exhibits behavior which 
impedes the student's own learning or that of others, the student's individualized education program 
(IEP) team consider positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address the 
behavior. Additionally, regulation updated, for conceptual alignment, to move material regarding the 
monitoring of the number of days of a suspension of student with an IEP, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 
740, 2022) which provides that a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social 
worker, and an Indian child's tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, have the same 
rights as a parent/guardian to receive a suspension notice, expulsion notice, manifestation determination 
notice and invitation to the manifestation determination meeting, involuntary transfer notice, and other 
documents and related information. 

 
 

Board Policy 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 532, 2022) which expands and strengthens the exemptions from 
graduation requirements for highly mobile student populations, and includes a requirement for districts to 
annually report to the California Department of Education regarding the number of students who, for the 
prior school year, graduated with an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, as 
specified. 

 
 
Board Policy 6173 - Education for Homeless Children 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 408, 2022) which (1) mandates that districts establish homeless 
education program policies and update those policies at least once every three years, and (2) requires the 
liaison for homeless students to offer annual training to district employees providing services to students 
experiencing homelessness and to inform such employees of the availability of training and the services 
provided by the liaison. Policy also updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 2375, 2022) which requires districts, 
regardless of whether they received American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 funds, to annually administer a 
housing questionnaire for the purpose of identifying students experiencing homelessness, including 
unaccompanied minors, and annually report that number of students to the California Department of 
Education (CDE). Additionally, policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 532, 2022) which requires 
districts to annually report to CDE the number of students experiencing homelessness who graduated with 
an exemption from district-established graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide 
coursework requirements. Policy updated throughout to change language from "homeless student" to 
"student experiencing homelessness." 

 



Page 3 of 3 

Administrative Regulation 6173 - Education for Homeless Children 
Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 408, 2022) which (1) mandates that districts establish 
homeless education program policies and update those policies at least once every three years, and (2) 
requires the liaison for homeless students to offer annual training to district employees providing services 
to students experiencing homelessness and to inform such employees of the availability of training and the 
services provided by the liaison. Regulation also updated to clarify what factors to consider when 
determining the "best interest" of the student in enrollment decisions. Additionally, regulation updated to 
reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which exempts a student classified as unduplicated from paying a fee 
for transportation and NEW LAW (SB 532, 2022) which provides, when a student experiencing 
homelessness transfers into a district school, for additional requirements regarding the transfer of 
coursework and credits, exemptions from district-established graduation requirements, and for the option 
to remain in school to complete district- established or statewide course requirements. Regulation updated 
throughout to change language from "homeless student" to "student experiencing homelessness." 

 
 

Board Policy 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth 
Policy updated to move material regarding a safe learning environment toward the beginning of the policy 
as it is philosophical in nature and has general implications, and reflect NEW LAW (SB 532, 2022) which 
requires districts to annually report to the California Department of Education regarding the number of 
foster youth who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from district-established 
graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements. 

 
Administrative Regulation 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which (1) amends the definition of foster youth, 
and (2) requires districts that provide home-to-school transportation and other transportation expressly 
provided by in law to waive transportation fees for foster youth. Regulation also updated to align the 
definition of "school of origin" with code language, reflect NEW LAW (AB 740, 2022) which provides 
that a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker have the same rights as 
a parent/guardian to receive a suspension notice, expulsion notice, manifestation determination notice, 
involuntary transfer notice, and other documents and related information and NEW LAW (SB 532, 2022) 
which provides, when a foster youth transfers into a district school, for additional requirements regarding 
the transfer of coursework and credits, exemptions from district-established graduation requirements, and 
for the option to remain in school to complete district-established or statewide course requirements. 

 
 

Administrative Regulation 6184 - Continuation Education 
Regulation updated to more closely align with code language the component of the district's continuation 
education program that is in regard to coordinating instruction and training with the student's home, 
employment and other agencies and reflect NEW LAW (AB 740, 2022) which (1) extends the requirement 
to provide written notice of the opportunity to request a meeting with the Superintendent or designee prior 
to an involuntary transfer, to a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney and social worker, or an 
Indian child's tribal social worker, and if applicable, county social worker, and (2) provides that a foster 
youth's educational right's holder, attorney, and county social worker, and an Indian child's tribal social 
worker, and, if applicable, a county social worker, have the same rights as a parent at such meeting with the 
Superintendent or designee. Regulation also updated to include an additional condition required by law 
for voluntary enrollment in continuation education classes, which is that the transfer is voluntary and that 
the student has a right to return to the student's previous school. 





Page 1 of 6 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Philosophy, Goals, Objectives and Comprehensive Plans 
Policy 0420.4: Charter School Authorization 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Education Code 47600- 47616.7 authorize the establishment of public charter schools, which 
are generally exempt from the Education Code unless otherwise specified in law. To establish a 
charter school within the district, petitioners must submit to the Governing Board for approval a 
petition which includes all components required by law as described in the accompanying 
administrative regulation. The following policy reflects the criteria and procedures required by 
Education Code 47605. 

 
Under certain circumstances, charter petitions may also be approved by other governmental entities. 
For example, Education Code 47605.5-47605.6 require petitioners to submit a petition directly 
to the County Board of Education when (1) the charter school will serve students for whom the 
county office of education would otherwise be responsible for providing direct education and 
related services or (2) the countywide program will provide educational services to a student 
population that cannot be served as well by a charter school operating in only one district in the 
county. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 47606, a district may petition the Superintendent of Public Instruction 
and the State Board of Education (SBE) to convert all its schools to charter schools, provided 
that 50 percent of the district's teachers sign the petition, the petition contains all specified 
components, and arrangements are made for alternative attendance of students residing within 
the district who choose not to attend a charter school. 

 
For further information regarding the submission and review of charter school petitions, see 
CSBA's, "Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams." CSBA's District and County Office 
of Education Legal Services attorneys can also assist with petition reviews for districts that 
subscribe to that service. 
 

The Board of EducationThe Governing Board recognizes that charter schools may assist the district in 
offering diverse learning opportunities for students. In considering any petition to establish a charter 
school within the district, the Board shall give thoughtful consideration to the potential of the charter 
school to provide students with a high-quality education that enables them to achieve to their fullest 
potential. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 allows for Board approval of a start-up charter school or the 
conversion of an existing public school into a charter school, provided that the school adopts and 
maintains a policy giving admission preference to students who reside within the former attendance 
area of that public school. The signature requirement differs for each type of charter school; see the 
accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
One or more persons may submit a petition to the Board for a charter school to be established within 
the district or for the conversion of an existing district school to a charter school.  (Education Code 
47605) 
 
Any petition for a charter school shall include all components, signatures, and statements required by 
law, as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation. The proposed charter shall be attached to 
the petition.  (Education Code 47605) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall consult with legal counsel, as appropriate, regarding compliance of 
the charter petition with legal requirements. 
 
 
The Superintendent or designee may work with charter school petitioners prior to the formal 



Page 2 of 6 

 

submission of the petition in order to ensure compliance of the petition with legal requirements. As 
needed, the Superintendent or designee may also meet with the petitioners to establish workable plans 
for contracted services which the district may provide to the proposed charter school. 
 
The Board shall not require any district student to attend the charter school nor shall it require any 
district employee to work at the charter school.  (Education Code 47605) 
 
Timelines for Board Action 

 
To provide adequate opportunity for public input and thoughtful consideration of the charter 
petition, it is recommended that the Board conduct two public hearings -- one hearing to 
determine the level of support for the petition and, following the publication of staff 
recommendations, a second hearing to grant or deny the petition. However, the law does not 
explicitly require two hearings, and it may be possible to hold one public hearing to both 
determine the level of support for the petition and grant or deny the petition, provided that staff 
recommendations are published 15 days prior to the hearing, the hearing is held within 60 days 
of receipt of the petition, and the petitioners have equal time and opportunity to present evidence 
and testimony. CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal 
counsel should be consulted as needed to ensure that all requirements are met. 
 

Within 60 days of receiving a charter petition, the Board shall hold a public hearing on the charter 
provisions, at which time the Board shall consider the level of support for the petition by district 
teachers, other district employees, and parents/guardians.  A petition is deemed received on the day the 
petitioner submits a petition to the district office, along with a signed certification that the petitioner 
deems the petition to be complete.  (Education Code 47605) 
 
The Board shall either grant or deny the petition at a public hearing held within 90 days of receiving 
the petition, or within 120 days with the consent of both the petitioner and the Board.  (Education 
Code 47605) 
 
At least 15 days before the public hearing at which the Board will grant or deny the charter, the district 
shall publish all staff recommendations regarding the petition, including any recommended findings and, 
if applicable, certification from the County Superintendent of Schools regarding the potential fiscal 
impact of the charter school on the district.  During the public hearing, the petitioners shall have equal 
time and opportunity to present evidence and testimony in response to the staff recommendations and 
findings.  (Education Code 47605) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Education Code 47605 requires that, in the event that a petition is denied and the matter is 
appealed, the Board must provide a documentary record to the petitioner, including a transcript 
of the public hearing at which the Board denied the hearing. See section on "Appeals" below. 
Thus, it may be useful to have a transcription of the hearing(s) in the event that the petitioners later 
appeal the decision of the Board. 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain accurate records, in relation to each charter petition, of 
documents submitted, the Board's proceedings, and the findings upon which the Board's decision is made. 
 
 

petition and, if applicable, the 
certification from the County Superintendent of Schools regarding the potential fiscal 

 
 



Page 3 of 6 

 

Approval of Petition 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires the Board to give preference to charter petitions 
that demonstrate the capability to provide comprehensive learning experiences to students 
identified by the petitioner as academically low achieving based on the standards established by the 
California Department of Education (CDE) pursuant to Education Code 54032, as that section read 
before July 19, 2006. Prior to its repeal on that date, Education Code 54032 required CDE to develop 
standards to identify students as academically low achieving for purposes of allocating Economic 
Impact Aid funds to school sites. However, the Economic Impact Aid program is no longer funded 
or administered by CDE. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 47605, the Board must also consider the interests of the community in 
which the school is proposing to locate. 
 

A charter petition shall be granted only if the Board is satisfied that doing so is consistent with sound 
educational practice and the interests of the community in which the school is proposing to locate. In 
granting charters, the Board shall consider the academic needs of the students the charter school 
proposes to serve and shall give preference to petitions that demonstrate the capability to provide 
comprehensive learning experiences for students who are identified by the petitioner as academically 
low-achieving, based on standards established by California Department of Education 
(CDE).  (Education Code 47605) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47604.1, charter schools are subject to the Brown Act 
(Government Code 54950-54963), California Public Records Act (Government Code 7920.000 - 
7930.215), conflict of interest laws (Government Code 1090-1099), and the Political Reform Act 
(Government Code 81000-91014). 
 

Prior to authorizing any charter, the Board shall verify that the charter includes adequate processes and 
measures for monitoring and holding the school accountable for fulfilling the terms of its charter and 
complying with all applicable laws, including Education Code 47604.1. Such processes and measures 
shall include, but are not limited to, fiscal accountability systems, multiple measures for evaluating the 
educational program, inspection and observations of any part of the charter school, and regular reports to 
the Board. 
 
The approval or denial of a charter petition shall not be controlled by collective bargaining agreements 
nor subject to review or regulation by the Public Employment Relations Board.  (Education Code 
47611.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Although not required by law, CSBA's, "Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams," 
recommends one or more memoranda of understanding (MOUs) to address matters that are 
related to the charter petition but are not included in the petition, and to establish expectations 
for which the charter school can be held accountable. CSBA's manual provides examples of issues 
that might be addressed in an MOU, including business operations, facilities, administrative and 
support services, special education, student assessment, and athletics. See CDE's web site for 
sample MOUs. 
 

The Board may approve one or more memoranda of understanding to clarify the financial and operational 
agreements between the district and the charter school. Any such memorandum of understanding shall be 
annually reviewed by the Board and charter school governing body and amended as necessary. 
 
The Board may initially grant a charter for a specified term not to exceed five years.  (Education Code 
47607) 
 
When a petition is approved by the Board, it shall be the responsibility of the petitioners to provide 
written notice of the Board's approval and a copy of the charterpetition to the County Superintendent of 
Schools, the CDE, and the State Board of Education (SBE).  (Education Code 47605) 



Page 4 of 6 

 

 
Denial of Petition 
 
The Board shall summarily deny any charter petition that proposes to: 

 
1. Operate a charter school as or by a for-profit corporation, a for-profit educational 

management organization, or a for-profit charter management organization  (Education 
Code 47604) 

 
2. Convert a private school to a charter school  (Education Code 47602) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, the Board may approve a charter school 
serving students in a grade level not offered by the district only when the charter school will 
also serve all the grade levels offered by the district. Thus, an elementary district's board 
cannot approve a charter for a high school, but may approve a charter for a K-12 school 
since the charter school will serve all grade levels served by the elementary school district. 
 

3. Serve students in a grade level that is not served by the district, unless the petition proposes to 
serve students in all the grade levels served by the district  (Education Code 47605) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47612.7, until January 1, 2025, the Board is 
prohibited from approving a petition for the establishment of a new charter school offering 
nonclassroom-based instruction. A charter school approved before October 1, 2019 which had 
started providing educational services as of that date may continue to offer nonclassroom-
based instruction under the circumstances specified in Education Code 47612.7. 
 

4. Offer nonclassroom-based instruction (Education Code 47612.7) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, a charter petition can be denied only if certain 
factual findings are made. 5 CCR 11967.5.1 contains criteria for SBE's review of charter petitions, 
which may be useful to the district in determining how it might evaluate whether a petition meets 
the conditions specified below. 
 

Regarding all other charter petitions, the Board shall deny a petition only if the Board makes written 
factual findings specific to the petition that one or more of the following conditions exist:  (Education 
Code 47605; 5 CCR 11967.5.1) 
 

1. The charter school presents an unsound educational program that has a likelihood of physical, 
educational, or psychological harm to, or which is not likely to provide an educational 
benefit for, the students to be enrolled in the charter school. 

 
2. The petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the program set forth in the 

petition. 
 

3. The petition does not contain the number of signatures required. 
 

4. The petition does not contain a clear, unequivocal statement described in Education Code 
47605(e), including that the charter school will be nonsectarian and that the school shall not 
charge tuition or discriminate against any student based on the characteristics specified in 
Education Code 220. 

 
5. The petition does not contain reasonably comprehensive descriptions of the charter 

provisions in Education Code 47605(c). 
 

6. The petition does not contain a declaration as to whether or not the charter school shall be 
deemed the exclusive public employer of the school's employees for purposes of collective 



Page 5 of 6 

 

bargaining pursuant to Government Code 3540-3549.3. 
6.  

7. The charter school is demonstrably unlikely to serve the interests of the entire community in 
which the school is proposing to locate. Analysis of this finding shall include consideration 
of the fiscal impact of the proposed charter school. A written factual finding shall detail 
specific facts and circumstances regarding:that analyze and consider the following factors: 

  
a. The extent to which the proposed charter school would substantially undermine 

existing services, academic offerings, or programmatic offerings 
  

b. Whether the proposed charter school would duplicate a program currently offered 
within the district, when the existing program has sufficient capacity for the 
students proposed to be served within reasonable proximity to where the charter 
school intends to locate 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, a district under state receivership is 
not in a position to absorb the fiscal impact of a proposed charter school. 
 

8. The district is not positioned to absorb the fiscal impact of the proposed charter school. The 
district meets this criterion if it has a negative interim certification, or has a qualified 
interim certification and the County Superintendent certifies that approving the charter 
school would result in the district having a negative interim certification, or is under state 
receivership. 

 
The Board shall not deny a petition based on the actual or potential costs of serving students with 
disabilities, nor shall it deny a petition solely because the charter school might enroll students with 
disabilities who reside outside the special education local plan area in which the district 
participates.  (Education Code 47605.7, 47647) 
 
Appeals 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, if the Board denies a charter petition, the 
petitioner may, within 30 days of the denial, submit the petition to the County Board. If the 
County Board denies a petition on appeal, the petitioner may, within 30 days of the denial by the 
County Board, appeal to SBE. 
 

If the Board denies a petition, the petitioner may choose to submit the petition to the County Board of 
Education and, if then denied by the County Board, to SBE.  (Education Code 47605) 
 
At the request of the petitioner, the Board shall prepare the documentary record, including a transcript 
of the public hearing at which the Board denied the charter, no later than 10 business days after the 
petitioner makes the request.  (Education Code 47605) 
 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA's Education Legal Alliance and the Napa Valley Unified School District 
each have litigation pending against SBE and the exercise of its authority to reverse the denial of a 
charter school petition deciding that a board abused its discretion in denying the petition. Due to 
the legal uncertainty in this area, the Board should consult CSBA's District and County Office of 
Education Legal Services or district legal counsel when a petition the Board has denied is on 
appeal to SBE. 
 

Within 30 days of receipt of an appeal submitted to SBE, the Board may submit a written opposition to 
SBE, which may include supporting documentation, detailing, with specific citations to the documentary 
record, how the Board did not abuse its discretion in denying the petition.  (Education Code 47605) 
 
If either the County Board or SBE remands the petition to the Board because the petition on appeal 
contains new or different material terms, the Board shall reconsider the petition and shall grant shall or 
deny the petition within 30 days.  (Education Code 47605) 
 



Page 6 of 6 

 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007  
revised: June 11, 2019 
revised: April 14, 2020 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 7 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is optional. 
 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Philosophy, Goals, Objectives and Comprehensive Plans 
Regulation 0420.4: Charter School Authorization 

 

 
 

 
Petition Signatures 
 
A petition for the establishment of a start-up charter school must be signed by either of the 
following:  (Education Code 47605) 

 
1. A number of parents/guardians equivalent to at least one-half of the number of students that the 

charter school estimates will enroll in the school for its first year of operation 
 

2. A number of teachers equivalent to at least one-half of the total number of teachers that the 
charter school estimates will be employed at the school during its first year of operation 

 
A petition that proposes to convert an existing public school to a charter school must be signed by at least 
50 percent of the permanent status teachers currently employed at the school.  (Education Code 
47605) 
 
Any petition circulated to collect signatures shall include a prominent statement explaining that a 
parent/guardian's signature means that the parent/guardian is meaningfully interested in having a child 
attend the charter school, or a teacher's signature means that the teacher is meaningfully interested in 
teaching at the charter school.  (Education Code 47605) 
 
Staff Advisory Committee 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. CSBA's, 
"Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams," suggests that a petition review team is one method 
that a district may use to obtain input on proposed charters. Such a committee might include 
representatives with expertise in the areas of governance, human resources, business/finance, facilities, 
curriculum and instruction, special education, and, as appropriate, other student populations. CSBA's 
District and County Office of Education Legal Services attorneys can also assist with petition reviews 
for districts that subscribe to that service. 

 
Education Code 47605 requires the district to publish staff recommendations regarding the petition at 
least 15 days prior to the hearing at which the Governing Board will grant or deny the petition; see 
the section "Timelines for Board Action" in the accompanying Board policy. 
 

The Superintendent or designee may establish a staff advisory committee to evaluate the completeness of 
a charter petition based on the requirements in Education Code 47605 and to identify any concerns that 
should be addressed by the petitioners. 
 
Components of Charter Petition 
 
All charter petitions shall comply with the applicable requirements of Education Code 47605, other state 
and federal laws, and district policies. 
 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA's, "Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams," recommends specific 
content that would constitute a reasonably comprehensive description of each component listed in Items 
#1-17 below, as well as additional content that is not required but may be requested of the petitioners 
(e.g., school calendar, transportation arrangements, a sample of the curriculum and instructional 
materials). 
 

The charter petition shall include affirmations that the charter school will be nonsectarian in its programs, 
admission policies, employment practices, and operations; will not charge tuition; and will not 
discriminate against a student on the basis of characteristics listed in Education Code 220.  The petition 



Page 2 of 7 

 

shall also contain reasonably comprehensive descriptions of:  (Education Code 47605) 
 

1. The educational program of the proposed school, designed, among other things, to identify those 
whom the school is attempting to educate, what it means to be an "educated person" in the 21st 
century, and how learning best occurs. The goals identified in that program shall include the 
objective of enabling students to become self-motivated, competent, and lifelong learners. 
 

actions to achieve those goals. Pursuant to Education Code 52052, numerically significant 
subgroups include ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, 
students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students, when there are at least 30 students 
in the subgroup (or at least 15 foster youth or homeless students) in the school. 

 
Education Code 47605 requires that these annual goals be aligned with the eight state priorities 
related to (1) the degree to which teachers are appropriately assigned and fully credentialed, 
students have sufficient access to standards-aligned instructional materials, and facilities are 
maintained in good repair; (2) implementation of and student access to state academic content and 
performance standards; (3) parent/guardian involvement and family engagement; (4) student 
achievement; (5) student engagement; (6) school climate; (7) student access to and enrollment in a 
broad course of study, including programs and services provided to benefit low-income 
students, English learners, and/or foster youth (i.e., "unduplicated students" for purposes of the 
local control funding formula), and students with disabilities; and (8) student outcomes in the 
specified course of study. See BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. 
 

2. The petition shall include a description of theThe charter school's annual goals for all students and 
for each numerically significant subgroup of students identified pursuant to Education Code 
52052, including ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, 
students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students. These goals shall be aligned with 
the state priorities listed in Education Code 52060 that apply to the grade levels served. The 
petition also shall describe specific annual actions to achieve those goals. The petition may 
identify additional priorities established for the proposed school, goals aligned with those 
priorities, and specific annual actions to achieve those goals. 

 
1. If the proposed charter school will serve high school students, the petition shall 
describe the manner in which the school will inform parents/guardians about the transferability 
of courses to other public high schools and the eligibility of courses to meet college entrance 
requirements. Courses offered by the charter school that are accredited by the Western Association 
of Schools and Colleges may be considered transferable, and courses approved by the University 
of California or the California State University as creditable under the "a-gA-G" admissions 
criteria may be considered to meet college entrance requirements. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires that the petition identify student outcomes that the 
charter school intends to use, including those that address increases in student achievement both 
schoolwide and for all groups of students served by the charter school. Education Code 47607 
defines "all groups of students served by the charter school" to mean all numerically significant 
subgroups of students, as defined in Education Code 52052, served by the charter school. 
 

3. The measurable student outcomes identified for use by the charter school.  
 

Student outcomes means the extent to which all students of the school demonstrate that they have 
attained the skills, knowledge, and attitudes specified as goals in the school's educational program, 
including outcomes that address increases in student academic achievement both schoolwide and 
for each numerically significant subgroup of students served by the charter school. The student 
outcomes shall align with the state priorities identified in Education Code 52060 that apply for 
the grade levels served by the charter school. 

2.  
3.4. The method by which student progress in meeting the identified student outcomes is to be 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires the charter petition to include annual goals, as described 
in Education Code 52060, for all students and for each numerically significant subgroup of students, 
and specific 



Page 3 of 7 

 

measured. To the extent practicable, the method for measuring student outcomes for state 
priorities shall be consistent with the way information is reported on a school accountability 
report card. 

 
4.5. The governance structure of the charter school, including, but not limited to, the process to be 

followed by the school to ensure parent/guardian involvement. 
 

5.6. The qualifications to be met by individuals to be employed by the charter school. 
 

6.7. The procedures that the charter school will follow to ensure the health and safety of students 
and staff, including the following requirements: 

 
a. Each charter school employee shall furnish the school with a criminal record summary as 

described in Education Code 44237. 
 

b. The charter school shall develop a school safety plan which includes the topics listed in 
Education Code 32282(a)(2)(A)-(J). 

 
c. The charter school's safety plan shall be reviewed and updated by March 1 each year. 

 
7.8. The means by which the charter school will achieve a balance of racial and ethnic students, 

special education students, and English learner students, including redesignated fluent English 
proficient students, that is reflective of the general population residing within the district's 
territorial jurisdiction. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, when the number of students who wish to 
attend the charter school exceeds the school's capacity, attendance must be determined by a 
public random drawing, with admission preference extending to students who currently attend 
the charter school and students who reside in the district. Education Code 47605 provides that 
admission preferences may also include, but are not limited to, siblings of students admitted or 
attending the charter school and children of the school's teachers, staff, and founders identified 
in the initial charter. Education Code 47605 requires that the priority order for preference be 
determined in the charter petition as provided below. 
 

8.9. The charter school's student admission policy. The petition shall, in accordance with Education 
Code 47605(e), specify procedures for determining enrollment when the number of applicants 
exceeds the school's capacity, including requirements for the use of a public random drawing, 
admission preferences, and priority order of preferences as required by law and subject to 
Governing Board of Education approval. 

 
9.10. The manner in which annual, independent financial audits shall be conducted, which shall employ 

generally accepted accounting principles, and the manner in which audit exceptions and 
deficiencies shall be resolved to the Board's satisfaction. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires that the suspension and expulsion procedures 
included in the charter petition prohibit the involuntary removal of a student, unless written 
notice of intent to remove the student has been given to the student and the student's 
parent/guardian. When such a student is a foster child or youth, homeless child, or Indian child, 
as defined in Welfare and Institutions Code 224.1, Education Code 47605, as amended by AB 
740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), requires such notifications to also be given to other specified 
individuals, such as a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social 
worker, a homeless child's educational rights holder, and an Indian child's tribal social worker, 
and if applicable, county social worker. Pursuant to Education Code 47605, as amended by AB 
740, these individuals have the same rights as a parent/guardian to receive a suspension notice, 
expulsion notice, manifestation determination notice, involuntary transfer notice, and other 
documents and related information. 

 
Additionally, Education Code 47606.2 requires that the suspension procedures included in the 
charter petition provide that (1) upon request of a student who has been suspended for two or 



Page 4 of 7 

 

more school days, or the student's parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the student, the homework assigned during the period of suspension be 
given and (2) any such completed homework shall not count towards the student's overall grade in 
the class unless the assignments are graded before the end of the academic term. 
 

11. The procedures by which students can be suspended or expelled for disciplinary reasons or 
otherwise involuntarily removed for any reason, including an explanation of how the charter 
school will comply with federal and state constitutional procedural and substantive due process 
requirements as specified in Education Code 47605 and a statement that the suspension 
procedures will include requirements. 

 
Such procedures shall contain a clear statement that no student shall be involuntarily removed by 
the charter school for any reason unless written notice of the intent to remove the student is 
given to the student's parent/guardian at least five schooldays before the effective date of the 
removal. In the case of a homeless student or foster youth, the notice shall be given to the 
student's educational rights holder. Additionally, a foster youth's attorney and county social 
worker, and an Indian child's tribal social worker, and if applicable, the county social worker, 
shall be given such notice. 

 
The notice shall inform the student, the student's parent/guardian, and any other specified 
individual, as applicable, of the right to initiate a hearing as described in Education Code 47605, 
before the effective date of the removal. The notice shall be provided in the student's 
parent/guardian's, or other applicable person's language, and, if such a hearing is initiated, shall 
include the student's right to remain enrolled in the charter school until a final decision is made 
by the charter school. 

 
10. In addition, the procedures shall contain a statement pertaining to the provision of 
homework assignments to suspended students as specified in Education Code 47606.2. 
 
Such procedures shall also include processes by which the charter school will notify the 
superintendent of a district, and by which the charter school may be notified by the superintendent 
of a district, when a student or former student of the charter school is expelled or subject to any of 
the circumstances specified in Education Code 47605(e)(3). 
  

 
Such procedures shall also include processes by which the charter school will notify the 
Superintendent of the district of the student's last known address and, upon request, provide the 
student's cumulative record to the district, when a student is expelled or leaves the charter 
school without graduating or completing the school year for any reason. In addition, the 
procedures shall describe the means by which the district can contact the charter school if the 
student is subsequently expelled or leaves the school district without graduating or completing 
the school year for any reason. 

 
Involuntarily removed means disenrolled, dismissed, transferred, or terminated, but does not 
include suspensions. (Education Code 47605) 

 
11.12. The manner by which staff members of the charter school will be covered by the State 

Teachers' Retirement System, the Public Employees' Retirement System, or federal social security. 
 

12.13. The public school attendance alternatives for students residing within the district who 
choose to not attend the charter school. 

 
13.14. A description of the rights of any district employee upon leaving district employment 

to work in the charter school and of any rights of return to the district after employment at the 
charter school. 

 
14.15. The procedures to be followed by the charter school and the Board to resolve disputes 

relating to charter provisions. 
 
 



Page 5 of 7 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires charter petitions to contain the declaration 
specified in Item #16 below regarding responsibilities for collective bargaining. If the charter 
school is not deemed the public school employer for purposes of collective bargaining under 
Government Code 3540-3549.3, the district where the charter school is located shall be deemed 
the public school employer for these purposes, pursuant to Education Code 47611.5. Education 
Code 47611.5 further provides that, if the charter does not specify that the charter school shall 
comply with laws and regulations governing tenure or a merit or civil service system, the 
scope of representation for that charter school shall also include discipline and dismissal of 
charter school employees. 
 

15.16. A declaration as to whether or not the charter school will be deemed the exclusive public 
school employer of the school's employees for purposes of collective bargaining under 
Government Code 3540-3549.3. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 and 5 CCR 11962 require the charter petition to include 
procedures to be used in the event that the charter school closes for any reason, as provided in 
Item #17 below. Duties of the district pertaining to charter school closures include notification 
requirements pursuant to Education Code 47604.32 and 5 CCR 11962.1; see BP 0420.41 - 
Charter School Oversight. 
 

16.17. Consistent with 5 CCR 11962, the procedures to be used if the charter school closes, 
including, but not limited to: 

 
a. Designation of a responsible entity to conduct closure-related activities 

 
b. Notification to parents/guardians, the Board, the county office of education, the special 

education local plan area in which the charter school participates, the retirement systems 
in which the school's employees participate, and the California Department of Education, 
providing at least the following information: 

 
i. The effective date of the closure 

 
ii. The name(s) and contact information of the person(s) to whom reasonable inquiries 

may be made regarding the closure 
 

iii. The students' districts of residence 
 

iv. The manner in which parents/guardians may obtain copies of student records, 
including specific information on completed courses and credits that meet 
graduation requirements 

 
c. Provision of a list of students at each grade level, the classes they have completed, and their 

districts of residence to the responsible entity designated in accordance with item 
#16aItem #17a above 

 
d. Transfer and maintenance of all student records, all state assessment results, and any special 

education records to the custody of the responsible entity designated in accordance with item 
#16aItem #17a above, except for records and/or assessment results that the charter may 
require to be transferred to a different entity 
 

e. Transfer and maintenance of personnel records in accordance with applicable law 
 

f. Completion of an independent final audit within six months after the closure of the 
charter school that may function as the annual audit, which includes an accounting of all 
financial assets and liabilities pursuant to 5 CCR 11962 and an assessment of the disposition 
of any restricted funds received by or due to the school 
  and an accounting of all financial assets and liabilities pursuant to 5 CCR 11962 

 



Page 6 of 7 

 

g. Disposal of any net assets remaining after all liabilities of the charter school have been paid 
or otherwise addressed pursuant to 5 CCR 11962h. Completion and filing of any annual 
reports required pursuant to Education Code 47604.3311962 

 
h. Completion and filing of any annual reports required pursuant to Education Code 

47604.33 
  

i.h. Identification of funding for the activities identified in item #16a-hItem #17a-g above 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires that petitioners provide to the Board the information 
listed in Items #1-4 below, and, for any petition to operate a charter school by or as a nonprofit 
public benefit corporation, the information listed in Item #5 below. 

 
The Board may require additional information beyond what is included in Items #1-5. As outlined in 
CSBA's, "Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams," some districts request a school calendar, 
information regarding transportation arrangements, staff development plans, assurances that the school 
will provide appropriate services for English language learners and students with disabilities, or any 
other information that will assist the Board in understanding the proposal. Districts that wish to 
require additional information in the charter may list those items below. 

 
Charter school petitioners shall provide information to the Board regarding the proposed operation and 
potential effects of the school, including, but not limited to:  (Education Code 47605) 

 
1. The facilities to be used by the charter school, including where the school intends to locate 

  
2. The manner in which administrative services of the charter school are to be provided 

  
3.  Potential civil liability effects, if any, upon the charter school and district 

 
4.  Financial statements that include a proposed first-year operational budget, including start-up 

costs and cash-flow and financial projections for the first three years of operation 
  

5. If the charter school is to be operated by or as a nonprofit public benefit corporation, the 
names and relevant qualifications of all persons whom the petitioner nominates to serve 
on the governing body of the charter school 

 
Location of Charter School 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 and 47605.1 establish geographic and site requirements for 
charter schools. Pursuant to Education Code 47605, a charter school granted by either the County Board 
of Education or the State Board of Education following initial denial by the district must locate 
within the geographic boundaries of the district that denied the petition. 

 
Unless otherwise exempted by law, the charter petition shall identify a single charter school that will 
operate within the geographic boundaries of the district. A charter school may propose to operate at 
multiple sites within the district as long as each location is identified in the petition.  (Education Code 
47605, 47605.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605.1, a resource center, meeting space, or other satellite 
facility used by a charter school for nonclassroom-based independent study must, with specified 
exceptions, be located within district boundaries. 

 
A charter school may establish a resource center, meeting space, or other satellite facility within the 
jurisdiction of the school district where the charter school is physically located if both of the 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires that information on school facilities, listed in Item #1 below, 
specify where the school intends to locate. Unless otherwise exempted, the school must be located within the 
geographic  



Page 7 of 7 

 

following conditions are met: (Education Code 47605.1) 
 

1. The facility is used exclusively for the educational support of students who are enrolled in 
nonclassroom-based independent study of the charter school. 

 
2. The charter school provides its primary educational services in, and a majority of the students it 

serves are residents of, the county in which the school is authorized. 
 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 11, 2019 
revised: April 14, 2020 
revised: ??, 2023 
 





Page 1 of 4 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Students 
Regulation 5113: Absences And Excuses 

 

 
Excused Absences 
 

CSBA NOTE: Items #1-16 below reflect absences that are authorized by law to be considered as 
excused absences for purposes of enforcing the compulsory state attendance laws. Pursuant to 
Education Code 48205, absences specified in Items #1-12, although excused for purposes of 
enforcing compulsory state attendance laws, are considered absences in computing average daily 
attendance and do not generate state apportionment payments.  

 
Subject to any applicable limitation, condition, or other requirement specified in law, a student's 
absence shall be excused for any of the following reasons: 
 

1. Personal illness, including absence for the benefit of the student's mental or behavioral health . 
(Education Code 48205) 
 

2. Quarantine under the direction of a county or city health officer  . (Education Code 48205) 
 

3. Medical, dental, optometrical, or chiropractic service or appointment  . (Education Code 48205) 
 

4. Attendance at funeral services for a member of the student's immediate family. (Education Code 
48205) 

 
Such absence shall be limited to one day if the service is conducted in California or three days if 
the service is conducted out of state.  (Education Code 48205) 

 
5. Jury duty in the manner provided for by law  . (Education Code 48205) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48205, absence due to the illness or medical 
appointment of a student's child is counted as an excused absence, and the district is prohibited 
from requiring a physician's note for such absences. See the section "Method of Verification" 
below. 
 

6. Illness or medical appointment of a child to whom the student is the custodial parent  . 
(Education Code 48205) 

 
7. Upon advance written request by the parent/guardian and the approval of the principal or designee, 

justifiable personal reasons including, but not limited to:  (Education Code 48205) 
 

a. Appearance in court 
 

b. Attendance at a funeral service 
 

c. Observance of a religious holiday or ceremony 
 

d. Attendance at religious retreats for no more than four hours per semester 
 

e. Attendance at an employment conference 
 

f. Attendance at an educational conference on the legislative or judicial process offered by a 
nonprofit organization 

 



Page 2 of 4 

 

8. Service as a member of a precinct board for an election pursuant to Elections Code 12302  . 
(Education Code 48205) 

 
9. To spend time with an immediate family member who is an active duty member of the uniformed 

services, as defined in Education Code 49701, and has been called to duty for deployment to a 
combat zone or a combat support position or is on leave from or has immediately returned from 
such deployment  . (Education Code 48205) 
 
Such absence shall be granted for a period of time to be determined at the discretion of the 
Superintendent or designee.  (Education Code 48205) 

 
1.10. Attendance at the student's naturalization ceremony to become a United States citizen  . (Education 

Code 48205) 
 

2.11. Participation in a cultural ceremony or event which relates to the habits, practices, beliefs, and 
traditions of a certain group of people . (Education Code 48205) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48205, as amended by SB 955 (Ch. 921, Statutes of 
2022), districts are required to allow an excused absence for middle and high school students one 
school day per school year for the purpose of engaging in a civic or political event, provided 
that the student notifies the school in advance. At the discretion of the Superintendent or 
designee, additional such absences may be permitted. 
 

12. For a middle school or high school student, engagement in a civic or political event, provided that 
the student notifies the school ahead of the absence. Unless otherwise permitted by the 
Superintendent or designee, students shall be limited to one such school day-long absence per 
school year. (Education Code 48205) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46014, with the written consent of the student's 
parent/guardian, districts may excuse a student from school in order to participate in religious 
exercises or instruction. 

 
In order for the district to receive average daily attendance funding for such absences, the 
Governing Board must first adopt a resolution permitting an excused absence for this purpose 
and regulations governing students' attendance at religious exercises or instruction and the 
reporting of such absences. 

 
The student must also attend school for at least the minimum school day and not be absent for 
this purpose on more than four days per school month. Pursuant to Education Code 46112, 46113, 
46117, and 46141, unless otherwise provided by law, the minimum school day is generally 180 
minutes for kindergarten, 230 minutes for grades 1-3, and 240 minutes for grades 4-12. For 
further information, see AR 6112 - School Day. These regulations should include all of Item #13 
below and may be expanded to reflect district practice. 
 

13. Participation in religious exercises or to receive moral and religious instruction at the student's 
place of worship or other suitable place away from school  property as designated by the religious 
group, church, or denomination. (Education Code 46014) 

 
10. Absence for student participation in religious exercises or instruction shall not be 
considered an absence for the purpose of computing average daily attendance if the student 
attends at least the minimum school day as specified in AR 6112 - School Day, and is not 
excused from school for this purpose on more than four days per school month.  (Education 
Code 46014) 

 
14. Work in the entertainment or allied industry  . (Education Code 48225.5) 

 
11. Work for a student who holds a work permit authorizing work in the entertainment or 
allied industries for a period of not more than five consecutive days. For this purpose, student 



Page 3 of 4 

 

absence shall be excused for a maximum of up to five absences per school year.  (Education 
Code 48225.5) 

 
15. Participation with a nonprofit performing arts organization in a performance for a public school 

audience  . (Education Code 48225.5) 
 

12. A student may be excused for up to five such absences per school year provided that 
the student's parent/guardian provides a written explanation of such absence to the 
school.  (Education Code 48225.5) 

 
16. Other reasons authorized at the discretion of the principal or designee based on the student's 

specific circumstances  . (Education Code 48205, 48260) 
 
13. For the purpose of the absences described above, immediate family means the student's 
parent/guardian, brother or sister, grandparent, or any other relative living in the student's 
household.  (Education Code 48205) 
 
Method of Verification 

 
Student absence to care for a child for whom the student is the custodial parent shall not require a 
physician's note.  (Education Code 48205) 
 
For other absences, the student shall, upon returning to school following the absence, present a 
satisfactory explanation, either in person or by written note, verifying the reason for the absence. 
 
Absences shall be verified by the student's parent/guardian, other person having charge or control of 
the student, or the student if age 18 or older.  (Education Code 46012; 5 CCR 306) 
 
When an absence is planned, the principal or designee shall be notified prior to the date of the absence 
when possible. 
 
The following methods may be used to verify student absences: 
 

1. Written note, fax, email, or voice mail from parent/guardian or parent representative. 
 

2. Conversation, in person or by telephone, between the verifying employee and the student's 
parent/guardian or parent representative. The employee shall subsequently record the 
following: 

 
a. Name of student 
b. Name of parent/guardian or parent representative 
c. Name of verifying employee 
d. Date(s) of absence 
e. Reason for absence 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48205 prohibits the district from requiring a physician's note for absences 
due to the 

 
 
5 CCR 420-421 provide guidelines for verifying absences due to illness; quarantine; medical, dental, or eye 

authorizes a student's absence to be verified by a school or public health nurse, attendance supervisor, 
physician, principal, teacher, or any other qualified district employee assigned to make such verification. 



Page 4 of 4 

 

3. Visit to the student's home by the verifying employee, or any other reasonable method which 
establishes the fact that the student was absent for the reasons stated. The employee shall 
document the verification and include the information specified in Item #2 above. 

 
4. Physician's verification. 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph provides a means of verifying an excuse for 
confidential medical services without inquiring into the nature of the medical services. 
 

a. When excusing students for confidential medical services or verifying such appointments, 
district staff shall not ask the purpose of such appointments but may request a note from 
the medical office to confirm the time of the appointment. 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph provides that, after absences for illness 
on multiple occasions, the student may be required to bring a note from a physician to 
verify the illness. If a student does not have access to medical services in order to obtain 
such verification, the district may assist the student in obtaining the medical consultation 
if it is required. 
 

b. If a student shows a pattern of chronic absenteeism due to illness, district staff may require 
physician verification of any further student absences. 

 
Parental Notifications 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall: 

 
1. Notify parents/guardians of the right to excuse a student from school in order to participate in 

religious exercises or to receive moral and religious instruction at their places of worship, or at 
other suitable places away from school property designated by a religious group, church, or 
denomination  . (Education Code 46014, 48980) 

 
CSBA NOTE: The requirement in Item #2 applies to all districts. Districts that maintain only 
elementary grades should delete the reference to students in grades 7-12. 
 

1.2. Notify students in grades 7-12 and the parents/guardians of all students enrolled in the district 
that school authorities may excuse any student from school to obtain confidential medical services 
without the consent of the student's parent/guardian  . (Education Code 46010.1) 
 

2.3.  
3. Notify parents/guardians that a student shall not have a grade reduced or lose academic credit for 

any excused absence if missed assignments and tests that can reasonably be provided are 
satisfactorily completed within a reasonable period of time. Such notice shall include the full 
text of Education Code 48205.  (Education Code 48980) 

 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: May 8, 2012 
revised: April 11, 2017 
revised: March 12, 2019 
revised: May 10, 2022 
revised: ??, 2023 

CSBA NOTE: The requirement in Item #1 below is for use by districts whose board has adopted a 
resolution permitting an excused absence for religious instruction or exercises. See the accompanying 
Board policy and Item #13 in the section "Excused Absences" above. 



Page 1 of 3 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Students 
Regulation 5131.41: Use Of Seclusion And Restraint 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49005-49006.4, seclusion and behavioral restraint, as 
defined below, are prohibited as a means of student discipline. Seclusion and restraint must be avoided 
whenever possible and may be used only to control behavior that poses a clear and present danger of 
serious physical harm to a student or others and that cannot be immediately prevented by a less 
restrictive response. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 49005.1 and 49006.4, these requirements apply to all students in grades 
preK-12 and students with disabilities. For additional procedures applicable to students with 
disabilities, see AR 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students. 

 
District staff shall enforce standards of appropriate student conduct in order to provide a safe and 
secure environment for students and staff on campus, but are prohibited from using seclusion and 
behavioral restraint to control student behavior except to the limited extent authorized by lawas 
authorized by law when the behavior poses a clear and present danger of serious physical harm to the 
student, other students, or others on campus, and that cannot be immediately prevented by a less 
restrictive response. 
 
Definitions 
 
Behavioral restraint includes mechanical restraint or physical restraint used as an intervention when a 
student presents an immediate danger to self or to others. Behavioral restraint does not include postural 
restraints or devices used to improve a student's mobility and independent functioning rather than to 
restrict movement. (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Mechanical restraint means the use of a device or equipment to restrict a student's freedom of movement. 
Mechanical restraint does not include the use of devices as prescribed by an appropriate medical or 
related services professional, including, but not limited to, adaptive devices or mechanical supports 
used to achieve proper body position, balance, or alignment; vehicle safety restraints during the 
transport of a student; restraints for medical immobilization; or orthopedically prescribed devices 
which permit a student to participate in activities without risk of harm. Mechanical restraint also does 
not include the use of devices by peace officers or security personnel for detention or for public safety 
purposes. (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Physical restraint means a personal restriction that immobilizes or reduces the ability of a student to 
move the torso, arms, legs, or head freely. Physical restraint does not include a physical escort in which a 
staff member temporarily touches or holds the student's hand, wrist, arm, shoulder, or back for the 
purpose of inducing a student who is acting out to walk to a safe location. Physical restraint also does not 
include the use of force by peace officers or security personnel for detention or for public safety purposes. 
(Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Prone restraint means the application of a behavioral restraint on a student in a facedown position. 
(Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Seclusion means the involuntary confinement of a student alone in a room or an area from which the 
student is physically prevented from leaving. Seclusion does not include a timeout involving the 
monitored separation of the student in an unlocked setting, which is implemented for the purpose of 
calming the student. (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Prohibitions 
 
Seclusion and behavioral restraint of students shall not be used in any form as a means of coercion, 



Page 2 of 3 

 

discipline, convenience, or retaliation. (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
In addition, staff shall not take any of the following actions: (Education Code 49005.2, 49005.8) 
 

1. Administer a drug that is not a standard treatment for a student's medical or psychiatric 
condition in order to control the student's behavior or restrict the student's freedom of 
movement 
 

2. Use locked seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use as 
a locked room 
 

3. Use a physical restraint technique that obstructs a student's respiratory airway or impairs a 
student's breathing or respiratory capacity, including a technique in which a staff member places 
pressure on the student's back or places his/herthe staff member's body weight against the 
student's torso or back 
 

4. Use a behavioral restraint technique that restricts breathing, including, but not limited to, the use 
of a pillow, blanket, carpet, mat, or other item to cover a student's face 
 

5. Place a student in a facedown position with the student's hands held or restrained behind the 
student's back 
 

6. Use a behavioral restraint for longer than is necessary to contain the behavior that poses a clear 
and present danger of serious physical harm to the student or others 

 
Limited Use of Seclusion or Restraint 
 
Staff shall avoid the use of seclusion and behavioral restraint of students whenever possible. Seclusion or 
behavioral restraint may be used only to control student behavior that poses a clear and present danger of 
serious physical harm to the student or others, which cannot be immediately prevented by a response 
that is less restrictive. (Education Code 49005.4, 49005.6, 49005.8) 
 
When used, seclusion or restraint shall not be applied for longer than is necessary to contain the 
dangerous behavior. For any situation that requires a prolonged use of an emergency intervention, staff 
shall seek the assistance of the principal or law enforcement agency, as applicable to the situation. 
(Education Code 56521.1) 
 
If a student is put in seclusion, the student shall be under constant, direct observation of a staff 
member. Such observation may be through a window or another barrier through which the staff 
member is able to make direct eye contact with the student, but shall not be made through indirect 
means such as a security camera or closed-circuit television. (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
If a student is restrained, staff shall afford the student the least restrictive alternative and the maximum 
freedom of movement, and shall use the least number of restraint points, while ensuring the physical safety 
of the student and others. (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
If a prone restraint technique is used on a student, a staff member shall observe the student for any signs 
of physical distress throughout the use of the restraint. Whenever possible, the staff member 
monitoring the student shall not be involved in restraining the student. (Education Code 49005.8) 
 

CSBA NOTE: In a December 2022 resolution agreement between Davis Joint Unified School District 
and the U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights (OCR) following an investigation into 
the use of seclusion and restraint, OCR found that use of such measures on students with disabilities 
must comply with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1974 and the implementing regulations. See 
AR 6159.4 for additional information regarding behavioral interventions and the use of seclusion or 
restraint for students with disabilities. 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 
Seclusion or restraint may only be applied to a student with disabilities in accordance with rules 
specified in AR 6159.4 Behavioral Interventions For Special Education Students. Staff may not apply 
seclusion or restraint to students with disabilities based on assumptions or stereotypes about disabilities 
or students with disabilities or for behavior that would not result in restraint or seclusion for students 
without disabilities. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is consistent with OCR's recommendation in its resolution 
agreement with Davis Joint Unified School district and a good practice to follow with respect to use of 
seclusion or restraint of all students. 

 
The superintendent or designee shall provide training to staff in the safe and effective use of seclusion and 
restraint as appropriate. 
 
Documentation of Seclusion and Restraint 
 
Parents/guardians and, if appropriate, residential care providers shall be notified within one school day 
whenever an emergency intervention is used or serious property damage occurs. (Education Code 56521.1) 
 
A behavior emergency report shall be completed and forwarded to the Superintendent or designee for 
review. This report shall include: (Education Code 56521.1) 
 

1. The name and age of the student 
 

2. The setting and location of the incident 
 

3. The name of the staff or other persons involved 
 

4. A description of the incident and the emergency intervention used 
 

5. A statement of whether the student is currently engaged in a systematic behavior intervention 
plan 
 

6. Details of any injuries sustained by the student or others, including staff, as a result of the incident 
 
Reports 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49006, districts are required to collect data and report to the 
California Department of Education (CDE) annually in regard to the use of seclusion and behavioral 
restraints for district students, as specified below. CDE is required to post the data from the report on 
its web site within three months after the report is due to CDE. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually collect data on the number of times that seclusion, 
mechanical restraint, and physical restraint were used on students and the number of students subjected 
to such techniques. The data shall be disaggregated by race/ethnicity and gender, and reported for 
students with a Section 504 plan, students with an individualized education program, and all other 
students. This report shall be submitted to the California Department of Education no later than three 
months after the end of each school year, and shall be available as a public record pursuant to 
Government Code 6250-6270. (Education Code 49006) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: March 12, 2019 
revised: ??, 2023 





Page 1 of 4 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Students 
Regulation 5144: Discipline 

 

 
Site-Level Rules 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 35291.5, schools are 
authorized, but not required, to adopt site-level student discipline rules and procedures. Schools that 
choose to adopt student discipline rules, or that are directed by the Governing Board to do so, must 
solicit input from groups specified in Items #1-5 below. Such site-level rules must be consistent with 
law, Board policy, and district regulations. If the school develops student discipline rules, Education 
Code 32282 requires that they be included in the comprehensive safety plan; see BP/AR 0450 - 
Comprehensive Safety Plan. 

 
In addition, pursuant to Education Code 52060, the district is required to adopt a local control and 
accountability plan (LCAP) that includes a description of the specific actions that it intends to take to 
achieve its annual goals in specified priority areas, including student engagement and school climate. 
In the development of the LCAP, the district is required to involve and/or consult with 
parents/guardians, employees, employee organizations, and students in accordance with law. See 
BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. 

 
Site-level rules shall be consistent with state law and Board policies and administrative regulations. In 
developing site-level disciplinary rules, the principal or designee shall solicit the participation, views, 
and advice of one representative selected by each of the following groups: (Education Code 35291.5) 
 

1. Parents/guardians 
 

2. Teachers 
 

3. School administrators 
 

4. School security personnel, if any 
 

5. For junior high and high schools, students enrolled in the school 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Education 
Code 35291.5 authorizes, but does not require, each school site to adopt school rules every four years. 
However, it is recommended that the timelines for the review of school rules be aligned with those for 
the review and updating of the comprehensive safety plan, since the school rules must, by law, be 
included in the plan. Pursuant to Education Code 32286, the comprehensive safety plan must be 
reviewed and updated every year by March 1; see BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan. 

 
Annually, site-level discipline rules shall be reviewed and, if necessary, updated to align with any changes 
in state law, district discipline policies and regulations, and/or goals for school safety and climate as 
specified in the district's local control and accountability plan. A copy of the rules shall be filed with 
the Superintendent or designee for inclusion in the comprehensive safety plan. 
 
School rules shall be communicated to students clearly and in an age-appropriate manner. 
 
It shall be the duty of each employee of the school to enforce the school rules on student discipline. 
(Education Code 35291.5) 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 4 

 

Disciplinary Strategies 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900.5 lists means of correction of student behavior that a district 
may use as an alternative to suspension. The district should select those strategies that are appropriate 
for its student population. The following strategies may be modified or expanded to reflect district 
practice. 

 
To the extent possible, staff shall use disciplinary strategies that keep students in school and participating 
in the instructional program. Except when students' presence causes a danger to themselves or others or 
they commit a single act of a grave nature or an offense for which suspension or expulsion is required by 
law, suspension or expulsion shall be used only when other means of correction have failed to bring about 
proper conduct. Disciplinary strategies may include, but are not limited to: 
 

1. Discussion or conference between school staff, the student, and the student andstudent's 
parents/guardians 
 

2. Referral of the student to the school counselor or other school support service personnel for case 
management and counseling 
 

3. Convening of a study team, guidance team, resource panel, or other intervention-related team to 
assess the behavior and develop and implement an individual plan to address the behavior in 
partnership with the student and the student's parents/guardians 
 

4. When applicable, referral for a comprehensive psychosocial or psychoeducational assessment, 
including for purposes of creating an individualized education program or a Section 504 plan 
 

5. Enrollment in a program for teaching prosocial behavior or anger management 
 

6. Participation in a restorative justice program 
 

7. A positive behavior support approach with tiered interventions that occur during the school day 
on campus 
 

8. Participation in a social and emotional learning program that teaches students the ability to 
understand and manage emotions, develop caring and concern for others, make responsible 
decisions, establish positive relationships, and handle challenging situations capably 

 
CSBA NOTE: The Public Counsel's Fix School Discipline Project recognizes that exposure to 
chronic violence and other family or community traumas, such as serious accidents and life-
threatening illnesses involving loved ones, and to conditions such as homelessness, may affect 
students' ability to learn and function well in school, and urges schools to adopt policies that 
recognize those factors and provide appropriate support to students. 
 

9. Participation in a program that is sensitive to the traumas experienced by students, focuses on 
students' behavioral health needs, and addresses those needs in a proactive manner 
 

10. After-school programs that address specific behavioral issues or expose students to positive 
activities and behaviors, including, but not limited to, those operated in collaboration with local 
parent and community groups 
 

11. Recess restriction as provided in the section below entitled "Recess Restriction" 
 

12. Detention after school hours as provided in the section below entitled "Detention After School" 
 

13. Community service as provided in the section below entitled "Community Service" 
 



Page 3 of 4 

 

14. In accordance with Board policy and administrative regulation, restriction or disqualification 
from participation in extracurricular activities 
 

15. Reassignment to an alternative educational environment 
 

16. Suspension and expulsion in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, when a student's misbehavior may result in a 
referral for suspension or expulsion after other means of correction have failed, the district may 
document and place in the student's record any other means of correction used to address the behavior. 
The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
When, by law or district policy, other means of correction are required to be implemented before a 
student could be suspended or expelled, any other means of correction implemented shall be 
documented and retained in the student's records. (Education Code 48900.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: On July 19, 2022, The United States Department of Education's Office for Civil 
Rights and Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services issued new guidance, "Supporting 
Students with Disabilities and Avoiding the Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline under Section 
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973," to help schools support students with disabilities and avoid 
discriminatory discipline practices. 

 
Staff shall enforce disciplinary rules fairly, consistently, and in accordance with the district's 
nondiscrimination policies. 
 
When disciplining a student who has been identified for special education and related services, the 
procedures specified in Administrative Regulation 5144.2 - Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 
(Students With Disabilities) shall be applied. If a student has not been identified as a student with a 
disability and the district suspects the behavior that resulted in discipline may be based in an unidentified 
disability, the district shall conduct an evaluation to determine if the student has a disability which 
requires an IEP or 504 plan. (U.S.C. 1412(a)(3)) 
 
Recess Restriction 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section should be revised to reflect district practice. Although 
Education Code 44807.5 authorizes the district to adopt reasonable regulations allowing a teacher to 
restrict recess time for disciplinary purposes, it is recommended that districts discourage its use since it 
could limit students' opportunity to engage in physical activity which is inconsistent with district 
goals for student wellness. Studies have shown that, apart from its multiple health benefits, physical 
activity can help students improve their academic performance, attention, and behavior. 

 
In addition, Education Code 44807.5 may conflict with 5 CCR 352, which states "A pupil shall not be 
required to remain in school during the intermission at noon, or during any recess." Districts that plan 
to restrict recess are encouraged to consult with CSBA's District and County Office Legal Services 
or district legal counsel. 

 
Teachers may restrict a student's recess time only when they believe that this action is the most 
effective way to bring about improved behavior. When recess restriction involves the withholding of 
physical activity from a student, teachers shall try other disciplinary measures before imposing the 
restriction. Recess restriction shall be subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The student shall be given adequate time to use the restroom and get a drink or eat lunch, as 
appropriate. 
 

2. The student shall remain under a certificated employee's supervision during the period of 
restriction. 
 



Page 4 of 4 

 

3. The student's teacher shall inform the principal of any recess restrictions imposed. 
 
Detention After School 
 
Students may be detained for disciplinary reasons for up to one hour after the close of the maximum 
school day, or until the departure of the school bus to which they have been assigned if applicable. (5 
CCR 307, 353) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice. 
 
The student shall not be detained unless the principal or designee notifies the parent/guardian.  
 
Students shall remain under the supervision of a certificated employee during the period of detention. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is offered for districts that use Saturday classes for 
purposes of detention. Education Code 37223 authorizes the use of Saturday classes; however, except in 
the case of truants, attendance at such classes must be at the election of the student, or parent/guardian 
when the student is a minor.  

 
Students may be offered the choice of serving their detention on Saturday rather than after school. 
 
Community Service 
 
As part of or instead of disciplinary action, the Board, Superintendent, principal, or principal's designee 
may require a student to perform community service during nonschool hours on school grounds or, 
with written permission of the student's parent/guardian, off school grounds. Such service may 
include, but is not limited to, community or school outdoor beautification, community or campus 
betterment, and teacher, peer, or youth assistance programs. (Education Code 48900.6) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900.6 provides that the community service option is not available 
for those students who have been suspended, pending expulsion, for acts qualifying for either 
"mandatory recommendation for expulsion" or "mandatory expulsion" pursuant to Education Code 
48915. See BP 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. 

 
This community service option is not available for a student who has been suspended, pending expulsion, 
pursuant to Education Code 48915. However, if the recommended expulsion is not implemented or 
the expulsion itself is suspended, then the student may be required to perform community service for the 
resulting suspension. (Education Code 48900.6) 
 
Notice to Parents/Guardians and Students 
 
At the beginning of the school year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians, in 
writing, about the availability of district rules related to discipline. (Education Code 35291, 48980) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall also provide written notice of disciplinary rules to transfer students 
at the time of their enrollment in the district. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: May 10, 2011 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: May 13, 2014 
revised: March 12, 2019 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 22 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA recommends that this administrative regulation be approved by the Governing Board, 
 

 

jurisdiction. In addition, Education Code 48918 and 48918.5 mandate that districts adopt rules 
concerning the due process rights of students in expulsion situations, and Education Code 48916 mandates 
procedures for filing and processing requests for readmission. Specific language complying with these 
mandates is included throughout this  

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Students 
Regulation 5144.1: Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Definitions 
 
Suspension means removal of a student from ongoing instruction for adjustment purposes.  However, 
suspension does not mean any of the following:  (Education Code 48925) 
  

1. Reassignment to another education program or class at the same school where the student will 
receive continuing instruction for the length of day prescribed by the Governing Board of 
Education for students of the same grade level 
  

2. Referral to a certificated employee designated by the principal to advise students 
  

3. Removal from the class, but without reassignment to another class or program, for the remainder 
of the class period without sending the student to the principal or designee as provided in 
Education Code 48910, so long as removal from a particular class does not occur more than once 
every five school days. 

 
Expulsion means removal of a student from the immediate supervision and control or the general 
supervision of school personnel.  (Education Code 48925) 
 
Notice of Regulations 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the principal of each school shall ensure that all students and 
parents/guardians are notified in writing of all school rules related to discipline, including suspension 
and expulsion.  (Education Code 35291, 48900.1, 48980) 
 
Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12 
 

CSBA NOTE: The acts for which students may be suspended or expelled are specified in law, the 
following section, and the sections below titled "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: 
Grades 4-12," and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12." The Board 
does not have authority to add to those enumerated acts. However, the Board has authority to 
prohibit suspension or expulsion for certain acts for which suspension or expulsion is permissible 
rather than mandatory. The Board may consider limiting the use of suspension and expulsion for such 
offenses as part of the district plan to address school climate within the local control and 
accountability plan required pursuant to Education Code 52060. In addition, pursuant to Education 
Code 48900.5, a district is not authorized to suspend a student for certain specified violations unless 
other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. 

 
Acts for which a student, including a student with disabilities, may be suspended or expelled shall be only 
those specified as follows and in the sections "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 
4-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 9-12" below: 



Page 2 of 22 

 
1. Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person; willfully used 

force or violence upon another person, except in self-defense; or committed as an aider or abettor, 
as adjudged by a juvenile court, a crime of physical violence in which the victim suffered great 
or serious bodily injury  (Education Code 48900(a) and (t)) 
  
 
CSBA NOTE: The Attorney General, in 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 91 (1997), determined that a 
student may be expelled for "possession" of a firearm if the student knowingly and voluntarily 
had direct control over the firearm. The only exceptions are when the student has permission 
from school officials to possess the firearm (pursuant to Education Code 48900 and 48915) or 
when the possession is brief and solely for the purpose of disposing of the firearm, such as 
handing it to school officials. Note that "firearm" does not include "imitation firearm" which is 
listed separately in Item #12 below. See BP 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments. 

 
Pursuant to Penal Code 417.27, students are prohibited from possessing a laser pointer on school 
premises, except for a valid instructional or other school-related purpose. See BP 5131 - 
Conduct. 
 

2. Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object, 
unless, in the case of possession of any object of this type, the student had obtained written 
permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with the principal or designee's 
concurrence  (Education Code 48900(b)) 
  

3. Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, otherwise furnished, or was under the influence of any 
controlled substance as defined in Health and Safety Code 11053-1105811059, alcoholic 
beverage, or intoxicant of any kind  (Education Code 48900(c)) 
  

4. Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance as defined in Health 
and Safety Code 11053-1105811059, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant of any kind, and then 
sold, delivered, or otherwise furnished to any person another liquid, substance, or material and 
represented the same as sucha controlled substance, alcoholic beverage, or 
intoxicant  (Education Code 48900(d)) 
  

5. Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion  (Education Code 48900(e)) 
  

6. Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property  (Education Code 
48900(f)) 
  

7. Stole or attempted to steal school property or private property (Education Code 48900(g)) 
  

8. Possessed or used tobacco or products containing tobacco or nicotine products, including, but not 
limited to, cigars, cigarettes, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew 
packets, and betel, except that this restriction shall not prohibit a student from using or 
possessing prescription products  (Education Code 48900(h)) 
  

9. Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity  (Education Code 
48900(i)) 
  

10. Unlawfully possessed, offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any drug paraphernalia, as defined in 
Health and Safety Code 11014.5  (Education Code 48900(j)) 
  

11. Knowingly received stolen school property or private property (Education Code 48900(l)) 
  

12. Possessed an imitation firearm  (Education Code 48900(m)) 
 



Page 3 of 22 

 
12. Imitation firearm means a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical 
properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a 
firearm.  (Education Code 48900(m)) 
  

13. Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 286, 287, 
288, 289, or former 288a, or 289, or committed a sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4 
(Education Code 48900(n)) 
  

14. Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a student who is a complaining witness or witness in a school 
disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of preventing that student from being a witness and/or 
retaliating against that student for being a witness (Education Code 48900(o)) 
  

15. Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug 
Soma  (Education Code 48900(p)) 
  

16. Engaged in, or attempted to engage in, hazing  (Education Code 48900(q)) 
 
16. Hazing means a method of initiation or pre-initiation into a student organization or 
body, whether or not the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational 
institution, which is likely to cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or disgrace 
resulting in physical or mental harm to a former, current, or prospective student. Hazing does 
not include athletic events or school-sanctioned events.  (Education Code 48900(q)) 
  

17. Engaged in an act of bullying (Education Code 48900(r)) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900(r) defines "bullying" as "any severe or pervasive physical 
or verbal act or conduct, including communications made in writing or by means of electronic 
act," which is directed toward a student and which would have serious detrimental consequences 
upon a reasonable student. Pursuant to Education Code 48900, a student may be disciplined for 
bullying by means of an electronic act even when the act originated off campus. See also AR 
5131.2 - Bullying. 
 
Bullying means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, including 
communications made in writing or by means of an electronic act, directed toward one or more 
students that has or can reasonably be predicted to have the effect of placing a reasonable 
student(s) in fear of harm to self or property; cause the student to experience a substantially 
detrimental effect on physical or mental health; or cause the student to experience substantial 
interferences with academic performance or ability to participate in or benefit from the services, 
activities, or privileges provided by a school.  (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 
CSBA NOTE: "Bullying" also would include any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or 
harassment, threat, or intimidation committed by a student at any grade level, as set forth in 
Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4, when the act results in harm to a reasonable 
student as specified in the above paragraph. 
However, when bullying is found under these circumstances, students below grade 4 may be 
disciplined for the "bullying" but not for the underlying act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or 
harassment, threat, or intimidation as specified below in the section "Additional Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4- 12." 
 
Bullying includes any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or 
intimidation, as defined in Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 and below in the section 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," that has any of the effects 
described above on a reasonable student. 

 
Bullying also includes an act of cyber sexual bullying by a student through the dissemination of, or 
the solicitation or incitement to disseminate, a photograph or other visual recording that depicts a 
nude, semi- nude, or sexually explicit photograph or other visual recording of an identifiable 



Page 4 of 22 

minor, when such dissemination is to another student or to school personnel by means of an 
electronic act and has or can be reasonably predicted to have one or more of the effects of bullying 
described above. Cyber sexual bullying does not include a depiction, portrayal, or image that has 
any serious literary, artistic, educational, political, or scientific value or that involves athletic 
events or school-sanctioned activities. 

 
17. Electronic act means the creation or transmission originated on or off the school site by 
means of an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless telephone, or other 
wireless communication device, computer, or pager, of a communication including, but not 
limited to:  (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 
a. A message, text, sound, video, or image 

  
b. A post on a social network Internet web site, including, but not limited to, posting to or 

creating a burn page or creating a credible impersonation or false profile for the purpose of 
causing a reasonable student any of the effects of bullying described above. 

 
Reasonable student means a student, including, but not limited to, a student who has been 
identified as a student with a disability, who exercises average care, skill, and judgment in 
conduct for a person of the student's age, or for a person of the student's age and 
disability.  (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 
Burn page means an internet web site created for the purpose of causing a reasonable student 
any of the effects of bullying described above. (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 
Credible impersonation means to knowingly and without consent impersonate a student for 
the purpose of bullying the student and such that the student would reasonably believe, or has 
reasonably believed, that the student was or is the student who was impersonated. 
(Education Code 48900(r)) 

 
False profile means a profile of a fictitious student or profile using the likeness or attributes 
of an actual student other than the student who created the false profile. (Education Code 
48900(r)) 

 
An electronic act is not considered pervasive conduct solely on the basis that it has been 
transmitted to the internet or is currently posted on the internet. (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900(t) allows for the suspension, but not expulsion, of 
a student who "aids or abets," as defined in Penal Code 31, the infliction or attempted 
infliction of physical injury to another person. The term "aiding or abetting," is a complex 
legal term and requires that, at the time the crime was committed, the aider or abettor was 
aware of the crime and specifically intended to commit the crime. Because of the 
complexities of criminal law, CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services 
or district legal counsel should be consulted as appropriate. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900(t), any student who aids or abets a crime of physical 
violence in which the victim suffered great bodily injury or serious bodily injury is subject 
to suspension or expulsion as provided in Item #1 above. 

 
18. Aided or abetted the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury on another person, as 

defined in Penal Code 31  (Education Code 48900(t)) 
  

19. Made terrorist threats against school officials and/or school property  (Education Code 48900.7) 
 
 

 



Page 5 of 22 

19. A terrorist threat includes any written or oral statement by a person who willfully 
threatens to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person 
or property damage in excess of $1,000, with the specific intent that the statement is to be 
taken as a threat, even if there is no intent of actually carrying it out.   the crime. (Education 
Code 48900.7) 

 
Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section applies only to students in grades 4-12 and may be revised to 
reflect grade levels offered by the district. 

 
As discussed in Item #17 of "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12" above, although 
Education Code 48900(r) defines bullying to include acts involving Items #1-3 below, Education 
Code 48900.2-48900.4 provide that only students in grades 4-12 may be suspended or expelled for 
the individual acts that constitute sexual harassment, hate violence, and harassment. Because the 
interplay between "bullying" and Items #1-3 can raise complex legal issues, districts should consult 
CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel, as 
appropriate. 

 
A student in grades 4-12 shall be subject to suspension or recommendation for expulsion when it is 
determined that the student: 
 

1. Committed sexual harassment as defined in Education Code 212.5 (Education Code 48900.2) 
 

Sexual harassment means conduct which, when considered from the perspective of a reasonable 
person of the same gender as the victim, is sufficiently severe or pervasive as to have a negative 
impact upon the victim's academic performance or to create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
educational environment. (Education Code 212.5, 48900.2) 

 
2. Caused, attempted to cause, threatened to cause, or participated in an act of hate violence as 

defined in Education Code 233 (Education Code 48900.3) 
 

Hate violence means any act punishable under Penal Code 422.6, 422.7, or 422.75. Such acts 
include injuring or intimidating a victim, interfering with the exercise of a victim's civil rights, or 
damaging a victim's property because of the victim's race, ethnicity, religion, nationality, 
disability, gender, gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation; a perception of the 
presence of any of those characteristics in the victim; or the victim's association with a person or 
group with one or more of those actual or perceived characteristics. (Education Code 233; Penal 
Code 422.55) 

 
3. Intentionally engaged in harassment, threats, or intimidation against district personnel or 

students that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to have the actual and reasonably expected 
effect of materially disrupting classwork, creating substantial disorder, and invading the rights of 
school personnel or students by creating an intimidating or hostile educational environment. 
(Education Code 48900.4) 

 
Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 9-12 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900(k), students in grades K-8 must not be 
suspended for disruption of school activities or willful defiance of school authority, and students in 
grades K-12 must not be expelled on these grounds. Since districts are authorized but not required 
to suspend students in grades 9-12 based on these grounds, the following section is for use only by 
districts that selected Option 1 in the section "Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority" in the 
accompanying Board policy. Districts that selected Option 2 in the accompanying Board policy, 
thereby prohibiting the use of these reasons for suspending students at any grade level, should 
delete the following section. 



Page 6 of 22 

 
None of the prohibitions or restrictions in Education Code 48900(k) affect a teacher's authority to 
remove a student from class for one day pursuant to Education Code 48910. See the section 
"Suspension from Class by a Teacher" below.  

 
Any student in grades 9-12 may be suspended, but not expelled, for disrupting school activities or 
otherwise willfully defying the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, other school 
officials, or other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.  (Education Code 
48900(k)) 
 
Suspension from Class by a Teacher 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. While 
Education Code 48900(k) prohibits a district from suspending students in grades K-8 for disruption 
or willful defiance, it still allows for a teacher to suspend a K-8 student on these grounds. 

 
A teacher may suspend a student from class for the remainder of the day and the following day for any of 
the acts specified in Education Code 48900 and listed as itemsItems #1-1819 under "Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12" above or for disruption or willful defiance at any grade level, 
including grades K-8.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
When suspending a student from class, the teacher shall immediately report this action to the principal or 
designee and send the student to the principal or designee for appropriate action.  If that action 
requires the continuing presence of the student at school, the student shall be appropriately supervised 
during the class periods from which the student has been suspended.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
As soon as possible after the teacher decides to suspend the student, the teacher shall ask the student's 
parent/guardian to attend a parent-teacher conference regarding the suspension.  A counselor or 
psychologist may attend the conference if it is practicable, and a school administrator shall attend if 
either the parent/guardian or teacher so requests.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
A student suspended from class shall not be returned to class during the period of the suspension without 
the approval of the teacher of the class and the principal or designee.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
A student suspended from class shall not be placed in another regular class during the period of 
suspension.  However, a student assigned to more than one class per day may continue to attend other 
regular classes except those held at the same time as the class from which the student was 
suspended.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
A teacher may also refer a student, for any of the acts specified above in Education Code 48900, to the 
principal or designee for consideration of a suspension from school. (Education Code 48910) 
 
The teacher of any class from which a student is suspended may require the student to complete any 
assignments and tests missed during the removal.  (Education Code 48913) 
 
Suspension by Superintendent, Principal or Principal’s Designee 
 
To implement disciplinary procedures at a school site, the principal may, in writing, designate as the 
principal's designee another administrator or, if the principal is the only administrator at the school site, a 
certificated employee. As necessary, the principal may, in writing, also designate another administrator or 
certificated employee as the secondary designee to assist with disciplinary procedures when the principal 
and the principal's primary designee are absent from the school site. 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee shall immediately suspend any student found at school or at a 
school activity away from school to have committed any of the acts listed in the Board policy under 
"Authority to Expel" for which a recommendation of expulsion is required.  (Education Code 
48915(c)) 



Page 7 of 22 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900.5 limits situations warranting suspension for a first offense to 
when the violation involves Education Code 48900(a)-(e) or the student's presence causes a danger to 
persons. 

 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee may impose a suspension for a first offense if it is 
determined that the student violated any of itemsItems #1-5 listed under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades K-12" above or if the student's presence causes a danger to persons.  (Education Code 
48900.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900 and 48915, except for certain egregious acts or 
offenses for which suspension is permissible or mandatory, as specified above pursuant to Education 
Code 48915(a) or (c), the Superintendent or principal is authorized to provide an alternative, age-
appropriate disciplinary measure that is tailored to correct a student's specific misbehavior. In addition, 
the U.S. Department of Justice's Civil Rights Division (DOJ) and the U.S. Department of Education's 
Office for Civil Rights (OCR), in their joint January 2014 Dear Colleague Letter on the 
Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline (which has been under review by DOJ and 
OCR since July 30, 2021), recommend that effective alternatives to suspension and expulsion be 
implemented for correcting student misbehavior. For a list of appropriate alternatives, see AR 5144 
- Discipline. 

 
For all other offenses, a student may be suspended only when the Superintendent or principal has 
determined that other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct.  (Education 
Code 48900.5) 
 
When other means of correction are implemented prior to imposing suspension orupon a student, 
including supervised suspension upon a student, the Superintendent, principal, or designee shall document 
the other means of correction used and retain the documentation in the student's record.  (Education 
Code 48900.5) 
 
Length of Suspension 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee may suspend a student from school for not more than five 
consecutive school days.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
A student may be suspended from school for not more than 20 school days in any school year.  However, 
if a student enrolls in or is transferred to another regular school, an opportunity school or class, or 
continuation school or class for the purpose of adjustment, the student may be suspended for not more 
than 30 school days in a school year.  The district may count suspensions that occur while a student is 
enrolled in another school district toward the maximum number of days for which the student may be 
suspended in any school year.  (Education Code 48903, 48911, 48912) 
 
These restrictions on the number of days of suspension shall not apply when the suspension is extended 
pending an expulsion.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
Due Process Procedures for Suspension 
 

CSBA NOTE: District disciplinary procedures are generally subject to basic constitutional due process 
requirements, such as the provision of notice and/or hearing, especially with respect to suspension, 
involuntary transfer, expulsion, or other serious disciplinary actions. However, when dealing with 
certain categories of students, additional procedures apply. For example, when considering suspension 
of a student who is a foster youth or Indian child, as defined in Welfare and Institutions Code 224.1, 
Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48911.1, and 48915.5, as amended by AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 
2022), require that the foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker 
receive specified notifications in relation to the suspension, and for an Indian child, the child's tribal 
social worker, and if applicable, county social worker. See Items #1, 3, 5, and 6 below. 

 



Page 8 of 22 

Suspensions shall be imposed in accordance with the following procedures: 
 

1. Informal Conference:  Suspension shall be preceded by an informal conference conducted by the 
Superintendent, principal, or designee with the student and, whenever practicable, the teacher, 
supervisor, or school employee who referred the student to the principal. At the conference, the 
student shall be informed of the reason for the disciplinary action, including the other means of 
correction that were attempted before the suspension as required pursuant to Education Code 
48900.5, and the evidence against the student, and shall be given the opportunity to present the 
student's version and evidence.   in the student's defense. (Education Code 48911) 

 
1. This conference may be omitted if the Superintendent, principal, or designee 
determines that an emergency situation exists involving a clear and present danger to the lives, 
safety, or health of students or school personnel. If a student is suspended without this 
conference, both the student, the student's parent/guardian, or if the student is a foster youth, 
the foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and studentcounty social worker, or if the 
student is an Indian child, the Indian child's tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social 
worker, shall be notified of the student's right to a conference and the right to return to school 
for the purpose of the conference and the. The conference shall be held within two school days, 
unless the student waives the right to it or is physically unable to attend for any reason. In such a 
case, the conference shall be held as soon as the student is physically able to return to 
school.   for the conference. (Education Code 48911) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Item #2 below should be revised to reflect the district's processing and reporting 
procedures. 
 

2. Administrative Actions:  All requests for student suspension are to be processed by the principal or 
designee. A school employee shall report the suspension, including the name of the student and 
the cause for the suspension, to the Superintendent or designee.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
3. Notice to Parents/Guardians:  At the time of the suspension, a school employee shall make a 

reasonable effort to contact the parent/guardian, or if the student is a foster youth, the foster 
youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or if the student is an 
Indian child, the Indian child's tribal social worker, and, if applicable, the county social worker, 
in person, by email, or by telephone or in person.. Whenever a student is suspended, the 
parent/guardian, or, if applicable, the foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and 
county social worker, or the Indian child's tribal social worker and, if applicable, the county social 
worker, shall also be notified in writing of the suspension.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
This notice shall state the specific offense committed by the student.  (Education Code 48900.8) 

 
2.4. In addition, the notice may state the date and time when the student may return to school. 

 
3.5. Parent/Guardian Conference:  Whenever a student is suspended, school officials may 

requestconduct a meeting with the parent/guardian to discuss the cause(s) and duration of the 
suspension, the school policy involved, and any other pertinent matter. (Education Code 48914) 
 
If school officials request to meet with the parent/guardian, the notice may state that the law 
requires the parent/guardian to respond to such requests without delay. However, no penalties may 
be imposed on the student for the failure of the parent/guardian to attend such a conference. The 
student may not be denied reinstatement solely because the parent/guardian failed to attend the 
conference.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
If school officials request to meet with the parent/guardian, a foster youth's educational rights 
holder, attorney, and county social worker, or an Indian child's tribal social worker, and, if 
applicable, the county social worker, the notice may state that the law requires such individuals 
to respond to the request without delay. 
 



Page 9 of 22 

However, the student shall not be penalized for the failure of the parent/guardian, a foster 
youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or an Indian child's tribal 
social worker, and, if applicable, the county social worker, to attend such a conference. The 
student may not be denied reinstatement solely because such individuals failed to attend the 
conference. (Education Code 48911) 

 
6. Extension of Suspension:  If the Board is considering the expulsion of a suspended student from 

any school or the suspension of a student for the balance of the semester from continuation 
school, the Superintendent or designee may, in writing, extend the suspension until such time as 
the Board has made a decision, provided the following requirements are followed:  (Education 
Code 48911) 

4.  
a. The extension of the original period of suspension is preceded by notice of such extension 

with an offer to hold a conference concerning the extension, giving the student an 
opportunity to be heard. This conference may be held in conjunction with a meeting 
requested by the student or parent/guardian to challenge the original suspension. 

 
b. The Superintendent or designee determines, following a meeting in which the student and 

the student's parent/guardian were invited to participate, that the student's presence at the 
school or at an alternative school would endanger persons or property or threaten to 
disrupt the instructional process.  (Education Code 48911) 

 
CSBA NOTE: When the student being considered for expulsion is a foster youth or Indian 
child, Education Code 48911 and 48918.1, as amended by AB 740, require the district to 
invite the foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or the 
Indian child's tribal social worker or, if applicable, the county social worker, to the meeting 
specified above. See the section below titled "Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for 
Foster Youth, Homeless Students, and Indian Children." 
 

c. If the student involved is a foster youth or Indian child, the Superintendent or designee 
shall notify the district district's educational liaison for foster youth of the need to invite 
the student's attorney and a representative of the appropriate county child welfare 
agencyfoster youth's educational rights holder, attorney and county social worker, or the 
Indian child's tribal social worker or, if applicable, the county social worker, to attend the 
meeting.  (Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48918.1) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district's liaison for homeless 
students must be notified when the student being considered for expulsion is a homeless 
student. See the section below titled "Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster 
Youth and Homeless Students." 
c.  

d. If the student involved is a homeless child or youth, the Superintendent or designee shall notify 
the district liaison for homeless students.  (Education Code 48918.1) 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Since Education Code 48900 and 48900.5 require a district, under certain circumstances, to 
use alternative disciplinary measures prior to imposing suspension, including supervised 
suspension, the district may, as necessary, provide services that would address the student's 
specific misbehavior along with the suspension program. For example, the district may 
require the student to enroll in a program that teaches prosocial behavior or anger 
management even while the student is suspended. 
 

e. In lieu of or in addition to suspending a student, the Superintendent, principal, or designee 
may provide services or require the student to participate in an alternative disciplinary 
program designed to correct the behavior and keep the student in school. 
 
 

 



Page 10 of 22 

Suspension by the Board 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to suspend students 
from school pursuant to Education Code 48912. In practice, it is impractical for boards to directly 
exercise this authority since circumstances warranting suspension usually require quick and sometimes 
immediate action which may not be possible for a board due to legal requirements for taking board 
actions, such as having a meeting. 

 
The Board may suspend a student for any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades K- 12," "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," and 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 9-12" above and within the limits specified 
under "Suspension by Superintendent, Principal, or Designee" above.  (Education Code 48912) 
 
The Board may suspend a student enrolled in a continuation school or class for a period not longer 
than the remainder of the semester. The suspension shall meet the requirements of Education Code 
48915.  (Education Code 48912.5) 
 
When the Board is considering a suspension, disciplinary action, or any other action (except expulsion) 
against any student, it shall hold a closed session if a public hearing would lead to disclosure of 
information that would violate a student's right to privacy under Education Code 49073-
49079.  (Education Code 35146, 48912) 
 
The Board shall provide the student and parent/guardian with written notice of the closed session by 
registered or certified mail or personal service. Upon receiving this notice, the student or 
parent/guardian may request a public meeting, and this request shall be granted if made in writing 
within 48 hours after receipt of the Board's notice.  
 
However, any discussion that conflicts with any other student's right to privacy still shall be held in closed 
session.  (Education Code 35146, 48912) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by any district establishing an on-campus 
suspension program pursuant to Education Code 48911.1. However, pursuant to Education Code 
48900.5, such a district is required to use other means of correcting a student's behavior before 
imposing a supervised suspension, unless such a supervised suspension is otherwise permitted by law 
for a student's first offense. Use of a supervised suspension classroom program does not in any way 
limit the district's ability to transfer a student to an opportunity school or class or a continuation 
education school or class in accordance with law. 

 
A student for whom an expulsion action has not been initiated and who poses no imminent danger or 
threat to the school, students, or staff may be assigned to on-campus suspension in a separate classroom, 
building, or site for the entire period of suspension. The following conditions shall apply:  (Education 
Code 48911.1) 
 

1. The on-campus suspension classroom shall be staffed in accordance with law. 
  

2. The student shall have access to appropriate counseling services. 
  

3. The on-campus suspension classroom shall promote completion of schoolwork and tests missed by 
the student during the suspension. 
  

4. The student shall be responsible for contacting the student's teacher(s) to receive assignments to be 
completed in the supervised suspension classroom. The teacher(s) shall provide all assignments 
and tests that the student will miss while suspended. If no such work is assigned, the person 
supervising the suspension classroom shall assign schoolwork. 

 



Page 11 of 22 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48911.1, as amended by AB 740, requires notification to a foster youth's 
educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, and an Indian child's tribal social worker 
and, if applicable, county social worker, of a student's assignment to an on-campus suspension classroom. 

 
At the time a student is assigned to an on-campus suspension classroom, the principal or designee shall 
notify the student's parent/guardian, or if the student is a foster youth, the foster youth's educational 
rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the student if an Indian child, the Indian child's 
tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, in person, by email, or by telephone. When 
the assignment is for longer than one class period, this notification mayshall be made in 
writing.  (Education Code 48911.1) 
 
Superintendent or Principal’s Authority to Recommend Expulsion 
 
Unless the Superintendent or principal determines that expulsion should not be recommended under 
the circumstances or that an alternative means of correction would address the conduct, the 
Superintendent or principal shall recommend a student's expulsion for any of the following 
acts:  (Education Code 48915) 
 

1. Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense 
  

2. Possession of any knife or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the student 
  

3. Unlawful possession of any controlled substance as listed in Health and Safety Code 11053-
1105811059, except for (a) the: 
 

3.a.  The first offense for the possession of not more than one ounce of marijuana, other than 
concentrated cannabis, or (b) the student's possession of over-the-counter medication or 
other medication prescribed by a physician 
  

b. The student's possession of over-the-counter medication for use by the student for medical 
purposes 
 

c. Medication prescribed for the student by a physician 
 

4. Robbery or extortion 
  

5. Assault or battery, as defined in Penal Code 240 and 242, upon any school employee 
 
In determining whether or not to recommend the expulsion of a student, the Superintendent, principal, or 
designee shall act as quickly as possible to ensure that the student does not lose instructional 
time.  (Education Code 48915) 
 
Student’s Right to Expulsion Hearing 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board establish rules and regulations 
governing procedures for the expulsion of students. The timelines of Education Code 48918 must be 
strictly followed; failure to do so may result in loss of the district's power to act (Garcia v. Los 
Angeles Board of Education). In calculating timelines, the district should also be aware of the 
difference between the calculation of "school days" and "calendar days" under Education Code 
48918. 

 
Any student recommended for expulsion shall be entitled to a hearing to determine whether the 
student should be expelled. The hearing shall be held within 30 school days after the Superintendent, 
principal, or designee determines that the student has committed the act(s) that form the basis for the 
expulsion recommendation.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 



Page 12 of 22 

 
The student is entitled to at least one postponement of an expulsion hearing for a period of not more 
than 30 calendar days. The request for postponement shall be in writing. Any subsequent postponement 
may be granted at the Board's discretion.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
If the Board finds it impractical during the regular school year to comply with these time requirements 
for conducting an expulsion hearing, the Superintendent or designee may, for good cause, extend the 
time period by an additional five school days. Reasons for the extension shall be included as a part of 
the record when the expulsion hearing is held.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
If the Board finds it impractical to comply with the time requirements of the expulsion hearing due to 
a summer recess of Board meetings of more than two weeks, the days during the recess shall not be 
counted as school days. The days not counted during the recess may not exceed 20 school days, as 
defined in Education Code 48925. Unless the student requests in writing that the expulsion hearing be 
postponed, the hearing shall be held not later than 20 calendar days prior to the first day of the next 
school year.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
Once the hearing starts, all matters shall be pursued with reasonable diligence and concluded without 
unnecessary delay.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
Stipulated Expulsion 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
"Stipulated expulsion" is for districts that have adopted an expedited procedure which allows a 
student to waive the right to a pre- expulsion hearing in exchange for an agreement as to the terms of 
the expulsion. Such waivers are not specifically addressed in law and districts should ensure that the 
due process rights of students are included in the stipulated agreement and are clearly explained to 
them before the agreement is signed. Districts should consult with CSBA's District and County Office 
of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel as appropriate. 

 
After a determination that a student has committed an expellable offense for which the student may be 
expelled, the Superintendent, principal, or designee shall offer the student and , the student's 
parent/guardian, or, when applicable, other person holding the right to make educational decisions for 
the student, the option to waive a hearing and stipulate to the expulsion or to a suspension of the 
expulsion under certain conditions.  The offer shall be made only after the student or parent/guardian has 
been given written notice of the expulsion hearing pursuant to Education Code 48918. has been given. 
 
The stipulation agreement shall be in writing and shall be signed by the student and parent/guardian.  , 
the student's parent/guardian, or, when applicable, the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student. The stipulation agreement shall include notice of all the rights that the 
student is waiving, including the waiving of the right to have a full hearing, to appeal the expulsion to 
the County Board of Education, and to consult legal counsel. 
 
A stipulated expulsion agreed to by the student and , the student's parent/guardian, or, when applicable, 
the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, shall be effective upon 
approval by the Board. 
 
Rights of Complaining Witness 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918.5 mandates the following rights related to the treatment of 
witnesses alleging acts of sexual assault or sexual battery. Other procedures related to complaining 
witnesses also may be added as desired by the district. Additional mandated procedures related to the 
rights and treatment of complaining witnesses are included where appropriate throughout this 
regulation. 

 
An expulsion hearing involving allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery may be postponed for one 
school day in order to accommodate the special physical, mental, or emotional needs of a student who is 
the complaining witness.  (Education Code 48918.5) 



Page 13 of 22 

 
Whenever the Superintendent or designee recommends an expulsion hearing that addresses allegations of 
sexual assault or sexual battery, the Superintendent or designee shall give the complaining witness a copy 
of the district's suspension and expulsion policy and regulation and shall advise the witness of the right 
to:  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 

1. Receive five days' notice of the scheduled testimony at the hearing 
  

2. Have up to two adult support persons present at the hearing at the time the witness testifies 
  

3. Have a closed hearing during the time the witness testifies 
 
Whenever any allegation of sexual assault or sexual battery is made, the Superintendent or designee shall 
immediately advise complaining witnesses and accused students to refrain from personal or telephone 
contact with each other during the time when an expulsion process is pending.  (Education Code 
48918.5) 
 
Written Notice of the Expulsion Hearing 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates the Board to adopt procedures that include the 
following items.  

 
Written notice of the expulsion hearing shall be forwarded to the student and the student's 
parent/guardian at least 10 calendar days before the date of the hearing. The notice shall include: 
(Education Code 48900.8, 48918(b)) 
 

1. The date and place of the hearing 
 

2. A statement of the specific facts, charges, and offense upon which the proposed expulsion is based 
 

3. A copy of district disciplinary rules which relate to the alleged violation 
 

4. Notification of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation, pursuant to Education Code 
48915.1, to provide information about the student's status in the district to any other district in 
which the student seeks enrollment 
 
This obligation applies when a student is expelled for acts other than those described in Education 
Code 48915(a) or (c). 
 

5. The opportunity for the student or the student's parent/guardian to appear in person or be 
represented by legal counsel or by a nonattorney adviser 
 
Legal counsel means an attorney or lawyer who is admitted to the practice of law in California and 
is an active member of the State Bar of California. 
 
Nonattorney adviser means an individual who is not an attorney or lawyer, but who is familiar 
with the facts of the case and has been selected by the student or student's parent/guardian to 
provide assistance at the hearing. 
 

6. The right to inspect and obtain copies of all documents to be used at the hearing 
 

7. The opportunity to confront and question all witnesses who testify at the hearing 
 

8. The opportunity to question all evidence presented and to present oral and documentary evidence 
on the student's behalf, including witnesses 

 



Page 14 of 22 

Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth, Homeless Students, and Indian Children 
 

CSBA NOTE: Prior to conducting an expulsion hearing to determine whether a foster youth or Indian 
child should be expelled, Education Code 48918.1, as amended by AB 740, requires the district to 
notify the foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or an Indian 
child's tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, provided that the violation does not 
require a mandatory recommendation for expulsion. Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, such 
additional notice must be given to the district liaison for homeless students when the student involved is 
a homeless child or youth and the violation does not require a mandatory recommendation for 
expulsion. While such a notice is not required if the offense requires a mandatory recommendation for 
expulsion, it is nonetheless recommended and the following section reflects this recommendation. 

 
If the student facing expulsion is a foster student or Indian child, the Superintendent or designee shall also 
send notice of the hearing to the student's attorney and a representative of an appropriate child welfare 
agencyfoster youth's' educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or the Indian 
child's tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, at least 10 calendar days prior to 
the hearing.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
If the student facing expulsion is a homeless student, the Superintendent or designee shall also send notice 
of the hearing to the district liaison for homeless students at least 10 calendar days prior to the 
hearing.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
Any notice for these purposes may be provided by the most cost-effective method possible, including by 
email or a telephone call.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
Conduct of Expulsion Hearing 

 
1. Closed Session: Notwithstanding Education Code 35145, the Board shall conduct a hearing to 

consider the expulsion of the student in a session closed to the public unless the student requests 
in writing at least five days prior to the hearing that the hearing be a public meeting. If such a 
request is made, the meeting shall be public to the extent that privacy rights of other students 
are not violated.  (Education Code 48918) 
 
CSBA NOTE: For the purpose of Board deliberations during the closed session described below, 
the presence of any person other than the Board members, including the Superintendent, 
necessitates allowing the presence of the parent/guardian, student, and student's counsel. 
 

2. Whether the expulsion hearing is held in closed or public session, the Board may meet in closed 
session to deliberate and determine whether or not the student should be expelled. If the Board 
admits any other person to this closed session, the parent/guardian, the student, and the counsel of 
the student also shall be allowed to attend the closed session.  (Education Code 48918(c)) 
 
If a hearing that involves a charge of sexual assault or sexual battery is to be conducted in public, a 
complaining witness shall have the right to testify in closed session when testifying in public 
would threaten serious psychological harm to the witness and when there are no alternative 
procedures to avoid the threatened harm, including, but not limited to, a videotaped deposition 
or contemporaneous examination in another place communicated to the hearing room by 
closed-circuit television.  (Education Code 48918(c)) 

1.  

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the following 
items. 

 
Instead of the Board conducting an expulsion hearing, it may appoint a hearing officer or an impartial 
administrative 

 



Page 15 of 22 

3. Record of Hearing: A record of the hearing shall be made and may be maintained by any means, 
including electronic recording, as long as a reasonably accurate and complete written transcription 
of the proceedings can be made.  (Education Code 48918(g)) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 authorizes the Board to issue subpoenas for the personal 
appearance of percipient witnesses at an expulsion hearing. In Woodbury v. Dempsey, the court 
held that a district's authority to determine whether to issue subpoenas is discretionary, but a 
district could not have a blanket policy denying the issuance of subpoenas in all cases. 

 
In accordance with Code of Civil Procedure 1987, the subpoena must be served at least 10 days 
before the time required for attendance unless the court prescribes a shorter time. Unless they are 
parties to the hearing or are district or government employees, witnesses who appear pursuant to 
a subpoena receive fees equal to those prescribed for witnesses in civil actions in a superior 
court, and all witnesses other than the parties to the hearing receive mileage; these fees and 
mileage must be paid by the party requesting the subpoena. 
2.  

4. Subpoenas: Before commencing a student expulsion hearing, the Board may issue subpoenas, at 
the request of either the student or the Superintendent or designee, for the personal appearance at 
the hearing of any person who actually witnessed the action that gave rise to the 
recommendation for expulsion. After the hearing has commenced, the Board or the hearing 
officer or administrative panel may issue such subpoenas at the request of the student or the 
County Superintendent of Schools or designee. All subpoenas shall be issued in accordance 
with Code of Civil Procedure 1985-1985.2 and enforced in accordance with Government Code 
11455.20.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 
 
Any objection raised by the student or the Superintendent or designee to the issuance of subpoenas 
may be considered by the Board in closed session, or in open session if so requested by the 
student, before the meeting. The Board's decision in response to such an objection shall be final 
and binding.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 
 
If the Board determines, or if the hearing officer or administrative panel finds and submits to the 
Board, that a witness would be subject to unreasonable risk of harm by testifying at the hearing, 
a subpoena shall not be issued to compel the personal attendance of that witness at the hearing. 
However, that witness may be compelled to testify by means of a sworn declaration as 
described in item #4Item #6 below.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 

3.  
5. Presentation of Evidence: Technical rules of evidence shall not apply to the expulsion hearing, but 

relevant evidence may be admitted and used as proof only if it is the kind of evidence on which 
reasonable persons can rely in the conduct of serious affairs.  The decision of the Board to expel 
shall be supported by substantial evidence that the student committed any of the acts pursuant to 
Education Code 48900 and listed in "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12," 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," and "Additional Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 9-12" above.  (Education Code 48918(h)) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Findings of fact made by the Board or a hearing panel must not be based on 
hearsay alone. "Hearsay" is evidence of an oral or written statement made by a person who is not 
present at the hearing which is offered to establish a fact as being true. Some exceptions to the 
hearsay rule exist under the Evidence Code and Education Code; the district should consult 
CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel as 
appropriate. 
 

6. Findings of fact shall be based solely on the evidence at the hearing. Although no finding shall be 
based solely on hearsay, sworn declarations may be admitted as testimony from witnesses 
whose disclosure of their identity or testimony at the hearing may subject them to an 
unreasonable risk of physical or psychological harm.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 
 
 

 



Page 16 of 22 

4. In cases where a search of a student's person or property has occurred, evidence 
describing the reasonableness of the search shall be included in the hearing record. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918.6 provides that testimony by a student witness at an 
expulsion hearing is privileged and thus protected from liability for defamation pursuant to 
Civil Code 47(b). 
 

5.7. Testimony by Complaining Witnesses: The following procedures shall be observed when a hearing 
involves allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery by a student:  (Education Code 48918, 
48918.5) 

 
a. Any complaining witness shall be given five days' notice before being called to testify. 

 
b. Any complaining witness shall be entitled to have up to two adult support persons, 

including, but not limited to, a parent/guardian or legal counsel, present during the 
testimony. 

 
c. Before a complaining witness testifies, support persons shall be admonished that the hearing 

is confidential. 
 

d. The person presiding over the hearing may remove a support person who is disrupting the 
hearing. 

 
e. If one or both support persons are also witnesses, the hearing shall be conducted in 

accordance with Penal Code 868.5. 
e.  

f. Evidence of specific instances of prior sexual conduct of a complaining witness shall be 
presumed inadmissible and shall not be heard unless the person conducting the hearing 
determines that extraordinary circumstances require the evidence to be heard. Before such a 
determination is made, the complaining witness shall be given notice and an opportunity 
to oppose the introduction of this evidence. In the hearing on the admissibility of this 
evidence, the complaining witness shall be entitled to be represented by a parent/guardian, 
legal counsel, or other support person. Reputation or opinion evidence regarding the 
sexual behavior of a complaining witness shall not be admissible for any purpose. 

 
g. In order to facilitate a free and accurate statement of the experiences of the complaining 

witness and to prevent discouragement of complaints, the district shall provide a 
nonthreatening environment. 

 
i. The district shall provide a room separate from the hearing room for the use of the 

complaining witness before and during breaks in testimony. 
 

ii. At the discretion of the person conducting the hearing, the complaining witness 
shall be allowed reasonable periods of relief from examination and cross-examination 
during which the complaining witness may leave the hearing room. 

 
iii. The person conducting the hearing may: 

 
A. Arrange the seating within the hearing room so as to facilitate a less intimidating 

environment for the complaining witness 
 

B. Limit the time for taking the testimony of a complaining witness to normal 
school hours, if there is no good cause to take the testimony during other 
hours 

 



Page 17 of 22 

C. Permit one of the support persons to accompany the complaining witness to the 
witness stand 

C.  
6.8. Decision: The Board's decision as to whether to expel a student shall be made within 40 school 

days after the student is removed from school, unless the student requests in writing that the 
decision be postponed.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 

 
Alternative Expulsion Hearing:  Hearing Officer or Administrative Panel 
 

CSBA NOTE: For districts that use a hearing officer or administrative panel, Education Code 48918 
mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the following section. 

 
Instead of conducting an expulsion hearing itself, the Board may contract with the county hearing 
officer or with the Office of Administrative Hearings of the State of California for a hearing officer. 
The Board may also appoint an impartial administrative panel composed of three or more certificated 
personnel, none of whom shall be members of the Board or on the staff of the school in which the 
student is enrolled.  (Education Code 48918) 
 
A hearing conducted by the hearing officer or administrative panel shall conform to the same 
procedures applicable to a hearing conducted by the Board as specified above in "Conduct of Expulsion 
Hearing," including the requirement to issue a decision within 40 school days of the student's removal 
from school, unless the student requests that the decision be postponed.  (Education Code 48918(a) 
and (d)) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48918, if the hearing officer or administrative panel does 
not recommend expulsion, a student must be permitted to return to the classroom instructional 
program from which the expulsion referral was made, unless the student's parent/guardian requests a 
different placement. Education Code 48918 also states that a student who is found to have committed 
any of the violations listed in "Authority to Expel" in the accompanying Board policy but for whom 
expulsion is not recommended may be referred to the student's prior school, or another district 
comprehensive or continuation school. However, the hearing officer or administrative panel, like the 
Board, must recommend expulsion or a suspended expulsion under Education Code 48915, if it finds 
that a student committed any such violation that mandates expulsion. District should consult CSBA's 
District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel to resolve this 
apparent discrepancy. 

 
The hearing officer or administrative panel shall, within three school days after the hearing, determine 
whether to recommend expulsion of the student to the Board. If expulsion is not recommended, the 
expulsion proceeding shall be terminated and the student shall be immediately reinstated and permitted 
to return to the classroom instructional program from which the referral was made, unless another 
placement is requested in writing by the student's parent/guardian.  Before the student's placement 
decision is made by the student's parent/guardian, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with the 
parent/guardian and district staff, including the student's teachers, regarding other placement options for 
the student in addition to the option to return to the classroom instructional program from which the 
student's expulsion referral was made. The decision to not recommend expulsion shall be 
final.  (Education Code 48918(e)) 
 
If expulsion is recommended, findings of fact in support of the recommendation shall be prepared and 
submitted to the Board. All findings of fact and recommendations shall be based solely on the evidence 
presented at the hearing. The Board may accept the recommendation based either upon a review of the 
findings of fact and recommendations submitted or upon the results of any supplementary hearing the 
Board may order.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 
 
In accordance with Board policy, the hearing officer or administrative panel may recommend that the 
Board suspend the enforcement of the expulsion. If the hearing officer or administrative panel 
recommends that the Board expel a student but suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the student 
shall not be reinstated and permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from which the 
referral was made until the Board has ruled on the recommendation.  (Education Code 48917, 48918) 



Page 18 of 22 

 
Final Action by the Board 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the 
following paragraph. 

 
Whether the expulsion hearing is conducted in closed or open session by the Board, a hearing officer, 
or an administrative panel or is waived through the signing of a stipulated expulsion agreement, the final 
action to expel shall be taken by the Board in public.  (Education Code 48918(j)) 
 
The Board's decision is final. If the decision is to not expel, the student shall be reinstated immediately.  If 
the decision is to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the student shall be reinstated under the 
conditions of the suspended expulsion. 
 

CSBA NOTE: 20 USC 7961 requires the district, in the consolidated application for federal funding, to 
provide an assurance that it will comply with the state requirement to expel, for a period not less than one 
year, any student who brings a firearm to school or possesses a firearm at school. 

 
Upon ordering an expulsion, the Board shall set a date when the student shall be reviewed for 
readmission to a school within the district. For a student expelled for any "mandatory recommendation 
and mandatory expulsion" act listed in the section "Authority to Expel" in the accompanying Board 
policy, this date shall be one year from the date the expulsion occurred, except that the Board may set an 
earlier date on a case-by-case basis.  For a student expelled for other acts, this date shall be no later than 
the last day of the semester following the semester in which the expulsion occurred. If an expulsion is 
ordered during summer session or the intersession period of a year-round program, the Board shall set a 
date when the student shall be reviewed for readmission not later than the last day of the semester 
following the summer session or intersession period in which the expulsion occurred.  (Education Code 
48916) 
 
At the time of the expulsion order, the Board shall recommend a plan for the student's rehabilitation, 
which may include:  (Education Code 48916) 
 

1. Periodic review, as well as assessment at the time of review, for readmission 
1.  

2. Recommendations for improved academic performance, tutoring, special education assessments, 
job training, counseling, employment, community service, or other rehabilitative programs 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 48916.5 authorizes, but does not 
mandate, the Board to make the following requirement of certain expelled students. 

 
With parent/guardian consent, students who have been expelled for reasons relating to controlled 
substances or alcohol may be required to enroll in a county-sponsored drug rehabilitation program 
before returning to school.  (Education Code 48916.5) 
 
Written Notice to Expel 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of the decision to expel to the student or 
parent/guardian.  This notice shall include the following: 
 

1. The specific offense committed by the student for any of the causes for suspension or expulsion 
listed above under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-12," "Additional Grounds 
for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," or "Additional Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades 9-12"  (Education Code 48900.8) 

 
2. The fact that a description of readmission procedures will be made available to the student and 

parent/guardian  (Education Code 48916) 
 



Page 19 of 22 

3. Notice of the right to appeal the expulsion to the County Board  (Education Code 48918) 
 

4. Notice of the alternative educational placement to be provided to the student during the time of 
expulsion  (Education Code 48918) 

 
5. Notice of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to inform any new district in which the 

student seeks to enroll of the student's status with the expelling district, pursuant to Education 
Code 48915.1  (Education Code 48918) 

 
Decision to Suspend Expulsion Order 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48917, the Board's criteria for suspending the enforcement 
of expulsions must be applied uniformly to all students. Items #1-3 below are optional and should be 
revised to reflect district criteria. 

 
In accordance with Board policy, when deciding whether to suspend the enforcement of an expulsion 
order, the Board shall take into account the following criteria: 
 

1. The student's pattern of behavior 
 

2. The seriousness of the misconduct 
 

3. The student's attitude toward the misconduct and willingness to follow a rehabilitation program 
 
The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion shall be governed by the following: 

1. The Board may, as a condition of the suspension of enforcement, assign the student to a school, 
class, or program appropriate for the student's rehabilitation. This rehabilitation program may 
provide for the involvement of the student's parent/guardian in the student's education. However, 
a parent/guardian's refusal to participate in the rehabilitation program shall not be considered in 
the Board's determination as to whether the student has satisfactorily completed the 
rehabilitation program.  (Education Code 48917) 

1.  
2. During the period when enforcement of the expulsion order is suspended, the student shall be on 

probationary status.  (Education Code 48917) 
 

3. The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order may be revoked by the Board if the 
student commits any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades K-
12," "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 4-12," or "Additional Grounds 
for Suspension and Expulsion:  Grades 9-12" above or violates any of the district's rules and 
regulations governing student conduct.  (Education Code 48917) 

3.  
4. When the suspension of enforcement of an expulsion order is revoked, a student may be expelled 

under the terms of the original expulsion order.  (Education Code 48917) 
4.  

5. Upon satisfactory completion of the rehabilitation assignment, the Board shall reinstate the student 
in a district school.  Upon reinstatement, the Board may order the expunging of any or all 
records of the expulsion proceedings.  (Education Code 48917) 

5.  
6. The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of any decision to suspend the 

enforcement of an expulsion order during a period of probation to the student or 
parent/guardian. The notice shall inform the parent/guardian of the right to appeal the 
expulsion to the County Board, the alternative educational placement to be provided to the 
student during the period of expulsion, and the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to 
inform any new district in which the student seeks to enroll of the student's status with the 
expelling district, pursuant to Education Code 48915.1(b).  (Education Code 48918(j)) 



Page 20 of 22 

6.  
7. Suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order shall not affect the time period and 

requirements for the filing of an appeal of the expulsion order with the County 
Board.  (Education Code 48917) 

 
Appeal 
 
If a student is expelled from school, the student or parent/guardian is entitled to file an appeal of the 
Board's decision with the County Board.  The appeal must be filed within 30 days of the Board's decision 
to expel, even if the expulsion order is suspended and the student is placed on probation.  (Education 
Code 48919) 
 
If the student submits a written request for a copy of the written transcripts and supporting documents 
from the district simultaneously with the filing of the notice of appeal with the County Board, the 
district shall provide the student with these documents within 10 school days following the student's 
written request.  (Education Code 48919) 
 
Notification to Law Enforcement Authorities 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48902 requires the principal or designee to notify law enforcement 
authorities when a student possesses a firearm or explosive or sells or furnishes a firearm at school. 
However, when the student involved in such a case is a student with a disability, Education Code 
49076 requires any law enforcement authority to which student information is disclosed to certify 
that those records will not be disclosed to another party without the prior written consent of the 
student's parent/guardian or other person invested with the student's educational right; see AR 
5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities). 

 
When submitting the consolidated application for federal funding, the district must provide 
assurance that it has adopted a policy requiring referral to the criminal justice system or juvenile 
delinquency system of any student who brings a firearm or weapon to a school. The following section 
fulfills this requirement. 

 
Prior to the suspension or expulsion of any student, the principal or designee shall notify appropriate city 
or county law enforcement authorities of any student acts of assault which may have violated Penal 
Code 245.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
The principal or designee shall notify appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities of any 
student acts which may involve the possession or sale of narcotics or of a controlled substance, or of 
any student acts involving the possession, sale, or furnishing of firearms, explosives, or other dangerous 
weapons in violation of Education Code 48915(c)(1) or (5) or Penal Code 626.9 and 
626.10.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
Within one school day after a student's suspension or expulsion, the principal or designee shall notify 
appropriate county or district law enforcement authorities, by telephone or other appropriate means, 
of any student acts which may violate Education Code 48900(c) or (d), relating to the possession, use, 
offering, or sale of controlled substances, alcohol, or intoxicants of any kind. (Education Code 48902) 
 
Placement During Expulsion 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48915 requires the Board to refer all expelled students to a program 
of study that is prepared to accommodate students with discipline problems and that is not located at 
the school the student currently attends or at any regular elementary, middle, junior, or senior high 
school. However, students expelled for the acts described in Education Code 48900(f) through (m) or 
Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 may be referred to a program of study that is at 
another elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school if the County Superintendent of Schools 
certifies that an alternative program is not available at a site away from such a school. 

 
Education Code 48915.01 states that if the Board has established a community day school pursuant to 



Page 21 of 22 

Education Code 48661 on the same site as an elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school, expelled 
students may be referred to the community day school at that site. Although Education Code 48663 
prohibits the use of independent study in community day schools, Education Code 48916.1 does not 
in any way restrict the district from offering independent study as a voluntary alternative placement 
option for expelled students. 

 
The Board shall refer expelled students to a program of study that is: (Education Code 48915, 48915.01) 
 

1. Appropriately prepared to accommodate students who exhibit discipline problems 
 

2. Not provided at a comprehensive middle, junior, or senior high school or at any elementary 
school, unless the program is offered at a community day school established at any of these 

2.  
3. Not housed at the school site attended by the student at the time of suspension 

 
When the placement described above is not available and when the County Superintendent so certifies, 
students expelled for only acts described in itemsItems #6-12 under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades K-12" and itemsItems #1-3 under "Additional Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion:  Grades 4-12" above may be referred to a program of study that is provided at another 
comprehensive middle, junior, or senior high school or at an elementary school.  (Education Code 
48915) 
 
The program for a student expelled from any of grades K-6 shall not be combined or merged with 
programs offered to students in any of grades 7-12.  (Education Code 48916.1) 
 
Readmission After Expulsion 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48916 mandates that the Board adopt rules and regulations establishing 
a procedure for filing and processing requests for readmission and a process for Board review of all 
expelled students for readmission. The following section is consistent with the intent of AB 740 to 
afford protections specific to foster youth and Indian children. Items #1-2 below should be revised 
to reflect district practice. 

 
Prior to the date set by the Board for the student's readmission: 
 

1. The Superintendent or designee shall hold a conference with the student's parent/guardian, or 
other person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, and the student. 
At the conference, the student's rehabilitation plan shall be reviewed and the Superintendent or 
designee shall verify that the provisions of this plan have been met.  School regulations shall be 
reviewed and the student and the student's parent/guardian or other person holding the right to 
make educational decisions for the student shall be asked to indicate in writing their willingness 
to comply with these regulations. 

1.  
2. The Superintendent or designee shall transmit to the Board a recommendation regarding 

readmission. The Board shall consider this recommendation in closed session. If a written request 
for open session is received from the student's parent/guardian or other person holding the right 
to make educational decisions for the student, or adult student, it shall be honored to the extent 
that privacy rights of other students are not violated. 

 
3. If the readmission is granted, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student and the 

student's parent/guardian, or other person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student, by registered mail, of the Board's decision regarding readmission. 

3.  
4. The Board may deny readmission only if it finds that the student has not satisfied the 

conditions of the rehabilitation plan or that the student continues to pose a danger to campus 
safety or to other district students or employees.  (Education Code 48916) 



Page 22 of 22 

 
5. If the Board denies the readmission of a student, the Board shall determine either to continue the 

student's placement in the alternative educational program initially selected or to place the student 
in another program that serves expelled students, including placement in a county community 
school. 

 
6. The Board shall provide written notice to the expelled student and the student's 

parent/guardian, or other person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, 
describing the reasons for denying readmittance into the regular program. This notice shall 
indicate the Board's determination of the educational program which the Board has chosen. The 
student shall enroll in that program unless the parent/guardian chooses to enroll the student in 
another school district.  (Education Code 48916) 

 
No student shall be denied readmission into the district based solely on the student's arrest, 
adjudication by a juvenile court, formal or informal supervision by a probation officer, detention in a 
juvenile facility, enrollment in a juvenile court school, or other such contact with the juvenile justice 
system.  (Education Code 48645.5) 
 
Maintenance of Records 
 
The district shall maintain a record of each suspension and expulsion, including its specific 
cause(s).  (Education Code 48900.8) 
 
Expulsion records of any student shall be maintained in the student's mandatory interim record and sent to 
any school in which the student subsequently enrolls upon written request by that school.  (Education 
Code 48918(k)) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48915.1 requires that, when an expelled student asks to enroll in another 
district, the receiving district must hold a hearing to determine whether the student poses a danger to 
its students or staff. The receiving district then may either deny or permit the enrollment. Upon 
request from another district, the expelling district must provide information about the expulsion 
within five days. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall, within five working days, honor any other district's request for 
information about an expulsion from this district.  (Education Code 48915.1) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007   
revised: August 9, 2011  
revised: June 12, 2012 
revised: April 9, 2013 
revised: June 18,2014 
revised: March 10, 2015 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: November 13, 2018 
revised: June 23, 2020 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 7 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Students 
Regulation 5144.2: Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With Disabilities) 

 

 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35291 requires the Governing Board to prescribe rules and regulations 
for maintaining discipline in the schools under its jurisdiction. While many of the required rules and 
regulations are in BP/AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process, the following 
administrative regulation addresses special procedures required when disciplining students who have 
been identified for special education and related services. This administrative regulation reflects the 
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (20 USC 1400- 1482), implementing 
federal regulations (34 CFR 300.1-300.818), and conforming state legislation. Note that in cases 
where state law provides greater protections to students, state law supersedes federal law. 

 
The U.S. Department of Education's, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (OSERS), 
"Positive, Proactive Approaches to Supporting Children with Disabilities: A Guide for Stakeholders," 
recommends that districts identify ways to significantly reduce the use of exclusionary discipline, 
and its disproportionate effect on students with disabilities. See BP 6120 - Response to Instruction 
and Intervention and BP/AR 6164.5 - Student Success Teams. 

 
Neither state nor federal law requires that these procedures apply to students identified under 
Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 794). However, the U.S. Department 
of Education's, Office for Civil Rights, "Fact Sheet: Supporting Students with Disabilities and 
Avoiding the Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline Under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 
of 1973," provides that, for a student with a disability under Section 504, schools are required to 
conduct a manifestation determination before implementing a disciplinary removal that will 
significantly change the placement of the student due to discipline for (1) removal from class or 
school for more than 10 consecutive school days, or (2) a series of removals from class or school that 
together total more than 10 school days in a school year and constitute a pattern of removal. Districts 
that wish to apply all IDEA procedures to Section 504 students should modify the following 
regulation accordingly. 

 
Due to the complexity of the issue, districts should proceed carefully when suspending or expelling 
students with disabilities, and consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services 
or district legal counsel as appropriate. 

 
A student identified as an individual with a disability pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act (IDEA), 20 USC 1400-1482, is subject to the same grounds and procedures for suspension 
and expulsion which apply to students without disabilities, except as otherwise specified in this 
administrative regulation. 
 
Suspension or expulsion of a student with disabilities shall be in accordance with Board Policy 5144.1 - 
Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process and this administrative regulation. 
 
When a student with disabilities exhibits behavior which impedes the student's own learning or that of 
others, the student's individualized education program (IEP) team shall consider positive behavioral 
interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address the behavior. (Education Code 56521.2; 20 
USC 1414) 
 
Suspension 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 1415(k)(1), 34 CFR 300.530, and a 1988 U.S. Supreme Court 
decision (Honig v. Doe), districts receiving funds under the IDEA may suspend a student with a 
disability for no more than 10 consecutive school days, as long as the removal does not constitute a 
change in placement pursuant to 34 CFR 
300.536. Education Code 48903 specifies that a student may not be suspended for more than 20 
cumulative school days in a school year. 

 



Page 2 of 7 

 

The Analysis of Comments to the federal regulations, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46715, explains that 
whether a bus suspension or "in-school suspension" would count as a day of suspension affecting the 
cumulative total depends on the unique circumstances of each case, such as whether bus transportation 
is part of the student's individualized education program (IEP). An "in-school suspension" or 
"supervised suspension classroom" as authorized by Education Code 48911.1 would not count towards 
the 10 consecutive or 20 cumulative school day limit as long as the student is afforded the opportunity 
to continue to appropriately participate in the general curriculum, receive the services specified in 
the student's IEP, and participate with nondisabled students to the extent the student would have in 
the current placement. The district should be careful that such actions do not constitute a change of 
placement and carefully monitor such suspensions. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may suspend a student with a disability for up to 10 consecutive school 
days for a single incident of misconduct, and for up to 20 cumulative school days in a school year, as 
long as the pattern of suspension(s) does not constitute a change in placement pursuant to 34 CFR 
300.536. (Education Code 48903; 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
The principal or designee shall monitor the number of days, including portions of days, in which a student 
with a valid individualized education program (IEP) has been suspended during the school year. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall determine, on a case-by-case basis, whether a pattern of removals of 
a student from his/herthe student's current educational placement for disciplinary reasons constitutes a 
change of placement. A change of placement shall be deemed to have occurred under either of the 
following circumstances: (34 CFR 300.536) 
 

1. The removal is for more than 10 consecutive school days. 
 

2. The student has been subjected to a series of removals that constitute a pattern because of all of the 
following: 

 
a. The series of removals total more than 10 school days in a school year. 

 
b. The student's behavior is substantially similar to his/herthe student's behavior in previous 

incidents that resulted in the series of removals. 
 

c. Additional factors, such as the length of each removal, the total amount of time the student 
has been removed, and the proximity of the removals to one another, indicate a change of 
placement. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 1412(a)(1)(A) and 34 CFR 300.530, a "free appropriate public 
education" (FAPE) must be available to all students, including any student with a disability who has 
been suspended for more than 10 school days in the same school year. The Analysis of Comments to 
the federal regulations, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46716, clarifies that the district is not required to provide 
a student who has been suspended for more than 10 school days in a school year for disciplinary 
reasons exactly the same services in exactly the same setting as the student was receiving prior to the 
imposition of discipline. However, the special education and related services the student does receive 
must enable the student to continue to participate in the general curriculum and to progress toward 
meeting the goals set out in the student's IEP. The Analysis of Comments, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46717, 
clarifies that services need not be provided when a student is removed for 10 school days or less, as 
long as the district does not provide services to nondisabled students removed for the same amount of 
time. 

 
If a student's removal is determined to be a change of placement as specified in itemsItems #1-2 above, or 
the student is suspended for more than 10 school days in the same school year, the  
the student's IEP team shall determine the appropriate educational services. Such services shall be 
designed to enable the student to continue to participate in the general education curriculum in another 
setting, to progress toward meeting the goals set out in his/herthe student's IEP, and to address the 
student's behavior violation so that it does not recur. (20 USC 1412(a)(1)(A); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
 



Page 3 of 7 

 

If the IEP of a student with a disability requires the district to provide the student with transportation, 
the district shall provide the student with an alternative form of transportation at no cost to 
him/herthe student or to his/herthe student's parent/guardian when he/she is to be, as a result of a 
suspension, the student is excluded from school bus transportation. (Education Code 48915.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 
 
The principal or designee shall monitor the number of days, including portions of days, in which a student 
with an IEP has been suspended during the school year. 
 
Interim Alternative Educational Placement Due to Dangerous Behavior 
 

CSBA NOTE: 20 USC 1415(k) and 34 CFR 300.530 permit an interim alternative placement for 45 
school days when a student with a disability, while on school grounds, while going to or coming 
from school, or at a school function, either (1) carries or possesses a weapon, (2) knowingly possesses 
or uses illegal drugs or sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance, or (3) inflicts serious bodily 
injury upon another person. "Serious bodily injury" is defined in 18 USC 1365 as bodily injury which 
involves a substantial risk of death, extreme physical pain, protracted and obvious disfigurement, or 
protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member, organ, or mental faculty. This 
alternative placement decision may be made unilaterally by the district. 

 
The term "weapon," as used below, refers to a "dangerous weapon" as defined in 18 USC 930 and 
includes any device which is capable of causing death or serious bodily injury. The term does not 
include a pocket knife with a blade of less than 2 1/2 inches in length. 

 
The district may unilaterally place a student with a disability in an appropriate interim alternative 
educational setting for up to 45 school days, without regard to whether the behavior is a manifestation 
of the student's disability, when the student commits one of the following acts while at school, going to 
or from school, or at a school-related function: (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(G); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 

1. Carries or possesses a weapon, as defined in 18 USC 930 
 

2. Knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs 
 

3. Sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance as identified in 21 USC 812(c), Schedules I-V 
 

4. Inflicts serious bodily injury upon another person as defined in 18 USC 1365 
 

 
The student's interim alternative educational setting shall be determined by his/herthe student's IEP team. 
(20 USC 1415(k)() (1)(G); 34 CFR 300.531) 
 

CSBA NOTE: For requirements of the procedural safeguards notice, see AR 6159.1 - Procedural 
Safeguards and Complaints for Special Education. 

 
On the date the decision to take disciplinary action is made, the student's parent/guardian shall be 
notified of the decision and provided the procedural safeguards notice pursuant to 34 CFR 300.504. (20 
USC 1415(k)(1)(H); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
A student who has been removed from his/herthe student's current placement because of dangerous 
behavior shall receive services, although in another setting, to the extent necessary to allow him/herthe 
student to participate in the general education curriculum and to progress toward meeting the goals set 
out in his/herthe IEP. As appropriate, the student shall also receive a functional behavioral assessment 
and behavioral intervention services and modifications that are designed to address the behavior 
violation so that it does not recur. (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(D); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
 
 
 



Page 4 of 7 

 

Manifestation Determination 
 

CSBA NOTE: A student with a disability who is also a foster youth or Indian child is afforded 
additional due process safeguards. Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5 and 48915.1, as amended by 
AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county 
social worker, and an Indian child's tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, have 
the same rights as a parent/guardian to receive a suspension notice, expulsion notice, manifestation 
determination notice and invitation to the manifestation determination meeting, involuntary transfer 
notice, and other documents and related information, as reflected in Items #1 and 2 below. See AR 
5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process and BP/AR 6184 - Continuation Education. 

 
The following procedural safeguards shall apply when a student with a disability is suspended for more 
than 10 consecutive school days, when a series of removals of a student constitutes a pattern, or when a 
change of placement of a student is contemplated due to a violation of the district's code of conduct: 
 

1. Notice: On the date the decision to take disciplinary action is made, the student's 
parent/guardian shall be notified of the decision and provided the procedural safeguards notice 
pursuant to 34 CFR 300.504. (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(H); 34 CFR 300.530) 
If the student is a foster youth, the notice shall be given to the student's educational rights 
holder, attorney, and county social worker, and, if the student is an Indian child, the student's 
tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker. (Education Code 48853.5; 20 USC 
1415(k)(1)(H); 34 CFR 300.530) 

1.  
2. Manifestation Determination Review: Immediately if possible, but in no case later than 10 

school days after the date the decision to take disciplinary action is made, a manifestation 
determination review shall be made of the relationship between the student's disability and the 
behavior subject to the disciplinary action. (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(E); 34 CFR 300.530) 

 
If the student is a foster youth or Indian child, the foster youth's educational rights holder, 
attorney, or county social worker, or the Indian child's tribal social worker and, if applicable, county 
social worker, shall be invited to participate in the manifestation determination review. 
(Education Code 48915.5) 

 
At the manifestation determination review, the district, the student's parent/guardian, and 
relevant members of the IEP team (as determined by the district and parent/guardian) shall 
review all relevant information in the student's file, including the student's IEP, any teacher 
observations, and any relevant information provided by the parents/guardians, to determine 
whether the conduct in question was either of the following: (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(E); 34 CFR 
300.530) 

 
a. Caused by or had a direct and substantial relationship to the student's disability 

 
b. A direct result of the district's failure to implement the student's IEP, in which case the district shall 

take immediate steps to remedy those deficiencies 
 

If the manifestation review team determines that either of the above conditions applies, the student's 
conduct shall then be determined to be a manifestation of his/herthe student's disability. (20 USC 
1415(k)(1)(E); 34 CFR 300.530) 

 
3. Determination that Behavior is a Manifestation of the Student's Disability: When the student's conduct has 

been determined to be a manifestation of his/herthe student's disability, the IEP team shall conduct a 
functional behavioral assessment, unless one had been conducted before the occurrence of the behavior that 
resulted in the change of placement, and shall implement a behavioral intervention plan for the student. If a 
behavioral intervention plan has already been developed, the IEP team shall review the behavioral 
intervention plan and modify it as necessary to address the behavior. (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(F); 34 CFR 
300.530) 

 
The student shall be returned to the placement from which he/shethe student was removed, unless the 
parent/guardian and Superintendent or designee agree to a change of placement as part of the modification of 
the behavioral intervention plan. (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(F); 34 CFR 300.530) 



Page 5 of 7 

 

 
4. Determination that Behavior is Not a Manifestation of the Student's Disability: When it has been determined 

that the student's conduct was not a manifestation of his/herthe disability, the student may be disciplined in 
accordance with the procedures for students without disabilities. However, the student's IEP team shall 
determine services necessary to enable him/herthe student to participate in the general education curriculum 
in another setting and to allow him/herthe student to progress toward meeting the goals set out in his/herthe 
IEP. (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(D); 34 CFR 300.530) 

 
As appropriate, the student also shall receive a functional behavioral assessment and behavioral intervention 
services and modifications that are designed to address the behavior violation so that it does not recur. (20 
USC 1415(k)(1)(D); 34 CFR 300.530) 

 
Due Process Appeals 
 

CSBA NOTE: As specified below, 34 CFR 300.532 provides that either the district or the parent/guardian may 
appeal a placement decision by filing a due process complaint pursuant to 34 CFR 300.507 and 300.508. For details 
regarding the due process complaint, see BP/AR 6159.1 - Procedural Safeguards and Complaints for Special 
Education. In addition, the district may file a request that the hearing officer order a change of placement to an 
interim alternative setting for up to 45 days when the hearing officer determines that maintaining the current 
placement is substantially likely to result in injury to the student or others. 

 
The Analysis of Comments to the federal regulations, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46723, clarifies that the burden of 
proof in due process hearings is on the party that is responsible for the issue going forward to the due process 
hearing officer, consistent with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Schaffer v. Weast. Thus, if the district has 
requested that a hearing officer remove a student to an interim alternative educational setting, the burden of 
persuasion at the hearing is on the district. 

 
 
If the parent/guardian disagrees with any district decision regarding placement under 34 CFR 300.530 
(suspension and removal for dangerous circumstances) or), 34 CFR 300.531 (interim alternative placement), 
or the manifestation determination under 34 CFR 300.530(e), he/shethe parent/guardian may appeal the decision 
by requesting a hearing. The district may request a hearing if the district believes that maintaining the student's 
current placement is substantially likely to result in injury to the student or others. In order to request a due 
process hearing, the requesting party shall file a complaint pursuant to 34 CFR 300.507 and 300.508(a) and (b). 
(20 USC 1415(k)(3); 34 CFR 300.532) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 34 CFR 300.532, this due process hearing is the same as the impartial due 
process hearing held for other special education matters, except that the law specifies expedited 
timelines. For other due process hearing requirements, see BP/AR 6159.1 - Procedural Safeguards and 
Complaints for Special Education. 

 
Whenever a hearing is requested as specified above, the parent/guardian or the district shall have an 
opportunity for an expedited due process hearing consistent with requirements specified in 34 CFR 300.507, 
300.508 (a)-(c), and 300.510-300.514. 
 
If the student's parent/guardian or the district has initiated a due process hearing under 34 CFR 300.532 as 
detailed above, the student shall remain in the interim alternative educational setting pending the decision of 
the hearing officer or until the expiration of the 45-day time period, whichever occurs first, unless the 
parent/guardian and district agree otherwise. (20 USC 1415(k)(4); 34 CFR 300.533) 
 
Readmission 
 
 
 
 
Readmission procedures for students with disabilities shall be the same as those adopted for students 
without disabilities. Upon readmission of a student with disabilities, an IEP team meeting shall be 
convened to review and, as necessary, modify the student's IEP. 
 
 
 
Decision Not to Enforce Expulsion Order 

with disabilities; however, districts have an ongoing obligation to make FAPE available to students with disabilities. 
CSBA NOTE: There is no state or federal law that requires special procedures for readmission of expelled students 



Page 6 of 7 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: For district criteria applicable to all students when the Board is considering whether 
to suspend the enforcement of an expulsion order, see BP 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due 
Process. The district should consult CSBA's District and County Office of Education Legal Services or 
district legal counsel when considering the suspension of an expulsion order involving a special 
education student. 

 
The Governing Board's criteria for suspending the enforcement of an expulsion order shall be applied to 
students with disabilities in the same manner as they are applied to all other students. (Education Code 
48917) 
 
Notification to Law Enforcement Authorities 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 1415(k)(6) and 34 CFR 300.535, the district is authorized to 
report crimes by students with disabilities to law enforcement in accordance with state law. 
Education Code 48902 provides procedures for these required notifications and Education Code 
49076, requires any law enforcement authority to which information regarding a student with 
disabilities is disclosed to certify that those records will not be disclosed to another party without the 
prior written consent of the student's parent/guardian or other person invested with the student's 
educational right. See also AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process and BP 5131.7 - 
Weapons and Dangerous Instruments. 

 
Law enforcement notification requirements involving students with disabilities shall be the same as those 
specified for all students in AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. 
 
When giving any required notification concerning a student with disabilities to any law enforcement 
official, the principal or designee shall require the law enforcement official to certify in writing that 
he/she will not disclose the student's information or records will not be disclosed to any other person 
without the prior written consent of the student's parent/guardian. (Education Code 49076) 
 
Report to County Superintendent of Schools 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48203 requires the Superintendent to report to the County 
Superintendent of Schools when any special education student has been expelled or suspended for 
more than 10 school days. Education Code 48203 specifies that it is the duty of the County 
Superintendent to examine the reports and, if any case exists in which the interest of the student or 
welfare of the state may need further examination, bring the reports to the attention of the Board 
and the County Board of Education. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall report to the County Superintendent of Schools when any special 
education student has been expelled or suspended for more than 10 school days. The report shall include 
the student's name, last known address, and the reason for the action. (Education Code 48203) 
 
Procedures for Students Not Yet Eligible for Special Education Services 
 
A student who has not been determined to be eligible for special education and related services and who 
has violated the district's code of student conduct may nevertheless assert any of the protections under 
IDEA, if the district had knowledge of the student's disability. (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534) 
 
Knowledge means that, before the occurrence of the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action, one 
of the following occurred: (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534) 
 

1. The parent/guardian, in writing, has expressed concern to district supervisory or administrative 
personnel, or to a teacher of the student, that the student is in need of special education or 
related services. 
 

 
2. The parent/guardian has requested an evaluation of the student for special education pursuant to 

20 USC 1414(a)(1)(B) or 34 CFR 300.300-300.311. 
 



Page 7 of 7 

 

 
3. The teacher of the student or other district personnel has expressed specific concerns directly to 

the district's director of special education or other supervisory district personnel about a pattern of 
behavior demonstrated by the student. 

 
However, the district shall not be deemed to have knowledge of a student's disability if the student's 
parent/guardian has not allowed him/herthe student to be evaluated for special education services or has 
refused services or, after evaluating the student pursuant to 34 CFR 300.300-300.311, the district 
determined that he/shethe student was not an individual with a disability. (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 
CFR 300.534) 
 
When the district is deemed to not have knowledge of a student's disability, the student shall be 
disciplined in accordance with procedures established for students without disabilities who engage in 
comparable behavior. (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534) 
 
If a request is made for an evaluation of a student during the time period in which the student is 
subject to disciplinary measures pursuant to 34 CFR 300.530, the evaluation shall be conducted in an 
expedited manner. Until the evaluation is completed, the student shall remain in the educational 
placement determined by school authorities. (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 12, 2012 
revised: ??, 2023 





Page 1 of 6 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6146.1: High School Graduation Requirements 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain grades 9-12. 

 
The Governing Board desires to prepare all students to successfully complete the high school course of 
study and obtain a diploma that represents their educational achievement and increases their opportunities 
for postsecondary education and employment. 
 
District students shall complete graduation course requirements as specified in Education Code 51225.3 
and those adopted by the Board, except for students who are. Unless exempted as provided in 
"Exemptions from District-Adopted Graduation Requirements," belowdistrict students shall also 
complete other course requirements adopted by the Board. Students who are exempted from district-
adopted graduation requirements shall be eligible to participate in any graduation ceremony and 
school activity related to graduation in which other students are eligible to participate. 
 
Course Requirements 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 specifies the courses that a student is required to complete in 
order to graduate from high school as listed in Items #1-7 below. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 66204, each district that maintains a high school is required to develop a 
process for submitting courses to the University of California (UC) to review and certify that they align 
with the "A-G" course requirements for college admission. 

 
To obtain a high school diploma, students shall complete the following courses in grades 9-12, with each 
course being one year unless otherwise specified:  
 

1. Four courses in English (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

2. Three courses in mathematics (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

Students shall complete at least one mathematics course that meets the state academic content 
standards for Algebra I or Mathematics I. Students may complete such coursework prior to 
grade 9 provided that they also complete two mathematics courses in grades 9-12. (Education 
Code 51224.5) 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that require more than two mathematics 
courses for high school graduation. Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3 and 51225.35, a district 
that requires more than two courses in mathematics may award up to one mathematics course 
credit for an approved computer science course. Any such course must have been approved by UC 
as a "category C" (mathematics) course in the university's "A-G" course admission criteria; see 
BP 6143 - Courses of Study. 
 

3. Successful completion of an approved computer science course that is classified as a "category C" 
course based on the University of California (UC) and California State University (CSU) "A-G" 
admission requirements shall be counted toward the satisfaction of additional graduation 
requirements in mathematics. (Education Code 51225.3, 51225.35) 

 
4. Two courses in science, including biological and physical sciences (Education Code 51225.3) 

 
5. Three courses in social studies, including United States (U.S.) history and geography; world 

history, culture, and geography; a one-semester course in American government and civics; and a 
one-semester course in economics (Education Code 51223)51225.3) 



Page 2 of 6 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 185 (Ch. 571, Statutes of 
2022), the option to authorize the completion of a course in career technical education (CTE) 
in lieu of the visual or performing arts or world language course requirement for high school 
graduation, which authority was deleted by AB 101 (Ch. 661, Statutes of 2021), has been 
restored until July 1, 2027. 
 

6. One course in visual or performing arts, world language, or career technical education (CTE). For 
purposes of this requirement, a course in American Sign Language shall be deemed a course in 
world language.  (Education Code 51225.3) 
 
To be counted towards meeting graduation requirements, a CTE course shall be aligned to the 
CTE model curriculum standards and framework adopted by the State Board of 
Education.  (Education Code 51225.3) 

 
7. Two courses in physical education, unless the student has been otherwise exempted pursuant to 

other sections of the Education Code (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, beginning with the 2029-30 school year, a 
student is required to complete a one-semester course in ethnic studies, as specified, in order to 
graduate from high school. At its discretion, a district may require a full-year course. Districts that 
require a full-year course should revise Item #7 accordingly. 
 

3.8. Beginning with the 2029-30 school year, a one-semester course in ethnic studies (Education 
Code 51225.3) 

 
4.9.  

Completion, in grade 12 or academic equivalent, one senior project, the requirements of which 
are determined and outlined by the high school faculty and administration, to include a research 
paper, project activity and formal presentation. 
 
The unit requirements for Loyalton High School and Downieville High School are 30 units less 
than a full schedule taken every year for four years. Units may change based on number of total 
courses available to take in a given year (i.e. 8-period, 7-period, etc): 

 
Class of 2019 – 1 year 7 periods, 3 years 8 periods                                           300 Credits 
Class of 2020 – 2 years 7 periods, 2 years 8 periods                                         290 Credits 
Class of 2021 – 3 years 7 periods, 1 year 8 periods                                           275 Credits 
Class of 2022 – 4 years 7 periods                                                                       260 Credits 
Class of 2023 – 1 year 7; 1 year 8 +Flex; 1 year 8; 1 year 7 +Flex                    280 Credits 
Class of 2024 – 1 year 8 +Flex; 1 year 8; 2 years 7 +Flex                                 285 Credits 
Class of 2025 – 1 year 8; 3 years 7 +Flex                                                          275 Credits 
Class of 2026 – 4 years 7 periods +Flex                                                            270 Credits 
 
All district schools on an 8-period day shall remain at 300 Credits. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 requires the Board to adopt alternative means for students to 
complete the prescribed course of study. See BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward 
Graduation. 

 
Because the prescribed course of study may not accommodate the needs of some students, the Board shall 
provide alternative means for the completion of prescribed courses in accordance with law. 
 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 6 

 

Exemptions from District-Adopted Graduation Requirements 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.31, as added by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), 
districts are required to exempt an eligible student with disabilities from all coursework and other 
requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to the statewide course requirements specified 
in Education Code 51225.3, and award such student a high school diploma, as reflected below. 
Awarding a diploma pursuant to this exception does not change the district's obligation to provide a 
free appropriate public education or otherwise constitute a change in placement. 

 
Prior to the beginning of grade 10, the individualized education program (IEP) team for each student with 
disabilities shall determine whether the student is eligible for exemption from all coursework and 
other requirements adopted by the Board in addition to the statewide course requirements for high 
school graduation, and if so, shall notify the student's parent/guardian of the exemption. A student 
with disabilities shall be eligible for the exemption, if the student's IEP provides for both of the 
following requirements: (Education Code 51225.31) 
 

1. That the student take the alternate assessment aligned to alternate achievement standards in grade 
11 as described in Education Code 60640 
 

2. That the student complete state standards aligned coursework to meet the statewide coursework 
specified in Education Code 51225.3 

 
newcomer program (i.e., a program designed to meet the academic and transitional needs of newly 
arrived immigrant students that has as a primary objective the development of English language 
proficiency). This exemption does not apply if the Superintendent or designee makes a finding that the 
student is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate by the end of the fourth 
year of high school. Also see AR 6173 - Education for Homeless Children, AR 6173.1 - Education 
for Foster Youth, AR 6173.2 - Education of Children of Military Families, AR 6173.3 - Education 
for Juvenile Court School Students, and AR 6175 - Migrant Education Program. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, within 30 calendar days of the transfer into a school by a 
foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a 
military family, migrant student, or newly arrived immigrant student, or of the commencement of 
participation in a newcomer program, as applicable, the district is required to notify any eligible 
student and/or the student's parent/guardian, the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, the district's liaison for homeless children, and the student's social worker 
or probation officer, as applicable, of the availability of the exemption from local graduation 
requirements and whether the student qualifies for it. If the district fails to provide that notification, 
the student will be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if the notification is received after 
the termination of the court's jurisdiction over the foster youth or former juvenile court school 
student, after the student experiencing homelessness ceases to be homeless, or after the student no 
longer meets the definition of a child of a military family, a migrant student, or a student 
participating in a newcomer program, as applicable. 

 
Education Code 51225.1 also provides that, if an exempted student completes the statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the fourth year of high school, the district or a district 
school must not require or request that the student graduate before the end of the fourth year of high 
school. 

 
Any complaint alleging the district's failure to comply with the requirements of Education Code 
51225.1 may be filed using the district's uniform complaint procedures pursuant to 5 CCR 4600-
4670. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 
 

 

 



Page 4 of 6 

 

In addition, a foster youth, homeless student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school 
student, child of a military family, or migrant student who transfers into the district or between 
district schools any time after completing the second year of high school, or a newly arrived 
immigrant student who is in the third or fourth year of high school and is participating in a newcomer 
program, shall be exempted from any graduation requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition 
to statewide course requirements. This exemption shall not apply if the Superintendent or designee 
makes a finding that the student is reasonably able to complete the additional requirements in time to 
graduate by the end of the fourth year of high school. 
 
Within 30 days of the transfer into a school by a foster youth, homeless student experiencing 
homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a 
newly arrived immigrant student, or of the commencement of participation in a newcomer program, as 
applicable, the Superintendent or designee shall notify any eligible student, and others as required by 
law, of the availability of the exemption from local graduation requirements and whether the student 
qualifies for it. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, the district may not require or request a foster 
youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a military 
family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant student participating in a newcomer program 
who is exempted from district-established graduation requirements and completes statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the student's fourth year of high school to graduate early, 
as described below. 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall not require or request a foster youth, student experiencing 
homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a 
newly arrived immigrant student participating in a newcomer program who is exempted from district-
established graduation requirements and who completes the statewide coursework requirements 
before the end of the fourth year of high school, and would otherwise be entitled to remain in school, 
to graduate before the end of the student's fourth year of high school. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 2022), requires 
the district to exempt a foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school 
student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant student participating 
in a newcomer program who qualifies for an exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements, under the circumstances described below. 
 

If a foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a 
military family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant student participating in a newcomer 
program was not properly notified of an exemption, declined the exemption, or was not previously 
exempted, the student or the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student may 
request the exemption and the Superintendent or designee shall exempt the student within 30 days of 
the request. Any such student who at one time qualified for the exemption may request the exemption 
even if the student is no longer eligible. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, districts are required to 
annually report to the California Department of Education regarding the number of students who, for 
the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from the district-established graduation 
requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements, as specified below. 

 
Annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the California Department of Education, in 
accordance with Education Code 51225.1, the number of student's graduating from the fourth or fifth 
year of high school who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from district-
established graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements. 
 
Retroactive Diplomas 
 
Any student who completed grade 12 in the 2003-04 through 2014-15 school year and met all applicable 
graduation requirements other than the passage of the high school exit examination shall be granted a 
high school diploma. (Education Code 51413) 
 



Page 5 of 6 

 

CSBA NOTE: Items #1-4 below are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
In addition, the district may retroactively grant high school diplomas to former students who: (Education 
Code 48204.4, 51430, 51440) 

 
1. Departed California against their will while in grade 12 and did not receive a diploma because the 

departure interrupted their education, provided that they were in good academic standing at the 
time of the departure 

 
Persons may be considered to have departed California against their will if they were in 
custody of a government agency and were transferred to another state, were subject to a lawful 
order from a court or government agency that authorized their removal from California, were 
subject to a lawful order and were permitted to depart California before being removed from 
California pursuant to the lawful order, were removed or were permitted to depart voluntarily 
pursuant to the federal Immigration and Nationality Act, or departed due to other 
circumstances determined by the district that are consistent with the purposes of Education 
Code 48204.4. 

 
In determining whether to award a diploma under these circumstances, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consider any coursework that may have been completed outside of the U.S. or 
through online or virtual courses. 

 
2. Were interned by order of the federal government during World War II or are honorably 

discharged veterans of World War II, the Korean War, or the Vietnam War, provided that they 
were enrolled in a district high school immediately preceding the internment or military service 
and did not receive a diploma because their education was interrupted due to the internment or 
military service in those wars 

 
Deceased former students who satisfy these conditions may be granted a retroactive diploma to be 
received by their next of kin. 

 
3. Are veterans who entered the military service of the U.S. while in grade 12 and who had 

satisfactorily completed the first half of the work required for grade 12 in a district school 
 

4. Were in their senior year of high school during the 2019-20 school year, were in good academic 
standing and on track to graduate at the end of the 2019-20 school year as of March 1, 2020, and 
were unable to complete the statewide graduation requirements as a result of the COVID-19 
crisis 

 
Honorary Diplomas 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to confer honorary high 
school diplomas pursuant to Education Code 51225.5 and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The Board may grant an honorary high school diploma to: (Education Code 51225.5) 
 

1. An international exchange student who has not completed the course of study ordinarily 
required for graduation and who is returning to the student's home country following the 
completion of one academic school year in the district 
 

2. A student who is terminally ill 
 

The honorary diploma shall be clearly distinguishable from the regular diploma of graduation awarded by 
the district. (Education Code 51225.5) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 



Page 6 of 6 

 

revised: September 14, 2010 
revised: April 12, 2011 
revised: May 8, 2012 
revised: April 8, 2014 
revised: February 9, 2016 
revised: February 14, 2017 
revised: February 13, 2018 
revised: September 11, 2018 
revised: March 12, 2019 
revised: June 11, 2019 
revised: April 13, 2021 
revised: December 13, 2021 
revised: September 13, 2022 
revised: November 08, 2022 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 4 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6173: Education For Homeless Children 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following policy reflects the intent of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance 
Act (42 USC 11431-11435) that each student experiencing homelessness should have equal access to 
the same free, appropriate public education and services as other students. 42 USC 11432 mandates that 
districts adopt, review, and revise policies to remove barriers to the identification, enrollment, and 
retention of homeless children and youth, ensure that students experiencing homelessness are not 
segregated or stigmatized on the basis of their status as homeless, and provide for professional 
development for appropriate staff, as provided in the following policy and regulation. In addition, 42 
USC 11432 requires that, in reviewing and revising applicable policies, consideration be given to 
issues concerning transportation, immunization, residency, birth certificates, school records and other 
documentation, and guardianship. 

 
Education Code 48851.3, as added by AB 408 (Ch. 904, Statutes of 2022), mandates that districts 
establish homeless education program policies that are consistent with the provisions of Education Code 
48850-48859, and using resources developed by the California Department of Education (CDE), 
available on its web site, and those developed by homeless education technical assistance centers. 
Pursuant to Education Code 48851.3, as added by AB 408, districts are required to update their 
homeless education program policies at least once every three years. 

 
Education Code 48852.3, added by AB 408, requires CDE to develop and implement a plan for 
monitoring the compliance of districts, including school site inspections, to ensure that the state is not 
underestimating the number of youth experiencing homelessness. 

 
The Governing Board believes that the identification of homeless students experiencing homelessness 
is critical to improving the educational outcomes of such students and ensuring that homeless students 
experiencing homelessness have access to the same free and appropriate public education provided to 
other students within the district. The district shall provide homeless students experiencing 
homelessness with access to education and other services necessary for such students to meet the same 
challenging academic standards as other students. 
 
When there are at least 15 homeless students experiencing homelessness in the district or a district school, 
the district's local control and accountability plan (LCAP) shall include goals and specific actions to 
improve student achievement and other outcomes of homeless students.   experiencing homelessness. 
(Education Code 52052, 52060, 52064) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is mandated pursuant to Education Code 48851.3 and 42 USC 
11432. 42 USC 11432 requires that districts adopt policy to remove barriers to enrollment and 
retention of students experiencing homelessness due to absences or outstanding fees or fines. See the 
accompanying administrative regulation for additional procedures designed to remove barriers to the 
identification and enrollment of students experiencing homelessness. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall regularly review district policies at least once every three years and 
recommend updates to district policies to ensure removal of any barriers to the education of homeless 
students and unaccompanied youth. Any such review shall address identification, enrollment, and 
retention of such students, including those barriers that are due to absences or outstanding fees or 
fines.  ( (Education Code 48851.3, 42 USC 11432) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 42 USC 11432, districts are required to designate an appropriate staff person, 
who may also be a coordinator for other federal programs, as a district liaison for homeless students. See 
the accompanying administrative regulation for information about the designation and duties of the 
district liaison. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall designate an appropriate staff person to serve as a liaison for 
homeless children and youths. The district liaison for homeless students shall fulfill the duties specified in 
42 USC 11432 to assist in identifying and supporting homeless students experiencing homelessness to 



Page 2 of 4 

 

succeed in school., and as specified in Education Code 48851.3 related to trainings for district staff 
providing assistance to students experiencing homelessness. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48851, as amended by AB 2375 (Ch. 912, Statutes of 2022), requires 
the district to ensure that each school within the district identifies all students experiencing 
homelessness and unaccompanied youths enrolled at the school and to annually provide and administer 
a housing questionnaire to parents/guardians of all students and all unaccompanied youths for purposes 
of identifying students experiencing homelessness and unaccompanied youths. The housing 
questionnaire must be based on best practices developed by CDE, include an explanation of the rights 
and protections a student has as a homeless child or youth or as an unaccompanied youth, and be made 
available in paper form. A sample housing questionnaire is available on CDE's web site. 
 
Education Code 48851, as amended by AB 2375, requires districts to collect the completed housing 
questionnaires described above, and annually report to CDE the number of students experiencing 
homelessness and unaccompanied youths enrolled in the district. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each district school identifies all homeless children and 
youthsstudents experiencing homelessness and unaccompanied youths enrolled at the school.  (Education 
Code 48851) 
 
To ensure easy identification of homeless students experiencing homelessness, the Superintendent or 
designee shall annually provide and administer a housing questionnaire developed by the California 
Department of Education (CDE) to all parents/guardians of students and all unaccompanied 
youths.  (Education Code 48851) 
 
If the primary language of a student’sstudent's parent/guardian or an unaccompanied youth is not 
English, either the housing questionnaire shall be made available in the primary language of the 
student’sstudent's parent/guardian or the unaccompanied youth pursuant to Education Code 48985, or an 
appropriate translation of the housing questionnaire shall be provided upon request of a 
student’sstudent's parent/guardian or an unaccompanied youth.  (Education Code 48851) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall report to CDE the number of students experiencing homelessness, 
including unaccompanied youths, enrolled in the district as identified from the housing questionnaire 
described above. (Education Code 48851) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.6 requires districts to create a web page or post on its web site 
(1) a list of district liaisons and contact information for such liaison(s) and (2) specific information on 
homelessness, including, but not limited to, information regarding the educational rights and 
resources available to persons experiencing homelessness. Additionally, Education Code 48852.6 
requires a district school, if it has a web site, to post the contact information for the district liaison, as 
well as the name and contact information of any employee or person under contract the school may 
have who assists the district liaison in completing the liaison's duties. See the accompanying 
administrative regulation for more information regarding posting requirements. 

 
In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the district liaison's contact information and 
other information on homelessness, including, but not limited to, information regarding the 
educational rights and resources available to persons experiencing homelessness, are posted on the 
district and school web sites as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation.  (Education 
Code 48852.6) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48850 and 42 USC 11432, placement determinations for 
students experiencing homelessness must be made according to the student's "best interest," as defined 
by law and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that placement decisions for homeless students experiencing 
homelessness are based on the student's best interest as defined in law and administrative regulation. 
 
Each homeless student experiencing homelessness shall be provided services that are comparable to 
services offered to other students in the school, including, but not limited to, transportation, 



Page 3 of 4 

 

educational programs for which the student meets the eligibility criteria (such as federal Title I services 
or similar state or local programs, programs for students with disabilities, and educational programs for 
English learners), career and technical education programs, programs for gifted and talented students, 
and school nutrition programs.  ((Education Code 48850; 42 USC 11432) 
 
Homeless 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is mandated by 42 USC 11432. Although segregation of 
students experiencing homelessness into a separate school or program is prohibited, separate schools 
that were in operation before 2001 may continue to operate under specified conditions. Districts that 
maintain such a school may revise the following paragraph to reflect district practice. 

 
Students experiencing homelessness shall not be segregated into a separate school or program based on 
their status as homeless and shall not be stigmatized in any way.  However, the Superintendent or 
designee may separate homeless students experiencing homelessness on school grounds as necessary for 
short periods of time for health and safety emergencies or to provide temporary, special, and 
supplementary services to meet thetheir unique needs of homeless students.  . (42 USC 11432, 11433) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that information and/or materials for homeless students 
experiencing homelessness are provided in a manner and form understandable to the student's 
parents/guardians of homeless students and to unaccompanied youths. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Although students' addresses generally may be designated as "directory information" 
that is not harmful if disclosed, 42 USC 11432 provides that information about the living situation of a 
student experiencing homelessness must instead be provided the protections afforded to other student 
records under the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act. For further information about the 
disclosure of records of students experiencing homelessness, see the U.S. Department of Education's 
(USDOE), "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance." 
 
Information about a homeless student's the living situation of a student experiencing homelessness shall 
be considered part of a student's educational record, subject to the Family Educational Rights and Privacy 
Act, shall not be deemed to be directory information as defined in 20 USC 1232g, and shall not be 
released without written consent.  (42 USC 11432) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 42 USC 11432, districts receiving assistance through the McKinney-Vento 
Homeless Assistance Act are required to coordinate services as provided below. Other districts may 
delete or revise the following paragraph to reflect district practice. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall coordinate with other agencies and entities to ensure that 
homeless children and youthstudents experiencing homelessness are promptly identified, ensure that 
homeless students experiencing homelessness have access to and are in reasonable proximity to available 
education and related support services, and raise the awareness of school personnel and service providers 
of the effects of short-term stays in a shelter and other challenges associated with homelessness. Toward 
these ends, the Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with local social services agencies, other 
agencies or entities providing services to homeless children and youthstudents experiencing 
homelessness, and, if applicable, transitional housing facilities. In addition, the Superintendent or 
designee shall coordinate transportation, transfer of school records, and other interdistrict activities with 
other local educational agencies. As necessary, the Superintendent or designee shall coordinate, within 
the district and with other involved local educational agencies, services for homeless students 
experiencing homelessness and services for students with disabilities.  (42 USC 11432) 
 

CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 mandates that districts adopt policies and practices to ensure participation 
by district liaisons and other appropriate staff in professional development and other technical 
assistance activities, as determined appropriate by the federal Office of the Coordinator. 

 
Education Code 48852.5 requires CDE to provide specified informational and training materials to 
district liaisons, including informational materials on the educational rights of students experiencing 
homelessness and resources available to assist students experiencing homelessness. Education Code 
48852.5 also requires CDE to develop and implement a system to verify that districts are providing the 
required training to school personnel providing services to students experiencing homelessness at 



Page 4 of 4 

 

least annually. 
 

Pursuant to Education Code 48851.3, as added by AB 408, the liaison for homeless students is 
required to offer annual training to district employees providing services to students experiencing 
homelessness and to inform such employees of the availability of training and the services the liaison 
provides. While Education Code 48851.3 requires annual training for employees who work with 
students experiencing homelessness, the liaison is encouraged to offer training to all district 
employees. 

 
The following paragraph reflects the training requirement of Education Code 48851.3 and 48852.5, and 
USDOE's "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance," 
regarding the content of the professional development. 

 
At least annually, the district liaison and other appropriate staff shall participate in professional 
development and other technical assistance activities to assist them in identifying and meeting the 
needs of homeless students experiencing homelessness. Such professional development and technical 
assistance shall include, but are not limited to, training on the district's homeless education program 
policies, definitions of terms related to homelessness, therecognition of signs ofthat students are 
experiencing or are at risk of experiencing homelessness, the steps that should be taken once a potentially 
homeless student is identified, and how to connect homeless students experiencing homelessness with 
appropriate housing and service providers.  (Education Code 48851.3, 48852.5; 42 USC 11432) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant 
to Education Code 52064.5, the State Board of Education has adopted evaluation rubrics for use by 
districts in evaluating their strengths, weaknesses, and areas that require improvement. 

 
In addition, pursuant to 20 USC 6311 annual district report cards for districts receiving Title I funds are 
required to include disaggregated student achievement data and graduation rates of homeless students. 

 
At least annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board on the identification of and 
outcomes for homeless students experiencing homelessness, which may include, but are not limited to, 
the housing questionnaire responses, school attendance, student achievement test results, promotion and 
retention rates by grade level, graduation rates, suspension/expulsion rates, and other outcomes related to 
any goals and specific actions identified in the LCAP. Based on the evaluation data, the district shall 
revise its strategies as needed to more effectively identify and support the education of homeless 
students. students experiencing homelessness. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 
2022), districts are required to annually report to CDE regarding the number of students experiencing 
homelessness who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from the district-established 
graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements, as specified below. 

 
Annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to CDE, in accordance with Education Code 
51225.1, the number of students experiencing homelessness graduating from the fourth or fifth year of 
high school who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from district-established 
graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: February 9, 2016 
revised: December 13, 2016 
revised: May 10, 2022 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 14 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is mandated pursuant to Education Code 48851.3, as 
added by AB 408 (Ch. 914, Statutes of 2022) and 42 USC 11432, which require districts to establish homeless 
education program policies. Pursuant to Education Code 48851.3 districts are required to update these policies 
at least once  

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6173: Education For Homeless Children 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Definitions 
 
 
 
 
 
Homeless students or students experiencing homelessness means students who lack a fixed, regular, and 
adequate nighttime residence and includes:  (Education Code 48859; 42 USC 11434a) 
 

1. Students who are sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic hardship, 
or a similar reason; are living in motels, hotels, trailer parks, or camping grounds due to the lack of 
alternative adequate accommodations; are living in emergency or transitional shelters; or are 
abandoned in hospitals 
 

2. Students who have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not designed for 
or ordinarily used as regular sleeping accommodations for human beings 
 

3. Students who are living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, substandard housing, 
bus or train stations, or similar settings 
 

4. Migratory children who qualify as homeless because they are living in conditions described in 
items #1-3 above 

 
Unaccompanied youth includes a homeless child or youth not in the physical custody of a parent or 
guardian.  (Education Code 48859; 42 USC 11434a) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following definition of "school of origin" generally reflects Education Code 
48852.7, which exceeds the definition in 42 USC 11432 and is consistent with the state definition of 
"school of origin" that applies to foster youth. However, 42 USC 11432 includes preschools in the 
definition as provided below. 

 
School of origin means the school that the homeless student experiencing homelessness attended when 
permanently housed or the school in which the student was last enrolled, including a preschool. If the 
school the homeless student experiencing homelessness attended when permanently housed is 
different from the school in which the student was last enrolled, or if there is some other school that 
the student attended within the preceding 15 months and with which the student is connected, the 
district liaison for homeless students shall determine, in consultation with and with the agreement of 
the homeless student experiencing homelessness and the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, andshall determine which school is, in the best interests of the homeless 
student, which school shall be experiencing homelessness, deemed the school of origin.  (Education 
Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 
 
 
 
 

CSBA NOTE: The federal McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 USC 11434a) and Education Code 
48859 define "homeless children and youths" as provided below. Foster youth who are living in emergency or 
transitional 

 



Page 2 of 14 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 expresses legislative intent that the "best interest" of a student 
experiencing homelessness or foster youth includes educational stability as well as placement in the 
least restrictive educational program, as provided below. Education Code 48853 further provides that 
the placement of a foster youth must consider the student's access to academic resources, services, and 
extracurricular and enrichment activities. For consistency with the definition of "best interest" 
applicable to foster youth see AR 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth. The following definition 
also reflects Education Code 48853. 

 
Best interest means that, in making educational and school placement decisions for a homeless student 
experiencing homelessness, consideration is given to, among other factors, educational stability, the 
opportunity to be educated in the least restrictive educational setting necessary to achieve academic 
progress, and the student's access to academic resources, services, and extracurricular and enrichment 
activities that are available to all district students.  (Education Code 48850, 48853; 42 USC 11432) 
 
District Liaison 
 
The Superintendent designates the following staff person as the district liaison for homeless students:  (42 
USC 11432) 
 
Superintendent of Schools or Homeless Liaison Designee 
109 Beckwith Road 
P.O. Box 955 
Loyalton, CA 96118 
(530) 993-1660, dial 0 
 

CSBA NOTE: The duties of the district liaison for homeless students are listed in Education Code 
48851.3, as added by AB 408, and 42 USC 11432 and are specified below. Also see the U.S. 
Department of Education's (USDOE), "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-
Regulatory Guidance," and the "Homeless Liaison Toolkit," developed by the National Center for 
Homeless Education. 

 
The district's liaison for homeless students shall: (Education Code 48851.3, 48851.5, 48852.5; 42 USC 
11432) 
 

1. Ensure that students experiencing homelessness are identified by school personnel through 
outreach and coordination activities with other entities and agencies 
 

2. Ensure that homeless students experiencing homelessness are enrolled in, and have a full and 
equal opportunity to succeed in, district schools 
 

3. Ensure that homeless families and children and youthstudents experiencing homelessness have 
access to and receive educational services for which they are eligible, including services through 
Head Start and Early Head Start programs, early intervention services under Part C of the 
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, and other preschool programs 
administered by the district 
 

4. Ensure that homeless families and students experiencing homelessness receive referrals to health 
care services, dental services, mental health and substance abuse services, housing services, and 
other appropriate services 
 

5. Inform parents/guardians of the educational and related opportunities available to their children 
and ensure that they are provided with meaningful opportunities to participate in the education 
of their children 
 

6. Disseminate public notice of the educational rights of homeless students experiencing 
homelessness in locations frequented by parents/guardians of homeless children and youthstudents 
experiencing homelessness and by unaccompanied youth, including schools, shelters, public 



Page 3 of 14 

libraries, and hunger relief agencies (soup kitchens). The rights shall be presented in a manner and 
form understandable to the parents/guardians of homeless students and unaccompanied youth. 
 

7. Mediate enrollment disputes in accordance with law and the section "Resolving Enrollment 
Disputes" below 
 

8. Fully inform parents/guardians of homeless students experiencing homelessness and 
unaccompanied youth of all transportation services, including transportation to the school of 
origin, and assist them in accessing transportation to the school of choice 

Ensure that  
9. Offer annual training related to the district's homeless education program policies to school 

personnel providingwho provide services to homeless students experiencing homelessness, 
including principals and other school leaders, attendance supervisorsofficers, teachers, 
enrollment personnel, and specialized instructional support personnel, receiveto ensure that such 
employees are informed of available training, professional development, and other support, and 
the services provided by the district liaison for homeless students 
 

10. Ensure that unaccompanied youth are enrolled in school, have opportunities to meet the same 
challenging state academic standards established for other students, and are informed of their 
status as independent students under 20 USC 1087vv and that they may receive assistance 
from the district liaison to receive verification of their independent student status for purposes 
of applying for federal student aid pursuant to 20 USC 1090 
 

11. Coordinate and collaborate with state coordinators and community and school personnel 
responsible for the provision of education and related services to homeless students experiencing 
homelessness, including the collection and provision of comprehensive data to the state 
coordinator as required by law 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district liaison must be notified at least 10 
calendar days before the date of the expulsion hearing for a student experiencing homelessness, when 
the student's alleged violation does not require a mandatory recommendation for expulsion, and 
may be notified for mandatory expulsions; see AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. 
When so notified, the district liaison is expected to assist the student and, as necessary, advocate on 
the student's behalf. 

 
Furthermore, pursuant to Education Code 48915.5, if the student experiencing homelessness has also 
been identified as an individual with a disability and the district has proposed a change of placement 
due to an act for which the decision to recommend expulsion is discretionary, the district liaison must 
be invited to participate in the individualized education program (IEP) team meeting that makes a 
manifestation determination pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 USC 
1415(k)). 

 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48852.5, the California Department of Education (CDE) is 
required 

 
 

homelessness and inform such employees of the availability of training and the services the 
liaison provides. While Education Code 48851.3 requires annual training for employees who work with 
students experiencing 

 
 
The examples of school personnel listed below reflect CDE's 2022-23 Federal Program Monitoring 

 



Page 4 of 14 

In addition, when notified pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district liaison shall assist, facilitate, 
or represent a homeless student experiencing homelessness who is undergoing a disciplinary proceeding 
that could result in the student's expulsion. When notified pursuant to Education Code 48915.5, the 
district liaison shall participate in an individualized education program (IEP) team meeting to make a 
manifestation determination regarding the behavior of a student with a disability. 
 

CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 requires CDE to publish a list of district liaisons on its web site. CDE 
collects the name and contact information of district liaisons through the consolidated application 
process, along with information about district compliance with federal program requirements. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall inform homeless children and youthstudents experiencing 
homelessness, their parents/guardians, school personnel, service providers, and advocates working with 
homeless families of the duties of the district's liaison. The Superintendent or designee shall also 
provide the name and contact information of the district's liaison to the California Department of 
Education (CDE) for publishing on  CDE's web site.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
Enrollment 
 
The district shall make placement decisions for homeless students experiencing homelessness based on 
the student's best interest.  ( (Education Code 48850; 42 USC 11432) 
 
In determining thea student's best interest of the, a student experiencing homelessness shall, to the extent 
feasible, be placed in the school of origin, unless the student's parent/guardian or the unaccompanied 
youth requests otherwise. (Education Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 and 42 USC 11432 specify factors that must be considered in 
determining a student's best interest, as provided below. 

 
When determining the best interest of any student experiencing homelessness, the district shall 
considergive priority to the request of the student's parent/guardian, or in the case of an 
unaccompanied youth, the request of the student. The student's educational stability and opportunity to 
be educated in the least restrictive educational setting necessary to achieve academic progress and other 
student-centered factors related to the student's best interest, including factors related to the impact of 
mobility on the student's achievement, education, health, and safety, giving priority to the request of the 
student's parent/guardian or, in the case of an unaccompanied youth, the youth.  (42 USC 11432)shall also 
be considered. (Education Code 48850; 42 USC 11432) 
 

 
Such factors may include, but are not limited to, the age of the student, the distance of the commute and 
the impact it may have on the student's education, personal safety issues, the student's need for special 
instruction, the length of anticipated stay in the temporary shelter or other temporary location, likely 
area of future housing, school placement of siblings, and the time remaining in the school year. 
 
However, placement decisions shall not be based on whether a homeless student experiencing 
homelessness lives with the student's homeless parent/guardian or has been temporarily placed 
elsewhere.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
 
 
In the case of an unaccompanied youth, the district liaison shall assist in placement or enrollment 
decisions, give priority to the views of the student, and provide notice to the student of the right to 
appeal.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
In determining a student's best interest, a homeless student shall, to the extent feasible, be placed in the 
school of origin, unless the student's parent/guardian or the unaccompanied youth requests otherwise. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph presents examples of factors that may be considered in 
making placement decisions based on a student's "best interest," and may be revised to reflect district practice. 



Page 5 of 14 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.7 and 42 USC 11432 require schools to immediately enroll 
students experiencing homelessness as specified below. In USDOE's, "Non-Regulatory Guidance 
Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program," USDOE recommends that the district take 
steps to facilitate immediate enrollment such as accepting school records directly from families, 
establishing school-based immunization clinics, and training staff on the legal requirements for 
immediate enrollment. See AR 5111.1 - District Residency. 

 
Once a placement decision has been made, the principal or designee shall immediately enroll the student 
in the school of choice. The student shall be enrolled even if the student:  (Education Code 48850, 
48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 
 

1. Has outstanding fees, fines, textbooks, or other items or monies due to the school last attended 
 

2. Does not have clothing normally required by the school, such as school uniforms 
 

3. Is unable to produce records normally required for enrollment, such as previous academic records, 
proof of residency, and records of immunization and other required health records 
 

4. Has missed application or enrollment deadlines during any period of homelessness 
 
The principal or designee shall immediately contact the school last attended by the student to obtain the 
relevant records. If the student needs to obtain immunizations or does not possess immunization or other 
required health records, the principal or designee shall immediately refer the parent/guardian to the 
district liaison for homeless students.  The district liaison shall assist the parent/guardian, or the 
student if the student is an unaccompanied youth, in obtaining the necessary immunizations, 
screenings, or records for the student.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
If the student is placed at a school other than the school of origin or the school requested by the 
student's parent/guardian or the student, if an unaccompanied youth, the Superintendent or designee 
shall provide the parent/guardian or the unaccompanied youth with a written explanation of the 
reasons for the decision, including why placement in the student's school of origin or requested school 
is not in the student's best interest, along with a statement regarding the right to appeal the placement 
decision. The written explanation shall be in a manner and form understandable to such 
parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
At the point of any change or subsequent change in the residence of a homeless student experiencing 
homelessness, the student may continue attending the student's school of origin for the duration of the 
homelessness.  (Education Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 
 
To ensure that the homeless student experiencing homelessness has the benefit of matriculating with the 
student's peers in accordance with the established feeder patterns, the following shall 
apply:  (Education Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 
 

1. If the student is transitioning between grade levels, the student shall be allowed to continue in 
the same attendance area. 
 

2. If the student is transitioning to a middle school or high school, and the school designated for 
matriculation is in another school district, the student shall be allowed to continue to the 
school designated for matriculation in that district. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.7 and 42 USC 11432 require that students who become permanently 
housed 

 
Additionally, Education Code 48852.7 allows students to remain in the school of origin, or matriculate to a 
feeder 

 



Page 6 of 14 

 
If the student's housing status changes before the end of the school year so that the student is no longer 
homelessexperiencing homelessness, the student shall be allowed to stay in the school of 
origin:  (Education Code 48852.7) 
 

1. Through the duration of the school year if the student is in grades K-8 
 

2. Through graduation if the student is in high school 
 
Resolving Enrollment Disputes 
 

CSBA NOTE: In the event that a dispute arises over the district's decision related to student 
eligibility, school selection, or enrollment, the district must comply with the requirements of 42 
USC 11432 and the dispute resolution process established by CDE. CDE's, "Homeless Education 
Dispute Resolution Process," available on CDE's web site, provides such guidance. CDE's guidance 
does not specify a hearing process or timelines for the district-level dispute resolution process. Thus, 
the district may revise the following section to reflect district practice, provided that the process is 
consistent with law. 

 
If a dispute arises over student eligibility, school selection, or enrollment in a particular school, the matter 
shall be referred to the district liaison, who shall carry out the dispute resolution process as expeditiously 
as possible.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
The parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth shall be provided with a written explanation of any 
decisions related to eligibility, school selection, or enrollment and of the right of the parent/guardian 
or unaccompanied youth to appeal such decisions.  (42 USC 11432) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional list should be modified to reflect district practice. In USDOE's, 
"Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance," USDOE 
recommends that the written explanation contain the elements specified below. See the accompanying 
exhibits for a sample explanation and appeal form. 

 
The written explanation shall include: 
 

1. A description of the action proposed or refused by the district 
 

2. An explanation of why the action is proposed or refused 
 

3. A description of any other options the district considered and the reasons that any other 
options were rejected 
 

4. A description of any other factors relevant to the district's decision and information related 
to the eligibility or best interest determination including the facts, witnesses, and evidence 
relied upon and their sources 
 

5. Appropriate timelines to ensure any relevant deadlines are not missed 
 

6. Contact information for the district liaison and state coordinator, and a brief description of 
those roles 

 
The written explanation shall be complete, as brief as possible, simply stated, and provided in language 
that the parent/guardian or student can understand. 
 
 
 



Page 7 of 14 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is recommended in USDOE's "Education for 
Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance." 

 
The district liaison may use an informal process as an alternative to formal dispute resolution procedures, 
provided that the parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth have access to the more formal process if 
informal resolution is not successful in resolving the matter. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is recommended in CDE's, "Homeless Education 
Dispute Resolution Process," guidance to districts. CDE recommends that if the parent/guardian or 
unaccompanied youth is an English Learner, the native language and/or an interpreter be used, and/or if 
additional supports are needed because of a disability, such services be made available without charge. 

 
In working with a student's parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth to resolve an enrollment dispute, 
the district liaison shall: 
 

1. Inform themthe student's parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth that they may provide 
written and/or oral documentation to support their position may be provided 
 

2. Inform themInform the student's parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth that they may seek the 
assistance of social services, advocates, and/or service providers in having the dispute resolved 
 

3. Provide them a simple form that they may use and turn in to the school to initiate the dispute 
resolution process 
 

4. Provide them a copy of the dispute form they submit for their records 
 

5. Provide them the outcome of the dispute for their records 
 

When a student’sstudent's parent/guardian or an unaccompanied youth involved in the enrollment 
dispute is an English learner, Items #1-5 shall be provided either in the native language of the 
parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth or through an interpreter, and any. Any additional support 
needed because of a disability of that parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth shall be made 
available without a charge. 
 
If a parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth disagrees with the district liaison's enrollment decision, the 
decision may be appealed to the Superintendent. The Superintendent shall make a determination within 
five working days. 
 

CSBA NOTE: In CDE's, "Homeless Education Dispute Resolution Process," CDE describes the process 
for appealing a district's enrollment decision to the county office of education (COE) and CDE. 
Upon receipt of materials describing the dispute from the district, the COE liaison will determine the 
school selection or enrollment decision within five working days. If the dispute remains unresolved 
or is appealed, the COE liaison will forward the documentation to CDE's Homeless Education 
Program. CDE will notify all parties of the final determination of eligibility, school selection, or 
enrollment within five working days of receipt of the appeal. 

 
If the parent/guardian chooses to appeal the district's placement decision, the district liaison shall forward 
all written documentation and related paperwork to the liaison for homeless students at the county 
office of education. 
 

CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 provides that, during any dispute over a student's enrollment, the student 
must be allowed to be enrolled in the school in which enrollment is sought during the period of all 
appeals. 42 USC 11434a defines "enrollment" as including attendance in classes and full participation in 
school activities. 

 
Pending final resolution of the dispute, including all available appeals, the student shall be immediately 
enrolled in the school in which enrollment is sought and shall be allowed to attend classes and 



Page 8 of 14 

participate fully in school activities.  (42 USC 11432, 11434a) 
 
Transportation 
 

CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 mandates that districts adopt policies and practices to ensure that 
transportation is provided to students experiencing homelessness, at the request of the student's 
parent/guardian or of the district liaison in the case of an unaccompanied youth, to and from the 
school of origin as specified below. 

 
In USDOE's, "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance," 
USDOE states that the law imposes an affirmative obligation to transport students experiencing 
homelessness, even if transportation is not provided to other students. The Guidance clarifies that, 
because the State of California receives funds under McKinney-Vento, all districts in California are 
subject to this requirement. 

 
The district shall provide transportation for a homeless student experiencing homelessness to and from the 
student's school of origin when the student is residing within the district and the parent/guardian, or the 
district liaison in the case of an unaccompanied youth, requests that such transportation be 
provided.  If the student moves outside of district boundaries, but continues to attend the student's 
school of origin within this district, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with the 
superintendent of the district in which the student is now residing to agree upon a method to 
apportion the responsibility and costs of the transportation.  (42 USC 11432) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 39807.5, as amended by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), 
the district is required to waive transportation fees for an unduplicated student, as defined in 
Education Code 42238.02, which includes a student who is eligible for free or reduced-price meals, 
who is classified as an English learner, or who is a foster youth. Since it is likely that most students 
experiencing homelessness would be eligible to receive free meals, and would therefore qualify as an 
unduplicated student, such students would most likely be exempt from transportation costs. See BP 
3540 Transportation and BP/AR 3250 - Transportation Fees. 

 
Any fees that the district charges for home-to-school transportation and other transportation as expressly 
provided by law shall be waived for students experiencing homelessness. (Education Code 39807.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.7 requires that the district provide transportation to a formerly 
homeless student with an IEP only if transportation is a necessary related service. Education Code 
48852.7 does not supersede or exceed other laws governing special education services for eligible 
students experiencing homelessness. 

 
The following paragraph may be revised if the district chooses to provide transportation to other 
formerly homeless students attending their school of origin. 

 
The district shall not be obligated to provide transportation to students who continue attending their 
school of origin after they cease to be homelesssecure permanent housing, unless the formerly homeless 
student has an IEP that includes transportation as a necessary related service for the 
student.  (Education Code 48852.7) 
 
Transfer of Coursework and Credits 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Education Code 
51225.2, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 2022), addresses the transferability of coursework 
and credits completed by a student experiencing homelessness, as provided below. 

 
Education Code 51225.2, as amended by SB 532, requires the transferring school to include in the 
student's educational record a determination of days of enrollment and/or seat time and an official 
transcript with full and partial credits earned, or any measure of full or partial coursework being 
satisfactorily completed. 



Page 9 of 14 

 
When a student experiencing homelessness transfers into a district school, the district will receive an 
official transcript from the transferring school or district which reflects full and partial credits and grades 
earned by the student and includes: (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

1. A determination of the days of enrollment and/or seat time, if applicable, for all full and partial 
credits earned based on any measure of full or partial coursework being satisfactorily 
completed 
 
Partial coursework satisfactorily completed includes any portion of an individual course, even if 
the student did not complete the entire course 
 

2. Separate listings for credits and grades earned at each school and local educational agency so it is 
clear where credits and grades were earned 
 

3. A complete record of the student's seat time, including both period attendance and days of 
enrollment 

 
The district shall transfer the credits and grades from the transferring school's transcript onto an official 
district transcript in the same manner as described in Item #2, above. (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
If the Principal or designee has knowledge that the transcript from the transferring school may not 
include certain credits or grades, the Principal or designee shall contact the prior school within two 
business days to request that the full or partial credits be issued, which shall then be issued and provided 
by the prior school within two business days of the request. (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
The district shall accept and issue full credit for any coursework that the student has satisfactorily 
completed while attending another public school, a juvenile court school, a charter school, a school in a 
country other than the United States, or a nonpublic, nonsectarian school and. (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.2, districts may not require a student who has 
completed an entire course to retake the course. 

 
If the entire course was completed, the district shall not require the student to retake the 
course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
If the homeless student did not complete the entire course was not completed at the previous school, the 

student shall be issued partial credit for the coursework completed and shall be required to take the 
uncompleted portion of the course that the student did not complete at the previous school. However, 
the district may require the student to retake the portion of the course completed if, in consultation 
with the holder of educational rights for the student, the district finds that the student is reasonably 
able to complete the requirements in time to graduate from high school. Whenever partial credit is 
issued to a homeless student in any particular course, the student shall be enrolled in the same or 
equivalent course, if applicable, so that the student may continue and complete the entire 
course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
Partial credits shall be awarded on the basis of 0.5 credits for every seven class periods attended per 
subject. If the school is on a block schedule, each block schedule class period attended shall be equal to 
two regular class periods per subject.  Partial credits and grades earned by a student shall be included on 
the student's official transcript within two business days of the district's notification of the student's 
transfer, as required under Education Code 49069.5. 

CSBA NOTE: Although Education Code 51225.2 requires districts to award partial credits to students who 
transfer 

how to award partial credit is available in the California Child Welfare Council's, "Partial 
Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations," and should be revised to reflect district practice. 
 



Page 10 of 14 

 
In no event shall the district prevent a homeless student experiencing homelessness from taking or 
retaking a course to meet the eligibility requirements for admission to the California State University 
or the University of California.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
Applicability of Graduation Requirements 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Also see BP 
6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. 

 
To obtain a high school diploma, a homeless student experiencing homelessness shall complete all 
courses required by Education Code 51225.3 and fulfill any additional graduation requirements 
established by the Governing Board. 
 
However, when a homeless student experiencing homelessness who has completed the second year of 
high school transfers into the district from another school district or transfers between high schools 
within the district, the student shall be exempted from all district-adoptedestablished coursework and 
other district-established graduation requirements, unless the district makes a finding that the student is 
reasonably able to complete the additional requirements in time to graduate from high school by the 
end of the fourth year of high school. Within 30 calendar days of the homeless student's transfer, the 
Superintendent or designee shall notify the student, the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, and the district liaison for homeless students of the availability of the 
exemption and whether the student qualifies for it. If the Superintendent or designee fails to provide 
this notification, the student shall be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if the notification 
occurs after the student is no longer homeless.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, to determine whether a 
student with significant gaps in school attendance is in the third or fourth year of high school, the student's 
age as compared to the average age of students in the third or fourth year of high school may be used. 

 
To determine whether a homeless student is in the third or fourth year of high school, the district shall 
use either the number of credits the student has earned as of the date of the transfer or the length of the 
student's school enrollment, whichever qualifies the student for the exemption.  (Education Code 
51225.1) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall notify any homeless student who is granted an exemption and the 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student how any requirements that are 
waived will affect the student's ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational institution and 
shall provide information about transfer opportunities available through the California Community 
Colleges.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
The district shall not require or request a homeless student to transfer schools in order to qualify for an 
exemption and no request for a transfer solely to qualify for an exemption shall be made by a homeless 
student, the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, or the district liaison 
on behalf of the student.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
If a homeless student is exempted from local graduation requirements, the exemption shall continue to 
apply after the student is no longer homeless or if the student transfers to another school, including a 
charter school, or school district.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
If the Superintendent or designee determines that a homeless student is reasonably able to complete 
district graduation requirements within the fifth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee 
shall:  , the length of school enrollment, or, for a student with significant gaps in school attendance, the 
student's age as compared to the average age of students in the third or fourth year of high school, 
whichever qualifies the student for the exemption. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
 
 



Page 11 of 14 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, requires the district to exempt a 
student who qualifies for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, under the 
circumstances described below. 

 
If a student experiencing homelessness was not properly notified of an exemption, declined the 
exemption, or was not previously exempted, the student or the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the student may request the exemption and, the Superintendent or designee 
shall exempt the student within 30 days of the request. A student may request the exemption even if the 
student is no longer a student experiencing homelessness. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required to 
reevaluate a student’s eligibility for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, as 
described below. 

 
When the Superintendent or designee determines that a student who transferred into a district school is 
reasonably able to complete district-established graduation requirements by the end of the student’s 
fourth year of high school, the student shall not be exempted from those requirements. Within 30 
calendar days of the following academic year, the student shall be reevaluated based on the student’s 
course completion status at the time, to determine if the student continues to be reasonably able to 
complete the district-established graduation requirements in time to graduate by the end of the 
student’s fourth year of high school. Written notice as to whether the student then qualifies for 
exemption shall be provided to the student, the person holding the right to make educational decisions 
for the student, and if applicable, to the student’s social worker or probation officer. (Education Code 
51225.1) 
 
If, upon reevaluation, it is determined that the student experiencing homelessness is not reasonably able to 
complete the district-established graduation requirements in time to graduate from high school by the 
end of the student’s fourth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall provide the 
student with the option to receive an exemption from district-established graduation requirements or 
stay in school for a fifth year to complete the district-established graduation requirements upon 
agreement with the student, or if under 18 years of age, the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, of and provide notifications in accordance with Education Code 51225.1. 
(Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required to 
consult with a student experiencing homelessness who is granted an exemption from district-established 
graduation requirements and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, 
as described below. 

 
When a student experiencing homelessness is exempted from district-established graduation requirements, 
the Superintendent or designee shall consult with the student and the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the student about the following: (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

1. Discussion of how any requirements that willare waived may affect the student’s postsecondary 
education or vocation plans, including the ability to gain admission to a postsecondary 
educational institution 
 

2. ProvideDiscussion and information to the homeless student about about other options available to 
the student, including, but not limited to, a fifth year of high school, possible credit recovery, and 
any transfer opportunities available through the California Community Colleges 
 

3. Upon agreement with the homelessConsideration of the student’s academic data and any other 
information relevant to making an informed decision on whether to accept the exemption 

 
The district shall not require or request a student or withexperiencing homelessness to transfer schools in 
order to qualify for an exemption and shall not grant any request made by a student experiencing 
homelessness, the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, or the district 
liaison on behalf of the student, for a transfer solely to qualify for an exemption. (Education Code 



Page 12 of 14 

51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from requiring a student who is 
eligible for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements from accepting the 
exemption or being denied enrollment, as described below. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall not require a student experiencing homelessness who is eligible for 
an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, and would otherwise be entitled to 
remain in attendance at the school, to accept the exemption or be denied enrollment in, or the ability to 
complete, courses for which the student is otherwise eligible, including courses necessary to attend an 
institution of higher education, regardless of whether such courses are required for statewide graduation 
requirements. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from revoking a student’s exemption from 
district- established graduation requirements. 

 
If a student experiencing homelessness is exempted from district-established graduation requirements, the 
exemption shall not be revoked. Additionally, the exemption shall continue to apply after the student 
is no longer experiencing homelessness or if  the student transfers to another school, including a charter 
school, or school district. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, the district may not require or request a student 
who is exempted from district-established graduation requirements and completes statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the student’s fourth year of high school to graduate early, 
as described below. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall not require or request a student experiencing homelessness who is 
exempted from district-established graduation requirements and who completes the statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the fourth year of high school, and would otherwise be 
entitled to remain in school, to graduate before the end of the student’s fourth year of high school. 
(Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, if the district determines 
that a student who is eligible for the exemption from district-established graduation requirements is 
reasonably able to complete those requirements in time to graduate from high school by the end of 
the student’s fifth year, the district is required to provide the following. 

 
Upon making a finding that a student experiencing homelessness is reasonably able to complete district-
established graduation requirements within the fifth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee 
shall: (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

1. Consult with the student and, if under 18 years of age, the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the student, of the option to remain in school for a fifth year to 
complete the district-established graduation requirements and how that will affect the student’s 
ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational institution 
 

2. Consult with and provide information to the student about transfer opportunities available 
through the California Community Colleges 
 

3. Upon agreement with the student or with the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student if under 18 years of age, permit the student to stay in school for a fifth 
year to complete the district’sdistrict- established graduation requirements 
 

4. Consult with the student or with the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student of the option to remain in the student’s school of origin 

 
 



Page 13 of 14 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, until January 1, 2028, 
when a student experiencing homelessness who has completed the second year of high school transfers 
into the district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, and is 
not reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation requirements, but is reasonably able 
to complete the statewide coursework requirements, within the student's fifth year of high school, the 
district is required to exempt the student from the district-established graduation requirements and 
provide the student with the option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete the statewide 
requirements. In such situations, consultation with the student and the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the student is required, as provided below. 

 
When a student experiencing homelessness who has completed the second year of high school transfers 
into the district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, and 
is not reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation requirements within the 
student's fifth year of high school but is reasonably able to complete the statewide coursework 
requirements within the fifth year of high school, the student shall be exempted from all district-
established graduation requirements and be provided with the option to remain in school for a fifth year 
to complete the statewide requirements. In such situations, the Superintendent or designee shall 
consult with the student and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student, regarding the following: (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

1. The student's option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete statewide coursework 
requirements 
 

2. The effect of waiving the district-established requirements and remaining in school for a fifth 
year on the student's postsecondary education or vocation plans, including the ability to gain 
admission to an institution of higher education 
 

3. Other options available to the student, including, but not limited to, possible credit recovery, and 
any transfer opportunities available through the California Community Colleges 
 

4. The student's academic data and any other information relevant to making an informed decision on 
whether to accept the exemption and option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete the 
statewide coursework requirements 

 
Eligibility for Extracurricular Activities 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is required pursuant to Education Code 48850. See BP 6145 - 
Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities for additional eligibility requirements. 

 
A homeless student experiencing homelessness who enrolls in any district school shall have access to 
extracurricular and enrichment activities that are available to all students in the school, including but not 
limited to, interscholastic sports administered by the California Interscholastic Federation.  (Education 
Code 48850) 
 
Notification, Complaints, and Posting Requirements 
 
Information regarding the educational rights of homeless students experiencing homelessness, as 
specified in Education Code 51225.1 and 51225.2, shall be included in the annual uniform complaint 
procedures notification distributed to students, parents/guardians, employees, and other interested 
parties pursuant to 5 CCR 4622.  (Education Code 51225.1, 51225.2) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 and 51225.2 provide that complaints of noncompliance 
with specified requirements related to the educational rights of students experiencing homelessness 
may be filed in accordance with the uniform complaint procedures (UCP) specified in 5 CCR 4600-
4670. As with other complaints covered under the UCP, a complainant may appeal the district's 
decision to CDE and, if the district or CDE finds any merit in the complaint, the district must provide 



Page 14 of 14 

a remedy to the affected student. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 
 
Any complaint that the district has not complied with requirements regarding the education of homeless 
students experiencing homelessness, as specified in Education Code 51225.1 or 51225.2, may be filed in 
accordance with the district's procedures in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.6 requires the district and each district school that maintains a 
web site to post on the district and school web sites information related to the education of students 
experiencing homelessness, as specified in the following paragraphs. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a list of the district's liaison(s) and the contact 
information for such liaison(s), as well as specific information on homelessness, including, but not limited 
to, information regarding the educational rights and resources available to students experiencing 
homelessness, are posted on the district's web site. (Education Code 48852.6) 
 
Each district school that has a web site shall also post the contact information for the district liaison and 
the name and contact information of any employee or other person under contract with the school who 
assists the district liaison in completing the liaison's duties pursuant to 42 USC 11432. (Education 
Code 48852.6) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: April 14, 2015 
revised: February 9, 2016 
revised: December 13, 2016 
revised: May 10, 2022 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 2 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6173.1: Education For Foster Youth 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 42238.02 and 42238.03 provide supplemental and concentration 
grants within the local control funding formula based on the number and concentration of 
unduplicated counts of students who are foster youth, who are English learners, or who are 
eligible for free or reduced-price meals; see BP/AR 3100 - Budget. In addition, Education Code 
52060-52077 require districts to develop a local control and accountability plan (LCAP) which 
must be aligned to specific state priorities and any additional local priorities, and which must 
contain annual goals for all students and for each "numerically significant" student subgroup and 
the specific actions to be taken to achieve each goal; see BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and 
Accountability Plan. 

 
Education Code 48850-48859 (the AB 490 Educational Rights and Stability Act of 2003) create 
obligations for districts regarding the education of foster youth, including the right of foster 
youth to continue attending their school of origin and the requirement to ensure that foster youth 
have access to the same academic resources, services, and extracurricular and enrichment activities 
that are available to all students. See the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
While the requirements of the federal McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 USC 
11431-11435) may apply to foster youth in certain situations, such as when they are living in 
emergency or transitional shelters (see BP/AR 6173 - Education for Homeless Children), 
Education Code 48850-48859 extend services to youth at any time when in foster care. The 
following policy may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 

The Board of EducationThe Governing Board recognizes that foster youth may face significant 
barriers to achieving academic success due to their family circumstances, disruption to their 
educational program, and their emotional, social, and other health needs. To enable such students to 
achieve state and district academic standards, the Superintendent or designee shall provide them with 
full access to the district's educational program and implement strategies identified as necessary for 
the improvement of the academic achievement of foster youth in the district's local control and 
accountability plan (LCAP). that may be addressed with the provision of a safe, positive learning 
environment that is free from discrimination and harassment and that promotes students' self-esteem 
and academic achievement. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide foster youth with full access to the district's 
educational program and implement strategies necessary for the improvement of the academic 
achievement of foster youth as identified in the district's local control and accountability plan 
(LCAP). The Superintendent or designee shall also develop strategies to build a foster youth's feeling 
of connectedness with school, including, but not limited to, strategies that promote positive 
discipline and conflict resolution, the development of resiliency and interpersonal skills, and the 
involvement of foster parents, group home administrators, and/or other caretakers in school programs 
and activities. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48850, placement determinations for foster youth 
are required to be made in accordance with the student's "best interest." In addition, Education 
Code 48853.5 requires each district to designate a staff person as a foster care liaison to help ensure 
proper school placement, enrollment, and transfer. 
See the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that placement decisions for foster youth are based on 
the students' best interests as defined in law and as specified in the accompanying administrative 
regulation. To that end, he/shethe Superintendent or designee shall designate the applicable site 
administratora staff person as the district liaison for foster youth to help facilitate the enrollment, 
placement, and transfer of foster youth. 
 



Page 2 of 2 

 

The Superintendent or designee and district liaison shall ensure that all appropriate staff, including, 
but not limited to, each principal, school registrar, and attendance clerk, receive training on the 
enrollment, placement, and transfer of foster youth and other related rights. 
 
The Board desires to provide foster youth with a safe, positive learning environment that is free from 
discrimination and harassment and that promotes students' self-esteem and academic achievement. The 
Superintendent or designee may develop strategies to build a foster youth's feeling of connectedness with 
his/her school, including, but not limited to, strategies that promote positive discipline and conflict 
resolution, the development of resiliency and interpersonal skills, and the involvement of foster parents, 
group home administrators, and/or other caretakers in school programs and activities. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853.5 encourages districts to collaborate with other agencies to 
provide services to foster youth. The following optional paragraph should be modified to 
reflect district practice. 
 

To address the needs of foster youth and help ensure the maximum utilization of available funds, the 
Superintendent or designee mayshall collaborate with local agencies and officials including, but not 
limited to, the county placing agency, social services, probation officers, and juvenile court officers. 
The Superintendent or designee mayshall explore the feasibility of entering into agreements with 
these groups to coordinate services and protect the rights of foster youth when enrolled in the 
district.. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52060, each district is required to update the LCAP by 
July 1 each year. The following optional paragraph uses the LCAP review timeline and may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 
 

At least annually and in accordance with the established timelines, the Superintendent or designee shall 
report to the Board on the outcomes for foster youth regarding the goals and specific actions identified 
in the LCAP, including, but not limited to, school attendance, student achievement test results, 
promotion and retention rates by grade level, graduation rates, and suspension/expulsion rates. As 
necessary, evaluation data shall be used to determine and recommend revisions to the LCAP for 
improving or increasing services for foster youth. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 
2022), districts are required to annually report to the California Department of Education 
regarding the number of foster youth who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption 
from the district-established graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework 
requirements, as specified below. 
 

Annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the California Department of Education, in 
accordance with Education Code 51225.1, the number of foster youth graduating from the fourth or fifth 
year of high school who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from district-established 
graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements. 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: April 8, 2014 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 12 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6173.1: Education For Foster Youth 

 

 
Definitions 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 42238.01 and 48853.5, as amended by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 
2022), define "foster youth," as reflected in the following paragraph. 

 
Foster youth, foster child, or student in foster care means any of the following:  (Education Code 
42238.01, 48853.5) 
 

1. A child who is the subject of a petition filed pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 300, 
whether or not the child has been removed from the child’schild's home by the juvenile court 
pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 319 or 361. 
 

2. A child who is the subject of a petition filed pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 602, 
whether or not the child has been removed from the child’schild's home 
 

2.3. A child who is the subject of a petition filed pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 602, 
has been removed from the child's home by the juvenile court pursuant to Welfare and 
Institutions Code 727, and is in foster care as defined by Welfare and Institutions Code 
727.4(d). ) 
 

3.4. A nonminor who is under the transition jurisdiction of a juvenile court, as described in Welfare 
and Institutions Code 450, and satisfies the criteria specified in Education Code 42238.01. 
 

5. A child who has been removed from the youth's home pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 
309 
 

4.6. A dependent child of the court of an Indian tribe, consortium of tribes, or tribal organization 
who is the subject of a petition filed in the tribal court pursuant to the court’scourt's 
jurisdiction in accordance with the tribe’stribe's law. 
 

5.7. A child who is the subject of a voluntary placement agreement, as defined in Welfare and 
Institutions Code 11400.(p) 

 
CSBA NOTE: In instances where the rights of the parent/guardian have been limited, the court may 
appoint an educational representative on a temporary or long-term basis to make educational 
decisions for the student. 

 
Person holding the right to make educational decisions means a responsible adult appointed by a court pursuant to 
Welfare and Institutions Code 361 or 726. 
 
School of origin means the school that the foster youth attended when permanently housed or the school 
in which the foster youth was last enrolled. If the school the foster youth attended when permanently 
housed is different from the school in which the foster youth was last enrolled, or if there is another 
school that the foster youth attended within the preceding 15 months and with which the foster youth 
is connected and that the foster youth attended within the preceding 15 months, the district liaison for 
foster youth shall determine, in the best interests of the foster youth, which school shall be deemed the 
school of origin. This determination shall be made in consultation with, and with the agreement of, the 
foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth.   shall 
determine, in the best interests of the foster youth, the school that shall be deemed the school of origin. 
(Education Code 48853.5) 



Page 2 of 12 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 expresses the legislative intent that the "best interests" of a foster 
youth include educational stability as well as placement in the least restrictive educational setting 
necessary to achieve academic progress, as provided below. 

 
In addition, pursuant to 20 USC 6311, determination of a student's "best interest" requires 
consideration of all factors relating to the student's best interest, including the appropriateness of the 
current educational setting and the proximity to the school in which the student is enrolled at the 
time of placement. 

 
Best interests of a foster youth means that, in making educational and school placement decisions for a 
foster youth, consideration is given to, among other factors, the proximity to the school at the time of 
placement, appropriateness of the educational setting, educational stability, the opportunity to be 
educated in the least restrictive educational setting necessary to achieve academic progress, and the 
foster youth's access to academic resources, services, and extracurricular and enrichment activities that 
are available to all district students. (Education Code 48850, 48853; 20 USC 6311) 
 
District Liaison 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, districts are required to designate a staff person as 
the educational liaison for foster youth. The person may be the same individual designated as the liaison 
for homeless students as required by 42 USC 11432; see AR 6173 - Education for Homeless 
Children. In addition, Education Code 48853.5 requires that, for districts operating a foster youth 
services program, the liaison be affiliated with that program. The duties of the liaison are as 
specified below. 

 
The Superintendent designates the following position as the district's liaison for foster youth: (Education 
Code 48853.5) 
 
Sierra County Foster Youth Services and McKinney-Vento Liaison 
PO Box 955 
109 Beckwith Rd 
Loyalton, CA 96118 
(530) 993-1660, dial 0 
 
The liaison for foster youth shall: 
 

1. Ensure and facilitate the proper educational placement, enrollment in school, and checkout from 
school of students in foster care  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48645.5 requires districts to accept for credit full or partial 
coursework completed in a public school or nonpublic nonsectarian school or agency in addition 
to a juvenile court school; see the section below entitled "Transfer of Coursework and Credits." 
 

2. Ensure proper transfer of credits, records, and grades when students in foster care transfer from 
one school to another or from one district to another  (Education Code 48645.5, 48853.5) 
 
When a student in foster care is enrolling in a district school, the liaison shall contact, within two 
business days of the student's request for enrollment, the school last attended by the student to 
obtain, within two business days, all academic and other records.  When a foster youth is 
transferring to a new school, the liaison shall provide the student's records to the new school 
within two business days of receiving the new school's request.  (Education Code 48853.5) 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 3 of 12 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, as amended by AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 
2022), a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker have the same 
rights as a parent/guardian to receive a suspension notice, expulsion notice, manifestation 
determination notice, involuntary transfer notice, and other documents and related information. 
See AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process, AR 5144.2 - Suspension/Expulsion 
(Students with Disabilities), and BP/AR 6184 - Continuation Education. 
 

3. Notify a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and the representative of the 
appropriate county child welfare agency,social worker when required by law for a a foster youth 
who is undergoing any expulsion or other disciplinary proceeding including a manifestation 
determination for a foster youth who is a student with a disability, prior to a change in the foster 
youth's placement.  (Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48915.5, 48918.1) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Items #4-8 below are optional and should be modified to reflect district practice. 
2.  

3.4. As needed, make appropriate referrals to ensure that students in foster care receive necessary 
special education services and services under Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 
1973 

  
4.5. As needed, ensure that students in foster care receive appropriate school-based services, such as 

counseling and health services, supplemental instruction, and after-school services 
  

5.6. Develop protocols and procedures for creating awareness for district staff, including 
principals, school registrars, and attendance clerks, of the requirements for the proper enrollment, 
placement, and transfer of foster youth 

 
CSBA NOTE: Optional Item #7 establishes the responsibility of the district liaison to 
collaborate with other local agencies to coordinate services for foster youth. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 42920.5-42921, the Foster Youth Services Coordinating 
Program provides funding for a county office of education or consortium of county offices of 
education to coordinate educational support for foster youth among the districts within their 
jurisdiction. As part of the program, such county offices must develop and implement a 
coordinating plan for purposes of establishing guiding principles and protocols to provide 
supports for foster care students. To the extent possible, such a plan must include, but is not 
limited to, a description of how the program will establish ongoing collaboration among local 
educational agencies, county child welfare agencies, and county probation departments to 
determine the proper educational placement of foster youth. In addition, pursuant to 
Education Code 42921, if a district annually certifies in writing that it is unable, using any 
other state, federal, local, or private funds, to provide tutoring, mentoring, and counseling for 
foster youth, it may enter into a temporary agreement with the foster youth services 
coordinating program to provide those services, if the program has established such services. 
 

6.7. Collaborate with the county office of education, county placing agency, county child welfare 
agency, county probation department, juvenile court, and other appropriate agencies to help 
coordinate instruction, counseling, tutoring, mentoring vocational training, and other related 
services for the district's foster youth 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional item facilitates the annual update of the local control and 
accountability plan required pursuant to Education Code 52060; see BP/AR 0460 - Local 
Control and Accountability Plan. 
 

7.8. Monitor the educational progress of foster youth and provide reports to the Superintendent or 
designee and the Governing Board based on indicators identified in the district's local control 
and accountability plan 

 



Page 4 of 12 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall regularly monitor the liaison’sliaison's caseload, as well as 
additional duties outside of the foster youth program, to ensure that adequate time and resources are 
provided to meet the needs of foster youth in the district. 
 
Enrollment 
 
A student placed in a licensed children's institution or foster family home within the district shall attend 
programs operated by the district unless one of the following circumstances applies:  (Education Code 
48853, 48853.5) 
 

1. The student has an individualized education program requiring placement in a nonpublic, 
nonsectarian school or agency or in another local educational agency. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853, a district is required to educate foster youth 
in the least restrictive environment necessary for their educational achievement. However, a 
district may be discharged from this obligation when the parent/guardian or other person 
holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth unilaterally decides to 
place the foster youth in another educational program and provides the district a written 
statement as specified in item #2 below. 
 

2. The parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student determines that it is in the best interests of the student to be placed in another education 
program and submits a written statement to the district indicating that determination and an 
awareness of the following: 

 
a. The student has a right to attend a regular public school in the least restrictive environment. 

 
b. The alternate education program is a special education program, if applicable. 

 
c. The decision to unilaterally remove the student from the district school and to place the 

student in an alternate education program may not be financed by the district. 
 

d. Any attempt to seek reimbursement for the alternate education program may be at the 
expense of the parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, the education of a foster youth may 
continue in the school of origin under the circumstances stated below. Elementary and high 
school districts should delete any Item (#3b or c) that is not applicable to the grade levels 
served by the district. 
 

3. At the initial placement or any subsequent change in placement, the student exercises the right to 
continue in the school of origin, as defined above.  In any such circumstance, the following shall 
apply: 

 
a. The student may continue in the school of origin for the duration of the court's 

jurisdiction. 
 

b. If the court's jurisdiction over a grade K-8 student is terminated prior to the end of a school 
year, the student may continue in the school of origin for the remainder of the school year. 
 

c. If the court's jurisdiction is terminated while the student is in high school, the student may 
continue in the school of origin through graduation. 



Page 5 of 12 

 
d. If the student is transitioning between school grade levels, the student shall be allowed to 

continue in the district in the same attendance area to provide the student the benefit of 
matriculating with the student’sstudent's peers in accordance with the established feeder 
patterns of school in the district. A student who is transitioning to a middle school or high 
school shall be allowed to enroll in the school designated for matriculation in another 
school district. 

 
The role of the liaison shall be advisory with respect to placement decisions and determination of the 
school of origin.  (Education Code 48853.5) 
 
The district liaison may, in consultation with and with the agreement of the foster youth and the person 
holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, recommend that the foster 
youth's right to attend the school of origin be waived and the foster youth be enrolled in any school that 
students living in the attendance area in which the foster youth resides are eligible to attend. All 
decisions shall be made in accordance with the foster youth's best interests.  (Education Code 
48853.5) 
 
Prior to making any recommendation to move a foster youth from the school of origin, the liaison 
shall provide the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
youth with a written explanation of the basis for the recommendation and how the recommendation 
serves the youth's best interests.  (Education Code 48853.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, a district is required to immediately enroll any 
foster youth transferring into the district even when the foster youth has outstanding fees, fines, 
textbooks, or other moneys due to the last school attended or the district has not received the foster 
youth's academic or medical records, as listed in Items #1-3 below. However, pursuant to Health 
and Safety Code 120341, if a district does not receive a foster youth's immunization records prior to 
enrollment, the district must take steps, after the foster youth is enrolled, to obtain the 
immunization records or ensure that the foster youth is properly immunized. See BP/AR 5141.31 - 
Immunizations. 

 
If the liaison, in consultation with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the foster youth, agrees that the best interests of the foster youth would be served by a 
transfer to a school other than the school of origin, the principal or designee of the new school shall 
immediately enroll the foster youth, regardless of whether the foster youth:  (Education Code 
48853.5) 
 

1. Has outstanding fees, fines, textbooks, or other items or monies due to the school last attended 
 

2. Does not have clothing normally required by the school, such as school uniforms 
 

3. Is unable to produce records normally required for enrollment, such as previous academic records, 
proof of residency, and medical records, including, but not limited to, immunization records or 
other documentation 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853 and 48853.5 specify that, if a dispute arises regarding school 
placement, then the district shall use an existing dispute resolution process available to any district 
student. The following paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice. 

 
If the foster youth or a person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth 
disagrees with the liaison's enrollment recommendation, an appeal may be filed with the 
Superintendent. The Superintendent shall make a determination within 30 calendar days of receipt of 
the appeal. Within 30 calendar days of receipt of the Superintendent's decision, the foster youth or the 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth may appeal that decision to 
the Board. The Board shall consider the issue at its next regularly scheduled meeting. The Board's 
decision shall be final. 



Page 6 of 12 

 
If any dispute arises regarding the request of a foster youth to remain in the school of origin, the foster 
youth has the right to remain in the school of origin pending resolution of the dispute.  (Education 
Code 48853.5) 
 
Transportation 

 
law or pursuant to the individualized education program of a student with a disability. In accordance 
with 20 USC 6312, districts are mandated to collaborate with the local child welfare agency to 
develop clear written procedures governing how transportation will be provided, arranged, and 
funded to enable foster youth to attend their school of origin, when it is in their best interest to do so. 
The local child welfare agency may reimburse the district for any additional costs of such 
transportation, or the district may agree to pay for or share the costs with the child welfare agency. 
The following section may be revised to reflect the procedures established in collaboration with the 
child welfare agency, or such procedures may be incorporated into a memorandum of understanding or 
other document. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with the local child welfare agency to determine how 
transportation will be provided, arranged, and funded in a cost-effective manner to enable a foster youth 
to remain in the school of origin, for the duration of the time spent in foster care, when it is in the 
foster youth’syouth's best interest to do so. Such transportation costs may be paid by either the child 
welfare agency or the district, or shared by both.  (20 USC 6312) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 39807.5, as amended by AB 181, districts that provide 
home-to-school transportation and other transportation as expressly provided by law, and charge fees 
for such transportation, are required to waive transportation fees for foster youth. See BP 3250 - 
Transportation Fees and AR 3260 - Fees and Charges. 

 
Any fees that the district charges for home-to-school transportation and other transportation as expressly 
provided by law shall be waived for foster youth. (Education Code 39807.5) 
 
Effect of Absences on Grades 
 
The grades of a student in foster care shall not be lowered for any absence from school that is due to 
either of the following circumstances:  (Education Code 49069.5) 
 

1. A decision by a court or placement agency to change the student's placement, in which case the 
grades shall be calculated as of the date the student left school 

2. A verified court appearance or related court-ordered activity 
 
Transfer of Coursework and Credits 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Education Code 
51225.2, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 2022), addresses the transferability of coursework 
and credits completed by foster youth, as provided below. 

 
Education Code 51225.2, as amended by SB 532, requires the transferring school to include in the foster 
youth's educational record a determination of days of enrollment and/or seat time and an official 
transcript with full and partial credits and grades earned, or any measure of full or partial coursework 
being satisfactorily completed. 

 
When a foster youth transfers into a district school, the district will receive an official transcript from 
the transferring school or district which reflects full and partial credits and grades earned by the foster 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, a district may, but is not required to, provide transportation to 
enable a foster youth to attend a school or school district of origin, except when it is otherwise required by federal 



Page 7 of 12 

youth and includes: (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

1. A determination of the days of enrollment and/or seat time, if applicable for all full and partial 
credits earned based on any measure of full or partial coursework being satisfactorily 
completed 
 
Partial coursework satisfactorily completed includes any portion of an individual course, even if 
the student did not complete the entire course 
 

2. Separate listings for credits and grades earned at each school and local educational agency so it is 
clear where credits and grades were earned 
 

3. A complete record of the student's seat time, including both period attendance and days of 
enrollment 

 
The district shall transfer the credits and grades from the transferring school's transcript onto an official 
district transcript in the same manner as described in Item #2, above. (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
If the Principal or designee has knowledge that the transcript from the transferring school may not 
include certain credits or grades, the Principal or designee shall contact the prior school within two 
business days to request that the full or partial credits be issued, which shall then be issued and provided 
by the prior school within two business days of the request. (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
The district shall accept and issue full or partial credit for any coursework that the foster youth has 
satisfactorily completed while attending another public school, a juvenile court school, a charter school, a 
school in a country other than the United States, or a nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency and. 
(Education Code 51225.2) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.2, districts are not authorized to require a foster youth 
who has completed an entire course to retake the course. 

 
If the entire course was completed, the district shall not require the foster youth to retake the 
course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
If the entire course was not completed at the previous school, the foster youth shall be issued partial 
credit for the coursework completed and shall be required to take the uncompleted portion of the 
course.  However, the district may require the foster youth to retake the portion of the course 
completed if, in consultation with the holder of educational rights for the foster youth, the district 
finds that the foster youth is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate from 
high school. Whenever partial credit is issued to a foster youth in any particular course, the foster 
youth shall be enrolled in the same or equivalent course, if applicable, to enable the completion of the 
entire course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Although Education Code 51225.2 requires districts to award partial credits to foster 
youth who transfer from school to school, there is no uniform system for calculating and awarding 
partial credits. To ensure consistency in the treatment of foster youth, the California Child Welfare 
Council (CCWC), in its, "Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations," available on its 
web site, recommends the approach specified in the following optional paragraph, which may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Partial credits shall be awarded on the basis of 0.5 credits for every seven class periods attended per 
subject. If the school is on a block schedule, each block schedule class period attended shall be equal to 
two regular class periods per subject.  Partial credits and grades earned by a student shall be included on 
the student's official transcript within two business days of the district's notification of the student's 
transfer, as required under Education Code 49069.5. 
 
In no event shall the district prevent a foster youth from taking or retaking a course to meet the 
eligibility requirements for admission to the California State University or the University of 



Page 8 of 12 

California.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
Applicability of Graduation Requirements 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Also see BP 
6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. 

 
To obtain a high school diploma, a foster youth shall complete all courses required by Education Code 
51225.3 and fulfill any additional graduation requirements prescribed by the Board. 
 
However, when a foster youth who has completed the second year of high school transfers into the 
district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, the foster 
youth shall be exempted from all district-adoptedestablished coursework and other district-established 
graduation requirements, unless the district makes a finding that the student is reasonably able to 
complete the additional requirements in time to graduate from high school by the end of the fourth 
year of high school. Within 30 calendar days of the foster youth's transfer, the Superintendent or 
designee shall notify the foster youth, the person holding the right to make educational decisions for 
the foster youth, and the foster youth's social worker of the availability of the exemption and whether 
the foster youth qualifies for it. If the Superintendent or designee fails to provide this notification, the 
student shall be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if the notification occurs after the 
student is no longer a foster youth.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, to determine whether a 
foster youth with significant gaps in school attendance is in the third or fourth year of high school, the 
student's age as compared to the average age of students in the third or fourth year of high school 
may be used. 

 
To determine whether a foster youth is in the third or fourth year of high school, the district shall use 
either the number of credits the foster youth has earned as of the date of the transfer or, the length of 
school enrollment, or for a foster youth with significant gaps in school attendance, the foster youth's 
age as compared to the average age of students in the third or fourth year of high school, whichever 
qualifies the foster youth for the exemption.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall notify any foster youth who is granted an exemption and the person 
holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth how any requirements that are waived 
will affect the foster youth's ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational institution and shall 
provide information about transfer opportunities available through the California Community Colleges. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, requires the district to exempt a foster 
youth who qualifies for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, under the 
circumstances described below. 

 
If a foster youth was not properly notified of an exemption, declined the exemption, or was not 
previously exempted, the foster youth or the person holding the right to make educational decisions 
for the foster youth may request the exemption and the Superintendent or designee shall exempt the 
foster youth within 30 days of the request. A student who at one time qualified for the exemption may 
request the exemption even if the student is no longer eligible. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required to 
reevaluate a foster youth's eligibility for an exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements, as described below. 

 
When the Superintendent or designee determines that a foster youth who transferred into a district 
school is reasonably able to complete district-established graduation requirements by the end of the 
foster youth's fourth year of high school, the foster youth shall not be exempted from those 
requirements. Within 30 calendar days of the following academic year, the foster youth shall be 
reevaluated based on the foster youth's course completion status at the time, to determine if the 



Page 9 of 12 

student continues to be reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation requirements 
in time to graduate by the end of the foster youth's fourth year of high school. Written notice as to 
whether the foster youth then qualifies for the exemption shall be provided to the foster youth, the 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, and if applicable, to the 
foster youth's social worker or probation officer. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
If, upon reevaluation, it is determined that the foster youth is not reasonably able to complete the 
district- established graduation requirements in time to graduate from high school by the end of the 
foster youth's fourth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall provide the foster youth 
with the option to receive an exemption from district-established graduation requirements or stay in 
school for a fifth year to complete the district-established graduation requirements upon agreement with 
the foster youth, or if under 18 years of age, the person holding the right to make educational decisions 
for the foster youth, and provide notifications in accordance with Education Code 51225.1. (Education 
Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required to 
consult with a foster youth who is granted an exemption from district-established graduation requirements 
and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, as described below. 

 
When a foster youth is exempted from district-established graduation requirements, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consult with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the foster youth about the following: (Education Code 512251.) 
 

1. Discussion of how any requirements that are waived may affect the foster youth's postsecondary 
education or vocation plans, including the ability to gain admission to a postsecondary 
educational institution 
 

2. Discussion and information about other options available to the student, including, but not 
limited to, a fifth year of high school, possible credit recovery, and any transfer opportunities 
available through the California Community Colleges 
 

3. Consideration of the foster youth's academic data and any other information relevant to making an 
informed decision on whether to accept the exemption 

 
The district shall not require or request a foster youth to transfer schools in order to qualify for an 
exemption and shall not grant any request made by a foster youth or any person acting on behalf of a 
foster youth for a transfer solely to qualify the foster youth for an exemption.  (Education Code 
51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from requiring a foster youth who is 
eligible for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements from accepting the 
exemption or being denied enrollment, as described below. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall not require a foster youth who is eligible for an exemption from 
district- established graduation requirements, and would otherwise be entitled to remain in attendance 
at the school, to accept the exemption or be denied enrollment in, or the ability to complete, courses 
for which the foster youth is otherwise eligible, including courses necessary to attend an institution of 
higher education, regardless of whether such courses are required for statewide graduation 
requirements. (Education Code 51225.1) 

 
If a foster youth is exempted from localdistrict-established graduation requirements the exemption shall 
not be revoked. Additionally, the exemption shall continue to apply after the termination of the court's 
jurisdiction over the student while still enrolled in school or if the foster youth transfers to another 
school or school district.  (Education Code 51225.1) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from revoking a foster youth's exemption from 
district- established graduation requirements. 



Page 10 of 12 

 
Upon making a finding that a foster youth is reasonably able to complete district graduation requirements 
within the fifth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall: 
  
Inform 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, the district may not require or request a foster youth 
who is exempted from district-established graduation requirements and completes statewide coursework 
requirements before the end of the foster youth's fourth year or high school to graduate early, as 
described below. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall not require or request a foster youth who is exempted from district-
established graduation requirements and who completes the statewide coursework requirements 
before the end of the fourth year of high school, and would otherwise be entitled to remain in school, 
to graduate before the end of the foster youth's fourth year of high school. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, if the district determines 
that a foster youth who is eligible for the exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements is reasonably able to complete those requirements in time to graduate from high 
school by the end of the foster youth's fifth year, the district is required to provide the following. 

 
Upon making a finding that a foster youth is reasonably able to complete district-established 
graduation requirements within the fifth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall: 
(Education Code 51225.1) 
 

1. Consult with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for 
the foster youth of the option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete the 
district'sdistrict-established graduation requirements and how that will affect the foster 
youth’syouth's ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational institution 
 

2. ProvideConsult with and provide information to the foster youth about transfer opportunities 
available through the California Community Colleges 
 

3. Upon agreement with the foster youth or, if under 18 years of age, the person holding the right 
to make educational decisions for the foster youth, permit the foster youth to stay in school for 
a fifth year to complete the district'sdistrict-established graduation requirements 
 

4. Consult with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for 
the foster youth of the option to remain in the foster youth's school of origin 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, until January 1, 2028, 
when a foster youth who has completed the second year of high school transfers into the district from 
another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, and is not reasonably 
able to complete the district-established graduation requirements, but is reasonably able to complete 
the statewide coursework requirements within the foster youth's fifth year of high school, the 
district is required to exempt the foster youth from the district- established graduation requirements 
and provide the foster youth with the option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete the 
statewide requirements. In such situations, consultation with the foster youth and the person holding 
the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth is required, as provided below. 

 
When a foster youth who has completed the second year of high school transfers into the district from 
another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, and is not reasonably able 
to complete the district-established graduation requirements within the foster youth's fifth year of high 
school but is reasonably able to complete the statewide coursework requirements within the fifth year 
of high school, the foster youth shall be exempted from all district-established graduation requirements 
and provided with the option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete the statewide requirements. 
In such situations, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with the foster youth and the person 
holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, regarding the following: 
(Education Code 51225.1) 



Page 11 of 12 

 
1. The foster youth's option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete statewide coursework 

requirements 
 

2. The effect of waiving the district-established requirements and remaining in school for a fifth 
year on the foster youth's postsecondary education or vocation plans, including the ability to 
gain admission to an institution of higher education 
 

3. Other options available to the foster youth, including but not limited to, possible credit 
recovery, and any transfer opportunities available through the California Community Colleges 
 

4. The foster youth's academic data and any other information relevant to making an informed 
decision on whether to accept the exemption and option to remain in school for a fifth year to 
complete the statewide coursework requirements 

 
Eligibility for Extracurricular Activities 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 provides that, when a foster youth's residence changes pursuant 
to a court order or decision of a child welfare worker, the student shall be immediately deemed to 
meet all residency requirements for participation in extracurricular activities and interscholastic 
sports. For additional information about eligibility requirements, see BP 6145 - Extracurricular and 
Cocurricular Activities. 

 
A foster youth whose residence changes pursuant to a court order or decision of a child welfare worker 
shall be immediately deemed to meet all residency requirements for participation in interscholastic 
sports or other extracurricular activities.  (Education Code 48850) 
 
Notification and Complaints 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853, 49069.5, 51225.1, and 51225.2 require that the district's 
annual uniform complaint procedures notification include specified information regarding the 
educational rights of foster youth. See AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures for further 
information regarding this notification. Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, the California 
Department of Education (CDE), in consultation with the California Foster Youth Education Task 
Force, developed a standardized notice of the educational rights of foster youth, available on CDE's 
web site. 

 
Information regarding the educational rights of foster youth shall be included in the annual uniform 
complaint procedures notification distributed to students, parents/guardians, employees, and other 
interested parties pursuant to 5 CCR 4622.  (Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 51225.1, 
51225.2) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 51225.1, and 51225.2 provide that 
complaints of noncompliance with specified requirements related to the education of foster youth 
may be filed in accordance with the uniform complaint procedures specified in 5 CCR 4600-4670. 
As with other complaints covered under the uniform complaint procedures, a complainant may 
appeal the district's decision to CDE and, if the district or CDE finds any merit in the complaint, the 
district must provide a remedy to the affected student. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint 
Procedures. 

 
Any complaint alleging that the district has not complied with requirements regarding the education 
of foster youth may be filed in accordance with the district's procedures in AR 1312.3 - Uniform 
Complaint Procedures. If the district finds merit in a complaint, the district shall provide a remedy to 
the affected student. A complainant not satisfied with the district's decision may appeal the decision to 
the California Department of Education (CDE) and shall receive a written decision regarding the appeal 
within 60 days of CDE's receipt of the appeal. If CDE finds merit in an appeal, the district shall provide 
a remedy to the affected student.  (Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 51225.1, 51225.2) 
 



Page 12 of 12 

SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: November 8, 2011 
revised: February 12, 2013 
revised: April 8, 2014 
revised: February 9, 2016 
revised: September 13, 2022 
revised: ??, 2023 



Page 1 of 5 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6184: Continuation Education 

 

 
Program Components 
 
The district's continuation education program shall include the following components: 
 

1. Curriculum that prepares students to meet the course requirements for graduation prescribed in 
Education Code 51224-51225.3 (5 CCR 11004) 

 
2. A plan to coordinate instruction and training in the continuation education program with 

students' parents/guardiansthe student's home, employment, and other agencies (5 CCR 11003) 
 

3. Instruction based on individual student needs as determined by counseling and coordination 
services (5 CCR 11002) 

 
4. Personal guidance in matters affecting students' personal, social, and educational adjustment (5 

CCR 11001) 
 

5. Occupational guidance to prepare students for future employment opportunities (5 CCR 11001) 
 

6. Placement in suitable employment whenever students can benefit from such employment, and 
follow-up visitations at places of employment to determine the effectiveness of the guidance and 
placement services (5 CCR 11001) 

 
7. Regular home contacts and parent conferences when students are not succeeding in the 

continuation program (5 CCR 11001) 
 

8. Regular contacts with students enrolled for only four hours per week and all students 
suspended from continuation education, with the intent of eventually returning them to the 
full-time continuation education program (5 CCR 11001) 

 
CSBA NOTE: Items #9-13 are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice 
 

9. Regular communication with all parents/guardians regarding their child's progress in the 
educational program 
 

10. Opportunities for parent/guardian and community involvement in school activities and program 
planning 

 
11. Student support services that may include, but are not limited to, academic support services, health 

services or referrals, child care and development services for the children of enrolled students, 
and/or prevention and intervention services for alcohol or substance abuse 

 
12. Professional development that includes opportunities for teachers to continually improve their 

instructional and classroom management skills 
 

13. Efforts to ensure school safety and promote a positive school climate 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 5 

 

Involuntary Transfer 
 

CSBA NOTE: Districts that assign students to continuation schools are mandated by Education Code 
48432.5 to adopt rules and regulations governing procedures for involuntary transfer. Pursuant to 
Education Code 48432.5, districts may only involuntarily transfer students who meet one of the 
conditions specified in Items #1-2 below and may not establish additional criteria for involuntary 
transfers. However, districts are not required to involuntarily transfer such students, and may delete 
Item #1 or 2 below to reflect district practice. 

 
A decision to transfer a student involuntarily into continuation education classes shall be based on a 
finding that the student meets either of the following conditions: (Education Code 48432.5) 
 

1. The student committedCommitted an act enumerated in Education Code 48900. 
 

2. The student hasHas been habitually truant or irregular in attendance from instruction he/shethe 
student is lawfully required to attend. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48432.5 requires that involuntary transfer to a continuation school 
be made only when other means fail to bring about student improvement, as provided below. In 
Nathan G. v. Clovis Unified School District, the court of appeals upheld the district's decision to 
transfer a high school student to continuation school for an act enumerated in Education Code 48900, 
rejecting the student's argument that the district was first required to exhaust all other means of 
correction to bring about student improvement and concluding that an involuntary transfer to 
continuation school does not substantially affect a student's fundamental right to an education. 

 
Involuntary transfer to a continuation school shall be made only when other means fail to bring about 
student improvement. However, a student may be involuntarily transferred the first time he/she commits 
an act enumerated in Education Code 48900 is committed if the principal determines that the student's 
presence causes a danger to persons or property or threatens to disrupt the instructional process. 
(Education Code 48432.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48432.5, as amended by AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), mandates 
that the district's rules and regulations pertaining to involuntary transfer of students to continuation 
schools provide written notice to the student and the student's parent/guardian, or, if the student is a 
foster youth, to the foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and social worker, or, if the 
student is an Indian child, the Indian child's tribal social worker, and if applicable, county social 
worker, of the opportunity to request a meeting with the Superintendent or designee, as provided 
below. 

 
Prior to an involuntary transfer, the student and parent/guardianthe student's parent/guardian, or a 
foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney and social worker, or an Indian child's tribal social 
worker, and if applicable, county social worker, shall be given written notice that they may request a 
meeting may be requested with the Superintendent or designee. (Education Code 48432.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48432.5, as amended by AB 740, a foster youth's educational 
right's holder, attorney, and county social worker, and an Indian child's tribal social worker, and, if 
applicable, a county social worker, have the same rights as a parent at the meeting with the Superintendent 
or designee. 

 
At the meeting, the student or parent/guardianand the student's parent/guardian, or, if the student is a 
foster youth, the foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the 
student is an Indian child, the Indian child's tribal social worker, or, if applicable, county social worker, 
shall be informed of the specific facts and reasons for the proposed transfer. The student or 
parent/guardian shall, and have the opportunity to inspect all documents relied upon, question any 
evidence and witnesses presented, and present evidence on the student's behalf. The student may 
designate one or more representatives and witnesses to be present with him/herthe student at the 
meeting. (Education Code 48432.5) 



Page 3 of 5 

 

 
A written decision to transfer, stating the facts and reasons for the decision, shall be sent to the student 
and parent/guardian.the student's parent/guardian or, if the student is a foster youth, the foster youth's 
educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the student is an Indian child, the 
Indian child's tribal social worker, or, if applicable, county social worker. It shall indicate whether the 
decision is subject to periodic review and the procedure for such review. (Education Code 48432.5) 
 
The persons making the final decision for involuntary transfer shall not be members of the staff of the 
school in which the student is enrolled at the time. (Education Code 48432.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48432.5, involuntary transfers cannot extend beyond the 
end of the semester following the semester in which the acts leading to the transfer occurred, unless 
the district adopts a procedure for conducting yearly review at the request of the student, the 
student's parent/guardian, or, if the student is a foster youth, the foster youth's educational rights 
holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the student is an Indian child, the Indian child's tribal 
social worker, or, if applicable, county social worker. The following paragraph may be revised to 
reflect district practice. 

 
No involuntary transfer to a continuation school shall extend beyond the end of the semester following the 
semester when the acts leading to the involuntary transfer occurred. (Education Code 48432.5) 
 
Voluntary Enrollment 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts that allow students to voluntarily enroll in 
continuation education classes; see the accompanying Board policy for more information regarding 
voluntary enrollment. Pursuant to Education Code 48432.3, such districts are mandated to adopt 
policy and procedures containing specified provisions and governing the identification, placement, and 
intake procedures for students who voluntarily enroll. The following section should be revised to 
reflect district practice. 

 
As space permits, students who meet the eligibility criteria specified in Board policy may voluntarily 
enroll in a continuation school. A student may be considered for placement in the continuation school 
whenever his/herthe student's parent/guardian submits a written request to the Superintendent or 
designee or the student is referred by a counselor or school administrator. 
 
Approval of a student's voluntary transfer shall be based on a finding that the placement will promote 
the educational interests of the student. (Education Code 48432.3) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48432.3 mandates that the district's procedures ensure all of the 
conditions specified in Items #1-2 and 4-7, below. 

 
Voluntary enrollment shall be subject to the following conditions: (Education Code 48432.3, 48432.5) 
 

1. A student's voluntary placement in continuation education shall not be used as an alternative to 
expulsion unless alternative means of correction have been attempted pursuant to Education Code 
48900.5. 

 
2. The district shall strive to ensure that no specific group of students, including a group based on 

race, ethnicity, language status, or special needs, is disproportionately enrolled in continuation 
education within the district. 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph implements the above requirement and may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 
 

3. The Superintendent or designee shall annually review disaggregated student enrollment data and 
report such data to the Governing Board. If it is determined that one or more student groups are 
enrolled in continuation education at a significantly higher level than their proportional 



Page 4 of 5 

 

enrollment in the district, the Superintendent or designee shall conduct a review of enrollment 
criteria and procedures to determine the reason for the disproportionate enrollment. 

 
3.4. A copy of this administrative regulation and accompanying Board policy shall be provided to a 

student whose voluntary transfer to a continuation school is under consideration and to 
his/herthe student's parent/guardian. 

 
4.5. Before a student is transferred and upon request by his/herthe student's parent/guardian, the 

parent/guardian may meet with a counselor, principal, or administrator from both the school 
that the student is currently attending and the continuation school to determine if transferring 
is the best option for the student. 

 
6. To the extent possible, voluntary transfer to a continuation school shall occur within the first 

four weeks of each semester. 
 

7. The transfer is voluntary, and the student has a right to return to the student's previous school. 
5.  

6.8. A student who is voluntarily enrolled in continuation education may return to the regular high 
school at the beginning of the following school year, or at any other time with the consent of 
the Superintendent or designee. 

 
Intake and Orientation 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48432.3, districts that allow students to voluntarily enroll in 
continuation education are mandated to adopt intake procedures for such students. The following 
section addresses intake and orientation for all students enrolled in continuation education and may 
be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Upon voluntary or involuntary transfer to a continuation education program, an intake meeting shall 
be conducted with each student and his/herthe student's parent/guardian. At this meeting, the principal 
or counselor shall provide information about each course and the number of credits that the student 
needs to complete in order to graduate and shall develop an individualized academic plan for the 
student. The student, and his/herthe student's parent/guardian as appropriate, shall sign a contract 
indicating their commitment to these objectives. 
 
In addition, at the beginning of each school year, the district coordinator for continuation education, 
school counselor(s), or other designee(s) shall provide an orientation session for all incoming students 
and their parents/guardians in order to help them understandexplain the credit recovery process and 
establish expectations for student conduct and participation. As appropriate, extended orientation sessions 
may be provided to assist students in developing academic, social, communication, anger management, or 
other skills necessary to success in school. 
 
Minimum Attendance Requirement 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46170, the minimum school day for continuation high 
schools and classes is 180 minutes and no student will be credited with more than 15 hours of 
attendance per school week for apportionment purposes. However, the California Department of 
Education's web site reports that many continuation high schools provide full-day programs that exceed 
the minimum daily requirement. The following section may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
In continuation high schools and classes, a day of attendance shall be at least 180 minutes. (Education 
Code 46170) 
 
Each student shall attend classes for not less than 15 hours per week. However, if a student gives 
satisfactory proof of regular employment, he/shethe student may attend classes for not less than four 
hours per week for the regular school term. These requirements may be met by any combination of 



Page 5 of 5 

 

attendance in a continuation education class and/or regional occupational center or program. 
(Education Code 46170, 48402, 48400) 
 
Leaves of Absence 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48416, students age 16-18 years may take leaves of absence 
in accordance with law provided that the Board has adopted policy allowing such leaves of absence; see 
BP/AR 5112.3 - Student Leave of Absence. The following optional section is for use by districts that 
allow such leaves of absence for students in compulsory continuation education classes. 

 
A student enrolled in compulsory continuation education classes may take a leave of absence for up to 
two semesters for the purpose of supervised travel, study, training, or work in accordance with law, Board 
policy, and administrative regulation. (Education Code 48416) 
 
Reenrollment 
 
Any person age 16 or 17 years who terminated his/her enrollment in continuation school after 
obtaining a certificate of proficiency may reenroll in the district once without prejudice. If 
the student leaves a second time, the Superintendent or designee may deny reenrollment until 
the beginning of the next semester. (Education Code 48414) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: January 13, 2009 
revised: August 12, 2014 
revised: ??, 2023 




